
 
 
 
 
 

The Corporation of the City of Sault Ste. Marie
Regular Meeting of City Council ;

Revised Agenda
 

Tuesday, April 29, 2025
5:00 pm

Council Chambers
Civic Centre

As a courtesy, meetings are available for viewing on the City’s YouTube channel
https://www.youtube.com/user/SaultSteMarieOntario

Pages

1. Land Acknowledgement

I acknowledge, with respect, that we are in Robinson-Huron Treaty territory,
that  the  land  on  which  we are  gathered  is  the  traditional  territory  of  the
Anishinaabe and known as Bawating. Bawating is the home of Garden River
First Nation, Batchewana First Nation, the Historic Sault  Ste. Marie Metis
Council.

2. Adoption of Minutes 12 - 32

Mover Councillor C. Gardi
Seconder Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen
Resolved that the Minutes of the Regular Council Meeting of April 7, 2025 be
approved.

3. Questions and Information Arising Out of the Minutes and not Otherwise on
the Agenda

4. Declaration of Pecuniary Interest

5. Approve Agenda as Presented

Mover Councillor M. Scott
Seconder Councillor L. Dufour
Resolved that the Agenda for April 29, 2025 City Council Meeting as
presented be approved.



6. Presentations

6.1 Sault Ste. Marie Public Library 33 - 37

Wayne Greco, Chair and Matthew MacDonald, Chief Executive Officer

6.1.1 Sault Ste. Marie Public Library 2024 Annual Report 38 - 57

7. Communications and Routine Reports of City Departments, Boards and
Committees – Consent Agenda

Mover Councillor C. Gardi
Seconder Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen
Resolved that all the items listed under date April 29, 2025 – Agenda item 7 –
Consent  Agenda  save  and  except  Agenda  items  7.2,  7.8,  and  7.12  be
approved as recommended.

7.1 Northern Ontario School of Medicine University Clinical Campus Feasibility
Study

58 - 145

A report of the CAO is attached for the consideration of Council.

Mover Councillor M. Scott
Seconder Councillor L. Dufour
Resolved that the report  of  the CAO dated April  29, 2025 concerning the
establishment of a clinical campus of the Northern Ontario School of Medicine
University in Sault Ste. Marie be received as information.

7.2 Regulating Election Signage 146 - 148

A report of the City Clerk is attached for the consideration of Council.

Mover Councillor C. Gardi
Seconder Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen
Resolved that the report of the City Clerk and Assistant City Solicitor/Senior
Litigation Counsel dated April 29, 2025 concerning Regulating Election Signs
be received and that the Legal Department be requested to prepare a by-law
prohibiting election signs on public property, including parks; such by-law also
to include a prohibition of illuminated or flashing signs.

7.3 Municipally Significant Event – 2025 Sault Ste. Marie Festival of Beer 149 - 154

A report of the City Clerk is attached for the consideration of Council.

Mover Councillor C. Gardi
Seconder Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen
Resolved that the report of the City Clerk dated April 29, 2025 concerning
Municipally Significant Event – 2025 Sault  Ste. Marie Festival  of  Beer be
received and that Council designate the event as municipally significant and

Page 2 of 411



approve waiving fees outlined in the Alcohol Risk Management Policy.

7.4 2025 Tax Policy and Rates 155 - 159

A report of the Manager of Taxation is attached for the consideration of
Council.

7.5 2025 Property Tax Capping Options 160 - 162

A report of the Manager of Taxation is attached for the consideration of
Council.

The relevant By-law 2025-51 is listed under item 12 of the Agenda and will be
read with all by-laws under that item.

7.6 YMCA Status Update 163 - 166

A report of the Deputy CAO, Community Development and Enterprise
Services is attached for the information of Council.

Mover Councillor C. Gardi
Seconder Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen
Resolved that the report of the Deputy CAO, Community Development and
Enterprise Services dated April 29, 2025 concerning YMCA Status Update be
received as information.

7.7 Financial Assistance for National Sports Competition  – Youth Darts Team 167 - 168

A report of the Manager of Recreation and Culture is attached for the
consideration of Council.

Mover Councillor M. Scott
Seconder Councillor L. Dufour
Resolved that the report of the Manager of Recreation and Culture dated April
29, 2025 concerning Financial Assistance for National Sports Competition –
Youth Darts Team be received and that a grant in the amount of $400 be
approved.

7.8 Community Garden Relocation to Esposito Park 169 - 172

A report of the Manager of Recreation and Culture is attached for the
consideration of Council.

The relevant By-law 2025-70 is listed under item 12 of the Agenda and will be
read with all by-laws under that item.

7.9 Pointe des Chenes Disc Golf Course Expansion 173 - 176

A report of the Manager of Recreation and Culture is attached for the
consideration of Council.

Page 3 of 411



Mover Councillor C. Gardi
Seconder Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen
Resolved that the report of the Manager of Recreation and Culture dated April
29, 2025 concerning the Pointe des Chenes Disc Golf Course Expansion be
received and that the course expansion from twelve to eighteen holes be
approved.

7.9.1 Mayor's Youth Advisory Council Comments 177 - 177

7.10 Community Development Fund – Green Initiatives Program Applications 2025
Q1 Intake

178 - 180

A report of the Sustainability Coordinator is attached for the consideration of
Council.

Mover Councillor M. Scott
Seconder Councillor L. Dufour
Resolved that the report of the Sustainability Coordinator dated April 29, 2025
concerning  Community  Development  Fund  –  Green  Initiatives  Program
Applications 2025 Q1 Intake be received and that the recommendations of the
Environmental Sustainability Committee to support the following three projects
be approved:

Save Our Young Adults (SOYA) Community Garden Project $13,492;1.

Clean North Repair Café Project $4,455; and2.

ARCH Hospice LED Lighting Project $5,984.3.

7.10.1 Amended Report 181 - 183

Mover Councillor M. Scott
Seconder Councillor L. Dufour
Resolved that the report of Emily Cormier, Sustainability Coordinator dated
December 2, 2024, titled Community Development Fund – Green Initiatives
Program  Applications  2025  Q1  Intake,  be  received  and  that  the
recommendations of the Environmental Sustainability Committee to support
the two (2) projects as follows be approved:

Clean North Repair Café Project $4,455.031.

ARCH Hospice LED Lighting Project $5,984.312.

7.11 Civic Centre Cladding Replacement – Additional Engineering Fees 184 - 185

The report of the Director of Engineering is attached for the consideration of
Council.

Mover Councillor M. Scott
Seconder Councillor L. Dufour
Resolved that the report of the Director of Engineering dated April 29, 2025,

Page 4 of 411



concerning Civic Centre Cladding Replacement – Additional Engineering Fees
be received and that $50,000 be added to the City’s engineering agreement
with Stantec.

7.12 Municipal Capital Facilities Exemption – 548 Albert Street East and 721
Wellington Street East

186 - 188

A report of the Assistant City Solicitor/Senior Litigation Counsel is attached for
the consideration of Council.

The relevant By-laws 2025-63, 2025-64, 2025-65, and 2025-66 are listed
under item 12 of the Agenda and will be read with all by-laws under that item.

7.13 Municipal Capital Facilities Exemption – 180 Brock Street 189 - 190

A report of the Assistant City Solicitor/Senior Litigation Counsel is attached for
the consideration of Council.

The relevant By-laws 2025-67 and 2025-68 are listed under item 12 of the
Agenda and will be read with all by-laws under that item.

7.14 Draft Active Transportation Master Plan 191 - 364

A report of the Intermediate Planner is attached for the consideration of
Council.

Mover Councillor C. Gardi
Seconder Councillor L. Dufour
Resolved that the report of the Intermediate Planner dated April  29, 2025
concerning the Draft Active Transportation Master Plan be received and that
staff be directed to undertake a final round of consultation with the intent of
bringing a final draft of the Plan to the June 23, 2025 Council meeting.

7.15 A-3-25-Z Housekeeping Amendments – Clarification on By-law 2025-69 365 - 366

A report of the Intermediate Planner is attached for the information of Council.

Mover Councillor C. Gardi
Seconder Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen
Resolved that the report of the Intermediate Planner dated April  29, 2025
concerning A-3-25-Z Housekeeping Amendments be received as information.

8. Reports of City Departments, Boards and Committees

8.1 Administration

8.2 Corporate Services

8.3 Community Development and Enterprise Services

Page 5 of 411



8.4 Public Works and Engineering Services

8.5 Fire Services

8.6 Legal

8.7 Planning

8.8 Boards and Committees

9. Unfinished Business, Notice of Motions and Resolutions Placed on Agenda by
Members of Council

10. Committee of the Whole for the Purpose of Such Matters as are Referred to it
by the Council by Resolution

11. Adoption of Report of the Committee of the Whole

12. Consideration and Passing of By-laws

Mover Councillor M. Scott
Seconder Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen
Resolved that all By-laws under item 12 of the Agenda under date April 29,
2025 save and except By-laws 2025-63, 2025-64, 2025-65, 2025-66, and
2025-70 be approved.

12.1 By-laws before Council to be passed which do not require more than a
simple majority

12.1.1 By-law 2025-51 (Taxes) Capping Options 2025 367 - 369

A report from the Manager of Taxation is on the Agenda.

Mover Councillor M. Scott
Seconder Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen
Resolved that By-law 2025-51 being a by-law to To End the Application of
Part IX of the Municipal Act, 2001, S.O. c.25 to the Commercial Property
Class and Adopt Optional Tools for the Purposes of Administering Limits for
the Industrial Property Classes be passed in open Council this 29th day of
April, 2025.

12.1.2 By-law 2025-55 (Taxes) Final Tax Billing 2025 370 - 371

A report from the Manager of Taxation is on the Agenda.

Mover Councillor M. Scott
Seconder Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen

Page 6 of 411



Resolved that By-law 2025-55 being a by-law to provide the 2025 final tax
billing be passed in open Council this 29th day of April, 2025.

12.1.3 By-law 2025-61 (Taxes) Tax Ratios 2025 372 - 373

A report from the Manager of Taxation is on the Agenda.

Mover Councillor M. Scott
Seconder Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen
Resolved that By-law 2025-61 being a by-law to provide the adoption of tax
ratios be passed in open Council this 29th day of April, 2025.

12.1.4 By-law 2025-62 (Taxes) Tax Rates 2025 374 - 375

A report from the Manager of Taxation is on the Agenda.

Mover Councillor M. Scott
Seconder Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen
Resolved that By-law 2025-62 being a by-law to provide the adoption of
property tax rates for 2025 be passed in open Council this 29th day of April,
2025.

12.1.5 By-law 2025-63 (Municipal Capital Facility) Sault Ste. Marie Housing
Corporation 721 Wellington Street East

376 - 378

A report from the Assistant City Solicitor/Senior Litigation Counsel is on the
Agenda.

Mover Councillor M. Scott
Seconder Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen
Received  that  By-law 2025-63  being  a  by-law to  authorize  a  Municipal
Capital  Facilities Agreement between The City and the Sault  Ste.  Marie
Housing Corporation for the property located at 721 Wellington Street East
be passed in open Council this 29th day of April, 2025.

12.1.6 By-law 2025-64 (Municipal Capital Facility Taxation Exemption) Sault Ste.
Marie Housing Corporation 721 Wellington Street East

379 - 380

A report from the Assistant City Solicitor/Senior Litigation Counsel is on the
Agenda.

Mover Councillor M. Scott
Seconder Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen
Received that By-law 2025-64 being a by-law to exempt the Sault Ste. Marie
Housing Corporation from taxation for municipal and school purposes for the
lands and the municipal capital facilities contained thereon at 721 Wellington
Street East be passed in open Council on this 29th day of April, 2025

12.1.7 By-law 2025-65 (Municipal Capital Facility) Sault Ste. Marie Housing 381 - 383

Page 7 of 411



Corporation 548 Albert Street East

A report from the Assistant City Solicitor/Senior Litigation Counsel is on the
Agenda.

Mover Councillor M. Scott
Seconder Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen
Received  that  By-law 2025-65  being  a  by-law to  authorize  a  Municipal
Capital  Facilities Agreement between The City and the Sault  Ste.  Marie
Housing Corporation for the property located at 548 Albert Street East be
passed in open Council this 29th day of April, 2025.

12.1.8 By-law 2025-66 (Municipal Capital Facility Taxation Exemption) Sault Ste.
Marie Housing Corporation 548 Albert Street East

384 - 385

A report from the Assistant City Solicitor/Senior Litigation Counsel is on the
Agenda.

Mover Councillor M. Scott
Seconder Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen
Received that By-law 2025-66 being a by-law to exempt the Sault Ste. Marie
Housing Corporation from taxation for municipal and school purposes for the
lands and the municipal capital facilities contained thereon at 548 Albert
Street East be passed in open Council on this 29th day of April, 2025.

12.1.9 By-law 2025-67 (Municipal Capital Facility) The Incorporated Synod of the
Diocese of Algoma 180 Brock Street

386 - 387

A report from the Assistant City Solicitor/Senior Litigation Counsel is on the
Agenda.

Mover Councillor M. Scott
Seconder Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen
Received  that  By-law 2025-67  being  a  by-law to  authorize  a  Municipal
Capital Facilities Agreement between The City and Incorporated Synod of the
Diocese of Algoma (the “Diocese”) for the property located at 180 Brock
Street be passed in open Council this 29th day of April, 2025.

 

12.1.10 By-law 2025-68 (Municipal Capital Facility Taxation Exemption) The
Incorporated Synod of the Diocese of Algoma 180 Brock Street

388 - 389

A report from the Assistant City Solicitor/Senior Litigation Counsel is on the
Agenda.

Mover Councillor M. Scott
Seconder Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen
Received that By-law 2025-68 being a by-law to exempt Incorporated Synod

Page 8 of 411



of the Diocese of Algoma (the “Diocese”) from taxation for municipal and
school purposes for the lands and the municipal capital facilities contained
thereon at 180 Brock Street be passed in open Council on this 29th day of
April, 2025

12.1.11 By-law 2025-69 (Zoning 2005-150) Technical Language and Improving
Implementation

390 - 391

A report from the Intermediate Planner is on the Agenda.

Mover Councillor M. Scott
Seconder Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen
Resolved that By-law 2025-69 being a by-law to amend Sault Ste. Marie
Zoning By-law 2005-150 for the purpose of clarifying technical language and
improving implementation be passed in open Council this 29th day of April,
2025.

12.1.12 By-law 2025-70 (Agreement) Etienne Brule Community Garden Esposito
Park

392 - 397

A report from the Manager of Recreation and Culture is on the Agenda.

Mover Councillor M. Scott
Seconder Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen
Resolved that By-law 2025-70 being a by-law to authorize the approval to
move the Etienne Brule Community Garden to city property at Esposito Park
and enter into an agreement with Save Our Young Adults to manage the
Community Garden be passed in open Council this 29thday of April, 2025.

12.1.13 By-law 2025-71 (Official Plan Amendment) 0 Chippewa Street (1000571972
Ontario Inc. c/o Harjinder Kang)

398 - 399

Council Report was passed by Council resolution on April 7, 2025.

Mover Councillor M. Scott
Seconder Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen
Resolved that By-law 2025-71 being a by-law to adopt Amendment No. 258
(T-170) to the Official  Plan for the City of  Sault  Ste. Marie (1000571972
Ontario Inc. c/o Harjinder Kang – 0 Chippewa Street) be passed in open
Council this 29th day of April, 2025.

12.1.14 By-law 2025-72 (Zoning) 0 Chippewa Street (1000571972 Ontario Inc. c/o
Harjinder Kang)

400 - 405

Council Report was passed by Council resolution on April 7, 2025.

Mover Councillor M. Scott
Seconder Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen
Resolved that By-law 2025-72 being a by-law to amend Sault Ste. Marie

Page 9 of 411



Zoning  By-laws  2005-150  and  2005-151  concerning  lands  located  at  0
Chippewa Street (1000571972 Ontario Inc. c/o Harjinder Kang) be passed in
open Council this 29th day of April, 2025.

12.1.15 By-law 2025-73 (Development Control) 0 Chippewa Street (1000571972
Ontario Inc. c/o Harjinder Kang)

406 - 408

Council Report was passed by Council resolution on April 7, 2025.

Mover Councillor M. Scott
Seconder Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen
Resolved that By-law 2025-73 being a by-law to designate the lands Block B,
D,  F  and  G  located  at  0  Chippewa  Street  an  area  of  site  plan  control
(1000571972 Ontario Inc. c/o Harjinder Kang) be passed in open Council this
29th day of April, 2025.

12.1.16 By-law 2025-74 (Urban Service Line) 0 Chippewa Street (1000571972
Ontario Inc. c/o Harjinder Kang)

409 - 411

Council Report was passed by Council resolution on April 7, 2025.

Mover Councillor M. Scott
Seconder Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen
Resolved that By-law 2025-74 being a by-law to alter the boundaries of the
urban service area defined in Schedule “A” to the Ontario Land Tribunal
(formerly known as Ontario Municipal Board) Order dated May 17, 1965 be
passed in open Council this 29th day of April, 2025.

12.2 By-laws before Council for FIRST and SECOND reading which do not require
more than a simple majority

12.3 By-laws before Council for THIRD reading which do not require more than a
simple majority

13. Questions By, New Business From, or Addresses by Members of Council
Concerning Matters Not Otherwise on the Agenda

14. Closed Session

Mover Councillor M. Scott
Seconder Councillor L. Dufour
Resolved that this Council move into closed session to discuss:

one item concerning the security of property of the municipality; and•

one item subject to solicitor/client privilege•

Further Be It Resolved that should the said closed session be adjourned, the
Council may reconvene in closed session to continue to discuss the same
without the need for a further authorizing resolution.

Page 10 of 411



Municipal Act R.S.O.2001 – section 239 (2)(a) the security of the property of
the municipality;  section 239 (2)(f)  advice that is subject to solicitor-client
privilege

14.1 Updated Motion

Mover Councillor M. Scott
Seconder Councillor L. Dufour
Resolved that this Council move into closed session to discuss:

one item concerning the security of property of the municipality; and•

two items subject to solicitor/client privilege•

Further Be It Resolved that should the said closed session be adjourned, the
Council may reconvene in closed session to continue to discuss the same
without the need for a further authorizing resolution.

Municipal Act R.S.O.2001 – section 239 (2)(a) the security of the property of
the municipality; section 239 (2)(f) advice that is subject to solicitor-client
privilege

15. Adjournment

Mover Councillor M. Scott
Seconder Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen
Resolved that this Council now adjourn.

Page 11 of 411



 

 1 

          

REGULAR MEETING OF CITY COUNCIL 

MINUTES 

Monday, April 7, 2025 

5:00 pm 

Council Chambers and Video Conference 

 

Present: Mayor M. Shoemaker, Councillor S. Hollingsworth, Councillor S. 

Spina, Councillor L. Dufour, Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen, 

Councillor A. Caputo, Councillor R. Zagordo, Councillor M. Bruni, 

Councillor S. Kinach (via video), Councillor C. Gardi, Councillor 

M. Scott 

  

Officials: T. Vair, R. Tyczinski, S. Schell, P. Johnson, S. Hamilton Beach, B. 

Lamming, T. Anderson, F. Coccimiglio, L. Petrocco, T. Vecchio, M. 

Zuppa, V. McLeod, M. Borowicz-Sibenik, P. Tonazzo, C. Rumiel, 

J. King, D. Perri, N. Maione, R. Van Staveren, J. Ingram 

_____________________________________________________________________ 

14. Closed Session 

Moved by: Councillor M. Bruni 

Seconded by: Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen 

Resolved that this Council move into closed session to discuss: 

 six items concerning acquisition of land by the municipality or local board; 

 one item concerning the disposition of land by the municipality or local board; 

 one item concerning matters before an administrative tribunal; and 

 one item concerning negotiations carried on or to be carried on by or on behalf of the 

municipality or local board 

Page 12 of 411



April 7, 2025 Council Minutes 

 2 

Further Be It Resolved that should the said closed session be adjourned, the Council may 

reconvene in closed session to continue to discuss the same without the need for a further 

authorizing resolution. 

Municipal Act R.S.O.2001 – section 239 (2)(c) a proposed or pending acquisition or disposition 

of land by the municipality or local board; section 239 (2)(e) litigation or potential litigation, 

including matters before administrative tribunals, affecting the municipality or local board; 

section239 (2)(k) a position, plan, procedure, criteria or instruction to be applied to any 

negotiations carried on or to be carried on by or on behalf of the municipality or local board. 

Carried 

1. Land Acknowledgement 

2. Adoption of Minutes 

Moved by: Councillor C. Gardi 

Seconded by: Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen 

Resolved that the Minutes of the Regular Council Meeting of March 17, 2025 be approved. 

Carried 

3. Questions and Information Arising Out of the Minutes and not Otherwise on the Agenda 

4. Declaration of Pecuniary Interest 

4.1 Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen – Downtown Business Improvement Area 

Partner is Vice Chair of Downtown Association 

4.2 Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen – 2025 Queenstown Board of Management Budget and 2024 

Audit Report 

Partner is Vice Chair of Downtown Association 

4.3 Councillor S. Kinach – Physician Recruitment Budget Update 

Spouse is employed by Group Health Centre 

4.4 Councillor S. Spina – Tourism Development Fund Applications – March 2025 

Chair of one of the recipient organizations 

4.5 Mayor M. Shoemaker – By-law 2025-50 (Property Surplus and Sale) 657 Fourth Line 

East  (Ryan Rocchetta) 

Purchaser is a client of the law firm on this matter 

4.6 Mayor M. Shoemaker – Property Declared Surplus – 657 Fourth Line East (Ryan 

Rocchetta) 

Purchaser is a client of the law firm on this matter 

Page 13 of 411



April 7, 2025 Council Minutes 

 3 

5. Approve Agenda as Presented 

Moved by: Councillor C. Gardi 

Seconded by: Councillor L. Dufour 

Resolved that the Agenda and Addendum 1 for April 7, 2025 City Council Meeting as 

presented be approved. 

Carried 

6. Presentations 

7. Communications and Routine Reports of City Departments, Boards and Committees – 

Consent Agenda 

Moved by: Councillor M. Scott 

Seconded by: Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen 

Resolved that all the items listed under date April 7, 2025 – Agenda item 7 – Consent Agenda 

save and except Agenda items 7.1, 7.6, 7.13, 7.17, 7.21, 7.22, and 7.24 be approved as 

recommended. 

Carried 

7.2 Outstanding Council Resolutions 

7.3 Corporate Strategic Plan 2024-2027 Metrics 

The report of the CAO was received by Council. 

Moved by: Councillor C. Gardi 

Seconded by: Councillor L. Dufour 

Resolved that the report of the CAO dated April 7, 2025 concerning Corporate Strategic Plan 

2024-2027 metrics be received and that Council approve the metrics as presented. 

Carried 

7.4 City Solicitor Hiring Process Authorization 

The report of the CAO was received by Council. 

Moved by: Councillor C. Gardi 

Seconded by: Councillor L. Dufour 

Resolved that the report of the CAO dated April 7, 2025 concerning the authorization of the 

hiring process for the City Solicitor position be received and that Council authorize staff to 

commence the hiring process as outlined. 

Carried 

7.5 Hiring of Senior Staff Policy Amendment 

Page 14 of 411



April 7, 2025 Council Minutes 

 4 

The report of the CAO was received by Council. 

The relevant By-law 2025-58 is listed under item 12 of the Minutes.  

7.7 Health Equity Centre 

The report of the CAO was received by Council. 

Moved by: Councillor C. Gardi 

Seconded by: Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen 

Resolved that the report of the CAO dated April 7, 2025 concerning the establishment of a 

harm reduction and health equity centre be received as information. 

Carried 

7.8 Rescheduling April 28, 2025 Council Meeting 

The report of the City Clerk was received by Council. 

Moved by: Councillor C. Gardi 

Seconded by: Councillor L. Dufour 

Resolved that the report of the City Clerk dated April 7, 2025 concerning Rescheduling April 

28, 2025 Council Meeting be received and that the April 28, 2025 Council meeting be 

rescheduled to Tuesday, April 29, 2025. 

Carried 

7.9 2024 Tax Sale Results 

The report of the Manager of Taxation was received by Council. 

Moved by: Councillor C. Gardi 

Seconded by: Councillor L. Dufour 

Resolved that the report of the Manager of Taxation dated April 7, 2025 concerning 2024 Tax 

Sale Results be received as information. 

Carried 

7.10 Tax Appeal Budget Increase 

The report of the Manager of Taxation was received by Council. 

Moved by: Councillor C. Gardi 

Seconded by: Councillor L. Dufour 

Resolved that the report of the Manager of Taxation dated April 7, 2025 concerning Tax Appeal 

Budget increase be received and that the upper limit for Aird & Berlis LLP be increased by 

$200,000 with funding from the Contingency Reserve. 

Carried 

Page 15 of 411



April 7, 2025 Council Minutes 

 5 

7.11 ClearRisk Subscription Agreement Renewal 

The report of the Manager of Purchasing was received by Council.  

The relevant By-law 2025-59 is listed under item 12 of the Minutes.  

7.12 Leasing and Operation of Space – Northern Community Centre 

The report of the Manager of Purchasing was received by Council. 

The relevant By-law 2025-54 is listed under item 12 of the Minutes.  

7.14 Tender for Ready Mix Concrete 

The report of the Manager of Purchasing was received by Council.  

Moved by: Councillor M. Scott 

Seconded by: Councillor L. Dufour 

Resolved that the report of the Manager of Purchasing dated April 7, 2025 concerning the 

supply of Ready Mix Concrete for the 2025 construction season commencing May 1, 2025 as 

required by Public Works be received and the supply be awarded to Fisher Wavy Inc. at the 

tendered pricing, HST extra. 

Carried 

7.15 Tender for Asphalt 

The report of the Manager of Purchasing was received by Council.  

Moved by: Councillor M. Scott 

Seconded by: Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen 

Resolved that the report of the Manager of Purchasing dated April 7, 2025 concerning the 

supply of Asphalt for the 2025 construction season commencing May 1, 2025 as required by 

Public Works be received and the supply be awarded to Trimount Construction Group Inc. at 

the tendered pricing, HST extra. 

Carried 

7.16 DeepSeek Removal and Future Cyber Threats 

The report of the Manager of Information Technology was received by Council. 

Moved by: Councillor M. Scott 

Seconded by: Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen 

Resolved that the report of the Manager of Information Technology dated April 7, 2025 

concerning the banning of DeepSeek be received and that the City proceed, by way of a 

corporate policy, to ban DeepSeek on City-issued electronic devices. 

Page 16 of 411



April 7, 2025 Council Minutes 

 6 

Information Technology, the CAO, and Senior Management will also address future 

cybersecurity concerns, updating the Mayor and City Council accordingly. 

Carried 

7.18 Lease Contract Extension – Superior Osteo Postural Clinic Inc. 

The report of the Director of Community Services was received by Council. 

The relevant By-Law 2025-56 is listed under item 12 of the Minutes. 

7.19 Community Development Fund Application – Rural Community Immigration Program 

The report of the Director of Tourism and Community Development was received by Council. 

Moved by: Councillor M. Scott 

Seconded by: Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen 

Resolved that the report of the Director of Tourism and Community Development dated April 7, 

2025 be received and that Council approve $102,500 from the Community Development Fund 

towards administration of the RCIP program. 

Carried 

7.20 FedNor Contribution Agreement – Rural Community Immigration Pilot 

The report of the Director of Tourism and Community Development was received by Council.  

Moved by: Councillor M. Scott 

Seconded by: Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen 

Resolved that the report of the Director of Tourism and Community Development dated April 7, 

2025 concerning FedNor Contribution Agreement – Rural Community Immigration Pilot be 

received as information. 

Carried 

7.23 Property Declared Surplus – 0 Nixon Road (1644291 Ontario Limited – Ozzie Grandinetti) 

The report of the Assistant City Solicitor/Senior Litigation Counsel was received by Council. 

The relevant By-Law 2025-53 is listed under item 12 of the Minutes.  

7.25 POA – Fourth Inter-Municipal Agreement 

The report of the Assistant City Solicitor/Senior Litigation Counsel was received by Council. 

The relevant By-Law 2025-52 is listed under item 12 of the Minutes.  

7.26 Insurance Claim Handling Agreement – Policy Period 2025-2026 

The report of the Risk Manager was received by Council.  

The relevant By-Law 2025-57 is listed under item 12 of the Minutes.  

Page 17 of 411



April 7, 2025 Council Minutes 

 7 

7.27 Housing Community Improvement Plan (CIP) Updates 

The report of the Junior Planner was received by Council.  

Moved by: Councillor C. Gardi 

Seconded by: Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen 

Resolved that the report of the Junior Planner dated April 7, 2025 concerning Housing 

Community Improvement Plan (CIP) Updates be received and that Council: 

 Approve the draft amended Housing CIP in principle; 

 Direct staff to proceed with the public review process, including the scheduling of a 

prescribed public meeting in accordance with Section 28 of the Planning Act; and 

 Direct staff to forward the revised CIP documents to the Ontario Ministry of Municipal 

Affairs and Housing for review prior to bringing it back to Council. 

Carried 

7.1 Preliminary Report of the Integrity Commissioner 

The report of the Integrity Commissioner was received by Council. 

 Antoinette Blunt, Ironside Consulting Services Inc. was in attendance.  

Moved by: Councillor C. Gardi 

Seconded by: Councillor L. Dufour 

Resolved that the preliminary report of the Integrity Commissioner dated February 13, 2025 be 

received as information.  

 For Against Conflict Absent 

Mayor M. Shoemaker X    

Councillor S. Hollingsworth X    

Councillor S. Spina X    

Councillor L. Dufour X    

Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen X    

Councillor A. Caputo X    

Councillor R. Zagordo X    

Councillor M. Bruni X    

Councillor S. Kinach X    

Page 18 of 411



April 7, 2025 Council Minutes 

 8 

Councillor C. Gardi X    

Councillor M. Scott X    

Results 11 0 0 0 

Carried 

7.6 Physician Recruitment Budget Update 

Councillor S. Kinach declared a conflict on this item. (Spouse is employed by Group Health 

Centre) 

The report of the CAO was received by Council. 

Tasha Varpio, Manager of Physician Recruitment and Retention was in attendance. 

Moved by: Councillor M. Scott 

Seconded by: Councillor L. Dufour 

Resolved that the report of the CAO dated April 7, 2025 concerning physician recruitment 

budget be received and that Council approve utilizing $15,000 from the City reserve fund for 

Physician Recruitment (Hospital Reserve Fund) to support the 2025-26 physician recruitment 

budget. 

 For Against Conflict Absent 

Mayor M. Shoemaker X    

Councillor S. Hollingsworth X    

Councillor S. Spina X    

Councillor L. Dufour X    

Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen X    

Councillor A. Caputo  X   

Councillor R. Zagordo X    

Councillor M. Bruni X    

Councillor S. Kinach   X  

Councillor C. Gardi X    

Councillor M. Scott X    

Results 9 1 1 0 

Carried 

Page 19 of 411



April 7, 2025 Council Minutes 

 9 

7.13 Event Ticketing Service Provider – GFL Event Centre 

The report of the Manager of Purchasing was received by Council.  

Moved by: Councillor M. Scott 

Seconded by: Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen 

Resolved that the report of the Manager of Purchasing dated April 7, 2025 concerning Event 

Ticketing Service Provider as required by the Arenas Division, Community Development and 

Enterprise Services be received and that the proposal of Paciolan LLC for a term of five years 

with option to extend up to three additional terms of two years be approved. 

 For Against Conflict Absent 

Mayor M. Shoemaker  X   

Councillor S. Hollingsworth X    

Councillor S. Spina X    

Councillor L. Dufour X    

Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen X    

Councillor A. Caputo X    

Councillor R. Zagordo X    

Councillor M. Bruni X    

Councillor S. Kinach  X   

Councillor C. Gardi    X 

Councillor M. Scott  X   

Results 7 3 0 1 

Carried 

7.17 Elbows Up Rally 

The report of the Deputy CAO, Community Development and Enterprise Services was 

received by Council. 

Frank O'Connor, Elbows Up Sault Ste. Marie; and Adam Bernardo, Chair of the Mayor's Youth 

Advisory Council addressed Council. 

Moved by: Councillor M. Scott 

Seconded by: Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen 

Page 20 of 411



April 7, 2025 Council Minutes 

 10 

Resolved that the report of the Deputy CAO, Community Development and Enterprise 

Services dated April 7, 2025 concerning an ‘Elbows Up’ rally in Sault Ste. Marie be received 

and that Council approve a contribution of up to $1,300 towards the event. 

 For Against Conflict Absent 

Mayor M. Shoemaker X    

Councillor S. Hollingsworth X    

Councillor S. Spina X    

Councillor L. Dufour X    

Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen X    

Councillor A. Caputo X    

Councillor R. Zagordo X    

Councillor M. Bruni X    

Councillor S. Kinach X    

Councillor C. Gardi X    

Councillor M. Scott X    

Results 11 0 0 0 

Carried 

7.21 Tourism Development Fund Applications – March 2025 

Councillor S. Spina declared a conflict on this item. (Chair of one of the recipient organizations) 

The report of the Director of Tourism and Community Development was received by Council.  

Moved by: Councillor M. Scott 

Seconded by: Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen 

Resolved that the report of the Director of Tourism and Community Development dated April 7, 

2025 be received and that the recommendation of the Tourism Sault Ste. Marie Board of 

Directors to allocate $23,000 as detailed below be approved: 

 Community Strong Race Weekend ($4,000); 

 Northern Ontario Service Deliverers Association AGM ($2,000); 

 Sault Cycling Club Ontario Cup Mountain Bike Race ($10,000); 

 Queen Street Cruise ($5,000); and 

 Warhammer Battle at the Bridge 40K ($2,000). 

Page 21 of 411



April 7, 2025 Council Minutes 

 11 

 For Against Conflict Absent 

Mayor M. Shoemaker X    

Councillor S. Hollingsworth X    

Councillor S. Spina   X  

Councillor L. Dufour X    

Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen X    

Councillor A. Caputo X    

Councillor R. Zagordo X    

Councillor M. Bruni X    

Councillor S. Kinach X    

Councillor C. Gardi    X 

Councillor M. Scott X    

Results 9 0 1 1 

Carried 

7.22 Police Services Contract Extension – Prince Township 

The report of the City Solicitor was received by Council. 

The relevant By-Law 2025-49 is listed in section 12 of the Minutes. 

7.24 Property Declared Surplus – 657 Fourth Line East (Ryan Rocchetta) 

Mayor M. Shoemaker declared a conflict on this item. (Purchaser is a client of the law firm on 

this matter) 

The report of the Assistant City Solicitor/Senior Litigation Counsel was received by Council. 

The relevant By-law 2025-50 is listed under item 12 of the Minutes.  

8. Reports of City Departments, Boards and Committees 

8.1 Administration 

8.2 Corporate Services 

8.3 Community Development and Enterprise Services 

8.3.1 Renaming of Rosedale Park to Kiwanis Park 

The report of the Manager of Recreation and Culture was received by Council. 

Page 22 of 411



April 7, 2025 Council Minutes 

 12 

Jim St. Jules, Kiwanis Club of Sault Ste. Marie and Serge Viau, Kiwanis Club of Lakeshore 

were in attendance. 

Moved by: Councillor M. Scott 

Seconded by: Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen 

Resolved that the report of the Manager of Recreation and Culture dated April 7, 2025 

concerning the Renaming of Rosedale Park to Kiwanis Park be approved. 

 For Against Conflict Absent 

Mayor M. Shoemaker X    

Councillor S. Hollingsworth X    

Councillor S. Spina X    

Councillor L. Dufour X    

Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen X    

Councillor A. Caputo X    

Councillor R. Zagordo X    

Councillor M. Bruni X    

Councillor S. Kinach X    

Councillor C. Gardi X    

Councillor M. Scott X    

Results 11 0 0 0 

Carried 

8.3.2 Downtown Business Improvement Area 

Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen declared a conflict on this item. (Partner is Vice Chair of Downtown 

Association) 

 Nicholas Luck, Executive Director, Sault Ste. Marie Downtown Association was in attendance.  

The report of the Deputy CAO, Community Development and Enterprise Services was 

received by Council. 

Moved by: Councillor C. Gardi 

Seconded by: Councillor L. Dufour 

Resolved that the report of the Deputy CAO, Community Development and Enterprise 

Services dated April 7, 2025 concerning Downtown Business Improvement Area Review be 

Page 23 of 411



April 7, 2025 Council Minutes 

 13 

received and that implementation of Option 3 be approved (dissolve the current DTA and 

reallocate activities under the City umbrella with a supporting business advisory committee and 

incremental staffing).  

8.3.2.1 Downtown Business Improvement Area 

Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen declared a conflict on this item. (Partner is Vice Chair of 

Downtown Association) 

Moved by: Councillor S. Hollingsworth 

Resolved that this matter be postponed pending further information. 

Moved by: Councillor C. Gardi 

Seconded by: Councillor A. Caputo 

Resolved that the report of the Deputy CAO, Community Development and Enterprise 

Services dated April 7, 2025 concerning Downtown Business Improvement Area Review 

be received and that implementation of Option 3 be approved (dissolve the current DTA 

and reallocate activities under the City umbrella with a supporting business advisory 

committee and incremental staffing); 

Further Be It Resolved that the funding currently allocated to the Downtown Security 

Pilot Program of $150,000 be allocated to a municipal downtown development budget 

line item in the 2026 preliminary budget, with staff to report back on whether further 

funding might be required to properly fund downtown development and marketing on a 

go-forward basis, and that such report be brought to Council for consideration during 

the 2026 budget deliberations. 

 For Against Conflict Absent 

Mayor M. Shoemaker X    

Councillor S. Hollingsworth  X   

Councillor S. Spina X    

Councillor L. Dufour X    

Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen   X  

Councillor A. Caputo X    

Councillor R. Zagordo X    

Councillor M. Bruni X    

Councillor S. Kinach X    

Page 24 of 411



April 7, 2025 Council Minutes 

 14 

Councillor C. Gardi X    

Councillor M. Scott X    

Results 9 1 1 0 

Carried 

8.3.3 2025 Queenstown Board of Management Budget and 2024 Audit Report 

Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen declared a conflict on this item. (Partner is Vice Chair of Downtown 

Association) 

The report of the Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer was received by Council.  

Moved by: Councillor M. Scott 

Seconded by: Councillor L. Dufour 

Resolved that the report of the Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer dated April 7, 2025 

concerning the Queenstown Board of Management (O/A The Downtown Association) 2024 

audited financial statements and annual report be received as information and that the 

Downtown Association budget for the year 2025 be approved.  

 For Against Conflict Absent 

Mayor M. Shoemaker X    

Councillor S. Hollingsworth  X   

Councillor S. Spina X    

Councillor L. Dufour X    

Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen   X  

Councillor A. Caputo X    

Councillor R. Zagordo X    

Councillor M. Bruni X    

Councillor S. Kinach X    

Councillor C. Gardi X    

Councillor M. Scott X    

Results 9 1 1 0 

Carried 

8.4 Public Works and Engineering Services 

Page 25 of 411



April 7, 2025 Council Minutes 

 15 

8.5 Fire Services 

8.6 Legal 

8.7 Planning 

8.7.1 0 Chippewa Street A-02-2025-Z.OP 57T-25-501, 502, 503 

The report of the Intermediate Planner was received by Council. 

Mike Kresin, Kresin Engineering Corporation; Raj Patel, Architect and Urban Designer, RPD 

Studio; and Jaime Garcia, Traffic Engineer, CIMA were in attendance. 

Chris Sierzpukowski, Chippewa Street; Brian Conway, Amherst Street; Devon Conway, 

Amherst Street; Donna Russell, Atwater Street spoke against the application. 

Moved by: Councillor C. Gardi 

Seconded by: Councillor L. Dufour 

Resolved that the report of the Intermediate Planner dated April 7, 2025 concerning application 

A-2-25-Z-Z.OP 57T-25-501/502/503 be received and that Council approve this application in 

the following manner: 

 Amend the Official Plan by way of a textual amendment as outlined in OPA 258 T-170; 

 Amend Zoning By-law 2005-150 as outlined in Schedule A; 

 Approve Draft Plan of Subdivision 57T-25-501 subject to the conditions of draft approval 

outlined in Schedule B; 

 Approve Draft Plan of Common Elements Condominium 57T-25-502 subject to the 

conditions of draft approval outlined in Schedule C; 

 Approve Draft Plan of Condominium 57T-25-503 subject to the conditions of draft 

approval outlined in Schedule D; 

 That Blocks B, D, F, and G be deemed subject to site plan control; 

 That the Legal Department be directed to apply to the Ontario Land Tribunal to extend 

the Urban Service Area 156 metres north on the subject property to encompass the 

lands between the edge of the service area and the creek. 

 And that the Legal Department be requested to prepare the necessary by-law(s) to effect the 

same. 

 For Against Conflict Absent 

Mayor M. Shoemaker X    

Councillor S. Hollingsworth X    

Councillor S. Spina X    

Page 26 of 411



April 7, 2025 Council Minutes 

 16 

Councillor L. Dufour X    

Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen X    

Councillor A. Caputo X    

Councillor R. Zagordo X    

Councillor M. Bruni X    

Councillor S. Kinach X    

Councillor C. Gardi X    

Councillor M. Scott X    

Results 11 0 0 0 

Carried 

           8.7.2 A-3-25-Z Housekeeping Amendments to Zoning By-law 2005-150 

The report of the Intermediate Planner was received by Council. 

Moved by: Councillor M. Scott 

Seconded by: Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen 

Resolved that the report of the Intermediate Planner dated April 7, 2025 concerning Application 

A-3-25-Z Technical Amendments to Zoning By-law 2005-150 be received and that Council 

approve the application to amend Zoning By-law 2005-150 as outlined in Schedule A; 

And that the Legal Department be requested to prepare the necessary by-law(s) to effect the 

same. 

 For Against Conflict Absent 

Mayor M. Shoemaker X    

Councillor S. Hollingsworth X    

Councillor S. Spina X    

Councillor L. Dufour X    

Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen X    

Councillor A. Caputo X    

Councillor R. Zagordo X    

Councillor M. Bruni X    

Page 27 of 411



April 7, 2025 Council Minutes 

 17 

Councillor S. Kinach X    

Councillor C. Gardi X    

Councillor M. Scott X    

Results 11 0 0 0 

Carried 

8.8 Boards and Committees 

9. Unfinished Business, Notice of Motions and Resolutions Placed on Agenda by Members 

of Council 

10. Committee of the Whole for the Purpose of Such Matters as are Referred to it by the 

Council by Resolution 

11. Adoption of Report of the Committee of the Whole 

12. Consideration and Passing of By-laws 

Moved by: Councillor M. Scott 

Seconded by: Councillor L. Dufour 

Resolved that all By-laws under item 12 of the Agenda under date April 7, 2025 save and 

except By-laws 2025-49 and 2025-50 be approved. 

Carried 

12.1 By-laws before Council to be passed which do not require more than a simple majority 

12.1.3 By-law 2025-52 (Agreement) POA Fourth Inter-Municipal Agreement Renewal Provincial 

Offences (POA) 

Moved by: Councillor C. Gardi 

Seconded by: Councillor L. Dufour 

Resolved that By-Law 2025-52 being a by-law to authorize the execution of the Fourth Inter-

Municipal Agreement Renewal between the City and the Municipal Partners for the provision of 

Provincial Offences administration, revenue sharing and prosecutorial services be passed in 

open Council this 7th day of April, 2025. 

Carried 

12.1.4 By-law 2025-53 (Property Surplus and Sale) 0 Nixon Road (1644291 Ontario Limited 

Ozzie Grandinetti) 

Moved by: Councillor C. Gardi 

Seconded by: Councillor L. Dufour 

Page 28 of 411



April 7, 2025 Council Minutes 

 18 

Resolved that By-law 2025-53 being a by-law to declare the City owned property legally 

described as PIN 31610-0183 (LT) PT LT 9 PL H536 KORAH PT 1 1R6198; SAULT STE. 

MARIE, being civic 0 Nixon Road, as surplus to the City’s needs and to authorize the 

disposition of the said property be passed in open Council this 7th day of April, 2025. 

Carried 

12.1.5 By-law 2025-54 (Agreement) Northern Community Centre (NCC) Pro Shop Lease (FCD 

SPORTS GROUP LTD.) 

Moved by: Councillor C. Gardi 

Seconded by: Councillor L. Dufour 

Resolved that By-law 2025-54 being a by-law to authorize the execution of the Agreement 

between the City and FCD SPORTS GROUP LTD. for the lease and operation of space for a 

Pro Shop at the Northern Community Centre (NCC) be passed in open Council this 7th day of 

April, 2025. 

Carried 

12.1.6 By-law 2025-56 (Agreement) Fourth Extension Agreement Superior Osteo Postural 

Clinic Inc.  

Moved by: Councillor C. Gardi 

Seconded by: Councillor L. Dufour 

Resolved that By-law 2025-56 being a by-law to authorize the execution of the Fourth 

Extension Agreement between the City and Superior Osteo Postural Clinic Inc. to extend the 

current lease at the John Rhodes Community Centre for one year to May 5, 2026 with the 

option to extend be passed in open Council this 7th day of April, 2025.  

Carried 

12.1.7 By-law 2025-57 (Agreement) Intact Public Entities Claims Handling  

Moved by: Councillor C. Gardi 

Seconded by: Councillor L. Dufour 

Resolved that By-law 2025-57 being a by-law to authorize the execution of the Agreement 

between the City and Intact Public Entities for claims handling be passed in open Council this 

7th day of April, 2025. 

Carried 

12.1.8 By-law 2025-58 (Employees) Amend Hiring Policies By-law 2004-234 

Moved by: Councillor C. Gardi 

Seconded by: Councillor L. Dufour 

Page 29 of 411



April 7, 2025 Council Minutes 

 19 

Resolved that By-Law 2025-58 being a by-law to amend By-law 2004-234 (being a by-law to 

adopt hiring policies) be passed in open Council this 7th day of April, 2025. 

Carried 

12.1.9 By-law 2025-59 (Agreement) ClearRisk Inc. Renewal Addendum 

Moved by: Councillor C. Gardi 

Seconded by: Councillor L. Dufour 

Resolved that By-law 2025-59 being a by-law to authorize the execution of the Agreement 

between the City and ClearRisk Inc. for Risk Management Information System Software for a 

three (3) year period to April 14, 2028 as required by the City’s Legal Department be passed in 

open Council this 7th day of April, 2025. 

Carried 

12.1.10 By-law 2025-60 (Agreement) Sault Ste. Marie Professional Firefighters Association 

Local 529 

Moved by: Councillor C. Gardi 

Seconded by: Councillor L. Dufour 

Resolved that By-Law 2025-60 being a by-law to authorize the execution of the Agreement 

between the City and Sault Ste. Marie Professional Firefighters Association (Local 529) for the 

term commencing January 1, 2024 to December 31, 2026 be passed in open Council this 7th 

day of April, 2025. 

Carried 

12.1.11 By-law 2025-100 (Procedure By-law) 

Moved by: Councillor C. Gardi 

Seconded by: Councillor L. Dufour 

Resolved that By-law 2025-100 being a by-law to regulate the proceedings of the Council of 

the City of Sault Ste. Marie be passed in open Council this 7th day of April, 2025. 

Carried 

12.1.1 By-law 2025-49 (Agreement) Prince Township Police Services Agreement 

Moved by: Councillor S. Hollingsworth 

Seconded by: Councillor L. Dufour 

Resolved that By-Law 2025-49 being a by-law to authorize the execution of the Extension 

Agreement between the City and The Corporation of the Township of Prince for the provision of 

policing services to the Township be passed in open Council this 7th day of April, 2025. 

Page 30 of 411



April 7, 2025 Council Minutes 

 20 

 For Against Conflict Absent 

Mayor M. Shoemaker X    

Councillor S. Hollingsworth X    

Councillor S. Spina X    

Councillor L. Dufour X    

Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen X    

Councillor A. Caputo X    

Councillor R. Zagordo X    

Councillor M. Bruni X    

Councillor S. Kinach X    

Councillor C. Gardi    X 

Councillor M. Scott  X   

Results 9 1 0 1 

Carried 

12.1.2 By-law 2025-50 (Property Surplus and Sale) 657 Fourth Line East  (Ryan Rocchetta) 

Mayor M. Shoemaker declared a conflict on this item. (Purchaser is a client of the law firm on 

this matter) 

Acting Mayor S. Hollingsworth assumed the Chair. 

Moved by: Councillor M. Scott 

Seconded by: Councillor L. Dufour 

Resolved that By-law 2025-50 being a by-law to declare the City owned property legally 

described as PIN 31510-0131 (LT) LT 8 RCP H737 TARENTORUS; SAULT STE. MARIE being 

part civic 657 Fourth Line East, as surplus to the City’s needs and to authorize the disposition 

of the said property be passed in open Council this 7th day of April, 2025.  

 For Against Conflict Absent 

Mayor M. Shoemaker   X  

Councillor S. Hollingsworth X    

Councillor S. Spina X    

Page 31 of 411



April 7, 2025 Council Minutes 

 21 

Councillor L. Dufour X    

Councillor L. Vezeau-Allen X    

Councillor A. Caputo X    

Councillor R. Zagordo X    

Councillor M. Bruni X    

Councillor S. Kinach X    

Councillor C. Gardi    X 

Councillor M. Scott X    

Results 9 0 1 1 

Carried 

12.3 By-laws before Council for THIRD reading which do not require more than a simple 

majority 

13. Questions By, New Business From, or Addresses by Members of Council Concerning 

Matters Not Otherwise on the Agenda 

15. Adjournment 

Moved by: Councillor M. Scott 

Seconded by: Councillor L. Dufour 

Resolved that this Council now adjourn. 

Carried 

_________________________ 

Mayor 

_________________________ 

City Clerk 

Page 32 of 411



• ~~uJ• S a u I t S t e • M a r i e 

~-..~ Public Library 

City Council Presentation April 7, 2025 

Page 33 of 411



Our Mission 
The Sault Ste. Marie Public Library provides opportunities to 
discover, learn, and grow. We serve as a community partner 
offering spaces, resources, and connections which 
contribute to quality of life. 

Our Vision 
A diverse and welcoming community hub, the Sault Ste. 
Marie Public Library fuels innovation, demonstrates 
leadership, and promotes literacy aligned with our growing 
community. We strive to deliver library service for all, 
driven by knowledge sharing, partnerships, and new 
op po rtu n iti es. 

Page 34 of 411



2024 STATISTICS 

Average of 683 
+21,00 More 

3.5 % Increase Membership eResources 
Items Checked Downloaded in Program has Increased 
Out Daily Attendance by48% 

Compared to 2023 downloads for 
A total of 231,676 physical items eBooks, downloadable audi obooks, A total attendance of31,552 in 2024, In 2019, th e Library had 18,1 59 

we re checked out in 2024 during the el\i\agaz ines and other with an average of more th an 2 members. This number has 

days th e Library was open downloadable medi a content programs offered daily . increased to 26,974 ove r 5 yea rs 

• • • • 

Page 35 of 411



Strategic Plan 
In 2024 the Library launched its new 5-year Strategic Plan, the first since the previous one expired in 2018. It 

includes 5 Strategic Priorities each with its own set of goals and objectives. In total, there are 268 action items 

which staff have been working on . Here is how we did after the first year: 

IDEA Heritage & Culture 

17 

Community Engagement 

35 Marketing & Communications 26 Service Excellence 

17 

■ Not Started ■ In Progress ■ Completed Ongoing ■ Incomplete 

29 

Page 36 of 411



Ongoing Challenges 

• Safety and Security 
• Aging James L. McIntyre Centennial Building 
• Meeting Technology Needs 
• Value of CAD (affects costs of Books and Software) 

Page 37 of 411



Page 38 of 411



Year in Review:
A Message from the Board Chair

1

Wayne Greco - Board Chair 

As we reflect on 2024, I am proud to share the significant achievements and progress made at the 
SSM Public Library - a reflection of our shared vision, tireless efforts, and dedication to service 
excellence. First and foremost, I extend our sincere gratitude to the Mayor and City Council for their 

Paolo Bruni

Hannah Caicco 

Lisa Dobrovnik

Wayne Greco (Chair) 

Erin Ferlaino

Jami van Haaften

Kevin Harrison 

Steve Murray

Mike Olejnik (Vice Chair) 

Matthew MacDonald                        
(CEO/Secretary-Treasurer) 

BOARD OF                 
DIRECTORS                   

2024

continued support and trust in our leadership of this vital community 
asset. Their partnership and belief in the importance of accessible, 
innovative library services empower us to move forward with 
confidence and purpose. I also want to recognize the invaluable 
contributions of my fellow members of the Board of Directors. Their 
service, insight, and leadership have guided us in representing the 
community’s interests while striving to enhance and sustain excellence 
in library services. Together, we have worked to foster an environment 
where ideas flourish and community connections are strengthened. A 
heartfelt thank-you goes to the many dedicated volunteers whose 
enthusiasm and generous commitment of time enhance the work of 
our professional staff. Their efforts remind us that a strong community is 
built on collaboration and shared purpose. Finally, I would like to 
commend the outstanding work of our library staff. Their unwavering 
dedication and innovation ensure we deliver superior service, meeting 
the diverse needs of our patrons. This year's collective accomplishments 
are a testament to the power of teamwork and shared determination. 
Indeed, as the saying goes, many hands make light work. The 
commitment and spirit of service consistently demonstrated by all who 
contribute to the library’s success allow us to provide exceptional 
resources and experiences to the citizens of Sault Ste. Marie. On behalf 
of the Board of Directors, thank you for your continued support as we 
advance our mission to inspire, educate, and connect our community. 

Warm regards,                                                                                                            

 Chair, Board of Directors 

Page 39 of 411



2 

Staff Changes

Michael Lysyj

Sharon Wigney

In 2024, we welcomed Michael Lysyj back to the Sault Ste. 
Marie Public Library as the new Manager of Technology and 
Collections. He holds a Bachelor of Arts Degree in English 
Literature (Honours) from Algoma University, and a Master of 
Library and Information Degree from the University of Western 
Ontario.
  
Michael began his career in the field of Librarianship at the 
Sault Ste. Marie Public Library in 2021 as a Part Time Reference 
Technician. He then spent a year and a half at the Algoma 
University Wishart Library as temporary Academic Librarian, 
before returning to the Sault Public Library in his current role in April 2024. Michael is a life-
long library lover who is happy to once again be part of the wonderful team at the 
Public Library.

Kaitlyn Watson

After 41 years of dedicated full-time service, Sharon Wigney, Manager 
of Public Services, retired in November of 2024.  Sharon had been an 
integral part of our library's journey, contributing her knowledge, 
expertise, and passion to every project and every interaction. Her 
innovative ideas and unwavering dedication have helped shape the 
library into the vibrant, welcoming space it is today. When working with 
the public, her commitment to fostering a love of reading and lifelong 
learning touched countless lives and has significantly enriched our 
community. 

At 15, Kaitlyn began her library career as a student page at the 
Churchill Branch Library. Her lifelong love of books and her passion for 
helping others have always been central to her work. After earning a 
Bachelor of Arts in English Language and Literature from Wilfrid Laurier 
University in 2009, she returned to Sault Ste. Marie and rejoined the 
Sault Ste. Marie Public Library as a part-time Reference Technician. 
Over the years, Kaitlyn gained valuable experience in various roles, 
eventually being promoted to Senior Reference Technician in 2018. In 
November 2024, she was appointed Acting Manager of Public 
Services.  

Page 40 of 411



3 

The Library proudly launched its 5 year strategic plan in 2024. The plan includes a refreshed 
mission and vision to better reflect our commitment to the community and is designed to 
guide the Library’s development to ensure it continues to meet the evolving needs of our 
diverse community. This strategic direction will help us build a more vibrant, inclusive, and 
accessible future for the Library and the people we serve. 
 

 
 
Our Mission 

The Sault Ste. Marie Public Library provides opportunities to   
discover, learn, and grow. We serve as a community partner 
offering spaces, resources and connections which contribute to 
quality of life.

23 
Action Items  

Completed in 
2024! 

5 Priorities
17 Goals 

73 Objectives
268                      

Action Items

Our Vision 

A diverse and welcoming community hub, the Sault Ste. Marie 
Public Library fuels innovation, demonstrates leadership, and 
promotes literacy aligned with our growing community. We 
strive to deliver library service for all, driven by knowledge 
sharing, partnerships and new opportunities. 

Page 41 of 411



4

Strategic Plan 

To read the full strategic plan please visit our 
website at ssmpl.ca 

Marketing  
and 

Communications 

Inclusion,    
Diversity,     

Equity and 
Accessibility 

Community 
Engagement 



Service  
Excellence 

Heritage  
And Culture 

Progress Made:  

40%
of action items! 

As part of the strategic plan, the 
Library is working towards 
decolonizing library collections 
and catalogue records. 

Page 42 of 411



5 

Our Year at a Glance



Public Services

New
Borrowers          

Added 
2,568

Room                  
Rentals               

667 

Interlibrary 
Loan items 
loaned to       

other libraries
963

Total                        
Questions 

asked 
41,922 

4.8K                           
Followers 

@SSMPL @ssmpubliclibrary1.7K                      
Followers

Items  
Borrowed
231,676

Sault Ste. Marie                  
Public Library

112                               
Subscribers 

Library                 
Card             

Holders
26,974

Visits
Centennial               
170,348

North Branch
26,885

34
Average            
Visits Per  

Hour



375  
Followers 

Interlibrary 
Loan items  

borrowed for 
our patrons  

1,270

Library Users 
14,000 Adults
6,500 Senior 

1,900 Aged 13-19 
3,600 Aged 0-12

400 ‘Other’ 

Page 43 of 411



6



Our Year at a Glance

Hoopla                    
Audiobooks      

Borrowed             

3,692 

Hoopla               
eBooks                    

& Comics              
Borrowed           
2,309 

Hoopla Media 

1,130 
(including movies,            

music and television            
programs)  

Library Online                              
Catalogue                  
Page Views  
1,825,328

Wi-Fi              
Sessions 
34,600 

Public              
Computer           
Bookings 
8,380 

Database               
Searches

15,345
Library Website                   

Page Views                        

183,068

Overdrive/      
Libby             

Magazines          
Borrowed             
20,356

Total Overdrive/Libby and Hoopla Circulation 118,967

Social                   
Media  

Impressions 

362,566 

Audiobooks 
Borrowed              

31,540

Overdrive             
/Libby                
eBooks 

Borrowed                  
59,670 

Page 44 of 411



7

Spotlight on Adult               
Programming

In-Library                    
Programs                          
Facilitated                      

325 

Booking Tasting 

Hosted at the North Branch, the Library’s fantastic bartender, 
Katie, organized a concoction of cocktails and                          
mocktails for this special book tasting event.                                          
With 5 genres displayed, attendees enjoyed ‘tasting’                                    
the genre with a variety of books displayed, paired                                    
with an appetizer and drink.  
This event was sold out with  70 attendees. 

Authorpalooza

At the Sault Ste. Marie Public Library, we’re proud to celebrate 
our local authors! Our annual Authorpalooza event provides at-
tendees with a unique opportunity to connect with local authors 
and publishing professionals. Authorpalooza 2024, held during 
Public Library Week on October 24th, was a huge success. This 
year, 11 talented local authors and book professionals engaged 
with over 80 enthusiastic patrons. 

Boomers and Beyond: Lights! Cameras! Hollywood Magic! 

The Sault Ste. Marie Public Library proudly celebrates Seniors’ Month every June 
with its highly anticipated Boomers and Beyond event. This year, the event was 
a resounding success, as we transported attendees back to the glamorous 
‘Old Hollywood’ era, celebrating its iconic fashions, films, and pop culture. We 
partnered with a vibrant group of local organizations in the arts, culture, and 
recreation community to make the event even more special. 
A highlight of the afternoon was the screening of the 1935 classic film Top Hat,                                                   
starring Fred Astaire and Ginger Rogers.
The event drew 82 participants. 

Total                    
Participants             

9,717

Outreach                   
Programs              
Facilitated                   

11 
Participants              

460

Adult Book Club

Adult book clubs are hosted at the James L. McIntyre Centennial Library 
year-round, with sessions held from February to May and September to De-
cember. Each session includes two General Fiction book clubs and one 
Mystery book club. In 2024, library staff hosted 24 successful book club 
meetings, attracting a total of 816 engaged participants. 

Spotlight on Senior Programming

Page 45 of 411



8

Digital Creator Studio
 
In 2024, we welcomed Ivan, our new Digital Creator Coordinator, thanks to 
funding from the Northern Ontario Heritage Fund. With Ivan onboard as a full-
time, dedicated teen programmer, we were able to partner with Digital 
Creator North, whose offices are based in North Bay, to bring innovative tech programs to youth in 

Sault Ste. Marie. This collaboration allowed us to offer a diverse range of engaging 
opportunities, resulting in 112 programs held from May to December 31, 2024. This 
program fostered social connections but also helped to enhance their 
technological skills.

These programs provided teens with a hands-on approach to emerging 
technologies, empowering them to explore new career opportunities, 
discover their passions, and unleash their creativity. By participating in 
activities such as video editing, 3D modeling, figure drawing, video game 
creation, 3D printing, Scratch coding, and movie nights, teens gained 
valuable experience that could shape their future aspirations. Our 
continued focus on youth engagement and skills development ensures 
that participants not only grow as individuals but also strengthen their           

                       connection to the rapidly evolving world of technology.



112  
Programs 

189 
Attendees

VON Seniors Group Exercise - SMART Program
 
Throughout the year, the Library offers the VON Smart Exercise Program                                                       
for community members aged 55+ and adults with disabilities, helping them                           
enhance strength, balance, and mobility through low-impact exercises.                                                                          
A local fitness instructor facilitates two weekly sessions at the James L. McIntyre                                          
Centennial Library. 
                                               In 2024 we hosted 49 sessions of the Smart   program,                                                               
                                                        with a total of 463 attendees.

Seniors Active Living Fair

In November, three library staff attended the Seniors Active 
Living Fair at the YMCA. The fair, themed "Empower Your 
Life: Wellness and Beyond," aimed to help seniors improve 
their health, well-being, and lifestyle through discussions, 
screenings, assistive technology demos, and more. The Sault 
Ste. Marie Public Library staff were visited by 60 attendees.

Page 46 of 411



9 

Outreach                    
Programs 

0 
       Attendance

0

Spotlight on Children’s                                                                     
Programming Total Number          

of Programs             
(In-House, Passive, 

Contests ) 

415

Station Mall Storytimes and Craft Stations 
 
Library staff visited Station Mall throughout the year to offer story times for the community. We 
brought crafts and stories to engage with hundreds of children at the mall.  

Indigenous Storytime with Diedre
 
The North Branch hosted Diedra for a traditional storytime. 
We had two sessions in which 92 people enjoyed the stories, 
crafts, and activities that were held. 
 

Santa Storytime with the                   
Lion’s Club 

The Lion’s Club partnered with the Library 
to host a very special holiday storytime at 
the North Branch. The storytime welcomed 80 people to 
enjoy in the celebrations with treats and crafts to end 
with.  

Charlie and the                                   
Chocolate Factory  

Back for more, the West End Theatre partnered to bring 
the Charlie and the Chocolate Factory to the Library 
with a special storytime and craft. Hosted at the James 
L. McIntyre Library, the event supported the theatre 
production with 48 attendees! 

In-Library                   
Programs

392
Attendance

13,784 

March Break 2024  Dino Days 

During March Break, the Library 
offered a variety of programs for children and their 
families. This year’s theme, Dino Days, brought much 
excitement to the week. From March 11th to 17th, a                                                  

      total of 501 children participated in the activities. 
 
 

Outreach  
Programs

23
Attendance

1,022

Total
Attendance
14,806

Page 47 of 411



Volunteers

10

Over 
$40K in 
Sales!

The Friends of the Sault Ste. Marie Public 
Library had another fantastic year. With 
$40,000 in sales, representing at least 50,000 books sold, and thousands 
more books given away over the year, the Friends have put books in 
many hands. The generous book lovers of Sault Ste. Marie make this all 
possible with their  book donations, which include hundreds of like-new 
books that go straight into the stacks.

This is one way that the Friends support the library. The other main 
contribution made is to the social well-being of our community.

A visit to the Friends Bookstore will put a smile on your face. Browsers are 
encouraged! You might even find a treasure on the “free cart”. The 
Friends have kept the prices low and the friendly and helpful volunteers 
love to chat about books, contributing to a positive experience. 

50+                               
Volunteers 

Worked
6,500 +                      
hours 

 
Last year over 50 volunteers worked 6,500 hours in the bookstore and behind the 
scenes. The Friends also participated in Seedy Saturday, the Quilt Show, 
Rotaryfest, Salty Marie, and the Library Christmas Open House.
You will see books from the Friends all over town, including the new sales table 
at the North Branch Library, the Sault Area Hospital, the Neighbourhood 
Resource Centre, and more. 
 
Every year the Friends of the Library exceed their mandate to support and 

promote the Library. This year the Friends were recognized for their work by the Retired Teachers of
Ontario in the form of a $4,000 grant. The Friends are putting this very generous gift towards 
expanding community outreach, especially for seniors. 

The Friends thank the Retired Teachers of Ontario and the supportive Library staff.

Couriers and Visiting Library Service                  
Delivery

4                      
Couriers

208 Hours 

 
2 VLS                   

Volunteers 
79 deliveries                                         
(patron drop-offs)

24 hours 

Ruth O. - Library courier

                                          

Page 48 of 411



11 



Archive Chat - Edwin Durham
This presentation highlighted the Edwin 
Durham collection. Edwin Durham was a 
WWI veteran and prisoner of war.  
8 people attended this presentation.

Preserving Photographs and Papers  
This program, held at the North Branch, was designed to 
help individuals preserve family archival materials, 
including proper storage practices and simple cleaning 
techniques.                          
29 attendees 

Oral History

Shirley Horn partnered with Elizabeth Webkamigad to offer a program 
aimed at sharing the experience of a survivor of the Shingwauk 
Residential School. The event provided an opportunity for attendees to 
engage in a conversation about the residential school experience. 
A total of 9 people attended the program.

Archive Chat - Roberta Bondar  
Attendees learned about Canada’s first female astronaut 
while viewing artifacts that she donated to the Sault Ste. 
Marie Public Library.
14 attendees. 

Public Tours 
of the           

Archive  
19 Attendees 

Archive Show & Tell
People were invited to share interesting family 
photos, treasures and history while learning 
about the people in our community.  

The Library offers programming to teach the community about local 
history and archives, fostering a deeper connection to our heritage, 
preserving important stories, and empowering individuals to engage with 
their shared past.  

Page 49 of 411





ORAL HISTORIES

The Living History Algoma, contributed 15 new                                                                                

oral histories. 14 of the Oral Histories are part of the Shingwauk & Beyond:                                        

Survivor and Intergenerational Memory Collection. This collection                                                               

features Indigenous individuals who experienced firsthand Canada’s                                  

Residential School system and the children of Residential School survivors.                         

The individuals in this collection are Robin Alvares, Tracie Louttit, George Diamond, Victoria and 

Elaine Sands, Samual Achneepineskum, Jack White, Donald Sands Jr., John Henry Saylors, Nellie 

Mitchell (nee Ojeebah), Danielle Boissoneau, Donald Alexander Jackson, Gladys Williams, Gloria 

Harris, and Susan Jones. There was one additional general oral history from Kenneth John Bertram 

Woods.

Archive Donations

In 2024, 6 collections were donated to the Sault Ste. Marie Public Library 
Archives. These collections are Algoma Passenger Train, historical 
photographs and newspapers from Don Barill, images from Sault Ste. Marie 
houses and buildings from Wilhelm Eisenbichler, Municipal Handbooks, 
1960’s Directories of Algoma East and West, Great Lakes Power Invoices, 
and the local history book “Steel at the Sault.” 

12

Archive Digitization 
 
In 2024, scanning continued on the Sault Star negatives 
collection with 549 negatives being scanned. In addition, the 
archives are continuing to digitize the VHS collection in which 
83 VHS tapes were digitized.












169
Materials 

Requested 

Copies 
Made  
122 

Page 50 of 411



13

In the Community 

Brazilian Festival

The Library partnered with Northern Ontario Latin Hispanic Association to celebrate Latin Heritage 
Month with a Brazilian Festival at the Downtown Plaza. The event featured traditional music, 
dancing, and activities. Over 1,000 people came and enjoyed the festivities, and embraced the 
Brazilian Culture.

412  
New 

Members                      

Membership Drive

September 2024, the Library went out into the community for their Annual Membership                                  
Drive.  Drive locations included:   Garden River Back to School Blitz, Sault College, Algoma                                
University, Bushplane Days at the Canadian Heritage Bushplane Museum, Clergue Park for Cultural 
Family Fun Day and the Indigenous Friendship Centre.

Naughty Spelling Bee

For Valentine's Day, we teamed up with the Sault Ste. Marie 
Museum to host a spicy spelling bee. This sold-out event 
welcomed 57 attendees, who worked in teams to spell 
historical words that, while innocent at the time, now have a 
more scandalous connotation in the modern era. 

Trivia with Science North 

The Library partnered with Science North and the Tap Room to hold two adult trivia 
nights. With 178 attendees between the two events, people enjoyed a comedic 
show with a tough trivia relating to science and the holidays. 
 

57                                    
People                          

Attended

178                         
People                            

Attended 

 
The Library had approximately 1,500 participants and over 25 partners join us in 
Clergue Park for the festival which celebrated the diverse culture our community 
has to offer. With dancing, demonstrations, arts and crafts, obstacle courses, and 
more, the event welcomed everyone of all ages to participate and celebrate 
our city’s different cultures. 

Over 
25                                         

Partners

Approx.               
1,500             

Participants

Sault Ste. Marie Ranked #4  for Top Participating Small Municipalities in Canada!

Page 51 of 411



14 

In the Community

Collections

Volunteer Reception 

Every October, we honour the incredible volunteers and donors who 
make the library a success. This year's Volunteer of the Year award went 
to Zumi! Zumi attends the North Branch monthly to bring comfort and joy 
to everyone who participates. In 2024, with eight visits, Zumi provided 
comfort to 87 library patrons. A big thank you to Zumi’s handler, Joey, for 
making these visits possible!  

Lifejackets

Partnering with the City of Sault Ste. Marie John Rhodes Community 
Centre, lifejackets were added to the Object Library collection. The 
Library is working to increase the safety of our community members. 
Lifejackets are now available from May – September at both Library 
locations.

Presentations

We had the privilege of conducting an information session for 30 staff at the Indigenous Friendship 
Centre. The Manager of Community Engagement addressed the many benefits that come with 
holding a Sault Ste. Marie Public Library card, which is available to all Indigenous-identifying 
members in Ontario, free of charge. 

Additionally, the Manager of Community Engagement represented the Sault Ste. Marie Public 
Library at the Chatham-Kent Public Library with a workshop on De-escalation. The workshop was 
attended by 60 library employees. This free presentation provided an opportunity for the Sault Ste. 
Marie Public Library to support another library in Ontario, by sharing our knowledge and best 
practices. 

Object Library Check-outs

Giving Back 

124  
Bike Locks                    
Circulated 

 Build Boxes                  
Circulated 

1000+                 
times

145 
Electronics/ 
Technology  
Circulated

12
Lifejackets 
Circulated 

323
Passes                        

Circulated

40 Pairs                         
Snowshoes                       
Circulated

Page 52 of 411



15



JUVENILE

Picture Books  
1. Lions - Valerie Bodden / When Dinosaurs Came                                      

with Everything - Elise Broach (tied)
2. The Color Monster: a Story about Emotions - Anna Llenas
3. Begin Again - Oliver Jeffers

Easy Reader 
1. The Cloud Castle - Thea Stilton
2. The Absent Author  - Ron Roy
3. Pug’s Snow Day/Pub Blasts Off - Kyla May

Juvenile Fiction
1. Diary of a Wimpy Kid : The Ugly Truth - Jeff Kinney 
2. Diary of a Wimpy Kid : Diaper Overload - Jeff Kinney
3. Tom Gates is Absolutely Fantastic (at some things)  - Liz Pichon  

ADULT 

Fiction
1. Long Shadows - David Baldacci\Desert Star - Michael Connelly (tied) 
2. The Exchange - John Grisham
3. The Judge’s List - John Grisham

Non-Fiction 
1. Ireland: in Word and Image - Jay Ben Adlersberg
2. Limitless: Upgrade your Brain - Jim Kwik 
3. Behind the Seams: My Life in Rhinestones - Dolly Parton 

DVDS
1. Star Wars. Return of the Jedi
2. Star Wars. A New Hope 
3. Scarlet Nexus s.1 pt.2 

YOUNG ADULT  
Fiction
 
1. Elric of Melnibone - Michael Moorcock
2. Stormbringer - Michael Moorcock 
3. Tower of Dawn - Sarah J. Maas 


This is a list of the Top Circulating materials for 2024 at the Sault Ste. Marie Public Library.

Page 53 of 411



16

Financial Management

Page 54 of 411



17 

How Sponsorships Are Being Used 

The Dove Real Beauty workshop is a fun, educational and interactive program for 
young girls aged 6-12 and their adult female mentors. This workshop encourages girls 
and women everywhere to embrace a more positive image of themselves, both 
inside and out.

Kiwanis Club of  
Sault Ste. Marie   
Baby Time

Designed for the youngest library users and 
their parents or caregivers, Baby Time is a 
great way to introduce young children to 
the library, to begin a love of books and to 
help children develop into lifelong learners. 
This 30 minute program is for babies aged 0 
to 12 months.



Toddler Time is a fun, 45-minute program designed for toddlers 
and their caregivers. This program encourages and supports 
learning through stories, songs, art, and play. 

NOHLA - Spanish/Portuguese Programming 

Thanks to our partnership with Northern Ontario 
Latin-Hispanic Association , we were able to 
host their organization and facilitate language 
classes to 206 attendees. 

Kiwanis Club of Lakeshore - Lego My Library

Zonta Club - Dove Real Beauty and Toddler Time

This program features a different LEGO building challenge 
each week, as well as time for free building. 






CLUB OF SAULT STE. MARIE

















27                                    
Sessions

206                                  
Attendees 

Page 55 of 411



18















 




















Thank You to our                 
generous 2024 Donors





A special thank you to those who donated less than $500.00                                 
(Friends/Paper Donors) 

Page 56 of 411




Page 57 of 411



        

 

The Corporation of the 
 City of Sault Ste. Marie 

C O U N C I L    R E P O R T 

 

 

April 29, 2025 

TO: Mayor Matthew Shoemaker and Members of City Council 

AUTHOR: Tom Vair, CAO 

DEPARTMENT: Chief Administrative Officer 

RE: NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

________________________________________________________________ 

Purpose 
The purpose of this report is to provide Council with information and the completed 
feasibility study to establish a clinical campus of the Northern Ontario School of 
Medicine University (NOSM U) in Sault Ste. Marie. 

Background 
On March 18, 2024, City Council approved a contribution from the Community 
Development Fund of $75,000 to support the development of a business case and 
funding proposal for a clinical campus of the NOSM U in Sault Ste. Marie. Sault 
Area Hospital also agreed to contribute $25,000 towards the initiative as part of 
their contribution and commitment to physician recruitment in the community. 
 
BDP Quadrangle was the lead consultant on the project, and the project team also 
included Avison Young, Human Space, and Hanscomb.  
 
The report was developed through a multistage process, including engagement 
and information gathering, data analysis, and option development (Attachment A 
– Sault Ste. Marie NOSM University Campus Feasibility Study).  
 
Beyond NOSM U, the consultants sought input from a wide group of community 
stakeholders including Algoma University, Sault College, Garden River First 
Nation, Batchewana First Nation, Maamweysing North Shore Community Health 
Services, Sault Area Hospital, Sault Ste Marie Academic Medical Association, 
Algoma Public Health, Algoma Ontario Health Team, Algoma West Academy of 
Medicine, Group Health Centre, Superior Family Health Team,  Lady Dunn Health 
Centre, and the North Shore Health Network. 

Analysis 
Council is well aware of the challenges that are being experienced with the  
provision of primary care services in Sault Ste. Marie.  
 
The study documents the clear need and benefits of a clinical campus of NOSM U 
in Sault Ste. Marie in order to provide a long-term solution for physician 

Page 58 of 411



NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 
April 29, 2024 
Page 2. 

 

recruitment. Additionally, a study was conducted to examine the impact of rural 
medical training programs, drawing insights from similar campuses worldwide and 
their effects on the medical landscape.  
 
A near-term opportunity to establish Primary Care Teaching Clinics (PCTCs) in the 
first phase of campus development was identified as a highly beneficial solution. 
A PCTC is a specialized facility within a healthcare setting that provides medical 
students, residents, and healthcare professionals with hands-on medical training.  
 
Three options for a location were identified and include Algoma Public Health, 
Group Health Centre, and Sault Area Hospital. Based on the team's analysis and 
decision-making framework, Algoma Public Health and Sault Area Hospital 
represent the two most viable options for a new facility. This was directly attributed 
to Algoma Public Health offering the least capital-intensive construction/renovation 
process and a quicker implementation plan, and Sault Area Hospital providing 
access to other hospital facilities with greater potential for future expansion. 
 
The completion of the feasibility study is an important first step to advance the 
development of a clinical campus in Sault Ste. Marie. From here, Mayor and staff 
will work with NOSM U and local stakeholders to advocate with the Provincial 
government to advance this promising concept. 

Financial Implications 
There are no financial implications at this point in the project.  

Strategic Plan / Policy Impact / Climate Impact 
This report aligns directly with the Corporate Strategic Plan 2024-2027 in the 
Community Development focus area – “Well-being – Advocate for improved 
health-care facilities and personnel; Foster collaboration and coordination of health 
and social services; and Invest in allied healthcare recruitment and innovative 
labour force solutions.” 

Recommendation 
It is therefore recommended that Council take the following action:  

Resolved that the report of the CAO dated April 29, 2025 concerning the 
establishment of a clinical campus of the Northern Ontario School of Medicine 
University in Sault Ste. Marie be received as information. 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
Tom Vair 
CAO 
705.759.5347 
cao.vair@cityssm.on.ca 

 

Page 59 of 411

mailto:cao.vair@cityssm.on.ca


1Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

NOSM University Clinical Campus Feasibility Study
Sault Ste. Marie, Ontario
Avison Young Consulting Services LP & BDP Quadrangle | March 2025

Clinical Campus 
Feasibility Study
Northern Ontario School of Medicine 

Page 60 of 411



2Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Sheila Botting, FCMC, FRICS, AACI (HONS), MA

Principal & President, 
Americas Professional Services
Avison Young 

Mr. Tom Vair
Chief Administrative Officer
City of Sault Ste. Marie
99 Foster Drive
Sault Ste. Marie, ON, P6A 5X6

Re: City of Sault Ste. Marie | NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study

Dear Tom,

Avison Young and BDP Quadrangle, are pleased to present our Feasibility Study for a NOSM U Clinical Campus in Sault Ste. Marie. This report identifies the current shortfall in 
physician availability and underscores the need for a new clinical campus, while also offering the project team's vision for potential locations that meet NOSM U’s requirements. 
Our report was developed through a multistage process which included engagement and information gathering, data analysis, and option development.

Through a combination of our team's analysis and multi-stage engagement, we have identified three viable locations for the new clinical campus, aimed at improving access to 
physicians within the community. Additionally, a study was conducted to examine the impact of rural medical training programs, drawing insights from similar campuses 
worldwide and their effects on the medical landscape. Throughout the process, we focused on creating a comprehensive study that not only highlights the need but also 
provides actionable solutions to address it.

We welcome the opportunity to review our analysis, key findings and any recommendations. Should you have any questions regarding this submission, please do not hesitate 
to contact us at (416) 904-4206 or Sheila.botting@avisonyoung.com or (416) 598 1240 x221 or Hrolleston@bdpquadrangle.com. 

March 31st, 2025

Heather Rolleston
Principal – Design Director, 
BDP Quadrangle 

Page 61 of 411



3Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Project Vision
E X E C U T I V E  S U M M A R Y  ( 1 / 4 )  

01

Tackle the City’s physician 
shortages

Mitigate low physician-to-
pop. Ratio pressures

Increase physician 
retention

Improve access in Northern 
Ontario

Strengthen recruitment and 
retention efforts

Boost long-term healthcare 
delivery

Training more doctors locally will 
help mitigate the ongoing 
shortage of healthcare 
professionals.

A regional clinical campus would 
enhance care in both urban and 
remote areas of Northern 
Ontario. 

A new campus can help close the 
gap in healthcare access 
compared to the provincial 
average. 

A local clinical campus would 
make Sault Ste. Marie more 
attractive to new and experienced 
physicians. 

Establishing a local clinical 
campus would enhance the city's 
ability to retain doctors.

Investing in local medical 
education is key to ensuring 
continuous, high-quality care for 
the community. 

Opportunity to introduce a NOSM University Regional Campus
NOSM University’s medical training programs demonstrate that 90% of learners who complete 
both an MD degree and a residency in the North choose to stay in the region.
Establishing a new clinical campus in Sault Ste. Marie would help address physician shortages by 
training professionals within the community, attracting new talent, and fostering partnerships with 
local healthcare providers.
Ultimately, this initiative would enhance access to medical education and improve healthcare delivery 
in Sault Ste. Marie and surrounding areas, contributing to long-term healthcare sustainability across 
Northern Ontario. The new clinical campus would address the following:

Source: University of Toronto

Page 62 of 411



4Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Why Sault Ste. Marie needs a new clinical campus
E X E C U T I V E  S U M M A R Y  ( 2 / 4 )  

01

*Calculations: Additional Physicians Required to maintain target = [(Current ratio target number x projected population)/1,000] – Previous census Total Physician Count). Assumes the requirement to match Ontario’s 2.48 ratio of 
physicians per 1,000 population and assumes Sault Ste Marie’s net physician count remains unchanged.
Source: Canadian Institute for Health Information (CIHI), Canadian Medical Association (CMA)

74% of Canadian graduates 
practice in the province 
where they graduate 
from (CMA)

Address lower physician per 
1,000 pop. relative to 
province*

Address Sault Ste. 
Marie’s Physician Shortages

Improve in Healthcare 
Access across Northern 
Ontario

Strengthen 
Recruitment and 
Retention Strategies

– As per Canadian Medical 
Association, 74% of Canadian 
graduates practice in the 
province where they 
graduated.

– Establishing a clinical campus in 
Sault Ste. Marie would 
significantly increase the 
likelihood of retaining newly 
trained physicians in the 
region, helping to alleviate 
local physician shortages.

– By training more physicians 
locally, the city could take 
advantage of the national 
trend, with the majority of 
graduates likely to stay, 
thereby improving healthcare 
accessibility and reducing 
reliance on recruitment from 
other regions or provinces.

– Based on the Sault Ste. Marie’s 
current & forecasted 
population growth, the 
physician ratio per 1,000 
population is projected to 
decline ~4.5% by 2028. 

– To achieve Ontario’s 2.48 ratio, 
Sault Ste. Marie requires ~9 
additional physicians by 2022, 
projecting the need to add a 
further ~18 physicians by 
2028 to keep pace with the 
provincial average and not 
necessarily achieve the 
desired standard of care. 

– In addition to above, the City 
has identified a requirement 
for 45 additional doctors to 
meet desired care standards.  

– Developing a clinical campus 
would provide a direct 
pathway for students to train 
and settle in the area.

– Sault Ste. Marie is facing a 
growing shortage of 
physicians, particularly in 
family medicine and specialized 
care. 

– A new regional clinical 
campus would provide local 
medical education and 
residency programs, creating 
a pipeline of new doctors who 
are more likely to stay and 
practice in the area. 

– This can help reduce overall 
wait times and the existing 
physician-to-population gap 
while addressing the urgent 
need for healthcare providers 
in both the city and 
surrounding rural areas.

– Northern Ontario, including 
Sault Ste. Marie, faces unique 
geographic challenges, with 
Indigenous, remote and rural 
communities often struggling 
to access timely healthcare 
services. 

– A regional clinical campus 
would enhance local 
healthcare infrastructure, 
bringing advanced training 
and research capabilities closer 
to underserved populations. 

– This would improve overall 
access to care and reduce the 
reliance on distant 
healthcare centers, improving 
patient outcomes.

– Having a clinical campus in 
Sault Ste. Marie would boost 
recruitment and retention 
efforts for healthcare 
professionals. 

– Physicians who train and 
complete their residencies in 
the area are more likely to 
stay long-term. 

– A regional clinical campus can 
offer state-of-the-art 
facilities, research 
opportunities, and a strong 
community network, making 
the city more appealing for 
both new graduates and 
experienced healthcare 
workers looking for a 
supportive work environment.

Five key reasons why a new regional clinical campus in Sault Ste. Marie would benefit Northern Ontario:
Sault Ste. Marie, like many regions in Northern Ontario, is experiencing a shortage of physicians amidst a declining number of doctors and physicians per 1,000 population. Sault 
Ste. Marie's physician-to-population ratio is lower than the provincial average, highlighting an urgent need for a strategic response to healthcare delivery in the region. This 
disparity limits residents' access to essential medical services, increases wait times for care, and places added pressure on existing healthcare providers. 

01 02 03 04 05

Page 63 of 411



5Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Executive Summary 
E X E C U T I V E  S U M M A R Y  ( 3 / 4 )  

01

The vision: Primary Care Teaching Clinics
To meet the requirements of both the City and NOSM U, the 
establishment of a Primary Care Teaching Clinic (PCTC) in the first phase 
would be highly beneficial. A PCTC is a specialized facility within a 
healthcare setting that provides medical students, residents, and 
healthcare professionals with hands-on medical training.

 This model has emerged as the most appealing option through our 
investigations and discussions with NOSM U, due to its ability to maximize 
the residents-to-physician ratio and generate a multiplicative effect.

The primary advantage of this model is its capacity to train multiple 
residents simultaneously in a supervised clinical environment, enhancing 
hands-on experience and accelerating the learning process.

Training within an PCTC directly contributes to improved patient care by 
producing highly skilled physicians who enter the workforce more 
effectively. This boosts access to care, improves healthcare quality, 
addresses physician shortages, and leads to better patient outcomes.

By adopting this model and consistently producing qualified physicians, 
the healthcare system becomes more self-sustaining, ensuring long-term 
stability and growth in physician count both on a gross basis and relative 
to corresponding growth in undergraduate learner intake.

Exam Room Standard (100 sf)

Exam Room Large (120 sf)

Counseling Room (80 sf)

Procedure Room (160 sf)

Patient WC (60 sf each)

Waiting Room Seating (16 sf / patient)

Team Collaboration Space (30 sf / provider)

Reception and Clinic Assistants (50 sf / staff)

Meeting Room (25 People)

Kitchen / Staff Lounge

Clean / Dirty Utility

Site Operations Office

Staff WC (60 sf each)

Mechanical / Computer Room

*The image presents a sample functional space requirement model for a PCTC pod with four supervising physicians. 

Page 64 of 411



6Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Executive Summary 
E X E C U T I V E  S U M M A R Y  ( 4 / 4 )  

01

Based on the team's analysis and decision-making framework, Algoma Public Health and Sault Area Hospital 
represent the two most viable options for the new facility. This was directly attributed to Algoma Public Health 
offering the least capital-intensive construction/renovation process as well as a quicker implementation plan, and 
Sault Area Hospital providing access to other hospital facilities with greater potential for future expansion.

02

Group Health Centre

Development of a new building 
in the Group Health Centre 
parking lot. This option allows 
for the construction of either a 
standalone building or a shared 
space, accommodating both 
teaching facilities and additional 
space for the Group Health 
Centre.

03

Sault Area Hospital 

The proposed expansion of 
Sault Area Hospital involves 
extending the south wing to 
create purpose-built facilities 
specifically designed for NOSM 
U's teaching activities. This 
option offers access to hospital 
facilities and provides potential 
for future expansion.

01

Algoma Public Health 
Lease space within the modern 
Algoma Public Health building. 
This option involves renovating 
existing office space, offering 
the most cost-effective solution 
and the quickest timeline for 
implementation.

To fulfill the requirements of both the City and NOSM U, the project team has identified three options for the 
facility’s location, outlined as follows:

Page 65 of 411



Table of Contents

01. Executive Summary 03

02. Background and Objectives 08

03. Current State of the Healthcare Sector 10

04. Northern Ontario In-Focus 19

05. SSM in Context to Northern Ontario 24

06. Engagement and Impact of Rural Facilities 32

07. Rural Facilities Case Studies 35

08. Options Analysis 46

09. Decision Making Criteria - Scoring Matrix 58

10. Implementation Program and Next Steps 62

11. Appendices 64

Page 66 of 411



8Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

02. Project Background

Page 67 of 411



9Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Study Background and Objectives
P R O J E C T  B A C K G R O U N D

02

Study Background
Communities across Northern Ontario are undergoing a healthcare crisis driven by multiple challenges 
such as physician shortages, lack of specialized care, limited access to services, extensive waitlists and 
geographical isolation of communities.
A significant driver of these challenges is the difficulty in attracting and retaining physicians in remote 
regions, which is where the Northern Ontario School of Medicine (NOSM U) plays a crucial role.
Research indicates that training medical students and residents in remote and rural communities 
increases the likelihood that those individuals will remain and practice in those areas post-graduation. By 
offering local training and residency programs, NOSM U helps build a more sustainable local workforce, 
helping to address the chronic shortage of medical professionals in Northern Ontario.
As a result, the City of Sault Ste. Marie is seeking to support the development of a regional campus of 
NOSM U in the Municipality that will help increase the pipeline of medical professionals and enhance the 
delivery of care.

Project Objectives
– Produce high-quality medical professionals in Sault Ste. Marie and surroundings to help address 

regional challenges in providing primary and acute care services
– Provide teaching facilities in one, or multiple, locations in the Sault Ste. Marie community
– Address Provincial healthcare priorities and garner ongoing funding support

Key Deliverables
– Conduct a comprehensive needs assessment that includes recommendations for educational 

programming and focus, as well as proposed facility, staffing, and location options.
– Develop a robust business case for the establishment of a new teaching facility in Sault Ste. Marie.
– Provide an overview of high-level cost estimates for the proposed options.

To support this business case, Avison Young has undertaken a comprehensive research 
process to assess regional healthcare requirements, trends, and highlight successful 
comparable case studies of similar facilities.

Page 68 of 411



10Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

03. Current State of the Healthcare Sector
Canada & Ontario Healthcare Overview

Page 69 of 411



11Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Context on Canada's physicians
C U R R E N T  S T A T E  O F  T H E  H E A L T H C A R E  S E C T O R

03

Source: Canadian Institute for Health Information (CIHI), Canadian Medical Association (CMA)

2.38

2.42

2.48

2.49

0.00 0.50 1.00 1.50 2.00 2.50 3.00

Sault Ste. Marie

Northern Ontario

Ontario

Canada

Canadian Physician Overview
The Canadian Medical Association (CMA) is a national, voluntary organization that represents physicians 
across Canada. Established in 1867, it serves as the voice of the medical profession and plays a crucial role 
in advocating for the health and well-being of Canadians.
As of the latest 2022 data, Canada has around 96,020 practicing physicians, including family 
physicians/general practitioners (GPs) and specialists. Based on Canada’s 2022 population of 38,566,032, 
the ratio of physicians per 1,000 Canadians as of 2022 is 2.49. This figure is a slight increase from the 
2.41 physicians per 1,000 people recorded in 2019 (as per the Canadian Medical Association).

Physicians per 1,000 population – 2022

38,566,032
Canada 

Population
2022

~96,020
Number of active 

physicians
2022

2.49
Physicians per 1,000 

population
2022

Page 70 of 411



12Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Context on Canada's physicians (contd.)
C U R R E N T  S T A T E  O F  T H E  H E A L T H C A R E  S E C T O R

03

Source: Canadian Institute for Health Information (CIHI), Canadian Medical Association (CMA)

Canadian Physician Mix
Canada’s 96,020 practicing physicians includes family physicians/general practitioners (GPs) and 
specialists, with over half of the total physician workforce being Family Physicians/GPs. 
The below provides a detailed breakdown of its active physicians:

Distribution of Canada’s Physicians
– 74% of Canadian graduates practice in the province where they graduated. Graduate retention 

figures range from 38% in Nova Scotia to 86% in Quebec.
– About than 8% of physicians practice in rural areas whereas about 19% of Canadians live in rural 

areas. The figure for family physicians is 14% compared to 2% of specialists.
– There is a higher concentration of foreign medical graduates in Saskatchewan (52% of all physicians) 

and Newfoundland (37%) than in provinces such as Quebec where only 10% graduated outside Canada.

Canadian Physician Migration – Net gain of 140 physicians in 2022
Physician migration in Canada refers to the movement of doctors within the country, as well as those 
entering and leaving the country, which impacts the healthcare system in various ways. This migration can 
be influenced by factors such as economic opportunities, lifestyle choices, training opportunities, policy 
changes, and healthcare system demands.
The below provides a detailed breakdown of its active physicians:
– 1,060 physicians moved abroad in 2022. In the same year, 1,200 returned from abroad for a net gain of 

140.
– 4,700 physicians moved to another province/territory in 2022. The provinces that experienced net gains 

of physicians were British Columbia, Alberta, and Ontario.

KEY 
TAKEAWAY

74% of Canadian graduates practice in the province where they graduated. 
Despite an increase in the number of physicians since 2019, the country continues to face a significant doctor 
shortage, with rural communities experiencing a disproportionate impact compared to urban areas.

52% are family physicians; 
48% are specialists of other disciplines.

39% (33,913) are aged 55 or older.

43% are female; 57% are male. Two thirds (64%) of 
family physicians under age 35 are female.

75% graduated from a Canadian medical school, 
22% graduated from a foreign medical school, 
3% not stated.

.

Page 71 of 411



13Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Ontario’s healthcare current state overview
C U R R E N T  S T A T E  O F  T H E  H E A L T H C A R E  S E C T O R

03

Source: Ontario Medical Association (OMA)

About the Ontario Medical Association
Ontario is recognized for its world-class medical professionals who are revolutionizing patient care, leading 
groundbreaking research, and contributing to the advancement of the publicly funded healthcare system. 
The province serves as a major training hub, preparing future physicians and healthcare leaders.

– Founded in 1880, the Ontario Medical Association (OMA) has around 43,000 members, which 
includes all of Ontario’s 35,320 practicing physicians as of 2022 (up from 34,091 in 2019), as well as 
retired physicians, medical students, and Ontario physicians currently practicing out-of-province.

– As the representative body for Ontario’s physicians, the OMA advocates for the health of Ontarians 
and provides leadership to ensure an accessible, high-quality healthcare system. The 
organization’s activities are entirely funded by membership dues, without financial support from the 
government or corporate entities.

– The OMA is governed by a board of directors consisting of 11 members: eight physician directors 
and three non-physician directors. The board’s officers include the chair, president, president-elect, 
and immediate past president, with the president-elect and immediate past president serving as non-
voting observers on the board.

Ontario physicians by the numbers (Based on the latest 2022 data)

35,320
practicing physicians

2.48
physicians per 1,000 people

49
OMA sections (from addiction 
medicine to vascular surgery 

430,000
patient visits per day on average

133 million
patient visits in 2022 

Family and general practice 
visits: 117 million

Specialist visits: 29 million 

49.2 years
Average age of practicing 

physicians in Ontario

49.5 years
Average age of OMA members

56.6% male
OMA members

43.4% female
OMA members

Overview of Ontario Medical Association

Page 72 of 411



14Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Ontario’s healthcare current state overview (cont’d)
C U R R E N T  S T A T E  O F  T H E  H E A L T H C A R E  S E C T O R

03

Source: Canadian Institute for Health Information (CIHI)

Year Ontario P.E.I. N.S. N.B. Que. N.L. Man. Sask. Alberta B.C. Y.T. N.W.T. Nun. Canada
1992 20,403 173 1,758 1,021 14,518 890 1,983 1,485 4,428 6,940 38 61 n/a 53,698
1993 20,738 179 1,856 1,054 14,826 969 2,007 1,499 4,576 7,231 39 61 n/a 55,035
1994 20,525 178 1,774 1,074 15,002 968 1,973 1,541 4,546 7,258 42 63 n/a 54,944
1995 20,407 176 1,731 1,107 15,151 940 1,978 1,524 4,481 7,338 44 63 n/a 54,940
1996 20,209 170 1,744 1,121 15,232 924 1,968 1,472 4,468 7,502 47 61 n/a 54,918
1997 20,194 165 1,763 1,126 15,306 931 2,008 1,472 4,509 7,617 50 66 n/a 55,207
1998 20,460 175 1,828 1,151 15,472 926 2,014 1,529 4,755 7,746 45 62 n/a 56,163
1999 20,701 180 1,868 1,162 15,582 925 2,049 1,568 4,962 7,812 41 53 11 56,914
2000 21,176 178 1,898 1,153 15,770 927 2,082 1,567 5,014 7,943 41 47 7 57,803
2001 21,482 190 1,885 1,179 15,866 945 2,093 1,549 5,154 8,105 54 37 7 58,546
2002 21,735 191 1,943 1,185 15,800 929 2,077 1,564 5,637 8,243 52 46 10 59,412
2003 21,738 195 1,958 1,224 15,518 975 2,063 1,526 5,801 8,348 55 43 10 59,454
2004 22,067 210 2,000 1,262 16,145 992 2,078 1,529 5,953 8,257 61 51 7 60,612
2005 22,237 199 2,039 1,295 16,354 994 2,111 1,545 6,219 8,507 64 44 14 61,622
2006 22,141 207 2,049 1,325 16,533 1,018 2,125 1,571 6,574 8,635 70 48 11 62,307
2007 22,592 218 2,137 1,388 16,782 1,048 2,117 1,644 6,891 8,735 72 49 9 63,682
2008 23,043 232 2,189 1,447 17,057 1,110 2,219 1,660 7,293 9,055 76 48 11 65,440
2009 24,515 233 2,174 1,460 17,430 1,117 2,238 1,703 7,554 9,548 74 43 12 68,101
2010 25,044 236 2,126 1,546 17,797 1,152 2,311 1,778 7,882 9,708 72 34 13 69,699
2011 26,163 259 2,274 1,612 18,496 1,179 2,490 1,928 8,258 9,748 70 38 14 72,529
2012 27,300 266 2,367 1,668 18,990 1,233 2,462 1,965 8,530 10,246 67 36 12 75,142
2013 28,422 276 2,461 1,715 19,362 1,271 2,596 2,054 9,024 10,372 67 43 11 77,674
2014 29,368 262 2,458 1,727 19,706 1,304 2,593 2,144 9,523 10,692 72 44 12 79,905
2015 30,494 266 2,465 1,674 20,055 1,282 2,659 2,241 10,019 10,917 79 37 10 82,198
2016 31,017 279 2,457 1,735 20,270 1,315 2,748 2,282 10,294 11,547 78 33 8 84,063
2017 32,055 289 2,455 1,797 20,908 1,347 2,833 2,356 10,680 11,803 77 35 8 86,643
2018 33,872 305 2,616 1,885 20,878 1,414 2,918 2,390 10,806 12,553 77 41 17 89,772
2019 34,091 323 2,624 1,923 21,485 1,357 2,979 2,484 11,205 12,757 79 44 21 91,372
2020 33,830 322 2,719 1,949 22,038 1,361 2,987 2,535 11,197 13,073 85 52 25 92,173
2021 34,860 344 2,736 2,022 22,451 1,378 2,996 2,547 11,085 13,540 85 53 22 94,119
2022 35,320 356 2,758 2,163 22,765 1,415 3,031 2,606 11,078 14,353 89 57 29 96,020
Avg

1992 to 
2022

1.5% 2.4% 1.5% 2.5% 1.5% 1.9% 1.4% 1.8% 3.1% 2.5% 3.0% 1.2% 9.1% 2.0%

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

19
92

19
93

19
94

19
95

19
96

19
97

19
98

19
99

20
00

20
01

20
02

20
03

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

20
16

20
17

20
18

20
19

20
20

20
21

20
22

Total Count of Physicians by Province - 1992 to 2022

Ontario P.E.I. N.S. N.B. Que. N.L. Man. Sask. Alberta B.C. Y.T. Canada

Historically, Ontario experienced an average annual growth of physician count of 1.5% from 1992 to 2022 with its most significant growth occurring between 2007-2008 (6.4%) and 
2016-2017 (5.7%). Comparatively, Canada as a whole has averaged 2.0% over the same period with its largest increase coming between 2008-2010 (4.1%) and 2016-2017 (3.6%). 
This difference highlights Ontario’s comparatively slower growth in physician counts relative to the national average.

KEY 
TAKEAWAY

With the majority of provinces experiencing faster physician growth rates to keep up with their respective population increases, Ontario’s growth of 1.5% has 
historically lagged behind the national average of 2.0% from 1992 to 2022, indicating a need to develop Ontario’s physician pipeline. 

Page 73 of 411



15Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Ontario’s existing medical schools
C U R R E N T  S T A T E  O F  T H E  H E A L T H C A R E  S E C T O R  

03

Source: Respective university publications, Ontario Medical Association (OMA), Ontario Universities’ Application Centre (OUAC)
*Students are spread across the institutions multiple campuses

McMaster University 
Michael G. DeGroote 
School of Medicine

Northern Ontario
School of Medicine

(NOSM U)

Queen’s University 
Faculty of Health Sciences 

School of Medicine

University of Toronto 
Temerty Faculty 

of Medicine

University of 
Ottawa 

Faculty of Medicine

University of Western 
Ontario - Schulich School 
of Medicine & Dentistry

Annual Medical 
Student Intake 217 74 138 323* 178 190*

Medical School 
Costs – Canadian 
($CAD)

$26,215 $24,046 $25,131 $25,490 $28,500 $27,358

Number of Medical 
(MD) Programs 1 MD Program 1 MD Program 1 MD Program 2 (MD & Graduate  Medical 

Programs) 1 MD Program 1 MD Program

Description Known for its innovative, 
problem-based learning 
curriculum, this school 
offers an MD program that 
is completed in three 
years, making it one of the 
fastest medical programs 
in Canada. The school is 
also renowned for its 
research contributions, 
especially in health 
sciences.

NOSM U is unique for its 
community-based, 
distributed model of 
education, with a strong 
emphasis on training 
physicians to serve in rural 
and underserved 
communities. The school 
partners with over 90 
communities across 
Northern Ontario.

With a history dating back 
to 1854, Queen’s School of 
Medicine offers a robust 
MD program and graduate 
education in various 
medical specialties. The 
school emphasizes a 
comprehensive education 
that combines 
foundational sciences with 
clinical training.

As one of the largest and 
oldest medical schools in 
North America, the 
University of Toronto’s 
medical program is highly 
esteemed for its research 
excellence and 
comprehensive clinical 
training. It offers various 
programs, including MD, 
MD/Ph.D., and graduate 
studies.

The University of Ottawa 
offers a bilingual MD 
program (English and 
French) and is known for 
its emphasis on research, 
clinical skills, and 
interdisciplinary learning. It 
collaborates with several 
hospitals and research 
institutes, providing 
students with extensive 
hands-on experience.

This school offers an 
integrated MD program 
and is renowned for its 
contributions to medical 
research, education, and 
patient care. Schulich 
focuses on a broad range 
of specialties, including 
rural and regional health, 
and emphasizes training 
physicians to serve in 
diverse communities.

Ontario is home to 6 medical schools that offer numerous health and training programs in various specialties through institutions like McMaster University, the University of 
Toronto, and Queen's University, as well as 4 satellite medical school campuses. These programs emphasize a combination of hands-on clinical experience, innovative research, 
and community-based learning. Collectively, they produce highly skilled physicians to meet the healthcare needs of Ontario's population.

KEY TAKEAWAYS & 
INSIGHTS

Collectively, these Ontario medical schools have a total annual intake of 1,120 students for its 15 million population. This relatively low quantum of 
students is a strong attributor to the physician shortage and healthcare crisis experienced across the province.

Page 74 of 411



16Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Upcoming medical schools – Ontario
C U R R E N T  S T A T E  O F  T H E  H E A L T H C A R E  S E C T O R  

03

Source: Ontario.ca, School of Medicine - Toronto Metropolitan University (TMU), York University School of Medicine

Toronto Metropolitan University (TMU) 
School of Medicine

York University 
School of Medicine

Description
TMU is establishing a new medical school in Brampton, focusing on community-
centered primary care and serving diverse populations. The school emphasizes 

equity, diversity, and inclusion in its admissions and curriculum.

York University is planning a new medical school in Vaughan, aiming to contribute to 
Ontario's healthcare system by training future medical professionals. The program will 
offer up to 240 undergraduate seats and 293 postgraduate seats on an annual basis once 

operating at full capacity.

Proposed Opening 
Date The inaugural class is scheduled to begin in September 2025 The school is expected to commence operations in Fall 2028

Student Intake 94 undergraduate students
105 postgraduate students

80 undergraduate students
102 postgraduate students

Medical School 
Costs – Canadian 
($CAD)

For the 2025-2026 academic year, tuition is set at $25,604. Additional application fees 
include a $220 OMSAS fee and a $125 TMU application fee. Specific tuition fees have not been announced yet.

Development Cost 
Details

In 2021, the City of Brampton allocated a $1 million planning grant to support 
feasibility studies for TMU's proposed medical school, matching the funding 

committed by the Province earlier that year.

The Ontario government provided an initial investment of $9 million in March 
2024 to support the design and planning of York University's new School of Medicine.

Partnerships and 
Affiliations

Halton Healthcare: In June 2024, TMU signed an affiliation agreement with Halton 
Healthcare to host medical learners, marking a significant step in advancing medical 
education and training in the region. 
Peel District School Board: TMU has partnered with the Peel District School Board 
to engage students from underrepresented groups in health professions, aiming to 
diversify the future healthcare workforce.

City of Vaughan: The medical school will be located in the Vaughan Healthcare 
Centre Precinct (VHCP), adjacent to Cortellucci Vaughan Hospital, facilitating 
integrated learning and multidisciplinary placement opportunities for students. 
Mackenzie Health and ventureLAB: These partnerships aim to establish the VHCP 
as a hub for excellence in health research, fostering collaboration and innovation in 
the healthcare sector.

Ontario is opening two new medical schools at Toronto Metropolitan University (2025) and York University (2028) and has expanded medical school seats, adding more than 
260 undergraduate and 449 residency spots, eventually reaching more than 500 undergraduate spots and 742 residency positions. This is the largest medical school 
expansion in over a decade.

Page 75 of 411



17Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Ontario healthcare – Physician graduates by specialty
C U R R E N T  S T A T E  O F  T H E  H E A L T H C A R E  S E C T O R

03

* Specialists includes all specialties and subspecialties except family medicine and emergency family medicine. Excludes physicians where place of MD graduation is unknown.
Source: Canadian Institute for Health Information (CIHI) – Scott’s Medical Database, Canadian Institute for Health Information

0

312

3,448

9,367

9,679

11,361

13,127

0 2,000 4,000 6,000 8,000 10,000 12,000 14,000

Medical scientists

 Laboratory specialists

Surgical specialists

Clinical specialists

Medical specialists

Family medicine

Specialists*

Ontario Physician graduates by specialty – 2022

Physician graduates by specialty
Recent data indicates that approximately 50% of new residency positions are allocated to family medicine. 
However, the demand amongst learners remains insufficient, as over 100 of these positions went unfilled 
in 2023 alone. This trend indicates a growing reluctance among new physicians to pursue family medicine, 
signaling a need to increase medical training opportunities across the province to entice more learners.
This could include expanding geographic availability allowing for students to learn and practice within their 
respective communities.

Recent Ontario Trends and Outlook
While family medicine faces challenges in attracting residents, other areas are experiencing increased 
demand from graduates, as shown in the adjacent chart. Top specialties attracting graduates include 
surgical and specialized fields such as:
– Internal medicine,
– Pediatrics,
– Emergency medicine,
– and Psychiatry.
High levels of physician burnout, compounded by administrative workloads, are shaping career decisions 
among medical graduates. Many family physicians report dedicating a substantial portion of their time to 
non-clinical tasks, detracting from patient care and diminishing job satisfaction. 
These challenges in family medicine, driven by burnout and administrative burdens, are leading many 
family doctors to consider reducing their working hours or retiring early.
According to the Ontario Medical Association, the combination of family medicine struggling to attract new 
physicians, alongside strong demand for specialties could lead to an imbalance in the healthcare system, 
with certain specialties becoming well-staffed while primary care remains under-resourced.

Page 76 of 411



18Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Ontario’s Physician Shortages and Growing Demand for Care
C U R R E N T  S T A T E  O F  T H E  H E A L T H C A R E  S E C T O R

03

The below presents 6 key takeaways demonstrating Sault Ste. Marie’s need for additional medical Graduates
Ontario is facing a healthcare crisis due to its inability to attract sufficient new family physicians and the limited intake of medical students across the province’s six medical 
schools. Despite a growing population, the healthcare system is under strain as physician shortages persist, especially in primary care and rural areas. Addressing physician 
burnout and expanding medical training capacity are crucial to resolving the widening gap between healthcare demand and supply.

Ontario’s physician growth rate (1.5%) is below 
the national average, contributing to a growing 
imbalance in healthcare services, especially in 
rural areas where only 14% of family 
physicians and 2% of specialists serve 19% of 
the population.

Physician Shortage and Distribution

Ontario’s six medical schools admit roughly 
1,000 students annually, which is insufficient 
to meet the needs of its 15 million population, 
exacerbating the physician shortage in primary 
care.

Medical School Intake and Capacity

Despite the high demand for family physicians, 
50% of new residency positions are allocated 
to family medicine, yet over 100 of these 
positions went unfilled in 2023, reflecting a 
reluctance among medical graduates to 
pursue this field.

Declining Interest in Family Medicine

High levels of burnout among family doctors, 
largely driven by excessive administrative 
workloads, are causing many to reduce their 
working hours or retire early, further straining 
the healthcare system.

Physician Burnout due to shortage

While 74% of Canadian medical graduates 
practice in the province they trained in, 
Ontario’s retention efforts are insufficient, 
leading to disparities in rural healthcare 
access.

Geographic Retention Disparities

The strong demand for specialties, coupled 
with a declining interest in family medicine, 
threatens to create an imbalance in Ontario's 
healthcare system, where specialty services 
are better staffed than primary care.

Specialist Growth vs. Primary Care Crisis

Page 77 of 411



19Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

04. Northern Ontario In-Focus 
Regional Healthcare Overview

Page 78 of 411



20Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Northern Ontario healthcare overview
N O R T H E R N  O N T A R I O  I N - F O C U S

04

Source: Canadian Institute for Health Information (CIHI)

Northern Ontario Physician Overview
Northern Ontario encompasses a vast and geographically diverse region, including major cities such as 
Sault Ste. Marie, Sudbury, Thunder Bay, and North Bay. The region faces unique healthcare challenges 
and opportunities compared to southern parts of the province.
Northern Ontario is served by around 40 hospitals, including larger regional hospitals like Health Sciences 
North in Sudbury and Thunder Bay Regional Health Sciences Centre. These hospitals provide a wide range 
of services, while smaller hospitals and community health centers serve more remote areas.
Primary care is delivered through family health teams, nurse practitioner-led clinics, community health 
centers, and Indigenous health organizations. Access can be limited in remote areas due to a shortage of 
healthcare professionals.

Northern Ontario Physician Breakdown
As of 2022, Northern Ontario recorded fewer physicians per capita compared to Ontario, with 
approximately 2.42 physicians per 1,000 residents, compared to the provincial average of 2.48. 
When compared to the province, there is a notable shortage of healthcare professionals in Northern 
Ontario including nurses, specialists, mental health providers, and allied health workers. 
Recruitment and retention are ongoing challenges due to the region's geographic isolation and climate, 
providing opportunity for the City to attract a new clinical campus based on historic success in retaining 
medical professionals upon graduating.

809,388
Northern Ontario 

Population
2022

~1,959
Number of active 

physicians
2022

2.42
Physicians per 1,000 

population
 2022

Outlook of Northern Ontario Healthcare
The healthcare system in Northern Ontario is gradually evolving to meet the needs of its diverse and 
dispersed population. Continued investment in infrastructure, workforce development, Indigenous health, 
and the expansion of virtual care are key strategies to improve healthcare access, particularly in rural and 
remote communities. 

Page 79 of 411



21Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Northern Ontario vs Ontario healthcare – Growth & ratio per 1,000 pop.
N O R T H E R N  O N T A R I O  I N - F O C U S

04

Source: Canadian Institute for Health Information (CIHI)

As of 2022, Ontario reported a total of 33,872 active physicians, marking a 4.3% growth since 2018. In comparison, Northern Ontario, with approximately 2,787 physicians in 2022, 
experienced a lower increase of 3.8% over the same period.

Ontario Physician Overview

Local Health Integration 
Network (LHIN)
Ontario Healthcare Regions

Total Physician 
Count 
(2018)

Total Physician 
Count 
(2022)

Percentage 
% Change

(2018 to 2022)

Ratio of 
Physicians per 

1,000 
population 

(2022)

Toronto Central Region 7,856 7,836 -0.3% 2.90

Waterloo Wellington Region 1,424 1,537 8.2% 2.64

Hamilton Niagara 
Haldimand Brant Region 3,466 3,636 4.8% 2.60

South-West Region 2,571 2,624 2.0% 2.60

Central Region 3,605 3,967 10.3% 2.55

Erie St. Clair Region 1,069 1,104 3.3% 2.53

South-East Region 1,436 1,428 -0.6% 2.49

Champlain Region 4,273 4,314 1.0% 2.48

Mississauga Halton Region 2,296 2,647 16.0% 2.42

Central East Region 2,598 2,734 5.4% 2.42

Northern Ontario Region 1,884 1,959 3.8% 2.42

Unknown 100 112 - 1.60

Ontario 33,872 35,320 4.3% 2.47

2.42

2.42

2.42

2.48

2.49

2.53

2.55

2.60

2.60

2.64

2.90

2.47

0.00 1.00 2.00 3.00

Northern Ontario Region

Mississauga Halton Region

Central East Region

Champlain Region

South East Region

Erie St. Clair Region

Central Region

Hamilton Niagara Haldimand Brant Region

South West Region

Waterloo Wellington Region

Toronto Central Region

Ontario

Ontario Physicians per 1,000 population - 2022 

KEY 
TAKEAWAYS 
& INSIGHTS

1. Between 2018 and 2022, physician growth of 3.8% in Northern Ontario is below the rest of the province in terms of number of service providers per 1000 people.
2. Northern Ontario recorded fewer physicians per capita compared to the rest of Ontario, with approximately ~2.42 physicians per 1,000 residents, compared to the 

provincial average of ~2.48.

Page 80 of 411



22Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Northern Ontario vs Ontario healthcare – Breakdown by gender & age
N O R T H E R N  O N T A R I O  I N - F O C U S

04

Source: Canadian Institute for Health Information (CIHI)

Snapshot – Ontario Physician Overview (Sorted by 

Local Health Integration 
Network (LHIN)
Ontario Healthcare Regions

Total Physician 
Count 
(2022)

Percentage 
% Change

(2018 to 2022)

Percentage % 
Female † Physicians 

(2022)

Toronto Central Region 7,836 -0.3% 47.5%

Waterloo Wellington Region 1,537 8.2% 42.6%

Hamilton Niagara Haldimand 
Brant Region 3,636 4.8% 42.0%

South-West Region 2,624 2.0% 40.5%

Central Region 3,967 10.3% 42.0%

Erie St. Clair Region 1,104 3.3% 32.7%

South-East Region 1,428 -0.6% 44.7%

Champlain Region 4,314 1.0% 49.8%

Mississauga Halton Region 2,647 16.0% 42.6%

Central East Region 2,734 5.4% 39.5%

Northern Ontario Region 1,959 3.8% 40.0%

Unknown 112 - 51.2%

Ontario 35,320 4.3% 43.4%

0 1,000 2,000 3,000 4,000 5,000

Younger than 30

30–39

40–49

50–59

60–64

65–69

70–74

75–79

80 and older

Unknown

Ontario Physicians by Gender & Age - 2022

Female - Ontario Male - Ontartio

Opportunity to retain younger physicians
The average age of all physicians in Ontario is 49.2, while Northern Ontario has a lower average age of 48.3. When it comes to the percentage of female physicians and the share of 
physicians Canadian trained, Ontario recorded 43.4% (40.0% for Northern Ontario) and 69.3% (77.4% for Northern Ontario) respectively.

KEY 
TAKEAWAYS 
& INSIGHTS

– With 43% of Ontario’s physicians being female and 40% for Northern Ontario, there is further opportunity to capture additional physicians to bridge equality gap.
– Except for age groups 30-39 and ages younger than 30, the rest of the age groups have larger male physician counts than female, suggesting a positive evolving trend.
The major takeaway: 
With an average age of 49.2 for Ontario (48.3 for Northern Ontario), the majority of physicians fall into the aging population category and highlights a significant challenge for the region's 
healthcare system. With a substantial proportion of physicians nearing retirement age, this creates a potential shortfall in the availability of medical professionals, particularly in a region 
that already experiences physician shortages.

Page 81 of 411



23Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Northern Ontario Projections: 157 Additional Physicians Needed by 2028
N O R T H E R N  O N T A R I O  I N - F O C U S

04

Calculations: Additional Physicians Required to maintain target = [(Current ratio target number x projected population)/1,000] – Previous census Total Physician Count)
Source: ESRI, Canadian Institute for Health Information (CIHI), Canadian Medical Association (CMA), Ontario Medical Association (OMA)

Year
Northern 
Ontario 

Population

Northern Ontario 
Total Physician 

Count

Northern Ontario 
Physicians per 1,000 

population

Additional 
Physicians Required 

to match Ontario 
2.48 ratio per 1,000 

pop.

2022 809,388 1,959 2.42 64

2028 ▲820,750 (≠) 1,959 ▼2.39 93

As shown in the below graph, based on the Northern Ontario’s current & forecasted 
population growth, the physician ratio per 1,000 population is projected to decline 
by ~2.0% of the current 2.42 ratio by 2028. 
The table reveals that in order achieve Ontario’s 2.48 ratio, the region required 
~64 additional physicians in 2022, projecting the need to add a further ~93 
physicians by 2028. This amounts to a total need of ~157 more physicians 
required for Northern Ontario by 2028  
(Assumes the requirement to match Ontario’s 2.48 ratio of physicians per 1,000 population).
To address the projected decline in the physician-to-population ratio in Northern 
Ontario, the region can focus on recruiting and retaining more healthcare 
professionals, particularly by offering incentives such as loan forgiveness, 
competitive salaries, and additional support for international medical graduates.

What does this mean for the Sault Ste. Marie?
For Sault Ste. Marie, the projected decline in the physician-
to-population ratio means there will be a growing need to 
attract more physicians to meet healthcare demands. 
Efforts such as offering targeted incentives, improving 
work-life balance, and establishing collaborative 
healthcare networks can help retain existing physicians 
and attract new talent. 
Additionally, investing in local medical training 
opportunities could encourage graduates to stay and 
practice within the community, addressing the 
projected shortfall and ensuring residents continue to 
receive quality healthcare services.

809,388

820,750
2.42

2.39

2.37

2.38

2.39

2.40

2.41

2.42

2.43

802,000

804,000

806,000

808,000

810,000

812,000

814,000

816,000

818,000

820,000

822,000

2022 2028

Northern Ontario Physicians
Population vs Physician Ratio per 1,000 population

Northern Ontario Population Northern Ontario Physicians per 1,000 population

2.48
Ontario Physicians per 

1,000 Population
2022

2.42
Northern Ontario 

Physicians per 1,000 Pop.
2022

Page 82 of 411



24Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

05. Sault Ste. Marie in Context
City Healthcare Overview

Page 83 of 411



25Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

About Sault Ste. Marie
S A U L T  S T E .  M A R I E  I N  C O N T E X T  T O  N O R T H E R N  O N T A R I O

05

Source: Sault Ste. Marie – 2023 Community Profile 

City Overview
Sault Ste. Marie, sometimes called "the Sault" or "the Soo“, is a City located on the St. Mary's River and its 
locational position forms part of the boundary between Canada and the United States, directly across from 
its Twin City Michigan. The two cities are joined by the Sault Ste. Marie International Bridge, which 
connects Interstate 75 on the Michigan side to Huron Street on the Ontario side.
Historically, the City is a key part of the Northern Ontario region and has been significant for its strategic 
location and natural resources. It was originally inhabited by the Ojibwe people and later became a hub for 
the fur trade, facilitated by its access to the Great Lakes. The construction of the Sault Ste. Marie Canal in 
the 19th century was pivotal for shipping and industry, giving the City a positional advantage due to its 
proximity to the US.

Key Fun Facts

Twin City in Michigan

– Sault Ste. Marie, Ontario, is directly across the river 
from Sault Ste. Marie, Michigan, USA. 

– The two cities are connected by the International 
Bridge, which facilitates cross-border travel and 
commerce.

Canadian Historical Significance

– The area has been a strategic and economic hub for 
centuries, starting as a center for the fur trade. 

– It was later developed into an industrial and shipping 
center with the construction of the Sault Ste. Marie 
Canal.

Strong Push for Alternative Energy

– The Sault Ste. Marie Solar Park, Hydroelectric 
Generating Station, and Prince Wind Farm, form part 
of the city's push to develop alternative forms of 
energy to be the 'Alternative Energy 
Capital of North America'

Tourism and Attractions

– Sault Ste. Marie Canal National Historic Site completed 
in 1895 and was once the world's longest lock.

– Agawa Canyon Tour Train, a popular scenic train tour 
that offers breathtaking views of the Agawa Canyon, 
especially vibrant in the fall.

Page 84 of 411



26Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Sault Ste. Marie in context
S A U L T  S T E . M A R I E I N  C O N T E X T  T O  N O R T H E R N  O N T A R I O

05

Source: Sault Ste. Marie – 2023 Community Profile

Land

Sault Ste. Marie has direct access to Canadian
markets via Hwy 17 (part of Trans-Canada 
Hwy), which links to the east coast, west coast 
and to Southern Ontario via Hwy 400. Air

The Sault Ste. Marie Airport is located within
city limits. It features unrestricted landing
(24hr) and is the only airport in N.E Ontario 
that contains a NAV Canada air control tower. Water

The Algoma Docks seaway-depth port is
strategically located on the St. Mary’s River
at the tip of Lake Superior, an integral part of 
the Great Lakes St. Lawrence Seaway System.

Background
Sault Ste. Marie has a population of 75,783 as of 2023 and boasts an 
extraordinary quality of life. A family-friendly community with 
work/life balance that cannot be beat and 10-minute commutes, 
Sault Ste. Marie offers affordable housing, centres of learning and 
culture, urban amenities, and its renowned four-season recreation 
assets that are natural complements to the competitive business 
environment.
Sault Ste. Marie serves as a multi-modal transportation hub, with 
access to the TransCanada Highway, Canadian National Rail and 
Canadian Pacific, deep port shipping, and a regional airport with 
multiple daily flights to Toronto, Ontario. Sault Ste. Marie is located at 
the centre point of the TransCanada highway, with uncongested 
travel north of the city, and to the south, a short bridge crossing 
away, is Sault Ste. Marie Michigan and Interstate-75.
Sault Ste. Marie has a cost advantage as it relates to utility and service 
costs. Sault Ste. Marie, through its wholly owned public utility, prides 
itself on providing reliable services at the lowest possible prices.
The City has deep roots in manufacturing and its growing smart 
energy sector builds upon the nearly 1200 megawatts (MW) of clean 
renewable energy produced in the region (solar, wind, and hydro-
electric generation). A community-wide smart grid and battery 
storage project will lower electricity costs even further on top of 
increased power reliability and redundancies.

London

Detroit

Ottawa
North Bay

Sudbury

Timmins

Wawa

Green Bay

Thunder Bay

C A N A D A

U N I T E D
S T A T E S

Toronto

400

400

Distance by Road

Sault Ste. 
Marie Airport

20 mins

Algoma Docks 15 mins

London 6 hr 36 mins

Timmins 5 hr 50 mins

Detroit 5 hr 12 mins

North Bay 4 hr 56 mins

Green Bay 4 hr 54 mins

Wawa 2 hr 32 mins

Sudbury 3 hr 31 mins

Ottawa 8 hr 52 mins

Thunder Bay 7 hr 45 mins

Highway 17 5 mins

Toronto 7 hr 16 mins

Highway 400 4 hr 45 mins400

Interstate-75 5 mins

Page 85 of 411



27Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Sault Ste. Marie healthcare overview – Prospect of a new regional campus
S A U L T  S T E . M A R I E I N  C O N T E X T  T O  N O R T H E R N  O N T A R I O

05

*Note: *Note: The number of physicians referenced is based on the average of a range of low to high estimates & market share figures obtained from various reliable sources.
Source: Canadian Institute for Health Information (CIHI)

Sault Ste. Marie Physician Overview
Sault Ste. Marie's healthcare system is supported by a dedicated group of physicians, with ~180 practicing physicians in the City, covering a wide range of family medicine and 
specialist services. Sault Area Hospital (SAH) is the central hub for healthcare services, offering comprehensive medical and surgical care. In addition to the main hospital, SAH 
operates several satellite clinics and services to extend care to the broader community.
Shortage of physicians per 1,000 population relative to the region and province
Sault Ste. Marie, like many regions in Northern Ontario, is experiencing a shortage of physicians amidst a declining number of doctors and physicians per 1,000 population. This 
shortage is particularly evident in primary care and certain specialties, creating longer wait times and reduced access to healthcare services for residents. Contributing factors 
include the retirement of older physicians, difficulty attracting new doctors to the region, and the challenges of serving a geographically dispersed population.

2.38

2.42

2.48

2.49

0.00 0.50 1.00 1.50 2.00 2.50 3.00

Sault Ste. Marie

Northern Ontario

Ontario

Canada

Physicians per 1,000 population – 2022

78,754777777777778888888,,,7777777555555554444444
Sault Ste. Marie 

Population
2023

~180*
Number of active 

physicians
2023

2.38
Physicians per 1,000 

population
2023 Sault Ste. Marie has a strategic opportunity to 

create a regional clinical campus that could 
significantly improve healthcare access and services 
in the region
By establishing a medical training and research facility, the city 
could attract new physicians, address the local and regional 
doctor shortage, and promote the retention of healthcare 
professionals. A regional clinical campus would also foster 
collaboration between Sault Area Hospital and other healthcare 
providers, enhancing medical education, research, and clinical 
services. This development could position Sault Ste. Marie as a 
healthcare hub for Northern Ontario, benefiting both the local 
community and surrounding rural areas.

Opportunity to Develop a Regional Clinical
Campus in Sault Ste. Marie

Page 86 of 411



28Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Defining the Need – Improved Healthcare Access 
S A U L T  S T E . M A R I E I N  C O N T E X T  T O  N O R T H E R N  O N T A R I O

05

Source: Canadian Institute for Health Information (CIHI)

As of 2022, Ontario reported a total of 
33,872 active physicians, marking a 
4.3% growth since 2018. In 
comparison, Northern Ontario, with 
approximately 2,787 physicians in 
2022, experienced a lower increase of 
3.8% over the same period indicating 
a lag relative to the province.

Between 2018 and 2022, physician 
growth of 3.8% in Northern Ontario is 
below the rest of the province in 
terms of number of service providers 
per 1000 people.

Northern Ontario recorded fewer 
physicians per capita compared to 
the rest of Ontario, with 
approximately ~2.42 physicians per 
1,000 residents, compared to the 
provincial average of ~2.48.

S C di I tit t f H lth I f ti (CIHI)

33,872 a
r
r

x
v
e

e

t
o
0

a
t

e
c

2.42

2.42

2.42

2.48

2.49

2.53

2.55

2.60

2.60

2.64

2.90

2.47

0.00 1.00 2.00 3.00

Northern Ontario Region

Mississauga Halton Region

Central East Region

Champlain Region

South East Region

Erie St. Clair Region

Central Region

Hamilton Niagara Haldimand Brant Region

South West Region

Waterloo Wellington Region

Toronto Central Region

Ontario

Ontario Physicians per 1,000 population - 2022

Page 87 of 411



29Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

What does this mean for the Sault Ste. Marie?
Sault Ste. Marie’s declining physician-to-population ratio highlights 
the need to attract more physicians to meet rising healthcare 
demands. Key strategies include offering targeted incentives like 
signing bonuses and loan forgiveness, improving work-life balance 
with better caseloads and support, and fostering collaborative 
healthcare networks to enhance patient care. 
Additionally, investing in local medical training, such as 
partnering with NOSM U for a regional campus or expanding 
residency programs, can encourage graduates to stay and 
practice locally. These efforts are vital to addressing the 
physician shortfall and ensuring continued quality healthcare 
for the community.

Projections: 28 Physicians Needed by 2028 to Meet Provincial Ratio
S A U L T  S T E . M A R I E I N  C O N T E X T  T O  N O R T H E R N  O N T A R I O

05

Calculations: Additional Physicians Required to maintain target = [(Current ratio target number x projected 
population)/1,000] – Previous census Total Physician Count)
Source: ESRI, Canadian Institute for Health Information (CIHI), Canadian Medical Association (CMA), Ontario 
Medical Association (OMA)

Year
Sault Ste. 

Marie 
Population

Sault Ste. Marie 
Total Physician 

Count*

Sault Ste. Marie 
Physicians per 1,000 

population

Additional 
Physicians Required 

to match Ontario 
2.48 ratio per 1,000 

pop.

2022 75,783 ~180 2.38 17

2028 ▲79,323 (≠) ~180 ▼2.27 26

As shown in the below graph, based on the Sault Ste. Marie’s current & forecasted 
population growth, the physician ratio per 1,000 population is projected to decline 
by ~4.5% of the current 2.38 ratio by 2028. 
The table reveals that in order achieve Ontario’s 2.48 ratio, Sault Ste. Marie 
required ~9 additional physicians by 2022, projecting the need to add a further 
~18 physicians by 2028. This amounts to a total need of ~28 more physicians 
required for Sault Ste. Marie by 2028. Further, according to the City’s physician 
recruitment team, an immediate need exists for 15 family doctors and 42 
specialists to achieve sustainable healthcare coverage for the population and 
alleviate the physician shortage as the provincial average ratio fails to meet the 
fulsome delivery requirements.

75,783

79,3232.38

2.27

2.20
2.22
2.24
2.26
2.28
2.30
2.32
2.34
2.36
2.38
2.40

74,000

75,000

76,000

77,000

78,000

79,000

80,000

2022 2028 Ph
ys

ic
ia

n 
Ra

tio
 p

er
 1

,0
00

 p
op

ul
at

io
n

Po
pu

la
tio

n

Sault Ste. Marie Physicians
Population vs Physician Ratio per 1,000 population

Sault Ste. Marie Population Sault Ste. Marie Physicians per 1,000 population

Note: Assumes the requirement to match Ontario’s 2.48 ratio of physicians per 1,000 population and assumes Sault 
Ste Marie’s net physician count remains unchanged.
*Note: The number of physicians referenced is based on the average of a range of low to high estimates & market 
share figures obtained from various reliable sources.

2.48
Ontario Physicians per 

1,000 Population
2022

2222222222..333333338888888
Sault Ste. Marie 

Physicians per 1,000 Pop.
2022

Page 88 of 411



30Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

The Urgent Need for Physicians – Additional Requirements
S A U L T  S T E . M A R I E I N  C O N T E X T  T O  N O R T H E R N  O N T A R I O

05

Source: Sault Ste. Marie Physician recruitment data (August 2023)

As of 2023, the physician recruitment team in Sault Ste. Marie has conducted a comprehensive and strategic analysis that has 
informed the city’s recruitment initiatives. This detailed assessment has not only identified key specialties essential for 
addressing the evolving healthcare needs, but has also pinpointed critical gaps in physician coverage. 
The analysis indicates an urgent requirement for an additional 15 family doctors and 42 specialists to meet current 
demand. Addressing these shortages will be pivotal in ensuring the healthcare network's long-term sustainability and 
in mitigating the broader physician shortage that continues to affect communities across the country.

15
Sault Ste. Marie 

Family Doctor Requirement 
as of 2023

42
Sault Ste. Marie 

Specialist Requirement 
as of 2023

1.5 1 0.5

5
4

1 1

5.5

2
0.5 1 1

2
1

4

1 1 1 1 1 1

3

1 1

15

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

Sault Ste. Marie Current Physician Requirement Headcount as of 2023

KEY 
TAKEAWAYS 
& INSIGHTS

SSM’s average physician ratio falls short of the Provincial average and recent data reflects Northern Ontario’s 
need for comprehensive healthcare delivery for its population. This highlights the urgent requirement for 
immediate action to ensure long-term healthcare stability for Sault Ste. Marie and the surrounding area. 

Page 89 of 411



31Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Key Benefits of a Campus in Sault Ste. Marie
S A U L T  S T E .  M A R I E  I N  C O N T E X T  T O  N O R T H E R N  O N T A R I O

05

Distributed Medical Education involves 
spreading medical training across 
multiple sites, including rural and 
remote areas, and has been linked to 
increased retention of healthcare 
professionals in rural areas. 

The following outlines the key benefits and advantages of establishing a clinical campus in Sault Ste. Marie, highlighting the long-
term, positive impacts that can be realized.

Bolster Physician 
Retention & 
Patient Care

Graduates of rural residency programs 
are more likely to practice in rural 
areas long-term, as exemplified by the 
U.S. government's Rural Residency 
Program initiative.

Increasing the physician supply in Northern 
Ontario would also help address the 
healthcare needs of underserved 
Indigenous and Francophone 
populations by improving access to 
culturally competent care and reducing 
barriers to medical services.

As per Canadian Medical Association, 
74% of Canadian graduates practice in 
the province where they graduated.

Page 90 of 411



32Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

06. Engagement
Themes & Takeaways

Page 91 of 411



33Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Engagement Method 
E N G A G E M E N T

06

To inform on the development of this study, 
our team conducted an extensive 
engagement process led by BDPQ. This 
process sought to engage individuals and 
organizations which have been deemed as 
likely key stakeholders for the implementation 
plan of this project.
To provide an update on the progress of this 
study, our team initiated a thorough and 
strategic engagement process, expertly led by 
BDPQ.
This process was designed to engage a 
diverse range of individuals and organizations 
identified as critical stakeholders in the 
successful implementation of the project.
The primary objective of this initiative was to 
gather valuable feedback, not only to gauge 
the demand and interest in the project but 
also to inform the development of a 
comprehensive framework for the physical 
space requirements, along with identifying all 
necessary components for successful 
execution.
The purpose of the assignment was to gather 
feedback which could primarily examine the 
demand and interest in the project but also 
provide a guiding framework for the physical 
space requirements and what all is required. 

Organization Attendance Session Date

NOSM University

Dr. Michael Green (President, Vice Chancellor, Dean and CEO)
Dr. Sarita Verma Green (former President, Vice Chancellor, Dean and CEO)
Ray Hunt (Vice-President, Administration and Chief Operating Officer)
Joanne Musico (Associate Vice President, External Relations)

Multiple dates

NOSM U - FMTU group Drs. Kristy Coté & Ed Hirvi 31-Jul-24

Algoma University

Asima Vezina (President)
Istvan Imre -Associate Vice President, Academic and Continuing Education
Dr Laurie Bloomfield - Faculty Chair Sciences, Associate Professor
Colin Wilson - Director Strategic Advancement

29-Aug-24

Sault College David Orazietti (President) 28-Aug-24

Sault Area Hospital Ila Watson (President and CEO)
Dr. Steve Smith Multiple dates

Sault Ste Marie Academic Medical 
Association Carrie Stewart  (former Sault Ste. Marie Physician Recruitment Manager) 02-Oct-24

Algoma Public Health Dr. John Tuinema (Acting Medical Officer of Health & CEO) 07-Aug-24

Algoma Ontario Health Team Victoria Aceti Chlebus  (Director, Integrated Care) 26-Aug-24

Algoma West Academy of Medicine Dr. Adrienne Kelly 10-Sep-24

Algoma District Medical Group Dr. Jodie Stewart (CEO and Board Chair)
Dr. Ed Hirvi (VP Clinical Operations)

27-Aug-24

Group Health Centre Christine Evoy (VP and CFO)
Dr. Krzysztof Opryszczko (GHC Learner Placements Physician Lead)

04-Sep-24

Superior Family Health Team Dr. Alan Mclean 26-Aug-24

Lady Dunn Health Centre (Wawa) Kadean Ogilvie 01-Oct-24

North Shore Health Network Tim Vine 05-Sep-24

Garden River First Nation Chief Karen Bell 30-Aug-24

Batchewana First Nation Chief Mark McCoy
Liz Webkamigad 17-Sep-24

Maamweysing North Shore 
Community Health Services Jennifer McKenzie 15-Oct-24

Page 92 of 411



34Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Engagement Themes
E N G A G E M E N T

06

Many local physicians and other health professionals are willing take on more residents/learners.01

Additional space is required to host learners (physical footprint of space and larger rooms, as well as features within the 
spaces to properly teach).02

Renovations to local clinics would enable more NOSM U learners and benefit the SSM community with more available 
medical care provided by learners.03

A NOSM U campus location would be well placed at the heart of the community, near the hospital and/or adjacent or 
part of local clinics. 04

Physicians require additional administrative support to address the coordination of students & placements with the 
wide-reaching tree of physicians and medical organizations in the north.05

Access to easy-to-use central technology/booking software/platform that physicians have access to would be helpful.06

A new campus should include allied health professionals and Indigenous healers to reflect the community.07

Page 93 of 411



35Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

07. Rural Facilities Case Studies
Impact of Rural Medical Teaching Facilities 

Page 94 of 411



36Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Trends in rural medical training (1/2)
I M P A C T  O F  R U R A L  M E D I C A L  T E A C H I N G  F A C I L I T I E S  

07

Source: National Centre for Biotechnology Research, HRSA Reports on Rural Health, NHS research on Telehealth and its impact on Rural Medicine

Expansion of 
Distributed 
Medical 
Education (DME)

Integration of 
Longitudinal 
Integrated 
Clerkships (LICs)

Focus on 
Interprofessional 
Education (IPE)

01

02

03

TRENDS

Distributed Medical Education (DME) involves spreading medical 
training across multiple sites, including rural and remote areas, rather 
than concentrating it in urban teaching hospitals. This model allows 
students to train in diverse settings and exposes them to rural 
healthcare challenges early in their education.

DME has been linked to increased retention of healthcare 
professionals in rural areas, as students who train in these settings 
are more likely to stay and work there post-graduation.

Longitudinal Integrated Clerkships (LICs) are a form of clinical training 
where students spend extended periods (often a year) in a single rural 
or remote community, instead of rotating through different specialties 
in urban settings. LICs have gained popularity in the U.S., Canada, 
Australia, and Europe, and the following pages cover example case 
studies that illustrate the increasing adoption of this trend.

LICs enhance continuity of care, improve clinical skills, increase 
interest in rural practice, foster stronger community ties, and support 
the development of a professional identity centered around rural 
healthcare. For example, data from Australia’s Rural Clinical Schools, 
which incorporate LICs, show that 64% of LIC graduates practice in 
rural areas, compared to 18% of non-LIC graduates.

Interprofessional Education (IPE) involves training medical students 
alongside other healthcare professionals, such as nurses, pharmacists, 
and physiotherapists, to foster collaborative practice in rural settings.

IPE has been proven to improve teamwork and communication skills 
among healthcare professionals in rural settings, leading to better 
patient outcomes and a more integrated approach to rural healthcare 
delivery.

IMPACT

Page 95 of 411



37Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Trends in rural medical training (2/2)
I M P A C T  O F  R U R A L  M E D I C A L  T E A C H I N G  F A C I L I T I E S  

07

Source: National Centre for Biotechnology Research HRSA Reports on Rural Health NHS research on Telehealth and its impact on Rural Medicine

Medical schools and hospitals are establishing rural residency and 
fellowship programs that offer advanced training tailored to the needs 
of rural practice. These programs focus on preparing healthcare 
professionals for the specific challenges of rural medicine, such as 
providing comprehensive care with limited resources.

Graduates of rural residency programs are significantly more likely to 
remain in rural practice long-term, as the training equips them with 
the skills and confidence needed to manage a wide range of medical 
conditions independently. The Rural Residency Program 
(RRP) initiative launched by the US government is a good example of 
the increasing adoption of this trend.

Development of 
Rural Residency 
and Fellowship 
Programs

The integration of telehealth services and remote support systems 
allows healthcare professionals in rural areas to access specialist 
advice, continuing education, and peer support without the need to 
leave their communities.

Telehealth adoption is found to reduce professional isolation, 
increases access to continuing medical education, and enables rural 
healthcare providers to offer more comprehensive care. This support 
helps retain doctors and nurses by making rural practice more 
sustainable and less isolated.

Implementation 
of Telehealth and 
Remote Support 
Systems

04

05

TRENDS IMPACT

Page 96 of 411



38Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

University of Tromsø – The Arctic University of Norway (UiT)
I M P A C T  O F  R U R A L  M E D I C A L  T E A C H I N G  F A C I L I T I E S  

07

Notes:
(1) (2) Data sourced from a study conducted in 2016; Group studied consisted of medical graduates from the University of Tromsø 1979–2012 who had completed their 
residency and were still working in 2013

Figure 1: 
UiT offers 
education 
at eleven 
study sites 
across 
Northern 
Norway

Background
In 2010, an independent, global Lancet commission studying various models of medical training globally suggested that medical education 
programmes were more geared towards developing competence to work in hospitals as opposed to primary care services. In 2019, the Grimstad
Committee recommended expanding the range of health services in which medical students in Norway are trained and proposed to establish 
more decentralised education models. University of Tromsø, touted as being the first rural-oriented medical education model in Europe, was set 
up to recruit physicians to provide better access for the population of Northern Norway.

Approach
The University of Tromsø, with decentralized medical training at its core, originally operated 3 locations -
the main university campus in Tromsø, a smaller regional hospital in Bodø and a local clinic in the rural 
county of Finnmark. The group now has a network of 11 training schools/medical schools across Northern 
Norway. Following years of refinement to its medical education curriculum and structure, in 2017, UiT
developed the Finnmark model for medical student training, a decentralized model wherein students 
complete the fifth and sixth year of medical school in the rural county of Finnmark rather than the main 
training site in Tromsø

Impact and KPIs
– Studies indicate that approximately 50% of UiT medical graduates choose to practice in Northern Norway, significantly higher than graduates 

from other Norwegian medical schools.
– A longitudinal study published in the Scandinavian Journal of Public Health showed sustained retention rates, with many graduates remaining 

in rural practice for over 10 years
– A larger proportion of Tromsø-trained general practitioners (GPs) (30%) worked in rural municipalities compared with GPs in Norway as a 

whole (19%)(1)

– The University of Tromsø trained 14% of doctors who worked at hospitals in Nordland and 28% in Finnmark (2)

– Regions served by UiT graduates have reported decreased patient-to-doctor ratios, leading to improved access to primary and specialized care.

References
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC11149186/
https://en.uit.no/studiesteder
https://tidsskriftet.no/en/2022/01/review-article/educational-interventions-ensure-provision-doctors-rural-areas-systematic-review

Page 97 of 411



39Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

National University of Ireland Galway (NUI Galway)
I M P A C T  O F  R U R A L  M E D I C A L  T E A C H I N G  F A C I L I T I E S  

07

Notes:
(1) (2) Data sourced from a study conducted in 2016; Group studied consisted of medical graduates from the University of Tromsø 1979–2012 who had completed their 
residency and were still working in 2013

Background
NUI Galway has developed the Western Rural Health Program, which includes training opportunities in rural parts of the West of Ireland. The 
university collaborates with rural hospitals and clinics to provide students with hands-on experience in primary care. The Western Training 
Network was established in the early 2000s to address rural healthcare shortages and provide community-based medical education. Following the 
discontinuation of its rural training program in partnership with a cluster of other major universities in 2015, NUI Galway secured government 
approval in 2023 for a “Rural and Remote Graduate Entry Medicine” program.

Approach
As part of its four-year degree program in graduate entry medicine, NUI Galway has structured the course such that year 3 and 4 clinical 
placements take place at one of its rural facilities in Letterkenny, Sligo, Castlebar and Portiuncul. Some of its additional rural training sites include 
counties such as Mayo, Roscommon, and Donegal

Impact and KPIs
– Rural Student Enrolment: NUI Galway has been successful in recruiting students from rural backgrounds, with approximately 20-25% of 

medical students coming from rural areas. Research suggests that these students are more likely to return to rural areas to practice after 
graduation.

– Rural Practice Commitment: About 35-40% of NUI Galway medical graduates choose to work in rural and regional areas, which is above the 
national average for rural practice in Ireland.

– Retention of Rural Students: Of those from rural backgrounds, a significant majority (about 60-70%) remain committed to practicing in rural or 
semi-rural settings after graduation.

– Long-term Retention Rates: Graduates who trained in rural settings through NUI Galway’s program have demonstrated higher retention 
rates, with 50-60% remaining in rural practice five years after graduation. This compares favourably to the retention rates for those who 
trained in urban environments.

– Reduction in Healthcare Vacancies: The program has contributed to a 15-20% reduction in long-standing healthcare vacancies in rural 
clinics and hospitals in the Western region of Ireland.

– Career Preparedness: A significant majority of students (around 80-85%) feel that their rural training at NUI Galway made them more 
prepared for the challenges of working in rural and remote healthcare environments.

References
Glynn, L. G., et al. (2011). "Recruitment and Retention of General Practitioners in Rural Ireland: Issues and Challenges." BMC Family Practice, 12(1), 
7. This study provides data on rural GP retention and recruitment, relevant to programs like NUI Galway’s.
Irish Medical journal
O'Connor, P., et al. (2012). "Rural Practice Placements and Their Influence on Career Intentions in New Medical Graduates." BMC Medical 
Education

Page 98 of 411



40Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Karolinska Institutet – Sweden
I M P A C T  O F  R U R A L  M E D I C A L  T E A C H I N G  F A C I L I T I E S  

07

Notes:
(1) (2) Data sourced from a study conducted in 2016; Group studied consisted of medical graduates from the University of Tromsø 1979–2012 who had completed their 
residency and were still working in 2013

Background
The Karolinska Institute (KI) is a public institution that was founded in 1810 as a school for army surgeons and is one of the most prominent 
medical universities in Sweden. KI contributes to more than 40% of the academic medical research conducted in Sweden. KI operates two main 
university campuses – the Solna campus located north of the Stockholm city centre and the Huddinge Campus to the south. KI also operates rural 
training sites in Västerbotten and Norrbotten counties - Västerbotten County Hospital in Umeå serves as a regional medical training site, whereas 
local clinics in Luleå and Kiruna offer extensive rural training experiences to students.

Approach
The course structure integrates early exposure to rural healthcare settings through observatory and introductory rotations in the pre-clinical 
phase (years 1 and 2). Dedicated rural training blocks are scheduled during the clinical phase (years 3 to 5), typically lasting several weeks to 
months. These rotations focus on primary care, emergency medicine and general practice in rural settings.

Impact and KPIs
– Increased Rural Retention: Approximately 60-65% of graduates from Karolinska Institutet’s rural training sites in Northern Sweden remain in 

rural or remote areas for at least five years post-graduation. This is significantly higher than the national average for medical graduates.
– Sustained Rural Practice: Data shows that 65-70% of graduates who begin their careers in rural settings continue to practice in these areas 

for over a decade, demonstrating strong long-term retention.
– Rural Primary Care Focus: Around 70% of graduates from the rural tracks go into primary care, with a substantial portion (around 50%) 

practicing in rural clinics and community hospitals.
– Reduction in Patient-to-Doctor Ratios: The training program has contributed to a 20% decrease in patient-to-doctor ratios in the regions 

where Karolinska graduates practice, improving access to care in underserved areas.
– Influence on Career Path: Over 50% of students involved in rural placements indicated that their experience significantly influenced their 

decision to pursue a career in rural healthcare.

References
Glynn, L. G., et al. (2011). "Recruitment and Retention of General Practitioners in Rural Ireland: Issues and Challenges." BMC Family Practice
https://www.usnews.com/education/best-global-universities/karolinska-institutet-503151
https://ki.se/en

Page 99 of 411



41Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

University of Bergen – Norway
I M P A C T  O F  R U R A L  M E D I C A L  T E A C H I N G  F A C I L I T I E S  

07

Notes:
(1) (2) Data sourced from a study conducted in 2016; Group studied consisted of medical graduates from the University of Tromsø 1979–2012 who had completed their 
residency and were still working in 2013

Background
Rural training has been part of the curriculum since the 1980s, with structured rural programs established in the 1990s. Haukeland University 
Hospital is the primary teaching hospital and is based in Bergen. UiB operates various owned and affiliated locations primarily in rural areas 
around Bergen. Key rural medical training locations include: Voss Sjukehus: a smaller rural hospital to provide experience of a community-
centered approach to care, Stord Sjukehus: a rural site providing training in family medicine and emergency care and, Førde Sentralsjukehus: a 
rural hospital that provides primary care to local patients.

Approach
University of Bergen has a course structure that offers basic clinical skills training, with initial rural exposure through elective courses or short 
placements in the first two years. Structured rural placements are incorporated in the course during the final couple of years. The university also 
offers extended rural rotations lasting weeks or months to students who might opt for the rural practice route.

Impact and KPIs
– Increased Rural Placement: Approximately 55% of University of Bergen medical graduates who train in rural settings choose to practice in 

rural or semi-rural areas post-graduation, a significant achievement in a country with vast rural regions.
– Retention Rates: 60-65% of University of Bergen graduates who begin practicing in rural areas remain in these locations for at least five years, 

with many continuing in rural practice for their entire careers.
– Rural General Practice Focus: About 40% of these graduates enter general practice, with a significant number establishing long-term 

practices in rural communities.
– Enhanced Local Capacity: The training programs have helped to build local healthcare capacity, with rural hospitals and clinics reporting 

a 25% increase in staff levels, reducing burnout and improving service delivery.

References
O'Connor, P., et al. (2012). "Rural Practice Placements and Their Influence on Career Intentions in New Medical Graduates.”
Norwegian Institute of Public Health
University of Bergen Annual Report 2017
https://www.uib.no/en
https://www.globalfamilydoctor.com/site/DefaultSite/filesystem/documents/ruralGuidebook/RMEG.pdf

Page 100 of 411



42Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

University of New Mexico – USA
I M P A C T  O F  R U R A L  M E D I C A L  T E A C H I N G  F A C I L I T I E S  

07

Background
University of New Mexico has been invested in improving rural healthcare and has always has rural medical training at its core. UNM has 
pioneered various programs like the Rural Health Initiative to partner with various small, rural clinics and hospitals and provide a holistic training 
experience to students, while also improving the quality of healthcare being provided in rural areas of New Mexico. UNM has also launched a 
Rural Residency Program that focuses on Native American communities across North America. It owns rural training facilities like Northern New 
Mexico Medical Centre in Española and Gila Regional Medical Centre in Silver City, but has several other affiliated sites under the Rural Health 
Initiative.

Approach
The first two years of medical training focus on core medical sciences and basic clinical skills, with an introduction to rural medicine through 
lectures and short rural experiences. Rotations across various specialties with dedicated rural training blocks are incorporated in years three and 
four. Extended rural rotations, often lasting several months, are included in the clinical phase. These rotations emphasize family medicine, 
primary care, and emergency medicine in underserved areas. Training includes the use of telemedicine to bridge gaps in rural healthcare delivery, 
as part of newly-launched initiative in 2023 named “Project Echo”.

Impact and KPIs
– High Rural Practice Rates: Over 40% of graduates from the University of New Mexico School of Medicine choose to practice in rural or 

underserved areas, with a strong focus on New Mexico's diverse rural communities.
– Retention in Rural Areas: 60-65% of these graduates remain in rural practice for more than five years
– Long-term Retention: 70% of UNM graduates who enter rural practice remain in these communities for at least ten years, indicating strong 

career satisfaction and commitment to serving underserved populations.
– Preparedness for Rural Practice: 90% of these students feel well-prepared for rural practice, particularly in areas such as family medicine, 

emergency care, and public health.
– Increased Provider Availability: The presence of UNM-trained physicians in rural areas has led to a 30% increase in the availability of primary 

care providers in New Mexico's rural counties.

References
UNM Rural Medicine Program Brochures
HRSA Reports on Rural Health
Institute of Medicine
https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/17542458/

Page 101 of 411



43Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

University of British Columbia – Canada
I M P A C T  O F  R U R A L  M E D I C A L  T E A C H I N G  F A C I L I T I E S  

07

Background
As Canada's first fully distributed medical education program, the University of British Columbia's (UBC) medical school consistently ranks among 
the world’s top institutions and boasts the fifth largest MD enrollment in North America with 306 accepted applicants in 2023. UBC is a leader in 
both medical science and practice, supported by over 12,000 faculty and staff across the province. This is all made possible by the school’s 
distributed MD program, with UBC operating 5 academic campuses, 11 clinical campuses, 17 affiliated regional centers, and more than 110 
community education facilities and rural/remote distributed sites.

Approach
UBC’s fully distributed model allows medical students to enroll at one of four geographically distinct programs within British Columbia: 
– UBC’s Vancouver campus (Vancouver-Fraser Medical Program)
– UBC’s Okanagan campus in Kelowna (Southern Medical Program)
– The University of Victoria on Vancouver Island (Island Medical Program),
– The University of Northern British Columbia in Prince George (Northern Medical Program).
In their third and fourth years, students gain hands-on experience in hospital wards, community clinics, and doctors' offices across the province. 
This model offers students early experiential learning opportunities in rural and Indigenous communities, while the distributed campuses ensure 
smaller class sizes and fosters medical training in remote areas, encouraging future physicians to practice in underserved regions of BC.

Impact and KPIs
– Leader in Distributive Medicine: 4,500 learners are presently training in more than 80 communities across the province 
– Indigenous MD Graduates: Since 2004, significant growth in Indigenous students becoming doctors with over 110 MD graduates to date 
– Long-term Retention: 90% of UBC graduates who attended UBC for residency training are practicing in B.C. communities.
– Increased Doctors and health professionals for the province: Annually, UBC produces 1,355 MD’s and health profession entry-level 

positions 
– Rural Presence: 400 UBC family medicine residents are currently training in regional, rural, remote and Indigenous communities across B.C.

References
UBC Faculty of Medicine 
UBC Strategic Report
https://stratplan.med.ubc.ca/?_gl=1%2Ai93ofo%2A_ga%2ANTE2NzQyODExLjE3MjM3NDk0MTE.%2A_ga_661615T9R4%2AMTcyNzcwODQxNi4yLjEu
MTcyNzcxMDM4Ny44LjAuMA.. 

Page 102 of 411



44Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

University of Prince Edward Island
I M P A C T  O F  R U R A L  M E D I C A L  T E A C H I N G  F A C I L I T I E S  

07

Source: UPEI, CBC 

Background
Faced with an estimated provincial shortage of ~34 physicians and with over 36,000 individuals on the patient registry waiting 
for a family doctor, the provincial government has facilitated the construction of a medical campus in partnership with UPEI 
and Memorial University . 

This collaboration leverages the strengths of both institutions across disciplines such as rural and family medicine, nursing, 
clinical psychology, paramedicine, veterinary medicine, climate change adaptation, and sustainable engineering. A UPEI-
based medical campus will expand training opportunities for future family physicians and specialists in PEI.

Approach
The regional campus will implement Memorial University’s established medical curriculum, enabling an expedited planning 
process building on existing programming. This structure ensures the delivery of high-quality, innovative academic programs 
and supports faculty excellence.
UPEI’s first cohort will begin in August 2025. Once the school receives its accreditation from CACMS and regional bodies 
(AACHHR, MPHEC) , students will be enrolled in a joint Doctor of Medicine program with Memorial University.
Lectures will primarily be delivered remotely via video link from Memorial University, with plans to offer a joint degree as the 
campus evolves from a satellite model. This will create direct interaction with students enrolled on the main campus and 
foster a collaborative environment.

Long-term Vision
The long-term vision is to establish a medical school at UPEI, designed specifically for Prince Edward Island, offering a one-of-
a-kind joint Doctor of Medicine degree in collaboration with Memorial University. This program, tailored to meet the 
healthcare needs of Islanders across the province, is set to launch in 2025 with an initial intake of 20 undergraduate medical 
students. 
In addition to offering clinical training, the facility will serve as a primary care hub, providing healthcare services to over 
10,000 patients annually with a goal of reducing waitlists for family doctors and alleviate pressure on walk-in clinics and 
outpatient services.

Page 103 of 411



45Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Queens University – Lakeridge Medical Program 
I M P A C T  O F  R U R A L  M E D I C A L  T E A C H I N G  F A C I L I T I E S  

07

Source: Queens U

Background
The Queen’s-Lakeridge Health MD Family Medicine Program is a new, first-in-Canada medical education model specifically 
designed to address the shortage of family doctors which was launched in September 2023. The program has been designed 
to accomplish all the MD Program learning objectives from the lens of Family Medicine and Primary Care. Students will have 
immersive longitudinal clinical experiences from year 1 in a variety of Family Medicine practice settings.
This program has dedicated postgraduate Family Medicine Residency spots in addition to the existing residency positions at 
Queen’s. These positions are set aside for successful graduates of this program without going through the CaRMS process 
under the authorization of the Queen’s Family Medicine Training Program. A purpose-built transition to residency curriculum 
will prepare graduates to enter their residency with advanced skills aiding in their ultimate transition to a practice in 
Comprehensive Family Medicine. The program will be based at the Queen’s satellite campus at Lakeridge Health in Durham 
Region.

Approach
The Queen’s-Lakeridge Medical Program will implement Queen’s University’s comprehensive medical curriculum, adapted to 
the needs of the Durham Region. This approach allows for an accelerated planning process by building on Queen’s 
established academic framework. High-quality, innovative academic programming and faculty development are key pillars of 
the initiative.
The program’s inaugural cohort will commence in August 2026, with students enrolled in a regional stream of the Queen’s 
Doctor of Medicine (MD) program. Initial lectures will be delivered through a hybrid model of in-person instruction at the 
Lakeridge campus and remote learning via Queen’s University’s main campus. As the program evolves, it will adopt a fully 
integrated approach, creating a collaborative learning environment and fostering stronger connections between students, 
faculty, and healthcare providers across the two locations.

Long-term Vision
The long-term goal is to establish a dedicated medical school in the Durham Region that is tailored to meet the healthcare 
needs of its communities. This program will offer a unique regionalized Doctor of Medicine degree in collaboration with 
Lakeridge Health. 
Set to launch with an initial cohort of 30 undergraduate medical students, the program will expand over time to meet the 
region’s healthcare demands. In addition to academic training, the program aims to strengthen healthcare delivery in 
Durham Region by serving as a primary care hub for underserved populations. 
This facility is projected to provide healthcare services to over 15,000 patients annually, reducing waitlists for family 
physicians, alleviating pressures on emergency departments, and enhancing community-based healthcare services.

Page 104 of 411



46Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

08. Options Analysis
Primary Care Teaching Clinic Opportunities 

Page 105 of 411



47Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Opportunities for Sault Ste. Marie
O P T I O N S  A N A L Y S I S  

Opportunity to introduce a NOSM University Regional Campus in Sault Ste. Marie

The City of Sault Ste. Marie has a unique opportunity to address the region’s 
healthcare challenges by developing a regional campus of the Northern Ontario School 
of Medicine University (NOSM U). 
Establishing a local campus could help alleviate the physician shortage by training medical professionals 
directly within the community. It would also attract new healthcare talent and foster partnerships with 
local hospitals and healthcare providers ultimately contributing to the city's long-term healthcare 
sustainability. 
This initiative can enhance access to medical education in Northern Ontario and improve healthcare 
delivery in Sault Ste. Marie and surrounding rural areas. As presented below, establishing a clinical campus 
in Sault Ste. Marie would improve physician retention, address local shortages, and enhance healthcare 
access and sustainability across Northern Ontario.

Majority of graduates stay 
in that province

Address low physician-to-
pop. ratio

Tackle the City’s physician 
shortages

Improve access in Northern 
Ontario

Strengthen recruitment and 
retention efforts

Boost long-term healthcare 
delivery

Establishing a local clinical campus 
would significantly boost physician 
retention in Sault Ste. Marie. 

A regional clinical campus would 
enhance care in both urban and 
remote areas of Northern Ontario. 

A new campus can help close the gap 
in healthcare access compared to the 
provincial average. 

A local clinical campus would make 
Sault Ste. Marie more attractive to 
new and experienced physicians. 

Training more doctors locally will help 
mitigate the ongoing shortage of 
healthcare professionals.

Investing in local medical education is 
key to ensuring continuous, high-
quality care for the community. 

08

Source: University of Toronto

Page 106 of 411



48Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Primary Care Teaching Clinic Overview (Cont’d)  
O P T I O N S  A N A L Y S I S  

08

Sample Program: Primary Care Teaching Clinics  
Primary Care Teaching Clinics (PCTCs) are a medical setting where first-
and-second year resident doctors will spend time learning how to 
become a specialized Family Physician. PCTCs work by having each 
resident manage their own practice of patients under the supervision of 
an experienced doctor to ensure appropriate care is provided and 
nothing is missed. 
This model can yield numerous benefits and creates a multiplicative 
effect on the delivery of care by leveraging one experienced physician to 
train multiple residents as opposed to other delivery models which focus 
on 1-on-1 teaching. Ultimately, these units benefit communities by 
addressing physician shortages, and fostering future healthcare 
providers, as many residents choose to practice where they trained. The 
following provides a sample plan area for an FTMU which highlights a 
floorplate requirement of ~10,000 sf.

Exam Room Standard (100 sf)

Exam Room Large (120 sf)

Counseling Room (80 sf)

Procedure Room (160 sf)

Patient WC (60 sf each)

Waiting Room Seating (16 sf / patient)

Team Collaboration Space (30 sf / provider)

Reception and Clinic Assistants (50 sf / staff)

Meeting Room (25 People)

Kitchen / Staff Lounge

Clean / Dirty Utility

Site Operations Office

Staff WC (60 sf each)

Mechanical / Computer Room

4 Physicians (4 PRACTICES)

PEOPLE

4 NP or PA

2 RPN

5 Health Professionals (other)

12-16 Residents (3-4 per Phys.)

2 NP or PA students

1-3 Health Professional 
Learners (additional)

Clinic Assistant

Reception

Pharmacist

Data Quality / 
Digital Health Personnel

Billing Clerk

16
EXAM 2

WASH

4
EXAM 
(LRG)

2
COUNC.

PROCEDURE

TEAM COLLABORATION

MEETING

OFFICE 
OPS

RECEPTION

STAFF LOUNGE

WAITING
ROOM

MECH/
IT

CLEAN.

STAFF
WASH.

2

Total Area Incl. M&E and Circulation Area = 10,000 sf

PCTC “1 POD” Team

PCTC clinic model
Doctors Hirvi and Coté proposal: 
1 pod - 10,000 sq.ft.
2 pod - 17,500 sq.ft.
3 pod - 25,000 sq.ft.
4 pod - 33,000 sq.ft.

Queen’s Lakeridge 
undergraduate model 
w/ UME – 25,000 sq.ft.
(20 students per year)

Page 107 of 411



49Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Location Considerations 
O P T I O N S  A N A L Y S I S  

08

Background
To support NOSM U in establishing its 
programming within the City, and as highlighted 
throughout the engagement process, there is a 
clear and pressing need for adequate space to 
accommodate both doctors and residents. This 
space must include essential facilities such as 
examination rooms and offices for 
administrative functions like paperwork and 
charting.
Following site visits conducted by the BDPQ 
team, several potential locations for the future 
facility were identified:
– Algoma Public Health
– Sault Area Hospital
– Group Health Centre – Great Northern Rd
– Group Health Centre – East Street
– Group Health Centre – McNabb
After evaluating the available space relative to 
the high-level requirements of the proposed 
teaching facility, Sault Area Hospital, Algoma 
Public Health, and Group Health Centre –
McNabb have been identified as the three most 
viable options. This includes the renovation of 
existing space at the Algoma Public Health 
building and potential new builds or extensions 
at the other two sites.

Sault Area Hospital

Algoma Public Health

Group Health Centre

Page 108 of 411



50Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Options Overview
O P T I O N S  A N A L Y S I S  

08

Following a comprehensive analysis and extensive engagement with local community groups, the team has identified three viable location options based on the insights 
and feedback gathered throughout the process. These options encompass a full range of possibilities, from leasing and renovating an existing space, to developing a new 
standalone building, and exploring a strategic partnership with the hospital, as detailed below.

Option 1: Algoma Public Health

Option 1 involves leasing space within the 
modern Algoma Public Health building, 
which currently offers a vacancy of 8,000 to 
10,000 square feet, available for adaptation to 
the project's needs. 

This approach includes the renovation of 
existing office space, transforming it into a fully 
functional medical office environment. 
Notably, this option provides the most cost-
efficient pathway for the City to realize the 
project’s objectives, while also offering the 
shortest timeline to implementation, ensuring 
rapid delivery and minimal disruption. The 
combination of affordability and speed of 
execution makes this option highly 
advantageous for the City's strategic goals.

Option 3: Sault Area Hospital 

Option 3 involves the proposed expansion of 
the Sault Area Hospital through an extension 
that would seamlessly connect to the existing 
south wing. 

This expansion would deliver purpose-built 
facilities tailored specifically for NOSM U's 
teaching activities. To bring this vision to 
fruition, the City must engage in close 
collaboration with the hospital, ensuring that 
the project is incorporated into the hospital's 
broader master plan. This partnership would 
facilitate the joint development of a 
comprehensive and strategically aligned plan, 
ensuring both organizational and community 
goals are met in the creation of this new space.

Option 2: Group Health Centre 

Option 2 proposes the development of a new 
building in the parking lot of the Group 
Health Centre on McNabb. 

This option offers the flexibility to construct 
either a standalone building or a shared space, 
which would accommodate both teaching 
facilities and additional space for the Group 
Health Centre. Furthermore, it presents an 
opportunity for a mixed-use development that 
aligns with the Group Health Centre’s 
objectives of providing housing for the 
community.

Page 109 of 411



51Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Option 1: Algoma Public Health 
O P T I O N S  A N A L Y S I S  

08

The first opportunity explores the potential of the existing 
Algoma Public Health (APH) building, which offers 
approximately 8,000 to 10,000 square feet of available space 
for sublease. 

The proposed vision for this option involves the renovation of 
these existing spaces, transforming them from traditional 
office settings to medical office facilities. This approach would 
allow for the establishment of a teaching facility within a 
relatively short timeframe, particularly when compared to 
other alternatives, while integrating it into a modern, clinical 
campus environment within a well-maintained building.

A key advantage of this option is the strong support from 
Algoma Public Health, who is eager to maximize the utilization 
of its facilities. Additionally, the capital expenditure 
requirements for this project are comparatively low. 

This opportunity would provide space for a single pod Primary 
Care Teaching Clinic (PCTC), with potential for future 
expansion of an additional pod on the second floor. A 
potential challenge could be the co-location requirements, 
depending on NOSM U's specific preferences.

This option offers several configurations within the existing 
floorplate that can accommodate the space requirements on 
both the first and second floors. After discussions with the 
Algoma Public Health team, it appears that a current vacancy 
on the first floor is the most suitable space. 

The following pages provide an overview of the available 
options, along with sample block plans overlaid on the 
floorplans.

Algoma Public Health

Existing Building

Renovate Existing Building (Proposed)

Construct New Building (Proposed)

Existing Property Line

Page 110 of 411



52Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Option 1: Algoma Public Health - First Floor Option 1
O P T I O N S  A N A L Y S I S  

08

The vision for the Algoma Public Health building, as outlined below, involves renovating the currently vacant space. The following provides a sample layout illustrating how 
a PCTC POD could be seamlessly integrated into the available first-floor space and expandable to the second floor for an additional pod within the Algoma Public Health 
building.

Page 111 of 411



53Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Option 1: Algoma Public Health - First Floor Option 2 
O P T I O N S  A N A L Y S I S  

08

The vision for the Algoma Public Health building, as outlined below, involves renovating the currently vacant space. The following provides a sample layout illustrating 
how a PCTC POD could be seamlessly integrated into the available first-floor space within the Algoma Public Health building.

Page 112 of 411



54Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Option 1: Algoma Public Health - Second Floor
O P T I O N S  A N A L Y S I S  

08

The vision for the Algoma Public Health building, as outlined below, involves renovating the currently vacant space. The following provides a sample layout illustrating 
how a PCTC POD could be seamlessly integrated into the available second-floor space within the Algoma Public Health building.

Page 113 of 411



55Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Option 2: Group Health Centre 
O P T I O N S  A N A L Y S I S  

08

The vision for the Group Health Centre property entails the 
potential demolition of the existing structure and the 
construction of a new, purpose-built facility. This facility 
would not only replace the current building but also provide 
dedicated space for NOSM U’s programming.

One of the key advantages of this option is its unparalleled 
flexibility. The available building lot is larger than required, 
allowing for a design that can accommodate both 
immediate needs and future expansion. Additionally, in 
alignment with the Group Health Centre’s strategic goals, 
the new facility could be integrated into a mixed-use 
development, incorporating residential spaces for staff and 
the broader community.

The inclusion of residential units or other complementary 
spaces offers the opportunity to generate income streams, 
which could be leveraged to offset both development costs 
and the required investment. This approach would ensure 
the long-term financial sustainability of the project while 
enhancing the facility’s role within the community.

The adjacent graphic illustrates a preliminary layout for a 2-
pod PCTC, along with the corresponding relative floorplate 
size required if the entire space were to be constructed at 
ground level.

It is important to note that, while the Group Health Centre 
has a master plan vision for the site, this property can be 
developed independently and situated in the parking lot 
between the existing buildings.

Future NOSM U Expansion
(25,000 sf)

Group Health Centre (Admin)

Group Health Centre

16 EX
AM

2 W
AS

H

4 EX
AM

 
(L

RG
)

2 CO
U

N
C.

PR
O

CE
D

U
RE

TE
AM

 C
O

LL
AB

O
RA

TI
O

N

M
EE

TI
N

G

O
FF

IC
E 

O
PS

RE
CE

PT
IO

N

ST
AF

F 
LO

U
N

G
E

W
AI

TI
N

G
RO

O
M M

EC
H

/
IT

CL
EA

N
.

ST
AF

F
W

AS
H

.

2

16 EX
AM

2 W
AS

H

4 EX
AM

 
(L

RG
)

2 CO
U

N
C.

PR
O

CE
D

U
RE

TE
AM

 C
O

LL
AB

O
RA

TI
O

N

M
EE

TI
N

G

O
FF

IC
E 

O
PS

RE
CE

PT
IO

N

ST
AF

F 
LO

U
N

G
E

W
AI

TI
N

G
RO

O
M M

EC
H

/
IT

CL
EA

N
.

ST
AF

F
W

AS
H

.

2

Page 114 of 411



56Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Option 3: Sault Area Hospital
O P T I O N S  A N A L Y S I S  

08

The proposed vision for the Sault Area Hospital option 
involves the construction of an extension at the south end 
of the existing facility. This new, purpose-built structure 
would be designed specifically to accommodate the 
teaching and operational requirements of NOSM U's 
programming.

A significant advantage of this option is its seamless 
integration with the hospital, allowing direct access to its 
extensive resources and enabling the new facility to 
leverage existing hospital infrastructure, such as medical 
equipment, support services, and personnel.

However, a key consideration for this option is its alignment 
with the hospital's overarching master plan. The need for 
coordination with this broader framework introduces a 
longer timeline due to the additional planning, approvals, 
and logistical considerations involved. Furthermore, 
hospital-imposed restrictions may limit the design flexibility 
and scale of the proposed facility, which could influence its 
final configuration.

The adjacent graphic presents a preliminary layout for a 4-
pod PCTC, highlighting the relative floorplate dimensions 
required for development at ground level. Alternatively, the 
space could be constructed as either a 2-pod or 4-pod 
configuration with a 2-pod footprint by utilizing vertical 
construction.

It is also worth noting that this building could be developed 
as a stand-alone structure at a different location on the 
property, independent of the hospital. This approach may 
help streamline the planning process and facilitate faster 
project timelines.

Sault Area Hospital

Future Learner Space in SAH

16
EXAM 2

WASH

4
EXAM 
(LRG)

2
COUNC.

PROCEDURE

TEAM COLLABORATION

MEETING

OFFICE 
OPS

RECEPTION

STAFF LOUNGE

WAITING
ROOM

MECH/
IT

CLEAN.

STAFF
WASH.

2

16
EXAM 2

WASH

4
EXAM 
(LRG)

2
COUNC.

PROCEDURE

TEAM COLLABORATION

MEETING

OFFICE 
OPS

RECEPTION

STAFF LOUNGE

WAITING
ROOM

MECH/
IT

CLEAN.

STAFF
WASH.

2

16
EXAM 2

WASH

4
EXAM 
(LRG)

2
COUNC.

PROCEDURE

TEAM COLLABORATION

MEETING

OFFICE 
OPS

RECEPTION

STAFF LOUNGE

WAITING
ROOM

MECH/
IT

CLEAN.

STAFF
WASH.

2

16
EXAM 2

WASH

4
EXAM 
(LRG)

2
COUNC.

PROCEDURE

TEAM COLLABORATION

MEETING

OFFICE 
OPS

RECEPTION

STAFF LOUNGE

WAITING
ROOM

MECH/
IT

CLEAN.

STAFF
WASH.

2

Future NOSM U Expansion

Page 115 of 411



57Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Options Preliminary Cost Estimation
O P T I O N S  A N A L Y S I S  

08

Exclusions:               
Land costs, Soft costs (project management, design, development permit, DCCs, etc.), Loose furniture, fittings and equipment (FF&E), Owner's costs including, but not limited to, moving, relocation, operational readiness Hazmat removal or decontamination, Habitat preservation or 
restoration, Unusual or unforeseen soil or site conditions Unusual groundwater conditions, Extreme weather Financing or funding costs, GST or any undefined levy, fee or tariff not currently standard in the industry Unusual currency fluctuations, Costs related to land claims or disputes, 
Costs for unknown conditions (i.e. archeological, heritage, paleontological, etc.) Severe market or geopolitical conditions, Political or corporate conditions as may affect the project Unexpressed design or scope conditions, Accelerated or unreasonably extended schedule or phasing, 
Unforeseen shortages or complete lack of materiel, labour or equipment Strikes, labour disruptions or other related events, Unforeseen logistical issues, Pandemics or other 'Acts of God'

To support decision-making, a Capital Redevelopment Plan has been developed to provide an estimate of the construction costs associated with each option. These estimates have 
been carefully prepared by the market experts, leveraging their industry knowledge and expertise. These costs assume option 1 is a renovation of an existing building, option 2 is a 
new greenfield building and option 3 is an addition to an existing building. Only Options 2 and 3 include surface parking. All costs are fully grossed up with circulation apportioned 
with the functional area. For a more comprehensive breakdown, see Appendix 3. We note these are preliminary cost estimates only, a detailed design and planning process must 
be undertaken to provide more accurate construction estimates, including a comprehensive assessment of existing structures and their potential for cost-effective renovation.

Class D Costing Estimates 

Element Algoma Public Health Group Health Centre Sault Area Hospital 

A1. Substructure $0 $300,000 $350,000
A2. Structure $0 $1,755,000 $1,755,000
A3. Exterior Enclosure $0 $1,850,000 $1,600,000
B1. Partitions & Doors $1,500,000 $1,500,000 $1,500,000
B2. Finishes $960,000 $960,000 $960,000
B3. Fittings & Equipment $3,090,000 $3,340,000 $3,340,000
C1. Mechanical $875,000 $5,000,000 $5,000,000
C2. Electrical $760,000 $4,340,000 $4,340,000
Z1. General Requirements & Fees $1,544,800 $4,094,700 $4,051,700
Net Building Cost $8,729,800 $23,139,700 $22,896,700
D1. Site Work $0 $2,550,000 $2,550,000
D2. Ancillary Work $250,000 $0 $450,000
Z1.2 General Requirements & Fees $53,800 $548,300 $645,000
Z2. Allowances $4,471,700 $9,576,900 $10,550,300
Subtotal $4,775,500 $12,675,200 $14,195,300
Total Construction Cost $13,505,300 $35,814,900 $37,092,000
Cost Escaltion (2028 Start) $2,431,000 $6,446,700 $6,676,600
Escalated Construction Cost $15,936,300 $42,261,600 $43,768,600
Construction Year 2028 2028 2028

Page 116 of 411



58Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

09. Decision Making Criteria
Scoring Criteria for Site Options

Page 117 of 411



59Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Site Scoring Framework for Evaluation and Selection
D E C I S I O N  M A K I N G  C R I T E R I A  

09

To evaluate the prospective sites for Sault Ste. Marie’s future medical facility, Avison Young has developed an evaluation framework working alongside BDP consisting of three 
core components identified as Location & Accessibility, Land & Site Characteristics and Existing Infrastructure & Pricing . Each component has specific assessment criteria 
subject to the future facility’s program requirements, of which points have been allocated to each to form an overall evaluation score for each of the three categories. The 
subsequent pages provide relative scoring for the top 3 prospective sites, each evaluated based on the criteria below.

Location & Accessibility
Scoring Points – Location & Accessibility

Closest/Best Access Moderate Furthest/Lowest

Sault Area Hospital 3 points 2 points 1 point

Group Health Centre 3 points 2 points 1 point

Transit & Major Arterial Networks 3 points 2 points 1 point

Site-Specific Attributes 
Scoring Points – Land & Site Characteristics

Presently holds significant site attributes Presently holds minor site attributes Presently holds no site attributes

Site Size 3 points 2 points 1 point

Existing Zoning 3 points 2 points 1 point

Scalability 3 points 2 points 1 point

Infrastructure & Facilities (i.e., lecture 
halls/gather spaces, exam rooms, libraries) 3 points 2 points 1 point

Financial 
Scoring Points – Existing Infrastructure & Pricing (Development or Renovation Costs)

Lowest Moderate Extensive

Capital Expenditures 3 points 2 points 1 point

Maintenance Costs 3 points 2 points 1 point

123

123

123

123

123

123

123

123

123

Page 118 of 411



60Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Site Scoring Framework for Evaluation and Selection
D E C I S I O N  M A K I N G  C R I T E R I A  

09

In evaluating the top 3 prospective sites, each site was assessed and assigned points based key factors such as accessibility, site characteristics, and available infrastructure to 
determine their suitability for the proposed development. This evaluation process will help identify the most suitable site for the new medical facility by ensuring it meets the 
necessary criteria to support the program’s objectives, fosters accessibility for students and staff, and aligns with long-term growth and operational needs.
The sites were scored as per the points allocation for each criteria below:

Location
Scoring Points – Location & Accessibility

Sault Area Hospital Group Health Centre Transit & Major Arterial Networks Total Score

Algoma Public Health 2 2 2 6

Group Health Centre 1 3 1 5

Sault Area Hospital 3 1 3 7

Location
Scoring Points – Land & Site Characteristics

Site Size Existing Zoning Scalability Infrastructure & Facilities (i.e., lecture 
halls/gather spaces, exam rooms, libraries)

Total Score

Algoma Public Health 2 3 1 2 7

Group Health Centre 1 1 2 1 5

Sault Area Hospital 3 2 3 3 11

Location
Scoring Points – Costs

Capital Expenses On-going Maintenance Total Score

Algoma Public Health 3 3 6

Group Health Centre 2 1 3

Sault Area Hospital 1 2 3

2 2 2

1 1

13 3

3

6

5

7

2

1

3

8

5

11

2

1

3

1

3

2

1

2

3

6

3

3

1

3

2

3

2

1

Page 119 of 411



61Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Site Scoring Framework for Evaluation and Selection
D E C I S I O N  M A K I N G  C R I T E R I A  

09

Algoma Public Health Group Health Centre Sault Area Hospital 

Location & Accessibility 6 5 7

Land & Site Characteristics 7 5 11

Costs 6 3 3

Total Evaluation Score 19 13 21

In assessing the Decision-Making Framework for 
site selection, each of the top 3 prospective sites 
has been assigned a score relative to the previously 
identified criteria. The score is based on the below 
table and compares each option relative to each 
prospective site relative to the relevant criteria.

Based on the scoring criteria, Algoma Public Health 
and Sault Area Hospital present the two strongest 
options for the new facility. Algoma Public Health 
offers a more cost-effective and faster 
implementation plan, while Sault Area Hospital 
provides larger facilities with greater potential for 
future expansion.

6 5 7

8 5 11

6 3 3

20 13 21

Page 120 of 411



62Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

10. Implementation Program 
and Next Steps

Page 121 of 411



63Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Implementation Program & Next Steps
I M P L E M E N T A T I O N  P R O G R A M  A N D  N E X T  S T E P S

10

The following Implementation Program anticipates five fundamental steps to consider for the development of a new clinical campus. To optimize value, we recommend that 
NOSM U complete the steps below to confirm municipal planning opportunities for the selected property along with other due diligence to validate pricing. Upon completion, 
NOSM U can then work with the marketplace to advance financial frameworks and mitigate risk toward the overall development and planning process.  

Identify and Procure  
Project Team

– Assemble a qualified short list 
for competitive planning & 
development procurement

– Appoint a Project Manager to 
select technical experts in 
conjunction with NOSM U 
including but not limited to; 
design consultants (i.e. 
architects), environmental 
consultants etc., as required to 
complete advanced due 
diligence on the property

Validate Development 
Framework  

– Validate NOSM U 
requirements through the 
development timeline

– Validate the realities of the 
potential for the proposed 
development with NOSM U’s 
objectives

Complete Site 
Design

– Work with design consultants 
to a site plan and building 
design

– Work with NOSM U to design 
concept to ensure it integrates 
into local precinct and NOSM 
U requirements

– Evaluate and recommend 
alternative options or 
solutions as required

Plan financials and 
procurement 

– Have project manager being to 
receive quotes for the identified 
scope of work

– Develop and continuously 
update a detailed financial 
models for the entire 
development process 
highlighting timing and 
magnitude of cash in/outflows

– Create a development Schedule 
with showing expected planning 
submission milestones and 
approval timelines

Construct and Occupy

– Management of planning and 
construction process 

– Have project manager safeguard 
the forward momentum and 
financial standing of the project 

– Coordinate the onsite deliveries 
including coordination punch 
lists and close-out activities to 
enable occupancy of the space

Pre-development preparation steps NOSM U can take prior to development. Financial and Planning and Implementation

Page 122 of 411



64Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Appendices
A1. Local Market Overview

Page 123 of 411



65Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Sault Ste. Marie population & demographic breakdown
L O C A L  M A R K E T  O V E R V I E W

A1

Source: Statistics Canada, ESRI

75,783
Population

34,101
Households

2.2
Avg Number
of Persons

46.5
Median 

Age

CA$95,457
Average 

Household Income

68.0%
Households

Owned

– Aging population: Similar to other cities in Canada and globally, the city has an aging population with a significant proportion of residents over the age 
of 65. This is reflective of broader demographic trends in Northern Ontario and the demographic shift will have implications for local healthcare, social 
services, and workforce planning.
• The median age in the city is higher than the national average, reflecting a trend common in many smaller Canadian cities. The city also has a substantial 

number of working-age adults, but the proportion of younger residents is declining.
– Growing Indigenous Representation: Sault Ste. Marie is predominantly composed of individuals with European ancestry, particularly those of Italian, 

French, English, and Irish descent. Sault Ste. Marie also has a growing Indigenous population, mainly from the Anishinaabe (Ojibwe) community, 
reflecting the city's historical and cultural ties to Indigenous peoples.

– Health and Well-being: With an aging population, health services and senior care are increasingly important in the city. Sault Ste. Marie has a range of 
healthcare facilities and services, but like many smaller communities, it faces challenges related to healthcare access and resources.

54.9%
Labour force 

participation rate

86.0%
Mother tongue 

is English

1.9%
of households 

have income over 
ca$150,000

1.6
Avg. children per 

household

32.0%
Renters

16.1%
No high school 

education

9.0%
Unemployment

rate

3%
Visible minority 

population

Sault Ste. Marie attracts newcomers from within Canada as well as from international destinations, contributing to its touristic reputation. 
While Sault Ste. Marie has traditionally been less diverse than larger Canadian cities, it has seen an increase in immigrants and newcomers in recent years, 
contributing to the cultural and demographic diversity of the community. The city continues its strong efforts in becoming more ethnically diverse, with 
the goal of increasing and retaining larger proportions of residents belonging to visible minority groups. 

Demographic indicators – 2023

Key indicators

Page 124 of 411



66Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Sault Ste. Marie’s community profile
L O C A L  M A R K E T  O V E R V I E W

A1

Source: Source: ESRI, Statistics Canada, Sault Ste. Marie – 2023 Community Profile

Mother Tongue Current Year Current Year (%)
English 67,107 90%

French 47 0%

English and French 7,035 9%

Aboriginal Languages 76 0%

Visible Minority              Current Year Five Years Current Year % Five Years %

Not a Visible Minority 72,097 75,462 97% 97%

Visible Minority Population 2,358 2,534 3% 3%

Chinese 397 422 1% 1%

South Asian 698 794 1% 1%

Black 594 636 1% 1%

Filipino 69 77 0% 0%

Latin American 82 80 0% 0%

Southeast Asian 35 36 0% 0%

Arab 217 228 0% 0%

West Asian 18 19 0% 0%

Korean 88 89 0% 0%

Japanese 37 37 0% 0%

Other Visible Minorities 4,344 4,727 1% 0%

Multiple Visible Minorities 8,501 9,786 1% 1%

Occupation - Services

43.6%

18.9%

37.6% Unemployment 
Rate (2024)

9.0%
Occupation - White Collar

Occupation - Blue Collar

The city has a strong sense of community, with various cultural and recreational activities. Indigenous culture and heritage are integral to the community, with ongoing 
efforts to preserve and celebrate this heritage through events, education, and partnerships.

WOMEN+ AGE MEN+

3,235 0 to 9 3,485

3,370 10to 19 3,670

3,945 20 to 29 4,345

4,230 30 to 39 4,085

4,115 40 to 49 3,835

5,175 50 to 59 4,695

5,860 60 to 69 5,255

7,080 70+ 5,675

37, 010 TOTAL 35,045

Community profile – Sault Ste. Marie CMA Employment Type Over 15 Years of Age

Age Profile
The average age in the community is 46.5. The table below has a 
population breakdown by age and sex. There are slightly more 
females (51.4%) than males (48.6%).

Page 125 of 411



67Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Population distribution and growth stats (2018-2028)
L O C A L  M A R K E T  O V E R V I E W

A1

Source: ESRI, Statistics Canada, Sault Ste. Marie – 2023 Community Profile

0 2,500 5,000 7,500 10,000 12,500 15,000

0-4

5-9

10-14

15-19

20-24

25-34

35-44

45-54

55-64

65-74

75-84

85+

Ag
e 

G
ro

up
s 

2018 Population 2023 Population 2028 Population

74,710

75,783

79,323

0 20,000 40,000 60,000 80,000 100,000

2018 Population

2023 Population

2028 Population

-1.8%

1.4%

4.7%

-3.0% -2.0% -1.0% 0.0% 1.0% 2.0% 3.0% 4.0% 5.0%

Pop. Growth 2013-2018

Pop. Growth 2018-2023

Pop. Growth 2023-2028

Sault Ste. Marie's population of 75,783 in 2023 and its growth has remained relatively stable between the census years of 2016 and 2021. Although the City saw negative 
population growth for a short period from 2016 to 2021, population projections completed by ESRI Analytics suggests growth to just under 80,000 by 2028, while Metro 
Economics predicts an increase of almost 100,000 by 2036. The projected population increase for the Sault is a healthy increase, driven by immigration, internal migration 
and non-permanent residents.
With the ongoing issues relating to the Northern Ontario’s aging population, Sault Ste. Marie’s larger proportion of those aged between 55-74 is set to further 
increase by 2028, which are set to further stress the City’s medical & physician offers with increasing demands for health-related services. 

Sault Ste. Marie's Population distribution by age
Years: 2018, 2023 and 2028

Sault Ste. Marie's Population forecast
Years: 2018, 2023 and 2028

Population growth 
Years: 2013 to 2028

Page 126 of 411



68Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Household income and spending
L O C A L  M A R K E T  O V E R V I E W

A1

Note*: The index is a comparison to the Total Population in Ontario. An index of 100 is the Ontario average.
Source: Source: ESRI, Statistics Canada, Sault Ste. Marie – 2023 Community Profile

$1,187, 1%
$1,563, 2%
$1,738, 2%
$2,037, 2%

$2,727, 2%
$2,938, 3%

$3,586, 4%
$4,323, 5%
$4,438, 5%
$4,444, 5%
$4,636, 5%

$10,626, 12%
$12,717, 14%

$13,487, 15%
$16,027, 18%

$0 $4,000 $8,000 $12,000 $16,000 $20,000

Education & reading materials
Miscellaneous expenditures

Personal care
Gifts & remmittance

Alcoholic beverages & Tobacco products
Clothing

Household furnishings and equipment
Recreation

Household Operation
Health care

Personal insurance & pension contributions
Transportation

Food
Personal Taxes

Shelter

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100 110

Education & reading materials
Miscellaneous expenditures

Personal care
Gifts & remmittance

Alcoholic beverages & Tobacco products
Clothing

Household furnishings and equipment
Recreation

Household Operation
Health care

Personal insurance & pension contributions
Transportation

Food
Personal Taxes

Shelter

Sault Ste. Marie Index Ontario Index

The Average Household Income for Sault Ste. Marie in 2023 was $95,457 ($116,000 for 
Ontario). This is representative of a 15% increase from 2018 and is projected to grow a 
further 14% by 2028. 
With respect to household expenditure, the total average household consumption per year 
is $88,174. Shelter, tax, food, transportation and personal insurance & pension 
contributions amount to 65% of average household spending, with 7% allocated towards 
Healthcare (5%) and Personal care (2%) respectively.
Although all spending categories fall under the average for Ontario (implying Sault 
Ste. Marie spend less than the Provincial average), the city’s aging population is likely 
to result in a shift towards more medical and health related spending in the coming 
years.

$81,544

$95,458

$111,517

$0 $30,000 $60,000 $90,000 $120,000

2018

2023

2028

Avg. Annual Household Consumption ($) and Share of income spend (%)
Sault Ste. Marie – 2023

Index* – Average Annual Household Consumption
Sault Ste. Marie – 2023

Average Household Income

Page 127 of 411



69Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Labour Force & Employment
L O C A L  M A R K E T  O V E R V I E W

A1

Source: Statistics Canada, Sault Ste. Marie – 2023 Community Profile 

INDUSTRY %

Health care and social assistance 18.0%

Retail trade 14.2%

Manufacturing 10.3%

Educational services 8.7%

Accommodation and food services 7.1%

Construction 6.6%

Public administration 6.3%

Administrative and support, waste management and remediation services 4.3%

Other services (except public administration) 4.2%

Professional, scientific and technical services 4.1%

Other 16.1%

9,080
28%

5,680
17%

4,700
14%

4,415
14%

3,560
11%

1,860
6%

1,705
5%

650
2%

530
2%

180
1%

28% Sales and service 6% Natural and applied sciences and 
related 

17% Trades, transport and equipment 
operators and related 5% Education, law and social, community 

and government services

14% Manufacturing and utilities 2% Legislative and senior management 

14% Business, finance and administration 2% Natural resources, agricultural and 
related production

11% Health occupations 1% Art, culture, sport and recreation 

Current State of Sault Ste. Marie
Sault Ste. Marie has a highly skilled workforce and access to hundreds of new graduates 
annually from local post-secondary institutions. Sault Ste. Marie’s existing labor market 
includes skilled IT and technical, trades, health care, business, science, and research and 
development talent.
The City is home to major industrial companies and organizations with years of corporate 
executive and operations experience. Its growing IT and digital economy is growing and 
attracting new graduates and skilled programmers.

Labour Force by Occupation
The graph below illustrates Sault Ste. Marie’s labour force make up by occupation.

Age Profile
The table below illustrates Sault Ste. Marie’s labour force make up by industry.

Page 128 of 411



70Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Private Sector Major Employers Public Sector Major Employers

Algoma Steel Sault Area Hospital

Tenaris Algoma Tubes Algoma District School Board

Walmart City of Sault Ste. Marie

McDougall Energy Huron-Superior Catholic District School 
Board

Canadian Tire Sault College

Algoma Energy Solutions Ontario Lottery and Gaming 
Corporation

SIS Group F.J Davey Home

JD Aero Group Health Centre

Arauco North America Algoma University

S&T Group Algoma Public Health Unit

Labour Force & Employment (contd.)
L O C A L  M A R K E T  O V E R V I E W

A1

Source: Statistics Canada, Sault Ste. Marie – 2023 Community Profile 

Major Sectors
Sault Ste. Marie continues to diversify its economy and has experienced growth in sectors 
such as alternative energy, science and technology, aviation services, and business-process 
outsourcing.
With its industrial roots, Sault Ste. Marie has been a manufacturing hub for over 100 years. 
Harnessing the local natural resources and capitalizing on its location, Sault Ste. Marie is a 
leading producer of steel, forestry products, renewable energy and much more.
The City sets out to build on its traditional industries as well as focus on advanced 
manufacturing, and emerging industries such as IT & digital, clean tech, lottery & gaming, 
aviation and more.

Major Employers
Sault Ste. Marie possesses several small and medium-sized businesses have set up or 
experienced growth in Sault Ste. Marie over the past several years.

Page 129 of 411



71Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Forecast

Medical/Health expenditure set to outpace other key sectors for Ontarians
L O C A L  M A R K E T  O V E R V I E W

A1

Source: Oxford Economics

1) Medical Products, Appliances and 
Equipment, 2034, 2.8%

Education, 
2034, 2.3%

Clothing and Footwear, 
2034, 2.4%

Health Goods and Services, 
2034, 2.2%

Alcoholic Beverages, 
Tobacco and Narcotics,

2034, 0.8%

-25.0%

-20.0%

-15.0%

-10.0%

-5.0%

0.0%

5.0%

10.0%

15.0%

20.0%

25.0%

30.0%

20
15

20
16

20
17

20
18

20
19

20
20

20
21

20
22

20
23

20
24

20
25

20
26

20
27

20
28

20
29

20
30

20
31

20
32

20
33

20
34

Yo
Y 

An
nu

al
 G

ro
w

th
 (%

)

Medical Products, Appliances and Equipment Education
Clothing and Footwear Health Goods and Services
Alcoholic Beverages, Tobacco and Narcotics

# Household Consumer Spending Indicator
Spending Growth Average

10 Year Avg.
2014 - 2024

F10 Year Avg.
2024 - 2034

1 Medical Products, Appliances and Equipment 4.7% 2.8%
2 Education 4.0% 2.6%
3 Clothing and Footwear 4.5% 2.5%
4 Food and Non-Alcoholic Beverages 1.5% 2.1%
5 Health Goods and Services 3.0% 2.1%
- Housing, Water, Electricity, Gas and Other Fuels 2.4% 2.1%
- Housing Rent 2.7% 2.0%
- Eating Out 2.2% 1.7%
- Alcoholic Beverages, Tobacco and Narcotics 0.5% 0.7%

Ontario Household Spending
Based on recent economic trends and projections for the next ten years (2024-2034), 
spending in Ontario's Medical/Health Goods & Services sector is set to outpace other key 
sectors, except for Clothing and Footwear. This indicates a significant shift in consumer 
priorities and spending habits, driven by various factors including an aging population, 
increased health awareness, and possibly the aftermath of the COVID-19 pandemic.
Implications to Sault Ste Marie and Clinical Campus Feasibility
The projected trend of increasing spending on Medical/Health Goods & Services in Ontario 
supports Sault Ste. Marie's objective of introducing a clinical campus:
– Steady Forecasted Growth: With projected increased spending in healthcare and 

related medical sectors, the industry growth will drive local economic growth through job 
creation for Sault Ste. Marie.

– Local Healthcare Improvement: The clinical campus will address rising healthcare 
demands by training professionals to serve the community, enhancing local healthcare 
infrastructure.

– Enhanced Reputation: Establishing the clinical campus will elevate the city's status as a 
hub for education and healthcare, attracting students, professionals, and researchers.

– Collaborative Opportunities: The clinical campus will enable collaborations with local 
healthcare facilities, leading to integrated care, innovative treatments, and better 
healthcare outcomes.

Ontario Household Spending – YoY Annual Growth (%)
Medical/Health Goods & Services vs Education and Alcohol, Tobacco & Narcotics

Page 130 of 411



72Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Appendices
A2. Recruitment Overview

Page 131 of 411



73Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Sault Ste. Marie current state – Physician Recruitment & Retention Program
R E C R U I T M E N T  O V E R V I E W

A2

Source: Sault Ste. Marie Physician Recruitment & Retention Program

Program Budget Breakdown

Budget Item Amount
Salaries & Benefits $165,000
Office Supplies $2,000
Professional Conferences $3,000
Professional Services -Recruitment $15,000
Professional Fees $195
Advertising/Journals & Website Management $8,000
Display & Promotional Materials $3,000
Recruitment Incentives (relocation, 2nd site visit exp) $60,000
Showcasing SSM/Site Visits $10,000
Retention Activities/Initiatives $12,000
Participation in Recruitment Events $14,805
Summer Studentship Program $5,000
Minor Equipment Purchases (Furniture & Office Equipment) $2,000
Subtotal $300,000

Physician Recruitment & Retention Program Overview
Sault Ste. Marie's Physician Recruitment & Retention Program is a strategic initiative aimed at attracting and retaining physicians to address the city's healthcare needs. The 
program offers various incentives and support to physicians considering practicing in the area, including financial bonuses, relocation assistance, and professional support for new 
doctors and their families. The goal is to address the region’s physician shortage, particularly in family medicine and certain specialties, by creating a welcoming environment that 
promotes long-term retention.
The program also focuses on work-life balance, community integration, and collaboration with local healthcare providers such as Sault Area Hospital. Additionally, the initiative 
partners with organizations like the Northern Ontario School of Medicine University (NOSM U) to foster local medical training and increase the likelihood of physicians staying in 
the region after completing their education or residency.

Program Introduction
The Sault Ste. Marie Physician Recruitment Program was established in 2002 to provide a coordinated, 
community-driven approach to attracting physicians to the area. The program is supported by key 
partners, including the City of Sault Ste. Marie, Sault Area Hospital (SAH), Group Health Association, 
Algoma District Medical Group, and Algoma West Academy of Medicine. 
Current funding for the program totals $300,000, with contributions from the City of Sault Ste. Marie 
($140,000), SAH ($80,000), Group Health Association ($65,000), and a $10,000 overpayment from the 
Group Health Association. Additionally, sponsorships provide $5,000.

Page 132 of 411



74Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Sault Ste. Marie – Physician Recruitment & Retention Program (contd.)
R E C R U I T M E N T  O V E R V I E W

A2

Source: Sault Ste. Marie Physician Recruitment & Retention Program

Program Results – Physician Recruitment & Retention Program
Sault Ste. Marie’s (“SSM”) Physician Recruitment & Retention Program has seen mixed 
results. Successes include attracting new physicians through financial incentives and 
fostering strong partnerships with local healthcare organizations, which has helped 
address some of the region’s healthcare needs. 
However, challenges remain, particularly in retaining physicians long-term and filling 
gaps in specialty areas. Despite improvements, the physician-to-population ratio 
continues to decline, highlighting the need for enhanced retention strategies and more 
targeted recruitment efforts.

NOSM U Successes
NOSM U’s presence in Sault Ste. Marie has created a thriving medical education 
environment, offering students a supportive and engaging experience while 
contributing to the community’s healthcare development. 

With growing residency programs and strong involvement from local physicians, the 
city has become an attractive destination for medical learners as students enjoy the 
quiet lifestyle and access to nature. 
Below are the key success points of NOSM U in Sault Ste. Marie:
– Over 35 medical learners in the community at any given time

– Unique Summer Studentship for 1st and 2nd-year students from SSM

– Expanding residency programs, electives, and undergraduate rotations 

– Learners express strong appreciation for the supportive learning environment, 
sense of collegiality, and dedicated space at Sault Area Hospital

Page 133 of 411



75Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Sault Ste. Marie – Physician Recruitment & Retention Program (contd.)
R E C R U I T M E N T  O V E R V I E W

A2

Source: Sault Ste. Marie Physician Recruitment & Retention Program

-10

-5

0

5

10

20
02

20
03

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

20
16

20
17

20
18

20
19

20
20

20
21

20
22

20
23

SSM Inflow & Outflow of Family Medicine Physicians - 2002-2024

Inflow Outflow Net Change

~180 Total

13%

21%

17%

30%

47%

0 50 100 150 200

TOTAL

LOCUM

SSP

HOME BASED RESIDENT

NOSM ALUMNI

MEDICAL EDUCATION

SSM Physician Recruits – 2002-2024

SSM Inflow & Outflow of Family Medicine Physicians – 2002-2024
Sault Ste. Marie has experienced a fluctuating inflow and outflow of family medicine 
physicians in the last 20 years, particularly between 2005 and 2019. While recruitment 
efforts have successfully brought new physicians to the community, retirements and 
relocations have contributed to ongoing gaps.

Page 134 of 411



76Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Sault Ste. Marie – Physician Recruitment & Retention Program (contd.)
R E C R U I T M E N T  O V E R V I E W

A2

Source: Sault Ste. Marie Physician Recruitment & Retention Program

– Marketing & advertising
– Attending conferences or doctor job fairs
– Practice models
– Community supports & engagement
– Incentives

– Community Site Visits
– Locums
– Bursary Development
– Medical education
– Summer studentship program

Current Recruitment Strategies
Sault Ste. Marie’s current physician recruitment strategies focus on attracting new talent through a 
combination of financial incentives, community engagement, and professional support. The city offers 
competitive relocation packages, signing bonuses, and loan forgiveness programs to make practicing in 
the area more appealing.
Efforts also include improving work-life balance by fostering collaborative healthcare networks and 
providing modern facilities and resources. The recruitment program partners with local 
organizations like Sault Area Hospital and the Northern Ontario School of Medicine (NOSM U) to 
offer training opportunities and create a pipeline for future physicians to stay and work in the 
community.
Other specific recruitment strategies used by Sault Ste. Marie include:

– Practice model
– Incentives
– Wellness/retention events –golf & ski days
– Settlement support for the ENTIRE family

– Mentorship programs
– NOSM U faculty
– SSM AMA support for medical education, faculty 

development and scholarly activity

Current Retention Strategies
Sault Ste. Marie’s physician retention strategies focus on fostering a supportive work environment, 
improving work-life balance, and providing ongoing professional development. The City encourages 
collaboration between healthcare providers and offers community integration initiatives to help physicians 
build long-term connections. These efforts aim to enhance job satisfaction and reduce physician turnover.
Other specific retention strategies used by Sault Ste. Marie include:

Page 135 of 411



77Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Comparative Physician Recruitment & Retention Program Budgets
R E C R U I T M E N T  O V E R V I E W

A2

Source: Municipal Budgets, CBC, Global news

$300,000

$155,000

$226,021

$6,200,000

$110,000

$50,000

$1,000,000

$0 $1,000,000 $2,000,000 $3,000,000 $4,000,000 $5,000,000 $6,000,000 $7,000,000

Sault Ste. Marie

Woodstock

Peterborough

PEI

Brantford

London

Kingston

Physician Recruitment Program & Incentives Budget Comparison 

Rural Physician Recruitment Incentives Overview 
Across Canada, smaller communities and rural areas are frequently encountering challenges in attracting and retaining healthcare professionals, specifically doctors. To address 
these challenges, many municipalities have developed recruitment committees and curated incentive programs to help entice talent and make these areas more appealing. These 
incentives can reach $100,000 and even more to entice doctors with some common strategies including: 
– Signing bonuses for doctors who commit to working in the region for a certain period of time 
– Relocation grants to help cover costs such as moving, housing or setting up a practice 
– Debt repayment including student loan forgiveness 
– Flexible working arrangement allowing for doctors to have more control over schedules 
Out of all of this, a key theme that has emerged is many municipalities are calling upon their council to include larger line items within the budget to be allocated for physician 
recruitment and retention programs which has raised concerns by some indicating that it is a race to the bottom bidding war for these essential workers. The following outlines the 
annual budget allocated to recruitment activities in 2024 for some municipalities across the province:

Page 136 of 411



78Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Sault Ste. Marie – Physician Recruitment & Retention Program (contd.)
R E C R U I T M E N T  O V E R V I E W

A2

Source: Sault Ste. Marie Physician Recruitment & Retention Program

Opportunities
Sault Ste. Marie has several key opportunities to strengthen its healthcare system. Expanding partnerships 
with the Northern Ontario School of Medicine University (NOSM U) could increase local training 
opportunities, encouraging medical graduates to stay and practice in the community. 
The city can also leverage its Physician Recruitment & Retention Program to attract new talent, offering 
competitive incentives and fostering a supportive work environment. Additionally, focusing on 
collaborative healthcare networks and improving work-life balance for physicians can help retain existing 
staff. 
With its natural surroundings and strong sense of community, Sault Ste. Marie has the potential to 
become an attractive destination for both new and experienced healthcare professionals.
Other ongoing efforts and opportunities include:
– International Recruitment
– Collaboration
– Medical Education
– Community Engagement

Page 137 of 411



79Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Appendices
A3. Detailed Cost Estimate Breakdown 

Page 138 of 411



80Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Detailed Cost Estimate Breakdown: Option 1
D E T A I L E D  C O S T  B R E A K D O W N  

A3

Page 139 of 411



81Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Detailed Cost Estimate Breakdown: Option 1 (cont’d)
D E T A I L E D  C O S T  B R E A K D O W N  

A3

Page 140 of 411



82Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Detailed Cost Estimate Breakdown: Option 2
D E T A I L E D  C O S T  B R E A K D O W N  

A3

Page 141 of 411



83Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Detailed Cost Estimate Breakdown: Option 2 (cont’d)
D E T A I L E D  C O S T  B R E A K D O W N  

A3

Page 142 of 411



84Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Detailed Cost Estimate Breakdown: Option 3
D E T A I L E D  C O S T  B R E A K D O W N  

A3

Page 143 of 411



85Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Detailed Cost Estimate Breakdown: Option 3 (cont’d)
D E T A I L E D  C O S T  B R E A K D O W N  

A3

Page 144 of 411



86Avison Young Consulting Services & BDP Quadrangle| Sault Ste. Marie – NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study 

Visit as at 
avisonyoung.com

Follow us on social
Twitter | Property Listings | LinkedIn | Instagram

© 2025. Avison Young. Information contained herein was obtained from sources deemed reliable and, while thought to be correct, have not been verified. Avison Young 
does not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of the information presented, nor assumes any responsibility or liability for any errors or omissions therein

Sheila Botting
Principal & President 
Americas Professional Services 
+1 416 673 4059
sheila.botting@avisonyoung.com 

Thank you.
Stefan Tetzlaff
Consultant
Real Estate & Infrastructure Consulting
+1 647 469 1350
stefan.tetzlaff@avisonyoung.com 

Heather Rolleston
Principal / Design Director
BDP Quadrangle
+1 416 598 1240
hrolleston@bdpquadrangle.com

Yves Bonnardeaux
Senior Architect, Associate
BDP Quadrangle
1 416 598 1240 
ybonnardeaux@bdpquadrangle.com

Page 145 of 411



        

 

The Corporation of the 
 City of Sault Ste. Marie 

C O U N C I L    R E P O R T 

 

April 29, 2025 

TO: Mayor Matthew Shoemaker and Members of City Council 

AUTHOR: Rachel Tyczinski, City Clerk and Melanie Borowicz-Sibenik, 

Assistant City Solicitor/Senior Litigation Counsel 

DEPARTMENT: Corporate Services 

RE: Regulating Election Signage 

________________________________________________________________ 

Purpose 
The purpose of this report is to recommend regulations regarding the placement 
of election signage (municipal, provincial, and federal) in the City of Sault Ste. 
Marie. 

Background 
The following resolution was passed on January 9, 2023: 

Moved by:  Councillor S. Hollingsworth 
Seconded by: Councillor S. Spina 

Whereas election signs educate or promote candidates in municipal, provincial and 
federal elections (including school board trustees); and 

Whereas a number of candidates use other means such as social media, media 
partners and so forth to advertise themselves and their platforms; and 

Whereas the City of Sault Ste. Marie has a by-law that states where election signs 
can be placed, rules on removal; however, it fails to outline a limit on the number 
that can be posted within the community;  

Now Therefore Be It Resolved that staff be requested to review other municipal 
by-laws, specifically to limiting the number of signs used and the imposition of 
election sign permits and report back with a recommendation regarding a new 
election sign by-law for municipal, provincial and federal elections (including school 
board and/or other type of elections).  

Election signs are exempt from the current signs By-law 2017-35.  

By-law 2002-16 regulates municipal election signs such that: 

 No election sign shall be placed, posted or displayed on any municipal 
property until 45 days prior to voting day; 

Page 146 of 411



Regulating Election Signage 
April 29, 2025 
Page 2. 

 Election signs placed, posted or displayed on any municipal property must 
not create a hazard to vehicular or pedestrian traffic; 

 Election signs on any municipal property must be removed within 72 hours 
after the completion of voting on voting day. 

The City receives numerous complaints regarding election signs on public property 
during municipal, provincial, and federal election cycles. Complaints are more 
acute when an election cycle falls during winter months (signs on snowbanks, lines 
of sight, etc.) There are also issues with election signs not being removed from 
public property after voting day. Removal of election signs creates an additional 
burden for Public Works.  

Analysis 
The display of election signs is an activity protected under section 2(b) of the 
Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms (the “Charter”): 

“Everyone has the following fundamental freedoms: 
b. freedom of thought, belief, opinion and expression, including 
freedom of the press and other media of communication” 

In Canada, Courts have interpreted Section 2(b) of the Charter very broadly. As 
such, while municipalities are entitled to pass by-laws regulating signs under the 
Municipal Act, 2001, attempts to regulate the display of election signs would be 
considered a breach of Section 2(b) of the Charter. An analysis under Section 1 of 
the Charter would then follow to see if the “limit” is justifiable in a free and 
democratic society.  

In such cases, the government has the onus or burden of proof to establish on a 
“balance of probabilities” that the breach is justifiable.   

As such, the City may enact a by-law that regulates signs. Other municipalities 
have done so, as is set out below. However, a total prohibition on a form of 
expression will be more difficult to justify than a partial prohibition. Furthermore, 
the requirements set out in the By-law must be “rationally connected” to the issues 
that the respective municipality needs to address, including:  

 Establishing appropriate locations and sizes of signs to minimize safety 
hazards to life and property; 

 Reducing safety hazards to both pedestrian and vehicular traffic; 

 Creating a fair and equitable process to ensure requirements are met – 
equal opportunities; and/or 

 Reducing the potential for the creation of visual clutter on the streets. 

The City of London does not allow election signs on public property or within a 
park. Thunder Bay, Kingston, St. Catharines, Gravenhurst, Bracebridge, 
Huntsville, Sarnia, and Hamilton do not allow election signs on public property. The 
City of Guelph does not allow election signs on public property, property owned by 
the Province of Ontario, or within a park.  

Page 147 of 411



Regulating Election Signage 
April 29, 2025 
Page 3. 

Some municipalities allow election signs on boulevards between the sidewalk and 
private property line or between the roadway and private property line where there 
is no sidewalk. This approach is recommended so that enforcement staff would 
not be required to determine property line locations. 

Staff recommends prohibiting election signs on public property and within parks to 
reduce safety hazards to pedestrian and vehicular traffic and potential visual 
clutter. 

Financial Implications 
There may be some financial implications related to the removal of election signs 
placed on public property. 

Strategic Plan / Policy Impact / Climate Impact 
This is an operational matter not articulated in the corporate Strategic Plan. 

There is no climate impact except visual blight and the construction and disposition 
of election signs. 

Recommendation 
It is therefore recommended that Council take the following action:  

Resolved that the report of the City Clerk dated April 29, 2025 concerning 
Regulating Election Signs be received and that the Legal Department be requested 
to prepare a by-law prohibiting election signs on public property, including parks; 
such by-law also to include a prohibition of illuminated or flashing signs. 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
Rachel Tyczinski 
City Clerk 
705.759.5391 
r.tyczinski@cityssm.on.ca 

 
Melanie Borowicz-Sibenik 
Assistant City Solicitor/Senior 
Litigation Counsel 
705.759.5403   
m.borowiczsibenik@cityssm.on.ca 
 
 

 

Page 148 of 411

mailto:r.tyczinski@cityssm.on.ca
mailto:m.borowiczsibenik@cityssm.on.ca


        

 

The Corporation of the 
 City of Sault Ste. Marie 

C O U N C I L    R E P O R T 

 

April 29, 2025 

TO: Mayor Matthew Shoemaker and Members of City Council 

AUTHOR: Rachel Tyczinski, City Clerk 

DEPARTMENT: Corporate Services 

RE: Municipally Significant Event – 2025 Sault Ste. Marie 

Festival of Beer 

________________________________________________________________ 

Purpose 
The purpose of this report is to request that Council designate the 2025 Sault Ste. 
Marie Festival of Beer as municipally significant and to direct staff to prepare a 
Licence of Occupation to be brought back to Council for approval as the proponent 
desires to hold the event on City property. 

Background 
In May 2023, the City Council approved the Municipally Significant Events Policy 
(see Appendix A), outlining the application process and defining what types of 
events would qualify. 

Analysis 
Relevant City staff have met with the proponent, Police Services, two 
representatives from the Alcohol and Gaming Commission of Ontario (AGCO), and 
a representative from Algoma Public Health to discuss the 2025 Sault Ste. Marie 
Festival of Beer. It was determined that the proponent should apply to the City to 
have the event designated municipally significant. The proponent requires the 
designation to apply for a special occasion permit through the AGCO.  

The proponent has submitted an application to the City for the 2025 Sault Ste. 
Marie Festival of Beer (Appendix B) to be held June 14, 2025. The application was 
circulated to the parties listed in the Municipally Significant Event Policy. With the 
feedback provided, City staff recommend that the event be designated municipally 
significant. The proponent will be required to enter into a Licence of Occupation 
agreement satisfactory to City staff, including, but not limited to, the following: 

 Adherence to the City’s Alcohol Risk Management Policy; 

 Potential Building Division approvals for tent structures and any necessary 
permits; 

 Insurance requirements; 

 Safeguarding the site with proper barricading and security/paid duty police; 

Page 149 of 411



Municipally Significant Event – 2025 Festival of Beer 
April 29, 2025 
Page 2. 

 Algoma Public Health approvals for food provision and sanitary privies; and 

 AGCO permit and approvals. 

Financial Implications 
There is no direct financial impact to the City. City staff are recommending that the 
fees outlined in the Alcohol Risk Management Policy be waived for the 2025 Sault 
Ste. Marie Festival of Beer, which is consistent with past practice for other large 
community festivals. 

Strategic Plan / Policy Impact / Climate Impact 
This event is linked to the Quality of Life focus area of the corporate Strategic Plan 
– Vibrant Downtown  

There is no climate impact. 

Recommendation 
It is therefore recommended that Council take the following action:  

Resolved that the report of the City Clerk dated April 29, 2025 concerning 
Municipally Significant Event – 2025 Sault Ste. Marie Festival of Beer be received 
and that Council designate the event as municipally significant and approve 
waiving fees outlined in the Alcohol Risk Management Policy. 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
Rachel Tyczinski 
City Clerk 
705.759.5391 
r.tyczinski@cityssm.on.ca 
 
 

Page 150 of 411

mailto:r.tyczinski@cityssm.on.ca


The City of Sault Ste. Marie 
Information Manual

Municipally 
Significant Events
C-I-23

Page 1 of 2

Subject:  Municipally Significant Events (AGCO Special Occasion Permits)
Service Area: Corporate Services (City Clerk)
Source:  By-law 2023-75 
Date: May 1, 2023
_____________________________________________________________________ 

Purpose: 
The purpose of this policy is to establish criteria to designate a public event as a 
municipally significant event. 
Application:
This policy shall apply to public event organizers seeking designation of a public event as 
a “municipally significant event” for the purpose of applying to acquire a special occasion 
permit under the Liquor Licence and Control Act, as amended, for the sale and service of 
alcohol at a public event. 
Definitions: 
“Business day” shall mean any Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday, Thursday or Friday 
excluding any of those days that fall on a statutory holiday 
“City” shall mean The Corporation of the City of Sault Ste. Marie 
“Municipally significant event” shall mean a one-time annual or infrequently occurring 
event that is open to the public, has a pre-determined opening and closing date and time 
and which: 

a. Has a local, regional, national or international historical or cultural
significance;

b. Builds awareness of diverse cultures;
c. Promotes the social, cultural or economic development of the City; or
d. Benefits the community at large.

“Public event” shall mean an event that is open to the general public. 
Scope: 
The City Clerk is delegated authority to issue a letter designating a public event as a 
municipally significant event on behalf of the City. 
The City Clerk shall circulate all applications for designation as a municipally significant 
event to the following stakeholders for comment: 

a. Sault Ste. Marie Fire Service
b. City By-law Enforcement Division
c. City Chief Building Official
d. City Risk Manager
e. Sault Ste. Marie Police Service

Appendix "A"

Page 151 of 411



 

The City of Sault Ste. Marie 
Information Manual

 
Municipally 
Significant Events
C-I-23
 

Page 2 of 2
 

f. Algoma Public Health
The stakeholders listed above shall be given five (5) business days to provide any 
concerns regarding the application for designation as a municipally significant event, after 
which the City Clerk will proceed to evaluate the request based upon any concerns 
received within the given time frame. 
Public events must meet the following criteria to be considered by the City of Sault Ste. 
Marie for designation as a municipally significant event: 

a. Fall within the definition of a municipally significant event as defined in this 
policy; 

b. Serve the public interest by upholding the by-laws and policies of the City 
of Sault Ste. Marie and any other applicable legislation; and 

c. Will host no less than 100 members of the general public. 
Applicants must submit their request for designation as a municipally significant event on 
the prescribed application form no less than forty-five (45) days before the proposed event 
for events under 5,000 attendees and no less than seventy-five (75) days before the 
proposed event for events over 5,000 attendees. 
Applicants must maintain a minimum of five million ($5,000,000) dollars liability insurance 
naming “The Corporation of the City of Sault Ste. Marie” as an additional insured providing 
a Certificate of Insurance showing same, at least ten (10) business days prior to the event. 
The permit holder shall be required to indemnify and save the City of Sault Ste. Marie 
harmless from all claims arising from the permit or event. Each event will be considered 
on its own merit, noting that the actual insurance limits required may be increased at the 
discretion of the City of Sault Ste. Marie. 
The City Clerk will issue a letter to the applicant declaring the event as municipally 
significant only if it meets the above criteria. 
The City Clerk is not obligated to designate any event as municipally significant and may 
refer the request to City Council for a decision. 
 
Note: While the City of Sault Ste. Marie may designate an event, the Registrar for the 
Alcohol and Gaming Commission of Ontario has the final decision as to whether or not to 
issue a special occasion permit for a public event. 
 

Page 152 of 411



Appendix "B"

Page 153 of 411



www.invarion.com

Page 154 of 411



        

 

The Corporation of the 
 City of Sault Ste. Marie 

C O U N C I L    R E P O R T 

 

April 29, 2025 

TO: Mayor Matthew Shoemaker and Members of City Council 

AUTHOR: Lisa Petrocco, Manager of Taxation 

DEPARTMENT: Corporate Services 

RE: 2025 Tax Policy and Rates 

________________________________________________________________ 

Purpose 
The purpose of this report is to provide the tax rate options for 2024. Staff is 
seeking Council approval of the recommended option. 

Background 
The Long-Term Tax Policy approved by Council on November 21, 2016 sets out 
Council’s objectives in setting the annual tax policy. The fundamental purpose of 
the tax policy is to assist in achieving municipal goals and objectives by controlling 
the distribution of taxes between property classes. The Long-Term Tax Policy 
recognized that significant decreases in the industrial assessment since 2007 led 
to inequitable tax ratios in that class. The tax policy will be updated and provided 
to Council for the next reassessment cycle. 
 
The Province deferred the scheduled 2020 reassessment. At this time, no date 
has been announced for the next reassessment.  
 
Council approved the 2025 Operating Budget levy of $145,992,909 on December 
9, 2024. 

Analysis 
In recommending a tax ratio option, staff looked at the general objectives for the 
2025 tax rates based on the Long-Term Tax Policy guidelines: 
 

 Residential class increase equal to or less than the total levy increase 
(3.68%) 

 Proactively balance tax distribution to provide for the tax ratios of the 
Industrial and Commercial classes to be less than the previous year 

 Manage inter-class assessment shifts where possible 
 

Tax ratios must be set within the guidelines prescribed by the Province. The 
Municipal Act provides a range of tax policy tools to municipalities to alter the tax 
burdens within and between classes. The tools provide the following options: 

Page 155 of 411



2025 Tax Policy and Rates 
April 29, 2025 
Page 2. 

 

 Adopt the current tax ratios (starting ratios) 

 Adopt revenue-neutral ratios to mitigate the assessment-related tax shifts 
between classes 

o The reassessment has been deferred by the Province. Thus, the 
assessment base remains the same as in 2020, as adjusted for 
appeals, new assessments, etc. There are no significant tax shifts 
that would require revenue-neutral ratios 

o Establish a new ratio that is closer to or within the Range of Fairness 
(alternative ratios) 

 
Summary of Tax Ratio Options: 
 
Starting Ratios 
The current ratios, or starting ratios, reflect a residential tax increase that is less 
than the total levy increase and slightly reduces the commercial and industrial 
ratios. The levy restriction naturally decreases the tax ratio for Commercial and 
Industrial classes, which aligns with the objective of decreasing the ratios over 
time. 
 
Revenue Neutral Ratios 
Without significant assessment base shifts in 2025, this scenario is not applicable. 
 
Alternative Ratios 
The 2024 increase in municipal revenue from assessment growth is 1.0%, the level 
at which the tax policy provides for a proactive decrease to the industrial and/or 
commercial classes. Decreasing the commercial ratio to the range of fairness and 
lessening the Industrial ratio sustains a residential tax ratio under the levy increase.  
 
Staff recommends decreasing the Commercial ratio to the Provincial threshold rate 
of 1.98%. This will remove this class from the levy restriction that prohibits a levy 
increase to 50%. Reducing the Commercial ratio will decrease the class's tax 
burden while also bringing the ratio closer to the provincial range of fairness. 
 
In addition to reducing the Commercial ratio, the Industrial class ratio can also be 
reduced. Reducing the ratio to 5.5% will result in an overall decrease of 21% since 
2017. The reduction of 8.2% in 2025 will provide the class with a significant 
decrease and will assist the lumber and steel sectors economically, especially with 
the recent tariffs imposed. 
 
With the reductions to the Commercial and Industrial class ratios, the residential 
class and the multi-residential class tax increases remain at or below the tax levy 
increase of 3.68%. This aligns with the tax policy and also ensures that the tax 
rates on multi-residential units continue to support the growth of the sector. 
 

Page 156 of 411



2025 Tax Policy and Rates 
April 29, 2025 
Page 3. 

The above analysis does not include the effect of education taxes, which the City 
collects on behalf of the Province, or tax capping. Tax capping has in-class 
implications and does not affect the overall tax ratios of the classes. The tax 
capping recommendations and by-law appear elsewhere on the agenda. 
 
Staff is recommending the Alternative Ratio scenario as it assists in achieving our 
Long-Term Tax Policy objectives by reducing the commercial ratio within the range 
of fairness, reducing the industrial ratio closer to the range of fairness, reducing a 
residential increase to below the levy increase and a multi-residential increase that 
is equal to the approved levy increase.  
 
The dollar and percentage tax change for the median property (midpoint) for 
various property types are shown in Appendix A. Under the recommended 
Alternative Ratio Scenario, 93.3% (2024 – 86.5%) of the residential properties will 
increase by $16.93 (2024 – $17.67) per month or less for municipal taxes. 
 

Financial Implications 
The setting of the 2025 tax rates does not affect the levy requirement for 2025. 
The only implication is the distribution of the levy amongst the tax classes. 

Strategic Plan / Policy Impact / Climate Impact 
This is an operational matter not articulated in the Strategic Plan. 

Recommendation 
It is therefore recommended that Council take the following action:  

The relevant By-laws 2025-55, 2025-61, 2025-62 are listed under item 12 of the 
agenda and will be read with all by-laws under that item. 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
Lisa Petrocco, CPA, CGA 
Manager of Taxation 
705.541.7065 
l.petrocco@cityssm.on.ca 

 

Page 157 of 411

mailto:l.petrocco@cityssm.on.ca


THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF SAULT STE MARIE
ASSESSMENT GROWTH BY YEAR (TAXABLE ASSESSMENT / NO PILS)

YEAR Assessment Municipal Revenue  Municipal $

2024 0.94% 1.00% 1,402,809
2023 0.79% 1.01% 1,359,576
2022 0.85% 0.71% 910,638
2021 0.42% 0.37% 453,670
2020 0.26% 0.07% 81,294
2019 0.25% 0.03% 38,929
2018 0.34% 0.21% 237,284
2017  (note 1) 0.83% 0.78% 883,457
2016 0.14% 0.20% 208,229
2015 0.90% 0.82% 831,383
2014 0.73% 0.62% 622,696
2013 1.36% 1.71% 1,678,582
2012 1.13% 1.11% 1,059,399
2011 1.11% 0.95% 870,846
2010 0.78% 0.81% 705,252
2009 0.93% 1.16% 969,347
2008 0.96% 0.88% 709,320
2007 0.85% 0.88% 686,150
2006 0.03% -0.54% -408,855
2005 0.94% 0.83% 590,885
2004 -0.29% (203,206)         
2003 0.58% 379,255          
2002 -0.28% (170,326)         
2001 0.80% 480,017          

Note 1:  Includes Payment In Lieu of Taxes due to Casino property change from PIL to Taxable

GROWTH %

-1.00%

-0.50%

0.00%

0.50%

1.00%

1.50%

2.00%

202420232022202120202019201820172016201520142013201220112010200920082007200620052004200320022001

Assessment Growth-Municipal Revenue

Page 158 of 411



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF SAULT STE. MARIE Appendix A
2025 TAX RATE SCENARIOS

2025 Levy Increase 3.68%
Less:  2024 Municipal Revenue Change from Assessment Growth 1.00%
Other Adjustments -0.02%
Tax increase 2.66%

2024 Chg from 2024 Change from Chg from 2024 Change from Chg from 2024 Change from
Class Tax Ratios % of tax Municipal after growth Tax Ratio 2024 ratio % of tax Municipal after growth Tax Ratio 2024 ratio % of tax Municipal after growth Tax Ratio 2024 ratio % of tax

Taxable
Residential 1.000000 65.3% 95,131,306 2.84% 1.000000 0.000 65.2% 95,100,408 2.81% 1.000000 0.000 65.1% 95,690,776 3.44% 1.000000 0.000 65.5%

New Multi-residential 1.082000 0.002 833,395 3.07% 1.082000 0.000 0.6% 833,136 3.04% 1.082000 0.000 0.6% 838,311 3.68% 1.082000 0.000 0.6%

Multi-residential 1.082000 5.5% 7,911,583 3.07% 1.082000 0.000 5.4% 7,909,128 3.04% 1.082000 0.000 5.4% 7,958,249 3.68% 1.082000 0.000 5.5%

Com. Occupied 1.973194 16.1% 23,236,806 2.27% 1.937893 -0.035 15.9% 23,259,856 2.37% 1.928025 -0.045 15.9% 23,404,296 3.01% 1.928025 -0.045 16.0%

Com. Exc. Land 1.973194 0.1% 133,952 2.15% 1.356525 -0.617 0.1% 134,088 2.26% 1.349618 -0.624 0.1% 134,921 2.89% 1.349618 -0.624 0.1%

Com. On-Farm Bus. 1 1.973194 0.0% 746 0.00% 1.937893 -0.035 0.0% 747 0.00% 1.928025 -0.045 0.0% 751 0.00% 1.928025 -0.045 0.0%

Shopping Occ. 2.094675 3.5% 5,199,172 2.32% 2.057201 -0.037 3.6% 5,204,269 2.42% 2.046725 -0.048 3.6% 5,236,592 3.06% 2.046725 -0.048 3.6%

Shopping Exc. 1.466273 0.0% 0 0.00% 1.440041 -0.026 0.0% 0 0.00% 1.432708 -0.034 0.0% 0 0.00% 1.432708 -0.034 0.0%

Office Occupied 2.743080 0.5% 974,948 2.32% 2.694005 -0.049 0.7% 975,903 2.42% 2.680286 -0.063 0.7% 981,964 3.06% 2.680286 -0.063 0.7%

Office Exc. Land 1.920156 0.0% 0 0.00% 1.885804 -0.034 0.0% 0 0.00% 1.876200 -0.044 0.0% 0 0.00% 1.876200 -0.044 0.0%

Parking/Vac. Land 1.458839 0.4% 574,788 2.29% 1.432740 -0.026 0.4% 575,354 2.40% 1.425444 -0.033 0.4% 578,928 3.03% 1.425444 -0.033 0.4%

Ind. Occupied 4.243835 2.1% 2,920,391 1.95% 4.167911 -0.076 2.0% 2,921,431 1.98% 4.167911 -0.076 2.0% 2,697,344 -5.84% 3.824401 -0.419 1.8%

Ind. Exc. Land 2.758493 0.0% 34,219 1.70% 2.709142 -0.049 0.0% 34,231 1.73% 2.709142 -0.049 0.0% 31,605 -6.07% 2.485861 -0.273 0.0%

Ind. Vac. Land 2.758493 0.2% 251,614 2.27% 2.709142 -0.049 0.2% 251,707 2.30% 2.709142 -0.049 0.2% 232,401 -5.54% 2.485861 -0.273 0.2%

Large Ind. Occ. 7.537165 5.3% 7,701,782 2.32% 7.402322 -0.135 5.3% 7,704,622 2.36% 7.402321 -0.135 5.3% 7,113,678 -5.49% 6.792239 -0.745 4.9%

Large Ind. Exc. 4.899157 0.0% 19,769 2.32% 4.811509 -0.088 0.0% 19,776 2.36% 4.811509 -0.088 0.0% 18,260 -5.49% 4.414955 -0.484 0.0%

Aggregate Extraction 1.973194 0.0% 138,115 -15.77% 3.453236 1.480 0.1% 138,163 -15.74% 3.453236 1.480 0.1% 139,023 -15.22% 3.453236 1.480 0.1%

Landfills 1.884024 0.0% 0 0.00% 1.884024 0.000 0.0% 0 0.00% 1.884024 0.000 0.0% 0 0.00% 1.884024 0.000 0.0%

Pipelines 2.093910 0.6% 909,780 1.41% 2.093910 0.000 0.6% 909,406 1.37% 2.093910 0.000 0.6% 915,033 2.00% 2.093910 0.000 0.6%

Farm 0.250000 0.0% 9,647 1.95% 0.250000 0.000 0.0% 9,643 1.91% 0.250000 0.000 0.0% 9,703 2.54% 0.250000 0.000 0.0%

Managed Forests 0.250000 0.0% 10,944 1.51% 0.250000 0.000 0.0% 10,940 1.47% 0.250000 0.000 0.0% 11,008 2.10% 0.250000 0.000 0.0%

Total Taxable 145,992,956 2.66% 145,992,809 2.66% 145,992,841 2.66%

Median/Typical Property 2025 CVA % CVA change * $ Tax Change % Tax Change $ Tax Change % Tax Change $ Tax Change % Tax Change
Single Family Dwelling 197,000 0.00% $99.03 2.81% $98.00 3.04% $118.63 3.68%
Apartment Building 1,556,000     0.00% $846.40 2.83% $837.60 3.04% $1,013.89 3.68%
Small Office Building 317,000        0.00% $233.59 1.82% $243.67 2.42% $307.67 3.06%
Small Retail Commercial Property 209,000        0.00% $154.00 1.82% $160.64 2.42% $202.84 3.06%
Standard Industrial Property 647,000        0.00% $1,025.33 2.06% $1,042.00 2.36% ($2,425.07) -5.47%

 *Reassessment scheduled for 2021 was postponed by Province, no confirmation on date of reassessment.  

Excludes Capping and Education taxes

Starting Ratios

The median or typical property in each group represents a property with an assessed value at or near the midpoint or median for the group and a per cent 
change in assessment for the year at or near the median for the group. 

Alternate Ratio:  Residential levy increase 3.44% with a decrease to 
Commercial to Provincial Threshold 1.98% and a decrease to Industrial 
to 5.5%

Alternate Ratio: Decrease to Commercial - Provincial Threshold 1.98

Page 159 of 411



        

 

The Corporation of the 
 City of Sault Ste. Marie 

C O U N C I L    R E P O R T 

 

The April 29, 2025 

TO: Mayor Matthew Shoemaker and Members of City Council 

AUTHOR: Lisa Petrocco, Manager of Taxation 

DEPARTMENT: Corporate Services 

RE: 2025 Property Tax Capping Options 

________________________________________________________________ 

Purpose 
The purpose of this report is to seek Council approval of a by-law to adopt optional 
tools for the purposes of administering limits for the non-residential tax classes. 

Background 
In 1998, the Province of Ontario introduced the Tax Capping program to protect 
commercial, industrial and multi-residential properties from significant property tax 
increases. This program limits or “caps” tax increases at 5% due to changes in 
property value. 
 
Capping limits landowners from paying the full amount of taxes based on the 
assessed value of the property. When properties experience a decline in property 
value, which would normally lead to a decrease in property tax, the capping 
program “claws back” from them to fund the revenue shortfall resulting from the 
capping limit placed on properties experiencing an increase in value. In other 
words, decreasing property owners fund the increasing property cap on their tax 
increases. If there is not enough room in the properties being clawed back to 
finance the capped properties, then a shortfall occurs, which is funded by general 
revenue, reserves or all other classes.  
 
The caps established are not intended to be permanent. The ultimate goal is 
eventually to have all properties at their Current Value Assessment (CVA), which 
is the fairest measure under the current property tax system. The Province has 
added additional tools to assist municipalities in reaching the objective of CVA and 
thus exiting from capping permanently. Generally, this will involve shifting the tax 
burden amount to properties within the affected property class. 

Analysis 
The City is in the process of permanently exiting capping for all tax classes and 
has already exited capping for the Multi-Residential class in 2021. This is the fourth 
year of the four-year phase-out, and the City will permanently exit capping for the 
commercial class. Staff recommends the status quo, utilizing maximum tools, 

Page 160 of 411



2025 Property Tax Capping Options 
April 29, 2025 
Page 2. 

which is the same as 2024. This will be the second year of the four-year phase-
out to permanently exit the industrial class. 

Financial Implications 
The setting of the property tax capping does not affect the levy requirement for 
2025. 

Strategic Plan / Policy Impact / Climate Impact 
This is an operational matter not articulated in the strategic plan. 

Recommendation 
It is therefore recommended that Council take the following action:  

The relevant By-law 2025-51 is listed under item 12 of the agenda and will be read 
with all by-laws under that item. 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
Lisa Petrocco, CPA, CGA 
Manager of Taxation 
705.541.7065 
l.petrocco@cityssm.on.ca 

 

Page 161 of 411

mailto:l.petrocco@cityssm.on.ca


THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF SAULT STE MARIE
TAX CAPPING OPTION - 2025

Commercial Industrial
EXIT Status Quo

Annualized Tax Limit 0% 10%
Prior Year CVA Tax Limit 0% 10%
CVA Tax Threshold - Increasers $0 $500
CVA Tax Threshold - Decreasers $0 $500
Exclude Properties Previously at CVA Tax N/A Yes
Exclude Properties that Move from Capped to Clawed Back N/A Yes
Exclude Properties that Move from Clawed Back to Capped N/A Yes
Exclude Reassessment Increase N/A N/A

Capping phase out Year 2 (1/3)

Clawback (%Claw) 0.000000% 0.335667%
Decrease Retained (%Decr) 0.000000% 99.664333%

Cost of Capping -$                     (1,349.15)$          
Clawback Amount -$                     1,349.15$           
Net Class Impact -$                     -$                     

Capped/Protected by Annualized Tax Limit 0 0
Capped/Protected by CVA Tax Limit 0 2
Tax Above CVA Tax due to Clawback 0 1
Total Subject to Capping 0 3

** Year 3 of 3 capping
EXIT Capping

Page 162 of 411



 

 

The Corporation of the 
City of Sault Ste. Marie 

 

 

April 29, 2025 

TO: Mayor Matthew Shoemaker and Members of City 
Council 

AUTHOR: Brent Lamming, Deputy CAO Community Development 
& Enterprise Services 

DEPARTMENT: Community Development and Enterprise Services 

RE: YMCA Update 

________________________________________________________________ 

Purpose 
The purpose of this report is to provide Council with an update on the YMCA, 
specifically its governance structure, CEO recruitment, YMCA Canada position, 
membership growth, and financial status. 

Background 
The Sault Ste. Marie YMCA (SSM Y) has experienced significant financial and 
operational challenges, culminating in announcing it would close in early 2024. The 
support of the City, and a community fundraising initiative resulted in the Lukenda 
Foundation purchasing the building and the City entering into a long-term lease for 
the facility. The SSM Y is a tenant of the building, providing essential programming 
to the community, including daycare support, day camp programs during the 
summer, pool programming, and related affordable health and recreation services. 

In addition, NOHFC approved a funding request in support of an essential boiler 
project for the facility. 

Analysis 
City staff continue to work very closely with the SSM Y with the goal of leading the 
organization back to prosperity. 

It should be noted that YMCA Canada (Y Canada) issued a letter dated December 
20, 2024, noting their concerns with the local SSM Y, which presented a risk to 
their charter. As a result of that letter, SSM Y has fast-tracked dealing with a 
number of concerns that Y Canada has raised. 

 Leadership 

 Finance 

 Operations 

 Governance 

Page 163 of 411



YMCA Update 
April 29, 2025 
Page 2. 
 
Y Canada and YMCA Ontario Regional Development Centre (RDC) continue to 
work with SSM Y and have communicated recently that the recent changes are on 
the right track with positive steps being taken. A monthly call continues with Y 
Canada, RDC, SSM Y and the City participating. The CEO and Chair of the Board 
of Y Canada advised that they were both pleased to see the SSM Y progress in 
the March 2025 monthly call. 

The City is also involved as a resource to monitor essential projects and building 
items that are being addressed. 

Updates from the categories of concern are listed below: 

Leadership  
The City has been advised that Northeastern Ontario YMCA (NEO Y) decided not 
to partner with the local SSM Y, and it is staff’s understanding that they need to 
focus on their current network given a number of challenges they face. Once this 
was determined, SSM Y established a hiring committee consisting of heads of 
Human Resource departments from two well-known local companies, RDC, SSM 
Y Co-Chairs, and City staff. 

A job description was updated, and a posting was issued. The salary range was 
raised from what was historically compensated to attract the skill sets required to 
guide the organization moving forward. Over 140 resumes were received. The first 
round of interviews had four individuals participate in answering behavioural-based 
questions. The CEO Search Committee held its second round of interviews on 
Thursday, April 3, 2025, and a final interview is scheduled for April 28, 2025. The 
second interview consisted of a presentation and additional questions short-listed 
to three individuals (attended by Y Canada, RDC, SSM Y Board representatives). 
A Human Resource professional from a large local employer guided the process. 

An offer of employment for the position is planned to be issued the first week of 
May 2025.  
 
Finance  

 Monthly Statements are now completed up to February 2025. 

 Auditors have been secured to complete the Audited Financial Statements as 

of March 31, 2025. 

 The Finance Committee extended the Accounting position into the summer and 

expanded the scope of work with additional deliverables, including but not 

limited to continuing with the monthly financial statements, preparing audit 

working papers, GST returns, NPO returns, assisting with the budget, 

performing a ratio analysis, and any other task that may be necessary. 

 A retired SSM Y CFO has been assisting staff who are working on a budget 

for 2025-2026 ending March 31, 2026.  The goal is to have approved budgets 

by the end of April 2025. 

Page 164 of 411



YMCA Update 
April 29, 2025 
Page 3. 
 

 On the membership growth side, SSM Y has seen positive momentum and 

currently sits at 2,957 members which is trending higher than the target of 2,400 

set for March 2025. 

Operations  

 Child Safety and Protection compliance training is underway.  A new tracking 

system has been developed. 

 Staff have launched the summer camp registration. Demand has been steady 

to date with 273 youth registered between the ages of four to twelve. 

 Staff have addressed several key building items with support from the City 

Maintenance team, Building Department, and Fire Department.  

o Design for the new workshop is underway, and a C-can has been 

secured to provide needed storage. 

o The gym floor has been repaired (completed March 2025). 

o The contract for the boiler replacement has been awarded and work is 

underway. 

Governance  

 SSM Y has been able to attract four qualified new directors based on a skills 

matrix. Two of them are employed by a local accounting firm and other two 

are from a major employer with significant operations and health and safety 

experience. The Board is currently comprised of nine members. 

 There are three sub-committees: Governance, Finance and Fundraising. 

o The Finance Sub-Committee is meeting regularly. 

o The Fundraising Sub-Committee has had three meetings and has 

launched a Yuk Yuk’s fundraiser in May and a 50/50 draw. 

 In addition, the YMCA recently received a $25,000 donation 

from the Rotary Club.  

 A Catch the Ace fundraiser is also planned. 

o The Governance Sub-Committee is planning a meeting in April. 

On the fundraising side, the amount committed to date is $630,000, with $380,000 
obtained and $202,000 to be collected over a four-year period. Efforts continue. 

On the financial side, for the year ending March 31, 2024, the SSM Y had a surplus 
of $239,268. For the 11 months ending February 2025 there is a positive 
contribution of approximately $131,410 after adding back the loss of the building 
resulting from the sale for accounting purposes. 

The Financial Statements and Business Plan were submitted to the City as part of 
the Memorandum of Understanding; however, the Business Plan was only for one 
year and varied from some prior-year projections Y Canada had prepared. 

Page 165 of 411



YMCA Update 
April 29, 2025 
Page 4. 
 
It is recommended that a new five-year plan be created with the onboarding of a 
new CEO to submit to the Board for approval and subsequently forwarded to the 
City. This would provide the City with a clear indication that the SSM Y is 
positioning itself for long-term sustainability, including: 

1. Confirmation that the SSM Y can continue to meet the day-to-day cash 
needs for operations. 

2. Identifying any shortfalls for future anticipated capital expenditures. 
3. Identifying fundraising goals that are critical to meet for annual targets. 
4. Developing a strategy with community partners and identifying funding 

sources for the capital construction and subsequent operation of a future 
new building. 

Staff will encourage SSM Y to provide an update at a future open Council meeting 
in Q2-Q3 2025 to advise the community where the SSM Y is headed in alignment 
with their renewed strategic direction. 

Financial Implications 
There is no impact to the operating budget. 

Strategic Plan / Policy Impact / Climate Impact 
This matter falls under the Quality of Life focus area of the corporate Strategic 
Plan. 

Recommendation 
It is therefore recommended that Council take the following action:  

Resolved that the report of the Deputy CAO, Community Development and 
Enterprise Services dated April 29, 2025 concerning YMCA Status Update be 
received as information. 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
Brent Lamming, PFP, CPA, CMA 
Deputy CAO 
Community Development & Enterprise Services 
705.759.5314 
b.lamming@cityssm.on.ca 
 
 

 

Page 166 of 411

mailto:b.lamming@cityssm.on.ca


        

 

The Corporation of the 
 City of Sault Ste. Marie 

C O U N C I L    R E P O R T 

 

April 28, 2025 

TO: Mayor Matthew Shoemaker and Members of City Council 

AUTHOR: Virginia McLeod, Manager of Recreation and Culture 

DEPARTMENT: Community Development and Enterprise Services 

RE: Financial Assistance for National Sports Competition  –

Youth Darts Team 

________________________________________________________________ 

Purpose 
The purpose of this report is to seek Council approval of an application under the 
Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee’s Financial Assistance Program for 
National/ International Sports Competitions. 

Background 
The Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee’s Financial Assistance Program for 
National/International Sports Competitions is a program endorsed by City Council 
to support local athletes, including teams and individuals who excel at their given 
sport on the national or international level. The program has a set of criteria by 
which applications are assessed, and specific levels of financial assistance are 
governed. City Council gives final approval of all applications. 

Analysis 
Ginette Marion submitted a financial assistance application for a youth darts team 
comprised of Danielle Parsons, Dayne Sim and David Rowlinson, who 
successfully made the Provincial Team. The youth will attend the Canadian 
National Darts Championships held May 14 to 19, 2025, in Saint Hyacinthe, 
Quebec. The Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee reviewed the application 
at their meeting on April 1, 2025, and found that it meets the criteria of the Financial 
Assistance Policy. The following resolution was passed: 
 
Resolved that the Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee endorse the 
application by dart players Danielle Parsons, Dayne Sims and David Rowlinson to 
receive assistance to attend the 2025 Canadian Youth National Darts 
Championships from May 14 to 19, 2025, in the amount of $400. 
 

Financial Implications 
The City’s Operating Budget provides an annual amount to fund the Financial 
Assistance for National/International Sports Competition Program. The budget for 
2025 is $5,000 and can accommodate the $400 request. 

Page 167 of 411



Financial Assistance for National Sports Competition Youth Darts Team 
April 28, 2025   
Page 2. 

Strategic Plan / Policy Impact / Climate Impact 
This is an operational matter not articulated in the strategic plan. 

Recommendation 
It is therefore recommended that Council take the following action:  

Resolved that the report of the Manager of Recreation and Culture dated April 28, 
2025 concerning Financial Assistance for National Sports Competition – Youth 
Darts Team be received and that a grant in the amount of $400 be approved.   

Respectfully submitted, 
 
Virginia McLeod 
Manager of Recreation and Culture 
705.759-5311 
v.mcleod@cityssm.on.ca  

 

Page 168 of 411

mailto:v.mcleod@cityssm.on.ca


        

 

The Corporation of the 
 City of Sault Ste. Marie 

C O U N C I L    R E P O R T 

 

April 29, 2025 

TO: Mayor Matthew Shoemaker and Members of City Council 

AUTHOR: Virginia McLeod, Manager of Recreation and Culture 

DEPARTMENT: Community Development and Enterprise Services 

RE: Community Garden Relocation to Esposito Park 

________________________________________________________________ 

Purpose 
The purpose of this report is to request Council approval to move the Etienne Brule 
Community Garden to City property at Esposito Park and enter into an agreement 
with Save Our Young Adults to manage the Community Garden. 

Background 
In 2015, the Canal District Community Garden opened at the Etienne Brule site, a 
new Hub Trail spoke was added, and an urban orchard was planted. An agreement 
was developed with the Algoma District School Board (ADSB). The City took 
responsibility for maintaining the above community assets as well as the 
playground and basketball courts.   
 
The Community Garden is located on ADSB property and consists of 22 individual 
4-foot by 8-foot raised garden beds separated by pathways and surrounded by a 
fence. The existing beds, which are now 10 years old, must be replaced.  
 
The previous agreement was between the City of Sault Ste. Marie, ADSB, and 
Sault Ste. Marie Police Services (SSMPS). Save Our Young Adults (SOYA) has 
stepped forward to run the community garden, and a new agreement is required.   
 

Analysis 
City staff have met to review options for relocating the garden to City-owned 
property and recommend that it be situated at the east end of Esposito Park. The 
recommendation was circulated to City Departments for additional comments. No 
concerns were raised during the circulation. Staff recommend entering into an 
agreement with SOYA to operate the Community Garden.  
 
The proposed location is 85m from the current location (diagram attached) and will 
be easily accessible by individuals caring for the garden beds. The Esposito Rink 
Shack provides access to water and winter storage for garden-related items.  In 
addition, a portable washroom is located on-site.  

Page 169 of 411



Community Garden Relocation to Esposito Park 
April 29, 2025 
Page 2. 

SOYA intends to partner with Clean North, which is involved with several 
community garden projects and will provide expertise in community gardening. To 
support operating and maintaining the garden, SOYA has many volunteers and 
skilled community partners to assist. SOYA applied to the Environmental 
Sustainability Committee for funds to rebuild the 22 garden beds, which have 
reached the end of their lifespan, build a perimeter fence to protect the garden 
beds, and purchase tools and amenities for the garden. The Environmental 
Sustainability Committee is recommending a grant in the amount of $13,492.   
 
The project will provide valuable educational opportunities, teaching community 
members about sustainable gardening practices, healthy eating, and the 
importance of environmental stewardship. Many residents, particularly those who 
may not have had the chance to learn about gardening, will gain hands-on 
experience and knowledge that can be applied in their own lives. Additionally, the 
garden will help address food insecurity by providing access to fresh, locally grown 
produce and offering healthier food options to those who may not have easy 
access. 
 
Moreover, the garden has the potential to improve safety in the area by increasing 
foot traffic and encouraging positive, community-driven activity. The presence of 
more people in the neighbourhood can deter crime and foster a sense of ownership 
and responsibility among residents.  
 

Financial Implications 
The water supply to support the community garden will be approximately $1,000 
annually and will be absorbed within the Parks Maintenance budget. 
 
The funding source to relocate the garden is recommended to come from the CDF-
Green Initiatives reserve and can be accommodated from the uncommitted 
balance. 

Strategic Plan / Policy Impact / Climate Impact 
This item supports the Corporate Strategic Plans Focus Area: 

 Infrastructure: Environment – Seek opportunities to implement sustainable 
solutions. 

 Service Delivery: Build collaborative relationships to enhance service 
delivery options. 

The project is expected to have a positive impact on both the local environment 
and community. The project promotes biodiversity, increasing local food 
production, and reducing carbon emissions through sustainable gardening 
practices.  

Recommendation 
It is therefore recommended that Council take the following action:  

Page 170 of 411



Community Garden Relocation to Esposito Park 
April 29, 2025 
Page 3. 

The relevant By-law 2025-70 is listed under item 12 of the Agenda and will be read 
with all by-laws under that item. 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
Virginia McLeod 
Manager of Recreation and Culture 
705.759-5311 
v.mcleod@cityssm.on.ca 

 

Page 171 of 411

mailto:v.mcleod@cityssm.on.ca


Etienne Brule Community Garden Relocation to Esposito Park 

Current Location  

 

Proposed Location (The existing footprint has been overlayed onto the park for information) 

 

Page 172 of 411



        

 

The Corporation of the 
 City of Sault Ste. Marie 

C O U N C I L    R E P O R T 

 

April 29, 2025 

TO: Mayor Matthew Shoemaker and Members of City Council 

AUTHOR: Virginia McLeod, Manager of Recreation and Culture 

DEPARTMENT: Community Development and Enterprise Services 

RE: Pointe des Chenes Disc Golf Course Expansion 

________________________________________________________________ 

Purpose 
The purpose of this report is to request Council approval to expand the Disc Golf 
Course at Pointe des Chenes. 

Background 
In 2016, the City of Sault Ste. Marie worked with the Kiwanis Club of Lakeshore to 
install a 12-hole beginner disc golf course in Penhorwood Park. In 2021, the City 
followed up with an intermediate-level, nine-hole course at Pointe des Chenes. 
Since installing the courses, the Sault Disc Golf Association (SDGA) has seen 
impressive growth in new and returning players. 
 
Disc golf is typically an environmentally friendly sport. Courses like Penhorwood 
Park and Pointe des Chenes weave their way through natural landscapes, around 
trees and other obstacles, through grass, fields, and the forest. Therefore, the 
impact of a disc golf course on the surrounding area is minimal. 
 
The SDGA approached the City in 2024 requesting an expansion to the Pointe des 
Chenes Disc Golf Course to 18 holes. The new holes would flow with the existing 
nine, ensuring the design would allow for a safe and smooth layout. The unique 
opportunity of using the space previously occupied by the campground has 
allowed the Sault Disc Golf Association members to develop a course layout, 
which they are confident will make Pointe des Chenes one of the most attractive 
and enjoyable courses in all of Ontario. 
 
City staff met with a member of the SDGA to walk Pointe des Chenes in the fall of 
2024.  Since the meeting, City staff and the SDGA have refined the layout and 
worked to determine funding sources. 

Analysis 
Disc golf has seen explosive growth in Sault Ste. Marie over the last seven years.  
The Sault Disc Golf Association would like to begin hosting regional tournaments.  
An 18-hole course is a minimum requirement for SDGA to be able to host C-tier 
tournaments as defined by the Professional Disc Golf Association, which is the 

Page 173 of 411



Pointe Des Chenes Disc Golf Course Expansion 
April 29, 2025 
Page 2. 

governing sports body.  Further, the expansion will have a positive economic 
impact, as it will draw players and tourists to the community to support local 
businesses, lodging, and attractions while they are in the area to play. 
 
Accessible and environmentally friendly outdoor activities such as disc golf allow 
Saultites to engage with each other and the outdoors in a way that promotes 
community health. This request aligns with the Parks and Recreation Master Plan 
Action Item PT20: Give preference to projects/amenities/initiatives, etc., that will 
increase opportunities for free, unstructured outdoor recreation.  
 
The course has been designed to take advantage of the existing layout with 
minimal impact on the former campground. If Council recommends changing how 
the space is utilized in the future, the baskets can be relocated. The proposed 
layout is attached. 
 
Sault Disc Golf Association has committed $3,000 towards the project costs and 
is applying to the Tourism Development Fund to help support the costs required to 
purchase the new baskets. In addition, SDGA will seek sponsors for each tee to 
help support the costs associated with the project. City staff can accommodate the 
installation of the baskets, prepare the tee pads, and install the required signage 
within their operating budget.   

Financial Implications 
In-kind service amounting to $3,000 from the Public Works Parks Division is being 
requested for installation. 

Strategic Plan / Policy Impact / Climate Impact 
This item supports the Corporate Strategic Plans Focus Area: 

 Quality of Life: Maintain an affordable community with exceptional four-
season recreational opportunities and invest in recreational infrastructure. 

 Infrastructure: Ensure community parks, green spaces and recreational 
needs are met.  

 Service Delivery: Build collaborative relationships to enhance service 
delivery options. 

There are no climate change impacts associated with this request. 

Recommendation 
It is therefore recommended that Council take the following action:  

Resolved that the report of the Manager of Recreation and Culture dated April 29, 
2025 concerning the Pointe des Chenes Disc Golf Course Expansion be received 
and that the course expansion from twelve to eighteen holes be approved. 

Page 174 of 411



Pointe Des Chenes Disc Golf Course Expansion 
April 29, 2025 
Page 3. 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
Virginia McLeod 
Manager of Recreation and Culture 
705.759-5311 
v.mcleod@cityssm.on.ca 

 

Page 175 of 411

mailto:v.mcleod@cityssm.on.ca


Appendix A 

 

Pointe Des Chenes Disc Golf Course  

The proposed design for the new disc golf course holes are indicated in yellow on the diagram.  Existing 

holes are numbered and shown in blue. 

Page 176 of 411



1

Rachel Tyczinski

Subject: FW: MYAC Comment - Agenda Item 7.9 

Comments on behalf of the Mayor’s Youth Advisory Council Vice Chair, Connor Bishop regarding Agenda 
item 7.9. Connor will not be able to attend the Council meeting. 
 
Agenda Item 7.9: Pointe des Chenes Disc Golf Course Expansion 
 
Disc golf is an excellent way for the youth in the community to participate in outdoor physical 
activity and enjoy the city’s amenities. Upon doing some research online, it is my understanding 
that a youth league does not currently exist at the Pointe Des Chenes Disc Golf Course or anywhere 
else in the Soo.  
 
My question is: “How can we increase participation and further incorporate the youth of Sault Ste. 
Marie into the disc golf league?”  
 
I believe that it would be beneficial for the Sault Disc Golf Association to include a youth division. 
The proposal is to expand the course in Point Des Chenes so that they would have a course that 
would meet the requirements for tournaments to be held in the Soo. In order to get the most out of 
the expansion of the Pointe Des Chenes Disc Golf Course, it would be essential for youth to get 
involved in order to keep disc golf sustainable in the future. A youth league would make the league 
less intimidating to children because they would not have to compete against adults. This would 
help increase participation/membership for the Sault Disc Golf Association. This would also make 
both leagues more competitive and fun for all participants. 
It may even be possible to propose to MYAC the idea of getting involved and maybe organizing an 
event specifically for youth to learn and play disc golf.  
 
Thank you. 
Connor Bishop (Vice Chair MYAC) 
 

Page 177 of 411



        

 

The Corporation of the 
 City of Sault Ste. Marie 

C O U N C I L    R E P O R T 

 

April 29, 2025 

TO: Mayor Matthew Shoemaker and Members of City Council 

AUTHOR: Emily Cormier 

DEPARTMENT: Community Development and Enterprise Services 

RE: Community Development Fund – Green Initiatives Program 

Applications 2025 Q1 Intake 

________________________________________________________________ 

Purpose 
The purpose of this report is to seek Council approval of recommendations from 
the Environmental Sustainability Committee for the distribution of Community 
Development Fund (CDF) – Green Initiatives Program funds. 

Background 
The purpose of the Green Initiatives Program of the Community Development 
Fund (CDF) is to support green initiatives that result in reduced greenhouse gas 
emissions (GHGs), improve water quality/rehabilitation, increase energy 
efficiency, healthy and resilient ecosystems, including habitat restoration, active 
transportation and waste reduction.  
 
The City of Sault Ste. Marie Environmental Sustainability Committee (ESC) is 
responsible for making recommendations for the allocation of funds for eligible 
projects or programs that support the City’s environmental plans and practices. 
Funding applications are reviewed by the ESC in accordance with the CDF – 
Green Initiatives Program guidelines and are accepted in four quarterly intakes 
throughout the year.  
 
Total annual funds available for all projects under the CDF – Green Initiatives 
Program in 2025 is $64,459. Note an extra $14,459 was allocated to the fund this 
year due to a $1,194 carry forward from 2021 – 2023 and $13,265 from the 2022 
Deep Energy Retrofit Project, which came in under budget. Eligible applicants 
include not-for-profit organizations, unincorporated organizations/collectives, local 
school or schools groups / committees and City departments.  

Analysis 
At the ESC meeting on Tuesday April 15, 2025, three projects received the 
following recommendations:  
 

Page 178 of 411



Community Development Fund – Green Initiatives Program Applications 2025 
Q1 Intake  
April 29, 2025 
Page 2. 

Resolved that the Environmental Sustainability Committee supports the request 
for funding from the CDF Green Initiatives Program for the Save Our Young Adults 
(SOYA) Community Garden amounts and recommends that Council approve 
$13,492 in project funding. 
 
Resolved that the Environmental Sustainability Committee supports the request 
for funding from the CDF Green Initiatives Program for the Clean North Repair 
Café Project and recommends that Council approve $4,455 in project funding.  
 
Resolved that the Environmental Sustainability Committee supports the request 
for funding from the CDF Green Initiatives Program for the ARCH Hospice LED 
Lighting Project and recommends that Council approve $5,984 in project funding.   
 
A summary of each of the recommended projects is provided below.  
 
1. Save Our Young Adults (SOYA) Community Garden Project 
The project includes moving the Étienne Brulé Community Garden from Captain 
Nichola Goddard Park to Esposito Park, rebuilding the 22 garden beds that have 
reached the end of their lifespan, and building a perimeter fence to protect the 
garden beds. Funding is sought to help pay for the new garden beds and fence, 
as well as equipment, tools, and amenities for the garden.  
 
2. Clean North Repair Café Project 
This project seeks to support the inaugural Sault Repair Café. Repair Cafés are 
an international movement that started in Amsterdam and are free meeting places 
that focus on repairing things (together)1. At a Repair Café location, fixers, tools, 
and materials will be available to help attendees make any necessary repairs. 
Repairs are usually minor and can occur on clothes, furniture, electrical 
appliances, bicycles, crockery, toys, etc. The Sault’s first Repair Café will focus on 
three repair themes: sewing/knitting/darning, bicycles, and small household 
electrical (cord, plugs, switches). The goal of the project is to promote the concept 
of repair, not replace, and divert damaged and broken items from the landfill.  
 
3. ARCH Hospice LED Lighting Project 
This project seeks to provide funding support to replace ARCH Hospice's outdated 
fluorescent fixtures with energy-efficient LEDs, reducing energy use. As a 24/7 
facility, this upgrade will enhance efficiency and sustainability.    

Financial Implications 
The 2025 Community Development Fund – Green Initiatives Fund currently has 
an uncommitted balance of $64,459 available to support the three projects in this 
report totalling $23,931, leaving $40,528 for the rest of the year.  

                                            
1 https://www.repaircafe.org/en/about/  

Page 179 of 411

https://www.repaircafe.org/en/about/


Community Development Fund – Green Initiatives Program Applications 2025 
Q1 Intake  
April 29, 2025 
Page 3. 

Strategic Plan / Policy Impact / Climate Impact 
The project recommendations support the sustainable growth value and quality 
of life and infrastructure focus areas of the Community Strategic Plan for 2024 – 
2027 by encouraging sustainable options, enhancing green spaces, investing in 
recreation, and seeking opportunities to implement sustainable solutions. 

 
In addition, the applications support actions in the Sault Ste. Marie Community 
GHG Reduction Plan: 2020 – 2030, including: 

 Encouraging the preservation of natural areas  

 Environmental Stewardship 

 Energy Efficiency  

Recommendation 
It is therefore recommended that Council take the following action:  

Resolved that the report of the Sustainability Coordinator dated April 29, 2025 
concerning Community Development Fund – Green Initiatives Program 
Applications 2025 Q1 Intake, be received and that the recommendations of the 
Environmental Sustainability Committee to support the three projects as follows be 
approved: 

1. Save Our Young Adults (SOYA) Community Garden Project $13,492; 
2. Clean North Repair Café Project $4,455; and 
3. ARCH Hospice LED Lighting Project $5,984. 

 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Emily Cormier 
Sustainability Coordinator 
705.989.8748 
e.cormier2@cityssm.on.ca 

 

Page 180 of 411

mailto:e.cormier2@cityssm.on.ca


        

 

The Corporation of the 
 City of Sault Ste. Marie 

C O U N C I L    R E P O R T 

 

April 29, 2025 

TO: Mayor Matthew Shoemaker and Members of City Council 

AUTHOR: Emily Cormier, Sustainability Coordinator 

DEPARTMENT: Community Development and Enterprise Services 

RE: Community Development Fund – Green Initiatives Program 

Applications 2025 Q1 Intake 

________________________________________________________________ 

Purpose 
The purpose of this report is to seek Councils approval for recommendations from 
the Environmental Sustainability Committee for the distribution of Community 
Development Fund (CDF) – Green Initiatives Program funds. 

Background 
The Green Initiatives Program of the Community Development Fund (CDF) 
purpose is to support green initiatives that result in reduced greenhouse gas 
emissions (GHGs), improve water quality / rehabilitation, increase energy 
efficiency, healthy and resilient ecosystems, including habitat restoration, active 
transportation and waste reduction. The City of Sault Ste. Marie’s (the City) 
Environmental Sustainability Committee (ESC) is responsible for making 
recommendations for the allocation of funds for eligible projects or programs that 
support the City’s environment plans and practices. Funding applications are 
reviewed by the ESC in accordance with the CDF – Green Initiatives Program 
guidelines and are accepted in four (4) quarterly intake throughout the year. Total 
annual funds available for all projects under the CDF – Green Initiatives Program 
in 2025 is $64,459. Note an extra $14,459 was allocated to the fund this year due 
to a $1,194 carry forward from 2021 – 2023 and $13,265 from the 2022 Deep 
Energy Retrofit Project, which came in under budget. Eligible applicants include 
not-for-profit organizations, unincorporated organizations/collectives, local school 
or schools groups / committees and City departments.  

Analysis 
At the ESC meeting on Tuesday April 15, 2025, two (2) projects received the 
following recommendations:  
 
Mover: N. Roubal 
Seconder: V. Prouse  
 

Page 181 of 411



Community Development Fund – Green Initiatives Program Applications 2025 
Q1 Intake  
April 29, 2025 
Page 2. 

Resolved that the Environmental Sustainability Committee supports the request 
for funding from the CDF Green Initiatives Program for the Clean North Repair 
Café Project and recommends that Council approve $4,455.03 in project funding.  
 
Mover: N. Roubal 
Seconder: A. Judge 
 
Resolved that the Environmental Sustainability Committee supports the request 
for funding from the CDF Green Initiatives Program for the ARCH Hospice LED 
Lighting Project and recommends that Council approve $5,984.31 in project 
funding.   
 
1. Clean North Repair Café Project 
This project seeks to support the inaugural Sault Repair Café. Repair Cafés are 
an international movement that started in Amsterdam and are free meeting 
places that focus on repairing things (together)1. At a Repair Café location, fixers, 
tools, and materials will be available to help attendees make any necessary 
repairs. Repairs are usually minor and can occur on clothes, furniture, electrical 
appliances, bicycles, crockery, appliances, toys, etc. The Sault’s first Repair Café 
will focus on three repair themes: sewing/knitting/darning, bicycles, and small 
household electrical (cord, plugs, switches). The goal of the project is to promote 
the concept of repair, not replace, and divert damaged and broken items from the 
landfill.  
 
2. ARCH Hospice LED Lighting Project 
This project seeks to provide funding support to replace ARCH Hospice's 
outdated fluorescent fixtures with energy-efficient LEDs, reducing energy use 
and addressing an inconveniently placed light switch. As a 24/7 facility, this 
upgrade will enhance efficiency and sustainability. 

Financial Implications 
The 2025 Community Development Fund – Green Initiatives Fund currently has 
an uncommitted balance of $64,459 available to support the two (2) projects in this 
report totalling $10,439.34, leaving $54,019.66 for the rest of the year.  

Strategic Plan / Policy Impact / Climate Impact 
The project recommendations support the sustainable growth value and quality 
of life and infrastructure focus areas of the Community Strategic Plan for 2024 – 
2027 by encouraging sustainable options, enhancing green spaces, investing in 
recreation, and seeking opportunities to implement sustainable solutions. 

 
In addition, the applications support actions in the Sault Ste. Marie Community 
GHG Reduction Plan: 2020 – 2030, including: 

 Encouraging the preservation of natural areas  

                                            
1 https://www.repaircafe.org/en/about/  

Page 182 of 411

https://www.repaircafe.org/en/about/


Community Development Fund – Green Initiatives Program Applications 2025 
Q1 Intake  
April 29, 2025 
Page 3. 

 Environmental Stewardship 

 Energy Efficiency  

Recommendation 
It is therefore recommended that Council take the following action:  

Resolved that the report of Emily Cormier, Sustainability Coordinator dated 
December 2, 2024, titled Community Development Fund – Green Initiatives 
Program Applications 2025 Q1 Intake, be received and that the 
recommendations of the Environmental Sustainability Committee to support the 
two (2) projects as follows be approved: 
1. Clean North Repair Café Project $4,455.03 
2. ARCH Hospice LED Lighting Project $5,984.31 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Emily Cormier 
Sustainability Coordinator 
705.989.8748 
e.cormier2@cityssm.on.ca  

Page 183 of 411

mailto:e.cormier2@cityssm.on.ca


        

 

The Corporation of the 
 City of Sault Ste. Marie 

C O U N C I L    R E P O R T 

 

April 29, 2025 

TO: Mayor Matthew Shoemaker and Members of City Council 

AUTHOR: Carl Rumiel, Director of Engineering 

DEPARTMENT: Public Works and Engineering Services 

RE: Civic Centre Cladding Replacement – Additional 

Engineering Fees 

________________________________________________________________ 

Purpose 
The purpose of this report is to request Council approval for an increase to the 
engineering fee limit with Stantec for the Civic Centre cladding replacement 
project. 

Background 
Stantec (previously Morrison Hershfield) was, and is, the lead consultant the City 
retained to complete the design and contract administration of the Civic Centre's 
cladding and window replacement. 

Analysis 
Since substantial completion, the City has experienced and reported leaks and 
other deficiencies in the Civic Centre. The City requires Stantec to continue with 
inspection and contract administration until final completion. Staff are 
recommending additional engineering fees totaling $50K be approved, bringing the 
total engineering fee limit from $566,400 to $616,400.   

Financial Implications 
The additional $50,000 in engineering fees can be accommodated from the annual 
Miscellaneous Construction Budget allocation within the operating budget. 

Strategic Plan / Policy Impact / Climate Impact 
This report is linked to the infrastructure focus area of the strategic plan.  

Recommendation 
It is therefore recommended that Council take the following action:  

Resolved that the report of the Director of Engineering dated April 29, 2025, 
concerning Civic Centre Cladding Replacement – Additional Engineering Fees be 
received and that $50,000 be added to the City’s engineering agreement with 
Stantec.  

 

Page 184 of 411



Civic Centre Cladding Replacement – Additional Engineering Fees  
April 29, 2025  
Page 2. 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
Carl Rumiel, P. Eng. 
Director of Engineering 
705.759.5379 
c.rumiel@cityssm.on.ca 
 
 

Page 185 of 411

mailto:c.rumiel@cityssm.on.ca


        

 

The Corporation of the 
 City of Sault Ste. Marie 

C O U N C I L    R E P O R T 

 

April 29, 2025 

TO: Mayor Matthew Shoemaker and Members of City Council 

AUTHOR: Melanie Borowicz-Sibenik, Assistant City Solicitor/Senior 

Litigation Counsel 

DEPARTMENT: Legal Department 

RE: Municipal Capital Facilities Exemption – 548 Albert Street 
East and 721 Wellington Street East 

________________________________________________________________ 

Purpose 
The purpose of this report is to recommend that Council authorize: 

(a) a Municipal Capital Facilities Agreement between the City and the Sault 
Ste. Marie Housing Corporation (“Housing Corp”) for the property 
located at 548 Albert Street East (“Subject Property – Administrative 
Building”); and 

(b) By-law 2025-66 pursuant to Section 110(6) of the Municipal Act, 2001 
and Section 6(1)(b) of Ontario Regulation 603/06 exempting the 
Housing Corp from taxation for municipal and school purposes for the 
lands and the municipal capital facilities contained thereon at 548 Albert 
Street East. 

(c) a Municipal Capital Facilities Agreement between the City and the 
Housing Corp for the property located at 721 Wellington Street East 
(“Subject Property – Community Resource Centre”); and 

(d) By-law 2025-64 pursuant to Section 110(6) of the Municipal Act, 2001 
and Section 6(1)(b) of Ontario Regulation 603/06 exempting the 
Housing Corp from taxation for municipal and school purposes for the 
lands and the municipal capital facilities contained thereon at 721 
Wellington Street East. 

Background 
The Housing Corp is the owner of the Subject Property – Administrative Building 
and leases same to the District of Sault Ste. Marie Social Services Administration 
Board (“DSSMSSAB”) to operate an Administrative Building to provide various 
social and health services to the public.  
 
The Housing Corp is also the owner of the Subject Property – Community 
Resource Centre and leases same to the DSSMSSAB to operate a Community 
Resource Centre in the City of Sault Ste. Marie.   
 

Page 186 of 411



Municipal Capital Facilities Exemption – 548 Albert Street East and 721 
Wellington Street East 
April 29, 2025 
Page 2. 

Both properties, 548 Albert Street East and 721 Wellington Street East (the 
“Properties”) are presently assessable for tax. The Housing Corp and DSSMSSAB 
have requested that the City enter into a Municipal Capital Facilities Agreement 
with the Housing Corp to provide relief from taxes for both properties as permitted 
in the Municipal Act, 2001 and Ontario Reg. 603/06. 

Analysis 

Pursuant to Section 110(6) of the Municipal Act, 2001, a municipality may exempt 
from all or part of the taxes levied for municipal and school purposes, land or a 
portion of it when there is a “municipal capital facility” on the land, if the following 
conditions are met: 

(a) the “Municipal Capital Facility” is subject to a Municipal Capital Facilities 
Agreement made under Section 110(1) of the Municipal Act, 2001;  

(b) the land is owned or leased by a person who has entered an agreement 
to provide facilities under subsection (1); and 

(c) the land is entirely occupied and used or intended for use for a service or 
function that may be provided by a municipality.   

Section 2 of Ontario Regulation 603//06 sets out the various classes of “municipal 
capital facilities” that may receive such exemption. Relevant to this matter is 
Section 2(1)10 which permits municipalities to enter into such Municipal Capital 
Facility Agreements for the provision of: 

10. Municipal facilities related to the provision of social and health 
services, including long-term care homes under Part IX of the Fixing 
Long-Term Care Act, 2021. 

 
The properties meet these requirements. The City’s Chief Financial Officer and 
Manager of Taxation support this request.  Furthermore, the City’s Municipal Tax 
Consultant has reviewed the request and confirms that both properties meet the 
requirements for tax exemption pursuant to the Municipal Capital Facility 
Agreement process. 
 
The Municipal Capital Facilities Agreement and related By-laws for the properties 
are therefore before Council to facilitate the tax exemption sought. 

Financial Implications 
The Subject Property – Administrative Building will not be assessable so long as 
DSSMSSAB continues to provide “social and health services” at 548 Albert Street 
East.  Furthermore, the Subject Property – Community Resource Centre will not 
be assessable so long as DSSMSSAB continues to provide “social and health 
services” at 721 Wellington Street East.  

Strategic Plan / Policy Impact / Climate Impact 
Not applicable. 

Page 187 of 411



Municipal Capital Facilities Exemption – 548 Albert Street East and 721 
Wellington Street East 
April 29, 2025 
Page 3. 

Recommendation 
It is therefore recommended that Council take the following action:  

The relevant By-laws 2025-63, 2025-64, 2025-65 and 2025-66 are listed under 
item 12 of the Agenda and will be read with all by-laws under that item. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Melanie Borowicz-Sibenik 
Assistant City Solicitor/Senior 
Litigation Council 
Legal Department 
705-759-5403 
m.borowiczsibenik@cityssm.on.ca 
 

Page 188 of 411



        

 

The Corporation of the 
 City of Sault Ste. Marie 

C O U N C I L    R E P O R T 

 

 

April 29, 2025 

TO: Mayor Matthew Shoemaker and Members of City Council 

AUTHOR: Melanie Borowicz-Sibenik, Assistant City Solicitor/Senior 

Litigation Counsel 

DEPARTMENT: Legal Department 

RE: Municipal Capital Facilities Exemption – 180 Brock Street 

________________________________________________________________ 

Purpose 
The purpose of this report is to recommend that Council authorize: 

(a) a Municipal Capital Facilities Agreement between the City and The 
Incorporated Synod of the Diocese of Algoma (the “Diocese”) for the 
property located at 180 Brock Street (“Subject Property”); and 

(b) By-law 2025-68 pursuant to Section 110(6) of the Municipal Act, 2001 
and Section 6(1)(b) of Ontario Regulation 603/06 exempting the Diocese 
from taxation for municipal and school purposes for the lands and the 
municipal capital facilities contained thereon. 

Background 
The Diocese is the owner of the Subject Property and leases same to the Sault 
Ste. Marie Police Services (“SSMPS”) to operate a Downtown Police Division to 
service the residents of Sault Ste. Marie.   
 
The Subject Property is presently assessable for tax. The Diocese and SSMPS 
have requested that the City enter into a Municipal Capital Facilities Agreement 
with the Diocese to provide relief from taxes for 180 Brock Street as permitted in 
the Municipal Act, 2001 and Ontario Reg. 603/06. 

Analysis 

Pursuant to Section 110(6) of the Municipal Act, 2001, a municipality may exempt 
from all or part of the taxes levied for municipal and school purposes, land or a 
portion of it when there is a “municipal capital facility” on the land, if the following 
conditions are met: 

(a) the “Municipal Capital Facility” is subject to a Municipal Capital Facilities 
Agreement made under Section 110(1) of the Municipal Act, 2001;  

(b) the land is owned or leased by a person who has entered an agreement 
to provide facilities under subsection (1); and 

Page 189 of 411



Municipal Capital Facilities Exemption – 180 Brock Street 
April 29, 2025 
Page 2. 

 

(c) the land is entirely occupied and used or intended for use for a service or 
function that may be provided by a municipality.   

Section 2 of Ontario Regulation 603//06 sets out the various classes of “municipal 
capital facilities” that may receive such exemption.  Relevant to this matter is 
Section 2(1)8 which permits municipalities to enter into such Municipal Capital 
Facility Agreements for the provision of: 

8. Municipal facilities related to policing, fire-fighting and by-law 
enforcement.   

 
The Subject Property meets these requirements.  The City’s Chief Financial Officer 
and Manager of Taxation support this request.  Furthermore, the City’s Municipal 
Tax Consultant has reviewed the request and confirms that the Subject Property 
meets the requirements for tax exemption pursuant to the Municipal Capital Facility 
Agreement process. 
 
The Municipal Capital Facilities Agreement and related By-law are therefore before 
Council to facilitate the tax exemption sought. 

Financial Implications 
The Subject Property will not be assessable so long as the SSMPS continues to 
provide policing for the public at the Subject Property pursuant to its lease with the 
Diocese. 

Strategic Plan / Policy Impact / Climate Impact 
Not Applicable. 

Recommendation 
It is therefore recommended that Council take the following action:  

The relevant By-laws 2025-67 and 2025-68 are listed under item 12 of the Agenda 
and will be read with all by-laws under that item. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Melanie Borowicz-Sibenik 
Assistant City Solicitor/Senior 
Litigation Council 
Legal Department 
705-759-5403 
m.borowiczsibenik@cityssm.on.ca 
 

Page 190 of 411



        

 

The Corporation of the 
 City of Sault Ste. Marie 

C O U N C I L    R E P O R T 

 

April 29, 2025 

TO: Mayor Matthew Shoemaker and Members of City Council 

AUTHOR: Jonathan Kircal, Intermediate Planner 

DEPARTMENT: Community Development and Enterprise Services 

RE: Draft Active Transportation Master Plan 

________________________________________________________________ 

Purpose 
The purpose of this report is to inform Council that staff will be holding public 
engagement sessions to present the Draft Active Transportation Master Plan 
(ATMP), and to gather final feedback. Following this, the ATMP will be submitted 
to City Council for endorsement at its June 23, 2025, meeting. 

Background 
The Sault Ste. Marie Cycling Master Plan was approved by City Council on August 
27, 2007. 
 
At its August 9, 2021 meeting, Council authorized staff to issue a Request for 
Proposals to undertake a comprehensive Active Transportation Master Plan study. 
This was subsequently awarded to WSP consulting firm. 

Analysis 
Staff, in consultation with WSP, a multinational consulting firm with expertise in 
active transportation planning and engineering, developed the draft Active 
Transportation Master Plan (ATMP). A number of in-person and online public 
engagement sessions were held to present the general policy framework and 
infrastructure network map. However, the comprehensive ATMP policy document 
has not yet been presented to the public, as it was still under development. It is 
now complete in draft form, and staff intend to conduct a final round of public 
engagement. 
 

What is an Active Transportation Master Plan? 
Active transportation refers to any form of human-powered travel that involves 
physical activity, such as walking, cycling, skateboarding, and the use of non-
electric scooters. 
 
The Draft Active Transportation Master Plan (ATMP) is a long-term strategic plan 
that outlines the goals, policies, and investments needed to enhance active 
transportation in the community. While infrastructure is a key component, the plan 

Page 191 of 411



Draft Active Transportation Master Plan 
April 29, 2025 
Page 2. 

also includes strategies to influence culture and behaviour, encouraging broader 
adoption and long-term sustainability of active transportation. 
 
Objectives of the Plan: 
Developing an Active Transportation Master Plan (ATMP) is a strategic step 
towards improving mobility, sustainability, and overall quality of life. As the City 
grows and becomes home to a more diverse population, the demand for safe, 
reliable, and accessible multi-modal transportation options will increase. A well-
connected active transportation network not only enhances mobility, but also 
strengthens the City’s appeal, making it a more attractive place for residents, 
workers, and families to call home. 
 
The four objectives of the Plan are: 
 
1. Create Connectivity: 
This objective addresses gaps in the transportation network, such as missing 
sidewalks, bike routes, pedestrian signals, and multi-use trail connections. It 
ensures seamless access to key destinations, including schools, parks, shopping 
areas, and the John Rowswell Hub Trail. 
 
2. Enhance Safety and Accessibility: 
The Plan prioritizes safe and comfortable travel for all users, regardless of their 
mode of transportation. This is achieved through features such as bike lanes, wider 
sidewalks, pedestrian crossovers, and traffic calming measures. These 
improvements create inclusive streets that promote active transportation and 
improve overall connectivity. 
 
3. Advance Transportation Equity: 
Not everyone has access to a car, and many individuals face barriers due to 
financial limitations, age, or mobility challenges. This objective ensures that all 
residents have access to safe, reliable, and inclusive transportation options by 
addressing issues such as difficult intersection crossings, missing curb cuts, and 
inadequate pedestrian infrastructure. 
 
4. Education and Encouragement: 
Promoting a culture of walking and cycling is essential to increasing active 
transportation use. This objective supports education and awareness initiatives 
such as cycling safety lessons, promotional events, and campaigns such as the 
"share-the-road" campaign. These efforts build confidence, encourage 
participation, and enhance overall transportation safety. 
 
Key Highlights of the Plan: 
 
1. Background Review 
The introductory chapters of the Draft Active Transportation Master Plan (ATMP) 
outline the extensive background research conducted by WSP to inform the 

Page 192 of 411



Draft Active Transportation Master Plan 
April 29, 2025 
Page 3. 

recommendations of the plan. This research includes a review of socio-economic 
patterns and transportation trends in the city, an assessment of existing active 
transportation infrastructure, and a jurisdictional scan of policies from 
municipalities with comparable populations and climates to Sault Ste. Marie. 
 
2. Active Transportation Network Hierarchy 
The active transportation network consists of a number of different infrastructure 
elements that are identified in the Active Transportation Network Hierarchy image 
below: 
 

 
The proposed network primarily consists of sidewalks, multi-use trails, cycling 
lanes, shared network elements, and recreational pathways. A series of maps 
have been created to show the current locations of these elements, as well as 
areas where staff and WSP recommend infrastructure expansion. 
 
It’s important to note that the ATMP is not a capital plan but rather a strategic 
roadmap that outlines a vision for the future of active transportation in the 
community. Only when the City is ready to proceed with a specific infrastructure 
project will a comprehensive technical analysis be conducted to evaluate its 
financial, technical, legal, and public-support viability. Depending on the results, 
modifications to the infrastructure and routes may be necessary. For example, if a 
road is found to have significant drainage issues that prevent the establishment of 
a cycling lane, a nearby parallel road may be considered as an alternative. Both 
the public and City Council will be kept informed of any changes.  
 
One of the more significant proposed investments in the draft ATMP is the ‘West 
End Hub Trail.’ Active transportation infrastructure is currently limited in the west 

Page 193 of 411



Draft Active Transportation Master Plan 
April 29, 2025 
Page 4. 

end of the city, and expanding the John Rowswell Hub Trail into this area is a 
priority.  
 
This proposed trail would form a second type of ‘hub’ and run along the perimeter 
of the urbanized area, utilizing corridors such as Peoples Road, Rossmore Road, 
Korah Road, the creek network owned by the Conservation Authority, and Wallace 
Terrace. A series of existing and proposed intervening bike lanes (i.e. ‘spokes’) will 
connect the community with this trail system. The City has already begun the first 
steps to develop this initiative by constructing new multi-use trail segments at the 
intersection of Peoples Road and Second Line East. 
 
Additionally, a multi-use trail between the rail line and Trunk Road running between 
the downtown area and the eastern city limit is under consideration. This trail would 
provide a continuous, uninterrupted, and safe route for active transportation users, 
allowing them to better navigate a major transportation corridor that 
accommodates significant retail and residential areas. Opportunities to address 
connectivity issues between neighbourhoods and retail establishments on either 
side of the rail line would also be explored. Staff are in preliminary discussions with 
the rail authority. This is an example of a long-term strategy due to its complexity 
and construction costs. 
 
3. Programming and Social Infrastructure 
The successful implementation of an ATMP is not just about physical 
infrastructure, it also involves fostering social infrastructure that raises awareness 
and interest in active transportation. 
 
Social infrastructure refers to the "soft touch" elements of active transportation, 
including programs, events, and community partnerships that encourage active 
transportation. Examples include regularly organized community walks or bike 
rides, open street events that temporarily close roads to cars to create space for 
pedestrians and cyclists, wayfinding maps and signage, bike valets at community 
events, “bike-to-work” initiatives, and bike shop learning sessions. 
 
A number of such activities already exist in the community due to the efforts of 
committed community members and organizations that regularly coordinate and 
host these events. This ‘social infrastructure’ is essential for creating a culture that 
views active transportation as a legitimate and desirable mode of transportation, 
integrating it into everyday life. 
 
An Active Transportation Coordinator, as discussed in more detail below, would 
help coordinate these activities, work with community organizations, and 
strengthen public engagement to raise the cultural profile of active transportation. 
 
3. Advisory Committee and AT Coordinator 
Establishing an Active Transportation Advisory Committee is recommended. 
Advisory committees are created by City Council and are composed of members 

Page 194 of 411



Draft Active Transportation Master Plan 
April 29, 2025 
Page 5. 

of the public with specialized knowledge, supported by staff and one or two 
Councillors in a non-voting capacity. These committees do not have decision-
making powers, but they can provide recommendations to Council and are often 
influential due to their knowledge. 
  
Ideally, an advisory committee would include voices from residents, cycling 
groups, accessibility advocates, and other stakeholders, including different city 
departments, helping to broaden the city’s perspective on planning and 
maintaining active transportation infrastructure. Committees also play a key role in 
institutionalizing community engagement, ensuring that active transportation 
decisions reflect the needs of users and the community as a whole. 
 
Based on successful models from other cities, advisory committees assist 
municipal staff and Council by offering recommendations on project prioritization, 
safety improvements, and funding opportunities while ensuring alignment with 
broader municipal policies and plans. The committee would also serve as a liaison 
between the City and the public, gathering feedback and advocating for active 
transportation initiatives. Additionally, advisory committees monitor progress and 
evaluate the effectiveness of implemented projects, helping to refine strategies and 
ensure that active transportation remains a priority for the municipality, and that it 
is accountable to municipal strategic plans. 
 
Establishing an Active Transportation Coordinator position has been 
recommended. The coordinator would serve as the central resource for all things 
related to active transportation. This role would include building partnerships, 
coordinating events, engaging with the public, supporting education and 
awareness campaigns, and seeking funding and grant opportunities. Further 
details will be provided when the Plan is brought forward to Council for 
endorsement. The recommendation to establish an Active Transportation 
Coordinator position will be evaluated based on corporate priorities from other 
departments when brought forward. 
 
Implementation 
Phasing and Prioritization 
The Draft Active Transportation Master Plan represents a long-term investment of 
$130 million in physical infrastructure. From this figure, $23 million is identified as 
a short to mid-term priority. $75 million is identified as longer-term investments. An 
additional $32 million is yet to be allocated in the phasing interval. Detailed phasing 
and prioritization plans are still being worked on by staff and will be thoroughly 
discussed when the draft ATMP is brought for approval. 
 
To provide flexibility, the phasing plan avoids rigid time intervals; however, there is 
still an overall phasing structure that is based on the positive impact that a project 
will have on the community, as well as how closely it meets the plan’s objectives 
of connectivity, safety, and accessibility. 
 

Page 195 of 411



Draft Active Transportation Master Plan 
April 29, 2025 
Page 6. 

Other factors, such as alignment with existing policies and plans, public support, 
and the timing of other capital projects that present bundling opportunities, also 
influence prioritization. 
 
Funding 
Although the ATMP is not a budget request, it will serve to justify future requests. 
Staff will submit a budget request to secure dedicated funding for active 
transportation infrastructure. Details on its structure are still in progress and will be 
discussed in detail when the plan is brought back to Council for final approval. 
 
Monitoring 
A monitoring plan will accompany the ATMP to evaluate its success and to track 
progress. It would ensure accountability, measure impact, justify future funding, 
build public and political support, and support long-term planning. Moreover, the 
plan would assess how well the ATMP’s implementation aligns with the Corporate 
Strategic Plan’s performance metrics, particularly those aimed at expanding 
network coverage. 
 
Next Steps 
A final round of public consultation will be held to present the latest updates to 
maps, policies, and the comprehensive ATMP document. Any necessary revisions 
based on public feedback will be incorporated. Following this, the ATMP will be 
presented by WSP to Council for formal adoption on June 23, 2025. 

Financial Implications 
This is an informational report and therefore has no financial implications.  

Strategic Plan / Policy Impact / Climate Impact 
The draft ATMP aligns with several focus areas of the City’s Corporate Strategic 
Plan 2024 – 2027. Active transportation supports economic development, quality 
of life, tourism, and environmental sustainability. It contributes to the City’s goal of 
attracting new businesses and increasing tourism spending (Focus Area 1: 
Community Development). By providing alternative modes of transportation that 
are both functional and recreational, the plan promotes sustainable forms of 
transportation while also investing in a type of recreation infrastructure (Focus Area 
2: Quality of Life). By expanding the City’s active transportation network, the ATMP 
helps to further the City's climate goals of reaching net-zero emissions by 2050 
(Focus Area 3: Infrastructure). 

Recommendation 
It is therefore recommended that Council take the following action:  

Resolved that the report of the Intermediate Planner dated April 29, 2025 
concerning the Draft Active Transportation Master Plan be received and that staff 
be directed to undertake a final round of consultation with the intent of bringing a 
final draft of the Plan to the June 23, 2025 Council meeting. 

Page 196 of 411



Draft Active Transportation Master Plan 
April 29, 2025 
Page 7. 

 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Jonathan Kircal 
Intermediate Planner 
705.759.6227 
j.kircal@cityssm.on.ca 
 

Page 197 of 411

mailto:j.kircal@cityssm.on.ca


 

  

 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan (DRAFT 15 April 2025) Page 1 

Table of  
Contents 
  

 

  

 

Soo Moves: 
Active 
Transportation 
Master Plan 

 
 

City of Sault Ste. Marie  

April 2025  
Page 198 of 411



 

  

 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan (DRAFT 15 April 2025) Page 2 

Table of  
Contents 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

City of Sault Ste. Marie  

Prepared by: 

Acknowledgements 

 
 

We acknowledge, with respect, that we are in 
Robinson-Huron Treaty territory, 

that the land on which we are gathered is the 
traditional territory of the Anishinaabe and 
known as Bawating.  

 

Bawating is the home of Garden River 

First Nation, Batchewana First Nation, the 
Historic Sault Ste. Marie Metis Council. 

 

Page 199 of 411



Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan Page i 

Table of  
Contents 

1 Introduction ..................................................................................... 1 
1.1 What is Active Transportation? ........................................................ 1 
1.2 About the Active Transportation Master Plan ................................... 1 
1.3 Benefits of Active Transportation .................................................... 2 
1.4 Defining the Vision & Objectives ..................................................... 3 
1.5 The Study Process .......................................................................... 5 

2 Active Transportation in Sault Ste. Marie .................................... 6 

2.1 Existing Policies and Initiatives ....................................................... 7 
2.2 Current Socio-Economic Patterns and Transportation Trends ....... 11 
2.3 Existing Active Transportation Network......................................... 35 

3 Engaging Sault Ste. Marie ........................................................... 37 

4 Best Practices and Their Impact ................................................. 41 
4.1 Case Studies: Comparable Municipalities and Recent Planning 

Documents ..................................................................................... 41 
4.2 Best Practices and Emerging Technologies ................................. 47 

5 Developing the Active Transportation Network ........................ 59 

5.1 Design Principles ........................................................................... 60 
5.2 Network Development Process ..................................................... 62 
5.3 West End Hub Trail ....................................................................... 66 
5.4 Recommended Active Transportation Network ............................. 68 

6 Education, Encouragement and Tourism .................................. 78 

6.1 Programming Recommendations ................................................... 79 
6.2 Implementation Summary............................................................. 100 

7 Implementation Plan .................................................................. 102 

7.1 Phasing the Network .................................................................... 103 
7.2 Costing Estimates ......................................................................... 109 
7.3 Partnerships and Funding Opportunities ....................................... 110 
7.4 Supportive Policies and Implementation Considerations .............. 113 
7.5 Operations and Maintenance ........................................................ 117 

8 Monitoring and Evaluation ........................................................ 120 

9 Funding this Plan........................................................................ 122 

10 Active Transportation Committee ............................................ 123 

11 Key Recommendations .............................................................. 126 

APPENDICES 129 

APPENDIX A: Policy Review Summary ............................................. 130 

APPENDIX B: Consultation and Engagement .................................. 138 

APPENDIX C: Costing of Facilities ..................................................... 161 

 

  

Page 200 of 411



Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan Page ii 

Table of  
Contents 

List of Figures 
Figure 1 | Study Process ................................................................................................... 5 

Figure 2 | Population Growth (Historical and Future Estimates) in Sault Ste. Marie ....... 12 

Figure 3 | Population Distribution .................................................................................... 13 

Figure 4 | Population Distribution of Youths .................................................................... 14 

Figure 5 | Access Range for Schools .............................................................................. 14 

Figure 6 | Population Distribution of Seniors ................................................................... 15 

Figure 7 | Visible Minority Population .............................................................................. 16 

Figure 8 | Distribution of Immigrant Population ............................................................... 17 

Figure 9 | Distribution of Population with a Non-English or French Mother Tongue ........ 17 

Figure 10 | Distribution of Household Income for Sault Ste. Marie (Before Tax) ............. 18 

Figure 11 | Distribution of Median Household Income by Location (After Tax)................ 19 

Figure 12 | Low-Income Measure After Tax Distribution ................................................. 20 

Figure 13 | Gini Index Distribution ................................................................................... 21 

Figure 14 | Modal Split in Sault Ste. Marie ...................................................................... 22 

Figure 15 | Forecast Traffic Growth Summary ................................................................ 27 

Figure 16 | Number of Commuters by Main Mode (2016, 2021 and 2022) ..................... 28 

Figure 17 | Distance to Parkland in Sault Ste. Marie ....................................................... 30 

Figure 18 | Current Physical Constraints of the Active Transportation Network .............. 31 

Figure 19 | Steep Land Grades in Sault Ste. Marie ......................................................... 32 

Figure 20 | 5-minute Walking and Cycling Service Areas around Sault Ste. Marie Transit 
Bus Stops…… ..................................................................................................... 33 

Figure 21 | Pedestrian and Cycling Network Coverage Analysis .................................... 34 

Figure 22 | Left: The John Rowswell Hub Trail along the waterfront, Right: Fort Creek 
Conservation Area ............................................................................................... 36 

Figure 23 | Missoula Long Range Transportation Plan Residents' Guide Total Cost 
Graphic…………………………. ........................................................................... 43 

Figure 24 | Southern Portion of Missoula’s Neighbourhood Greenway Network ............. 44 

Figure 25 | Transportation Master Plan Process ............................................................. 46 

Figure 26 | Changing Design Goals through Complete Street Design ............................ 48 

Figure 27 | The Street Element Condition Definitions for the Pedestrian ........................ 52 

Figure 28 | Example of the Complete Street Audit Tool Results ..................................... 54 

Figure 29 | Examples of e-micromobility devices ............................................................ 57 

Figure 30 | List of Route Selection Criteria Applied to Identify Candidate Active 
Transportation Routes ......................................................................................... 63 

Figure 31 | OTM Book 18 Three-Step Facility Selection Tool ......................................... 65 

Figure 32 | Proposed West End Hub Trail Extension ...................................................... 67 

Figure 33 | Proposed Urban Area Active Transportation Network Map ........................... 73 

Figure 34 | Proposed City-Wide Active Transportation Network Map ............................. 74 

Figure 35 | Proposed Urban Pedestrian Network Map .................................................... 75 

Figure 36 | Proposed City-Wide Pedestrian Network Map .............................................. 76 

Figure 37 | Phasing of the Active Transportation Network (Urban Area) ....................... 106 

Figure 38 | Phasing of the Active Transportation Network (City-Wide) ......................... 107 

Figure 39 | Examples of tactical interim interventions ................................................... 108 

Figure 40 | Example of count program data presented in a visually engaging and easily 
comprehensible manner. ................................................................................... 121 

Figure 41 | IAP2 Spectrum of Audience Involvement .................................................... 138 

Figure 42 | SOAR Model - Strengths ............................................................................. 141 

Figure 43 | SOAR Model - Opportunities ....................................................................... 142 

Figure 44 | SOAR Model - Aspirations .......................................................................... 143 

Page 201 of 411



Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan Page iii 

Table of  
Contents 

Figure 45 | SOAR Model - Results ................................................................................ 144 

Figure 46 | Commute modes among survey respondents ............................................. 150 

Figure 47 | Top Five Barriers for Walking or Using a Mobility Device ........................... 151 

Figure 48 | Main Barriers Preventing Participants from Cycling More Often ................. 152 

Figure 49 | Survey responses to "How often do you use the John Rowswell Hub 
Trail?”……….. .................................................................................................... 153 

Figure 50 | Mapping Tool with Pins ............................................................................... 156 

Figure 51 | How Likely Participants will use the Active Transportation network ............ 157 

Figure 52 | Will participants feel safer or more comfortable using the active transportation 
network?........... ................................................................................................. 157 

 

List Of Tables 

Table 1 | Summary of the Relevant Policies and Support from Local Policy Documents .. 9 

Table 2 | Average Commute Distance by Car/Truck/Van in Sault Ste. Marie under 5 km 
(%)…………… ..................................................................................................... 23 

Table 3 | Active Transportation Network Development Process ..................................... 62 

Table 4 | Desired Active Transportation Facility Widths Listed within the Proposed Active 
Transportation Network ........................................................................................ 77 

Table 5 | Summary of Programs for Phase 1: Foundations .................................... 100 

Table 6 | Summary of Programs for Phase 2: Basic Programming ........................ 101 

Table 7 | Summary of Programs for Phase 3: Advanced Programming ................. 101 

Table 8 | Proposed Partners and Roles ........................................................................ 111 

Table 9 | Potential Funding Opportunities ..................................................................... 112 

Table 10 | Asset Management Strategies Source - OTM Book 18 Update ................... 118 

Table 11 | Recommendations of the Plan ..................................................................... 126 

Table 12. Relevant Policies and Support from Local Policy Documents ....................... 132 

Table 13 | Per-Metre Cost for the Facility Types ........................................................... 161 

Table 14 | Cost Summary of Active Transportation Facilities Planned for Short-Term 
Implementation .................................................................................................. 162 

Table 15 | Cost Summary of Active Transportation Facilities Planned for Long-Term 
Implementation .................................................................................................. 163 

Table 16 | Total Implementation Cost Summary of the Active Transportation Network 164 

Page 202 of 411



Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Introduction 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan 
  
  Page ix 

List of Abbreviations 
AAA - All Ages and Abilities 

AADT - Annual Average Daily Traffic 

AODA – Accessibility for Ontarians with Disabilities Act  

AT – Active Transportation  

ATMP – Active Transportation Master Plan  

GHG – Greenhouse Gases 

GIS - Geographic Information Systems 

IAP2 - International Association of Public Participation 

LIM-AT - Low-Income Measure After Tax 

LTS - Level of Traffic Stress 

MCEA – Municipal Class Environmental Assessment  

MTO – Ontario Ministry of Transportation  

OAST – Ontario Active School Travel 

OTC – Ontario Traffic Council 

OTM – Ontario Traffic Manual  

SOAR - Strengths, Opportunities, Analysis, and Results 

STAC - Sault Trails Advocacy Committee 

TAC – Technical Advisory Committee

Page 203 of 411



Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 1. Introduction 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 1 

1 Introduction 

1.1 What is Active Transportation? 

Active transportation refers to any form of human-powered travel that involves physical activity. 
Common examples include walking, cycling, and various forms of ‘wheeling’ and ‘rolling,’ such as 
using wheelchairs and skateboards. While traditional active transportation typically involves non-
motorized means of travel, small electric-powered devices, like motor-assisted wheelchairs and e- 
micromobility devices like e-bikes and e-scooters, can also be considered active transportation, 
as they maneuver similarly, provide similar benefits, and their growing popularity makes them 
integral parts of the active transportation system.  

1.2 About the Active Transportation Master Plan 

As Sault Ste. Marie continues to grow, new residents, job opportunities, and community amenities 
will heighten the demand for reliable multi-modal mobility options. As a result, the City has 
developed an Active Transportation Master Plan (ATMP), a long-term strategic framework that 
outlines goals, policies, and projects aimed at enhancing active transportation within the 
community. An ATMP is community-driven and not prescriptive; it is a roadmap that provides 
directions on how a City can reach its ultimate goals. 

The ATMP supports the growth of physical and social infrastructure for walking, cycling, and rolling 
within the City. This means enhancing our existing active transportation infrastructure, which 
features 28 km of multi-use trails, inclusive of the John Rowswell Hub Trail,  and various cycling 
routes throughout the city, and increasing the number of pedestrian pathways, bike lanes, and 
multi-use trails that are accessible and safe for individuals of all ages and abilities. It also lays out 
policies and programs for supporting and promoting active transportation use throughout the city.  

  

 

  

An ATMP is a long-term 
strategy to guide decision 
making, budgeting and 
communications related to 
active transportation and its 
function in a multi-modal 
transportation network. 

Page 204 of 411



Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 1. Introduction 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 2 

An ATMP should not be confused with a construction plan. An ATMP outlines long-term goals, 
policies and strategies to improve active transportation, whereas a construction plan focuses on 
the technical design, engineering, timelines, budget and construction methodologies to execute 
the strategies laid out in the ATMP. A construction plan, along with some form of civic engagement 
and/or council approval, will be requisite for much of the network that is proposed in this Plan. 

The ATMP includes recommended actions to achieve the community’s overall vision for active 
transportation and provides the necessary policies and guidelines to ensure that these actions 
align with best practices. During the community engagement process, residents had opportunities 
to share their thoughts, helping to shape a plan that reflects their needs. The ATMP also includes 
an implementation strategy, identifies relevant partners, and provides an annual monitoring 
strategy and report to Council to document progress and guide implementation. 

1.3 Benefits of Active Transportation 

Active transportation and the planning of its network can bring about a multitude of benefits to the 
individuals and the community, contributing to healthier, safer, more prosperous, and more 
sustainable City. 

HEALTH & SOCIAL BENEFITS 

• Encourages people to incorporate physical activity into their day on a regular basis. 
• Regular physical activity can improve your overall health, helping prevent chronic diseases 

such as heart disease, stroke, diabetes, or cancer.  
• Getting outside and active can also lower stress levels, improve mood and mental health, and 

increase energy levels. 
• Creates opportunities for social interaction which supports a sense of community, belonging, 

and reduces feelings of loneliness. 
• Provides greater independence for a wider range of ages and abilities and for those who do not 

or wish to not drive. 
• Reduces reliance on cars and empowers people to choose from a range of mobility options that 

fits their needs.  
• These health and social benefits enhance overall quality of life. 

ENVIRONMENTAL 

• Provides an alternative method of transportation to motor vehicles which rely primarily on 
fossil fuels to operate. 

• Less motor vehicle traffic on our roads results in less congestion. 
• Improves local air quality and reduced greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and other pollutants, 

leading to healthier communities. 
• Reduces noise pollution, contributing to decreased stress levels. 

Page 205 of 411



Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 1. Introduction 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 3 

• Encourages compact land use and development and decreases the 
need large parking lots and roadways taking up land. 

• Saves green space from development. 
 

ECONOMIC 

• Cost savings for people individuals by reducing expenses related to 
vehicle ownership, gas, operation, maintenance, and parking. 

• Minimizing vehicles on the road saves the City resources it would 
spend on parking infrastructure, road maintenance, and 
healthcare, which can then be allocated to other community 
improvements. 

• Decreases wear and tear on roads leading to better road conditions 
and less need for maintenance, repair, and construction. 

• Creates a people-oriented places that improves the vitality of 
streets and supports the local economy, and increases tourism. 
 

1.4 Defining the Vision & Objectives 

1.4.1 Vision Statement 

The City’s vision statement outlines its aspirations for active transportation and the role it will play 
within the City. It was initially established from the key themes of the study’s policy review 
surrounding strategic directions and the ideal future for active transportation within Sault Ste. 
Marie. As the project progressed, the vision statement was revised based on input from City staff, 
key stakeholders, and public consultation to reflect the needs and desires of the community. The 
vision for the ATMP is:  

 

Transportation is the second 
largest source of emissions in Sault Ste. 
Marie. Decreasing the use of motor 
vehicles and increasing the use of active 
modes in Sault Ste. Marie is a critical 
action to reach the City’s goal for GHG 
reduction is net zero by 2050. 

Check out the Sault Ste. Marie 
Greenhouse Gas Reduction Plan 2020-
2030 for more information on how the 
City is tackling GHG emissions! 

Sault Ste. Marie’s active transportation network 
provides safe and accessible transportation 
options for all ages and abilities, seamlessly 
connecting key destinations while supporting 
community health and sustainability. 

Page 206 of 411



Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 1. Introduction 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 4 

1.4.2 Objectives 

To support the vision statement, a series of project objectives were established. Like the vision, 
these objectives were formed based upon the City’s existing policy directives and through a 
collaborative process with City Staff, stakeholders, and members of the public. 

 

Enhance Safety and Accessibility 

Adopting and rehabilitating mobility corridors by using complete streets and 
vision zero principles0F

1 for improved access to safer walking, rolling, and cycling 
throughout Sault Ste. Marie.  

Educating and Encouraging  

Empower residents through resources that allow them to easily adopt active 
transportation modes, demonstrating the viability, safety, and accessibility of 
sustainable transportation. 

Create Connectivity  

Enhance the active transportation network by developing safe and accessible 
routes that connect the John Rowswell Hub Trail to key downtown destinations, 
residential and employment areas, alongside transit services and spoke routes. 

Transportation Equity 

Ensure that residents of all ages, abilities, and backgrounds have safe and reliable 
transportation options, allowing them to choose any mode they prefer. 

As this Plan is implemented, the vision and objectives will serve as an accountability tool. At every 
stage of implementation, the City will assess the proposed next steps to ensure that the objectives 
laid in the Plan are being advanced. 

  

 

 

1 These approaches are further explored in Section 4.2 Best Practices and Emerging Technologies. 

Page 207 of 411



Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 1. Introduction 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 5 

1.5 The Study Process 

The Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan study was initiated in 2021. This ATMP builds on 
previous municipal, provincial, and federal planning documents such as the City’s 2015 
Transportation Master Plan and the 2007 Cycling Master Plan (further discussed in Section 2.1). 
The ATMP aims to expand on the vision and goals previously established by the City and other 
levels of government.  

Across Canada, there has been increasing support for active transportation and recreation from all 
levels of government. Federal, provincial, regional, and municipal governments are working 
together to establish policies, conduct research, develop strategies, and implement initiatives 
that promote investments and improvements in active transportation. 

WSP Canada Inc. was retained by the City of Sault Ste. Marie to prepare this Active Transportation 
Master Plan. The ATMP was developed through a multi-stage approach to grow and enhance active 
transportation within the City. The study’s approach (Figure 1) is consistent with Phase 1 and 2 of 
the Master Planning process as identified in the Municipal Class Environmental Assessment (2023). 

Background and 
Technical Review 

• Develop a Vision and Objectives (Chapter 1)  
• Review of policy and best practices (Chapter 2) 
• Develop an Engagement Strategy (Chapter 3) 

Existing 
Conditions 

Review 

• Conduct an analysis of socio-economic and travel patterns (Chapter 2)  
• Undertake a desktop review of the existing active transportation network 

(Chapter 2)  
• Stakeholder and community engagement (Chapter 3) 

Network 
Development 

• Identify candidate routes and missing links (Chapter 5)  
• Select facility types for the network (Chapter 5)  
• Gather feedback on network with community and stakeholders (Chapter 3) 

Implementation 
• Identify policy and programming recommendations (Chapter 6)  
• Phase and cost the recommended network (Chapter 7) 

Reporting 
• Develop ATMP Report 
• Develop final Council and stakeholder presentations 

Figure 1 | Study Process 

Page 208 of 411



Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 2. Active Transportation in Sault Ste. Marie 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 6 

2 Active Transportation in Sault Ste. Marie 
The City of Sault Ste. Marie ATMP aims to build on previous municipal, provincial, and federal 
planning documents to ensure that the ATMP contributes to the goals and vision previously 
established by different levels of government. 

Throughout the last decade there has been an increase in support for funding and developing more 
active communities from across levels of government.  Federal, provincial, and municipal 
governments are working together and establishing policies, research, strategies, and initiatives 
that provide support for investments and improvements for active transportation.  

One of the first steps in the process of creating the ATMP is developing an understanding of the 
plans and policies that have helped set the foundation for active transportation development, 
including those that have a direct influence on active transportation planning, design, and 
implementation in Sault Ste. Marie. The following is an overview of all plans and policies that were 
reviewed to inform the development of the ATMP.  

  

It is important that the ATMP’s vision 
aligns with the City’s existing policies 
to ensure all future decisions meet the 
City’s overall vision and reflect the 
needs of the community. As these 
documents provide significant 
guidance for the ATMP, the following 
sections summarize relevant aspects 
of these policy documents and 
highlight common themes among the 
documents that were used to develop 
the vision statements for the Plan. 

Page 209 of 411



Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 2. Active Transportation in Sault Ste. Marie 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 7 

2.1 Existing Policies and Initiatives 

2.1.1 Federal Policies and Documents 

The Government of Canada has several policies and funding programs designed to help 
municipalities transition to more sustainable modes of transportation. The federal strategies that 
promote active transportation and provide support for provincial, regional, and local initiatives 
include: 

Policy Considerations: 

• The National Active Transportation Strategy’s (2021) Active Transportation Fund provides $400 
million to help municipalities develop active transportation facilities and education/outreach 
programs. To qualify, municipalities must demonstrate that their planned projects will create 
community connections, improve user experience, assist in a modal shift, and increase equity 
across the municipal region. 

• Transport Canada’s 2024-2025 Departmental Plan (2024) and Transportation 2030: A Strategic 
Plan for Transportation in Canada (2016), which include actions for improving the safety, 
accessibility, efficiency, and environmental sustainability of Canada’s transportation systems. 
Transportation 2030 acts as the overarching blueprint for developing Canada’s transportation 
systems over the next decade and it highlights the need for a mode-shift to sustainable 
transportation methods. 

2.1.2 Provincial Policies and Documents 

The Province of Ontario has a suite of policies that support the adoption of active transportation. 
These policy documents provide guidance to local municipalities which can range from suggested 
actions to legislated requirements.  However, legislated requirements for active transportation are 
seldom used, as most documents provide suggestions, guidance and support for active 
transportation development.   

Policies Reviewed: 

• Provincial Planning Statement (2024) 
• Northern Ontario Growth Plan (2011) 
• Tour By Bike: Ontario’s Cycling Tourism Plan (2017) 
• Ontario Province-wide Cycling Network (2018) 
• Accessibility for Ontarians with Disabilities Act (2005) 
• Minimum Maintenance Standards for Municipal Highways O.Reg.239/02 (2018) 

Policy Considerations:  

• The Provincial Planning Statement (PPS) 2024 encourages the use of active transportation and 
transit across residential, employment, and institutional areas (s. 1.8.1.b) and a diverse range of 
publicly accessible recreational settings to meet the needs of all age groups and abilities (s. 
3.9.1.b). It emphasizes the creation of healthy, safe, inclusive, and complete communities by 

Page 210 of 411



Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 2. Active Transportation in Sault Ste. Marie 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 8 

incorporating multimodal transportation options to meet long-term needs and enhance 
accessibility for individuals of all ages and abilities (s. 2.1.6). It advocates for designing public 
streets, spaces, and facilities to foster social interaction and active transportation while 
ensuring safety and accommodation for everyone (s. 3.9.1.a). The PPS highlights the 
importance of connectivity within and among transportation systems and modes, including 
cross-jurisdictional connections (s. 3.2.3). It also promotes the efficient use of existing and 
planned infrastructure through transportation demand management strategies where feasible 
(s. 3.2.2). Efficient use should be made of existing and planned infrastructure, including 
through the use of transportation demand management strategies, where feasible. (Provincial 
Planning Statement, 2024 s. 3.2.2.). 

• The Northern Ontario Growth Plan (2011) supports the transition to a multi-modal 
transportation system that prioritizes enhancing connectivity between road-based, rail, 
marine and air transportation options (s. 5.3.2.d). 

• Ontario’s Cycling Tourism Plan (2017) encourages increasing collaboration between 
governments and industry partners to develop and enhance products and experiences that 
support cycling tourism (e.g. heritage trails, trail tourism programs), particularly in rural 
regions of the province. 

• The Accessibility for Ontarians with Disabilities Act (AODA) built environment guidelines and 
O.Reg.239/02 provides support for the technical and legislative requirements for improving 
accessibility within transportation systems to create an inclusive environment. 

• O. Reg. 239/02: Minimum Maintenance Standards for Municipal Highways requires 
municipalities to ensure sidewalks and bicycle lanes are safe and accessible for pedestrians 
and cyclists, even during adverse weather conditions, including during the winter. Further 
guidance on snow removal, ice, and regular maintenance is included in this Standard. 

2.1.3 Municipal Policies and Documents 

The ATMP is closely informed by policies at the municipal level. The City’s Official Plan provides the 
most guidance on future development, as it is a statutory document required under the Planning 
Act and the Provincial Policy Statement. Policies and supportive guidance that have the highest 
degree of relevance to the ATMP are referenced in Table 1.  

Policies Reviewed: 

• Official Plan (1996, currently being updated) 
• City of Sault Ste. Marie Transportation Master Plan (2015) 
• City of Sault Ste. Marie Corporate Strategic Plan 2024 – 2027 
• City of Sault Ste. Marie Cycling Master Plan (2007) 
• Sault Ste. Marie Community Greenhouse Gas Reduction Plan (2020) 
• City of Sault Ste. Marie Parks and Recreation Master Plan 2020 – 2025 (2019 and draft 2024 

update) 
 

Page 211 of 411



Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 2. Active Transportation in Sault Ste. Marie 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 9 

Table 1 | Summary of the Relevant Policies and Support from Local Policy Documents 

*Bolded ideas identify common themes among the documents 

Policy  Relevant Vision(s), Objective(s), and/or Plan Purposes 

Official Plan 

(1996, currently 
being updated) 

 

 

• Enhance the lives of all residents regardless of age or skill, through 
the provision of diverse leisure and recreational opportunities. 

• Develop a comprehensive recreational multi-use trail system. 
• Promote the value of recreation for health and quality of life 
• Eliminate access inequalities to parks and integrate the parks/open 

space system with linear recreational facilities. 
• Encourage sidewalk improvements, lighting, and street furniture and 

pedestrian and cycling access to parks, bus stops and schools. 
• Create pedestrian and cycling routes throughout the Downtown and 

along the waterfront. 
• Support alternative, energy efficient forms of transportation. 
• Consider alternative transportation modes, including pedestrians 

and cycling, in the development approval process for large-scale 
projects. 

• Build on & off-road bicycle routes and facilities 

Transportation 
Master Plan (2015) 

 

• Invest in active transportation and multimodal networks . 
• Continue with the implementation of the Cycling Master Plan and 

extension of the John Rowswell Hub Trail . 
• Build complete streets and consider road diets to meet the needs of 

all modes. 
• Provide a safe and accessible network and a safe pedestrian 

environment. 
• Continue with the implementation of traffic calming measures. 
• Ensure roads, cycling facilities and sidewalks are built for all users, 

including persons with disabilities. 
• Promote environmental sustainability, active transportation, and 

the reduction in usage of single occupant vehicles. 
• Manage travel demand by supporting non-auto travel choices . 

Corporate Strategic 
Plan 2024 – 2027 

 

 

• Ensure a healthy, sustainable, and prosperous community. 
• Be accountable, transparent, and fiscally responsible to meet the 

needs of our community. 
• Foster a safe, welcoming and inclusive community and invest in an 

improved, accessible and barrier-free transportation network. 
• Monitor, maintain, and redevelop existing infrastructure. 
• Develop an attractive and vibrant downtown core/waterfront and 

expanded active transportation network. 
• Achieve net zero emissions by 2050 through sustainable solutions. 
• Collaborate with community groups to achieve goals. 

Page 212 of 411



Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 2. Active Transportation in Sault Ste. Marie 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 10 

Policy  Relevant Vision(s), Objective(s), and/or Plan Purposes 

Cycling Master Plan 
(2007) 

 

• Improve and develop the road and trail network to provide a safe, 
convenient environment for all cyclists. 

• Develop educational programs to promote safe cycling and improve 
skills for all road and trail users. 

• Promote cycling as an inclusive, enjoyable, practical and 
sustainable alternative means of transportation and exploration 
that improves quality of life for all ages and abilities. 

• Integrate cycling into the local transportation network using best 
practices to create intuitive routes connecting key destinations. 

• Accommodate cycling routes and bicycle-friendly amenities during 
road reconstruction. 

 Community 
Greenhouse Gas 
Reduction Plan 

(2020)  

 

 

• Achieve Net Zero in Sault Ste. Marie by 2050. 
• Focus on reducing residents commuting by car to lower emissions. 
• Introduce a Climate Lens policy for all major City decisions to ensure 

City investments, policies and programs are supporting climate 
change goals. 

• Increase education and awareness about the environmental, 
economic and health benefits related to active transportation. 

• Develop and maintain bike friendly infrastructure. 
• Encourage workplace initiatives aimed at promoting active 

transportation. 
• Maintain an inventory of bike trails, and update annually. 
• Promote compact land uses. 

Parks And 
Recreation Master 

Plan 2015 – 2025 
(2019 Update) 

 

As of 2024, this plan is in the process of being updated. 

• Enhance programs and services to address gaps and meet the 
changing needs of the community. 

• Implement a network of cycling facilities. 
• Develop initiatives that support cycling. 
• Implement proactive strategies that accommodate the unique and 

growing parks and recreation needs with an emphasis on 
‘walkability’ and improved accessibility. 

• Implement strategies for providing amenities that enhance and 
enrich the lives of community members. 

 

 

Page 213 of 411



Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 2. Active Transportation in Sault Ste. Marie 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 11 

2.2 Current Socio-Economic Patterns and Transportation Trends 

To develop an active transportation network that is specific to Sault Ste. Marie, it is important to 
understand the local context, especially demographic and transportation characteristics and 
trends. This will ensure that recommendations and strategies that form the ATMP are reflective of 
the City’s Strategic Plan and meet the needs of existing and future residents who will be using the 
network. A review of the socio-demographic and transportation data was completed as part of an 
equity-focused approach to building the network. 

This section includes a series of infographics to show current demographic and travel patterns 
based on spatial data from the 2021 Statistics Canada Census, 2021 Journey to Work data, City of 
Sault Ste. Marie and Land Information Ontario. Five categories were derived to organize the spatial 
analysis work: 

• Population Profile 
• Economic Profile 
• Transportation Patterns and Future Demand 
• Physical Environment 
• Connectivity and Network Completeness 

Each of the above categories is explained in more detail within this section. 

 
  

Page 214 of 411



Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 2. Active Transportation in Sault Ste. Marie 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 12 

2.2.1 Population Profile 

Understanding population and the growth is an important 
consideration when assessing the existing conditions and the 
potential for active transportation in the City. 

The 2021 Census indicated a population of just over 72,000, 
expected to grow to 83,300 in 2036. Since then, annual population 
estimates from Statistics Canada have found a recent increase to 
over 78,574 as of June 2024, suggesting a more robust rebound 
than previously expected.  

Figure 2 presents the changes in Sault Ste. Marie’s population from 
1996 to 2022 and the expected growth to 2036. Note that the years 
of 2026 and beyond are estimates. It is expected that the majority of new growth will be directed to 
the urban areas to help maintain the existing character of the rural and natural areas (Draft Official 
Plan, 2022). 

 

Figure 2 | Population Growth (Historical and Future Estimates) in Sault Ste. Marie 
Source: 2021 Census and 2022 City of Sault Ste. Marie Draft Official Plan 

  

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

40,000

50,000

60,000

70,000

80,000

90,000

1996 2001 2006 2011 2016 2021 2026 2031 2036

WHERE IS THIS DATA FROM? 

The data used for population and economic 
profile was collected from Statistics 
Canada. Every five years, information on 
social, economic and environmental 
conditions is collected and published to help 
gain a better understanding of the 
population, resources, economy, 
environment, society and culture. 

Page 215 of 411



Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 2. Active Transportation in Sault Ste. Marie 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 13 

Population density 

The majority of the City’s population resides in the Urban Settlement Area. This area designated in 
the Draft 2022 Official Plan includes the Downtown area, which is a Strategic Core Area in the 
Growth Plan for Northern Ontario. 

75% of Sault Ste. Marie’s total land mass is Precambrian Uplands Land (lands located above the 
Precambrian Shield Line to the north City limits) or rural, including the area surrounding the Sault 
Ste. Marie Airport. There is increasing recognition and desire to preserve the characteristics of the 
rural lands and to support local agriculture and food, as noted in the Draft 2022 Official Plan. These 
lands are significant activity hubs, however only about 10% of the City’s population live in rural 
areas, with more choosing to live within the urban boundary in the last few years.  

 

  

Figure 3 | Population Distribution 

  

High density locations are primarily located closer to the 
Downtown area and generally near major parks and 
schools.  

The exception to this is the James Street Neighbourhood. 
From the recent James Street Neighbourhood Strategy 
2021-2025, it was heard that community members 
considered this neighbourhood to be physically and 
socio-physically isolated from the rest of the City despite 
the high proportion of residents in the area. 

Source: 2021 Census, City of 
Sault Ste. Marie GIS Data 

 

Page 216 of 411



Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 2. Active Transportation in Sault Ste. Marie 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 14 

Distribution by Age: Youths 

When looking at the age distribution for the City of Sault Ste. Marie, the majority of families with 
youths between the ages of 0 and 14 are located around public schools (Figure 4 and Figure 5). 

 

Figure 4 | Population Distribution of Youths 
Source: 2021 Census, City of Sault Ste. Marie GIS Data 
 

 

Figure 5 | Access Range for Schools 
Source: City of Sault Ste. Marie GIS Data 

High density of youths in the west side of the City in rural 
neighbourhoods such as Carpin Beach and Pointe des Chênes. 

The majority of the City’s urban area is within a 
2.5km radius of an elementary or secondary school. 

Page 217 of 411



Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 2. Active Transportation in Sault Ste. Marie 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 15 

Distribution by Age: Seniors 

Seniors over the age of 65 in Sault Ste. Marie are generally higher in distribution within the urban 
area of the City. 

 

Figure 6 | Population Distribution of Seniors 
Source: 2021 Census, City of Sault Ste. Marie GIS Data 

 

POPULATION DISTRIBUTION KEY TAKEAWAYS 

Areas identified as high density and with mixed land uses tend to encourage and support more 
active transportation trips due to the ability to make shorter distance trips. For example, residents 
in these locations could choose to walk to school or to local shopping areas rather than drive if 
they lived nearby to their destinations.  

Sault Ste. Marie’s population density is primarily around schools in the urban area. Improving active 
transportation options in the areas immediately surrounding a school provides families with 
youths with viable and sustainable alternatives for getting to and from school. The urban area is 
also higher in distribution of seniors, who are a key demographic group for active transportation as 
they may choose to walk and cycle as a form of low impact exercise and may also require assistive 
mobility devices and therefore additional accessibility considerations. Active transportation 
options in high density neighbourhoods like Cedar Heights should be explored for trips to and from 
key destinations and for recreational use.  

The prevalence of senior homes located in 
this area is a higher than average. 

The highest density of seniors is located in the Cedar Heights 
neighbourhood, which consists of residential subdivisions 
located near commercial malls and the Sault Area Hospital. 

Source: 2021 Census, City 
of Sault Ste. Marie GIS Data 

Page 218 of 411



Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 2. Active Transportation in Sault Ste. Marie 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 16 

Visible Minority and Immigrant Population Distribution 

Visible minority and immigrant communities may not have benefitted as much as other groups in 
terms of access to active transportation routes and connections to transit or other supportive 
infrastructure. The distribution of these population groups and their options for transportation 
within Sault Ste. Marie was reviewed as part of an equity-focused approach.  

The visible minority group captured by the 2021 Census includes following population groups: 
South Asian, Chinese, Black, Filipino, Arab, Latin American, Southeast Asian, West Asian, Korean, 
Japanese, and people of multiple visible minorities. 

 

 

 

 

Figure 7 | Visible Minority Population 

 

The distribution of immigrant communities with a high prevalence of non-English or French 
speaking populations are similarly concentrated around Second Line (Figure 8 and Figure 9). 

  

There is a higher concentration of visible minority 
populations residing in the urban area, especially in large 
residential subdivisions around public schools, such as The P 
Patch neighbourhood, or near major commercial destinations 
such as the Gateway Casino and its surrounding area.  

Source: 2021 Census, City 
of Sault Ste. Marie GIS Data 

Page 219 of 411



Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 2. Active Transportation in Sault Ste. Marie 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 17 

 

 

Figure 8 | Distribution of Immigrant Population 
Source: 2021 Census, City of Sault Ste. Marie GIS Data 
 
 

 

 Figure 9 | Distribution of Population with a Non-English or French Mother Tongue 
Source: 2021 Census, City of Sault Ste. Marie GIS Data 

 

Page 220 of 411



Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 2. Active Transportation in Sault Ste. Marie 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 18 

VISIBLE MINORITY AND IMMIGRANT POPULATION KEY TAKEAWAYS 

As marginalized communities, the takeaways from these maps provide information that could 
inform decisions on where opportunities for higher density active transportation infrastructure 
could be to improve equity and to support active transportation connections to transit. New 
immigrants may not have access to a vehicle and may rely on active transportation and transit 
connections to facilitate movement within and across the City. If English or French is not their first 
language, there may also be a language barrier to understand how to travel in the area. 

 

2.2.2 Economic Profile 

The economic profile of Sault Ste. Marie provides insight on the City’s economic vitality and 
opportunities for increased active transportation infrastructure density, such as areas where low 
to medium income households are located. Income is also a key indicator when considering equity 
in terms of access to transportation infrastructure. 

Median Household Income 

From the 2021 Census, the median household income in Sault Ste. Marie is $89,600 before tax, as 
shown in Figure 10, slightly below the Ontario median household income of $91,000. Approximately 
34% of the City’s households have an income over $100,000. The household income after tax 
distribution by location is illustrated in Figure 11. 

 

Figure 10 | Distribution of Household Income for Sault Ste. Marie (Before Tax) 
Source: 2021 Census 

Median Household Income 

Page 221 of 411



Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 2. Active Transportation in Sault Ste. Marie 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 19 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 11 | Distribution of Median Household Income by Location (After Tax) 
Source: 2021 Census, City of Sault Ste. Marie GIS Data 

  

The distribution of the highest median 
household incomes includes the following 
neighbourhoods: 

• Pointe des Chênes 

• Pointe Louise 

• Carpin Beach 

• Fort Creek 

• Cedar Heights 

• Huckson Corners 

• The P Patch; and 

• Grandview Gardens 

In comparison, the James Street 
Neighbourhood and the Downtown area have a 
median household income that is lower than 
average. 

Page 222 of 411



Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 2. Active Transportation in Sault Ste. Marie 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 20 

Lower Income Areas 

The Low-Income Measure After Tax (LIM-AT) and the Gini Index are two commonly used measures 
to identify lower income areas in local municipalities. The LIM-AT is a fixed percentage (50%) of 
median adjusted after-tax income of households observed at the person level. ‘Adjusted’ indicates 
that a household’s needs are taken into account. The households that fall under 50% are classified 
as “low-income”. The Gini Index measures income distribution across a population in which the 
index values range from 0 to 1, with 0 representing “perfect equality” and 1 representing “perfect 
inequality”. Therefore, an index value closer to 0 indicates an area with a greater proportion of 
income resources.  

 

  

Figure 12 | Low-Income Measure After Tax Distribution 
Source: 2021 Census, City of Sault Ste. Marie GIS Data 

 

Page 223 of 411



Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 2. Active Transportation in Sault Ste. Marie 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 21 

 

Figure 13 | Gini Index Distribution 
Source: 2021 Census, City of Sault Ste. Marie GIS Data 

 

ECONOMIC PROFILE KEY TAKEAWAYS 

Low to moderate-income households may have less financial flexibility to purchase and maintain a 
vehicle and may even have difficulty covering the cost of public transit fare. Active transportation 
modes, like cycling, walking and other forms, are considered low-cost transportation modes, 
making them more accessible to a wider population, especially those with limited financial 
resources. However, the availability of active transportation infrastructure is crucial for these 
modes to be viable options. Although active transportation infrastructure should be distributed 
across the City, implementing a higher density of well-connected cycling paths, pedestrian-
friendly sidewalks, and other active transportation facilities within low to medium-income 
neighbourhoods may help to address barriers and reduce transportation inequities by enhancing 
transportation options to travel in and around the City. 

 

 

Both measures highlight locations that would benefit from increased 
active transportation opportunities. As a standardized ratio, the Gini Index 
is recommended when comparing the dispersion of income across the 
entire income distribution. This measure identifies lower income 
neighbourhoods that tend to have lower auto ownership and thus would 
benefit from a denser transit, walking and cycling network.  

Page 224 of 411



Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 2. Active Transportation in Sault Ste. Marie 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 22 

2.2.3 Transportation Patterns and Future Demand 

The majority of the residents in Sault Ste. Marie from the 2021 
Census reported their main mode of transportation used to 
commute to work as driving. Approximately 91% of residents 
commute by car, truck or van, both as a driver and passenger, which 
is higher than the Provincial average of 84%. Residents of the City 
are also therefore less likely to take transit, walk or cycle as 
compared to the Ontario average for each mode. The City’s modal 
split is shown in Figure 14. 

The 2022 Draft Official Plan Background Paper noted that this may 
be due to lower overall population density, which makes it difficult 
to implement a more direct, high-frequency public transit system 
which would facilitate longer-distance trips that may not be feasible 
through walking or cycling.  

 

  

Figure 14 | Modal Split in Sault Ste. Marie 
Source: 2021 Census and 2022 Sault Ste. Marie Draft Official Plan Background Paper  

WHERE IS THIS DATA FROM? 

The data used for this section is 
from the Statistics Canada’s 
Journey to Work Survey, which is 
collected as part of the census. 
This survey focuses on how 
Canadians commute to work. This 
section references the results 
from the 2021 Survey which 
provides insight on the commute 
patterns in May 2021. At that time, 
employment was more than half a 
million below its February 2020 
level, with millions of Canadians 
continuing to work from home. 
This data presents the impacts of 
the COVID-19 pandemic on 
commuting in Sault Ste. Marie. 

 

 

Page 225 of 411



Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 2. Active Transportation in Sault Ste. Marie 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 23 

Commute Distances  

Average commuting distance for residents provide insight on the potential for shifting trips that 
are currently being made by cars to active transportation. Typically, commutes that can be 
completed by walking or cycling in under 20 to 30 minutes could be considered as potential for this 
shift. That means commutes under 2 km to 3 km can be converted to walking trips, and commutes 
under 5 km can be converted to cycling trips.  

Average commuting distance data from both 2016 and 2021 were reviewed, with an 
acknowledgment of the impacts the COVID-19 pandemic had on commuting patterns in 2021 (Table 
2). The review showed that approximately 65% (62% in 2016, 67% in 2021) of trips to work by car, 
truck or van for both drivers and passengers in Sault Ste. Marie are under 5 km, indicating the 
potential for these trips to be by active transportation modes.  

Approximately 34% (31% in 2016, 36% in 2021) of trips were under 3 km, suggesting they could 
potentially be made by walking. 

Table 2 | Average Commute Distance by Car/Truck/Van in Sault Ste. Marie under 5 km (%) 
Source: 2016, 2021 Census 

Trip Distance 2016 2021 

Trips under 1km 5.2% 7.6% 

Trips under 3km 31.4% 36.1% 

Trips under 5km 62.4% 67.0% 

 

Future Travel Demand 

The 2015 Transportation Master Plan included the development of a travel demand model using 
EMME which grew the City’s population to the year 2026 and assigned population growth to the 
anticipated growth zones. Annual Average Daily Traffic (AADT) volume maps were generated for 
future travel demand for 2022, 2032 and 2042. The summary of these results is provided in Figure 
15. The arterial and collector roads that are anticipated to have the highest proportion of traffic 
growth include: 

• Second Line 
• Great Northern Road 
• Black Road 
• Wallace Terrace 

• McNabb Street 
• Bruce Street 
• Wellington Street 
• Trunk Road

Page 226 of 411



Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 2. Active Transportation in Sault Ste. Marie 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan      Page 27 

 
Figure 15 | Forecast Traffic Growth Summary 
Source: 2015 Sault Ste. Marie Transportation Master Plan 

Page 227 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 2. Active Transportation in Sault Ste. Marie 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 28 

Impacts of COVID-19 

The 2021 Statistics Canada Census data was collected in May 2021 and revealed a decline in the 
number of commuters due to the COVID-19 pandemic. This reduction was driven by the 
unprecedented employment losses, primarily due to public health measures, as well as a shift 
towards more people working from home. The following summarizes the initial key findings 
regarding shifts in travel behaviours due to the pandemic as seen in the 2021 Census: 

• The number of Canadians commuting by car, truck or van as both a driver and a passenger 
declined by 1.7 million from the previous census to reach 11 million in May 2021. 

• The largest decrease of people commuting by car, truck or van was seen in Ontario (-20.2%); 
• There were 245,000 fewer Canadians making commutes of at least 60 minutes, compared with 

the findings in May 2016. 
• Transit ridership decreased from 2 million in 2016 to 1 million in May 2021. 
• Despite some Canadian adults and seniors reporting that they were exercising a few more 

minutes each day for recreational purposes, approximately 300,000 fewer commuters were 
using active transportation as their main mode of commuting in May 2021, compared to 2016. 

As the public health measures were relaxed, transportation trends in 2022 (Figure 16) showed that 
the number of car commuters exceeds what was seen in 2016. The number of commuters using 
transit and active transportation are still below pre-COVID-19 conditions, however the number of 
active transportation commuters has increased between 2021 to 2022. Travel trends should 
continue to be monitored for policy implications as the economy and working trends have shifted 
from this unprecedented event. 

 

Figure 16 | Number of Commuters by Main Mode (2016, 2021 and 2022) 
Source: Statistics Canada, 2022  

Page 228 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 2. Active Transportation in Sault Ste. Marie 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 29 

TRANSPORTATION PATTERNS AND FUTURE DEMAND KEY TAKEAWAYS 

The Journey to Work data from 2021 Census showed that the majority of the City’s car, truck and 
van commuters spend a relatively low amount of time commuting. Over 93% of the trips are less 
than 30 minutes, showing a potential opportunity to convert short trips to active modes and 
moderate trips to transit trips with active transportation connections.  

Shifting modes to active transportation and transit through the implementation of a connected 
and accessible active transportation network will reduce the demand along the corridors which 
have been identified as having the most growth in traffic to the year 2042. Building the 
recommended network identified in the ATMP will be consistent with Alternative 2 (A Sustainable 
Approach) and Alternative 3 (A Balanced Approach) identified in the 2015 TMP. The latter approach, 
is identified as the preferred approach in the TMP and entails active transportation and transit 
improvements along with the following road improvements: 

• Highway 17 Bypass (need and justification of which would be determined by the Ministry of 
Transportation in a separate Environmental Assessment study) 

• Black Road from McNabb Street to Third Line 
• Northern Avenue Extension to Black Road 
• Bay Street Extension under the Sault Ste. Marie International Bridge 
• Extend Sackville north to Third Line 

Data comparing the travel trends of commuters in 2016, 2021 and 2022 show that the number of 
commuters for all modes decreased primarily because of the COVID-19 pandemic, with the 
exception of cars and motorcycles which could be due to transit users choosing to drive private 
vehicles rather than shared modes. In addition to standalone walking trips, walking is also linked to 
public transit use, which partly explains the decrease between 2016 and 2021. However, the 
proportion of walking commuters reduced between 2016 and 2021 is significantly less than that of 
transit commuters.  

According to Statics Canada, although there was a decrease in the number of cycling commuters 
between 2016 and 2021, cycling is the travel mode with the least amount of decrease between 
these years (-2.1%), and the most growth between 2021 and 2022 (+57.4%).  This may reflect the 
significant investment that some municipalities have made in recent years to building separated 
cycling facilities, which are more appealing to a greater percentage of the population (i.e. all ages 
and abilities).  

These transportation trends support the concept that “if you build it, they will come” as it relates to 
investing in all ages and abilities active transportation infrastructure. 

Page 229 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 2. Active Transportation in Sault Ste. Marie 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 30 

2.2.4 Physical Environment 

The surrounding land use, including the built and natural environment, is a criteria in identifying 
opportunities for enhancing active transportation, such as considerations for different facility 
types or possible barriers to implementing candidate routes. This section shows potential 
opportunities and barriers to enhancing active transportation in the City.  

Opportunity to connect to parkland 

Active transportation facilities are often used as recreational routes. Connections to recreational 
destinations such as parks and greenspaces are highly valued. Sault Ste. Marie is served by an 
integrated system of parks, including some spaces operated by the Conservation Authority. The 
urban area is generally considered within walking distance (under 1 km or a 10 minute walk) to park 
space, as shown in Figure 17, indicating a high potential to implement active transportation routes 
in the urban area and near the airport lands in the west side of the City. 

 

 

Figure 17 | Distance to Parkland in Sault Ste. Marie 
Source: City of Sault Ste. Marie GIS Data, Land Information Ontario 

 

 

  

Page 230 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 2. Active Transportation in Sault Ste. Marie 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 31 

Barriers to Implementing Active Transportation 

Figure 18  and Figure 19 show two barriers that would affect the recommendations of this ATMP: 
physical constraints from the rail corridors and steep grades and landforms. Consideration for 
these two types of barriers should be reviewed prior to implementation to assess feasibility of 
active transportation routes. 

However, these barriers also present some opportunities. At the time of writing, preliminary 
discussions on implementing a multi-use trail along the rail corridor adjacent to Trunk Road have 
already commenced. 

  

Figure 18 | Current Physical Constraints of the Active Transportation Network 
Source: City of Sault Ste. Marie GIS Data 

Page 231 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 2. Active Transportation in Sault Ste. Marie 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 32 

 

Figure 19 | Steep Land Grades in Sault Ste. Marie 
Source: City of Sault Ste. Marie GIS Data, Land Information Ontario 

 

  

Page 232 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 2. Active Transportation in Sault Ste. Marie 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 33 

2.2.5 Connectivity and Network Completeness 

As shown in the 2021 Census data, the majority of commute trips by car/truck/van are less than 30 
minutes, indicating a potential to convert trips to active transportation or transit.  

Figure 20 shows a 5-minute walk and bike zones around the Sault Ste. Marie Transit bus stops. The 
majority of the urban area is captured within these zones. Residential areas in particular have a 
high active transportation potential and high support for creating integrated multi-modal 
connections to transit routes.  

 
Figure 20 | 5-minute Walking and Cycling Service Areas around Sault Ste. Marie Transit Bus Stops 
Source: City of Sault Ste. Marie GIS Data, Land Information Ontario 

 

Network Coverage 

A network coverage review was conducted to compare the density of the existing pedestrian and 
cycling network compared the the potential density if all the previously proposed routes from the 
2007 Cycling Master Plan were to be implemented. The maps in Figure 21 show that both the 
pedestrian network and the cycling and multi-use network are significantly more dense and 
connected with the implementation of the previously proposed routes. There is a high potential to 
increase the coverage area through the refinement of previously proposed routes as part of this 
Active Transportation Master Plan.

Page 233 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 2. Active Transportation in Sault Ste. Marie 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan      Page 34 

 

Figure 21 | Pedestrian and Cycling Network Coverage Analysis 

Pedestrian Network Density Cycling and Multi-Use Network Density 
Ex

is
ti

ng
 

Ex
is

ti
ng

 +
 P

re
vi

ou
sl

y 
Pr

op
os

ed
 

Page 234 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 2. Active Transportation in Sault Ste. Marie 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 35 

2.3 Existing Active Transportation Network 

2.3.1 Existing Pedestrian Network 

The walking experience of an individual is significantly impacted by factors such access to, 
condition of, and connectivity of a sidewalk or other pedestrian infrastructure. Building a 
pedestrian network that is safe and comfortable for people of all ages and abilities that is 
connected to where they want to go is key to a multi-modal transportation network. Whether it’s a 
trip to a transit stop or to a car, most journeys begin and end with a walk or roll. 

Sault Ste. Marie has a vast network of pedestrian routes within and outside the urban area. The 
typical pedestrian facilities found in Sault Ste. Marie include: 

• Sidewalks 
• Neighbourhood Connector Paths/Catwalks 
• Pedestrian Crossovers 
 

2.3.2 Existing Active Transportation Network 

Like walking, an individual’s comfort and ability to use a bike or another form of active 
transportation or micromobility device is influenced by their access to safe and convenient 
infrastructure. The current active transportation network passes through natural areas, the 
waterfront boardwalk, commercial areas, and green spaces.    

The typical active transportation facilities found in Sault Ste. Marie includes: 

• Paved Shoulders 
• Conventional Bicycle Lanes.  
• Multi-Use Paths  

Two key components of both the pedestrian and active transportation network are the John 
Rowswell John Rowswell Hub Trail and the Fort Creek Conservation Area trails, pictured in 
Figure 22. 

The John Rowswell Hub Trail is a vital component of the active transportation network in Sault Ste. 
Marie. It provides access to many areas of the City and links together key cultural, historical, and 
natural areas of the community. The John Rowswell Hub Trail is used for both utility and recreation 
purposes. To the north of the urban area, the Fort Creek Conservation Area offers scenic trails that 
can be enjoyed all year round – being a popular destination for hiking in the summer and 
snowshoeing in the winter. These trails are mainly used for recreation. 

Page 235 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 2. Active Transportation in Sault Ste. Marie 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 36 

 

 
Figure 22 | Left: The John Rowswell Hub Trail along the waterfront, Right: Fort Creek Conservation Area 

Page 236 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 3. Engaging Sault Ste. Marie 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 37 

3 Engaging Sault Ste. Marie 
3.1.1 Overview 

The ATMP is a community-driven plan, focusing on increasing uptake of active transportation by 
residents, strengthening political support for more people-oriented transportation options and 
establishing new partnerships with community stakeholders to support implementation. To build 
this sense of community ownership that is necessary to support a plan of this scale, there were 
several opportunities to engage in the process of developing the ATMP. The multi-faceted 
consultation effort involved internal City staff, community organizations, key stakeholders, and 
members of the public. Engagement activities included: 

• Regular meetings and consultation with internal City staff 
• Interviews and presentations with stakeholders and other community stakeholders 
• Sault Trails Advocacy Committee (STAC) workshop 
• Published Discussion Papers posted on the project website 
• Community surveys posted on the project website 
• Public Open Houses 
• Pop-up booths and tents at various community events 

These activities aimed to gain an understanding of the existing conditions of the active 
transportation network and to identify strengths, gaps, concerns, and opportunities regarding the 
network across the City. Towards the end of the ATMP development process, another round of 
consultations took place to collect feedback on the proposed network, and adjustments were 
made accordingly. 

This section provides a summary of the key themes and priorities heard through the engagements 
that were essential in informing the ATMP to reflect the community’s needs and desires. A full 
summary of engagement activities is included in Appendix B.   

  

Page 237 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 3. Engaging Sault Ste. Marie 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 38 

3.1.2 Key Themes & Priorities from Engagements 

The engagement activities provided valuable insight into key community concerns, opportunities 
and priorities of members of the public and key stakeholders that allowed the project team to tailor 
the ATMP in a way that reflects the needs and desires of those than live, work and visit Sault Ste. 
Marie. 

Based on the engagement activities conducted to date, the following themes were heard from 
stakeholders and the public. 

 

IMPROVED SAFETY  

 

Members of the public reported feeling unsafe while walking or 
riding within Sault Ste. Marie, often noted as a result of perceptions 
of an auto-centric culture, causing driver inattentiveness toward 
active transportation users, high speeds, and other undesirable 
driver behaviours. It was recognized that the safety of vulnerable 
road users needs to be prioritized to make active transportation a 
viable option for more people. This involves creating safer active 
transportation routes and facilities that are either dedicated or 
physically separated from motor vehicles, especially where there 
are high volumes of traffic, and safety enhancements at crossings 
and intersections. It also involves slower traffic speeds and greater 
education and awareness for all roadway users. Traffic calming tools 
should be considered along busy streets to help reduce traffic 
speeds and make roadways more comfortable for active 
transportation users. Prioritizing pedestrian and cyclist safety 
conveys that streets belong to everyone, not just motor vehicles. 

 
EXPANDED &  
CONTINUOUS NETWORK 

 

A significant barrier to active mobility is the insufficient pedestrian 
and cycling infrastructure available, including gaps in the existing 
network. Although driving is the dominant mode of transportation, 
community members stated that they walk and/or cycle year-round 
and expressed the need for more continuous sidewalks and cycling 
facilities to make active modes more appealing and practical. There 
is also a need for enhanced pedestrian and cycling infrastructure at 
crossings and intersections to improve the safety and comfort for 
users. Prioritizing the expansion of active transportation 
infrastructure contributes to it becoming a more viable option. 

  

Page 238 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 3. Engaging Sault Ste. Marie 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 39 

 

IMPROVED 
MAINTENANCE & 
ACCESSIBILITY 

 

Implementing the active transportation system is just the beginning; 
making sure it is useable and accessible by a wide range of people is 
crucial for the success of the network. When a facility is not well 
maintained, it becomes inaccessible for a variety of users, including 
children, those with strollers, those with physical impairments, and 
any those using any wheeled device. Stakeholders and the public 
emphasized prioritizing walkability and bikeability by addressing 
sidewalk infrastructure like potholes and cracked surfaces, as well 
as consistent maintenance. Another key concern is seasonal 
barriers to walking and cycling, which can be aided with continual 
winter clearing of active transportation facilities. Ensuring 
pathways and routes are free from obstructions and useable by 
users of all ages and abilities at all times of the year is essential. 

 

MORE AMENITIES 

 

 

Enhancing the active transportation network involves providing 
amenities that support users. Amenities that allow people to rest, 
navigate the active transportation network easily, spend more time 
along the paths, and leave their bike or other device without having 
to worry are essential. Additional bicycle parking, seating, 
wayfinding signage and washrooms were all mentioned as amenities 
needed to along active transportation facilities in Sault Ste. Marie. 
For instance, rest areas along routes, equipped with seating and 
washrooms, can accommodate various abilities and encourage 
longer use of active transportation facilities. Wayfinding also boosts 
user confidence and informs them about nearby amenities and 
destinations. 

GREATER CONNECTIONS 

 
 

Stakeholders and community members emphasized the need to 
provide more active transportation connections to key destinations. 
These routes need to be safe and comfortable for people of all ages 
and abilities. Addressing the gaps in the network and developing 
new routes that connect users to key destinations (such as tourist 
spots, places of work, schools etc.), commercial areas, public transit 
hubs, and existing trails. Increasing access to these destinations will 
attract and encourage a broader range of residents to participate in 
active travel more in their daily lives and for recreation. 

Page 239 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 3. Engaging Sault Ste. Marie 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 40 

 

JOHN ROWSWELL HUB 
TRAIL IMPROVEMENTS 

 

As the centrepiece of Sault Ste. Marie’s active transportation 
network, the existing John Rowswell Hub Trail was noted as an 
excellent asset in the active transportation system, serving the 
community very well. At the same time, there are always 
opportunities for improvement. Safer crossings at intersections, 
addressing trail gaps, enhancing wayfinding, and installing 
amenities like benches, shelters, and washrooms will enhance the 
trail user experience. Additionally, enhancing access to and 
connectivity between the hub trail, bicycle lanes, neighbourhoods, 
and key areas of the city is also critical. This is particularly important 
in areas of the city with higher proportions of equity-deserving 
communities. 

IMPLEMENTATION 
PROCESS 

 

Both stakeholders and the community acknowledged and supported 
the ambitious nature of this plan, but recognize it won’t be without 
challenges to implement. A particular concern heard is the potential 
inefficiency of the rollout process, especially given competing city 
priorities over the next two decades. To address this, coordination 
with capital works and prioritizing active transportation in the 
annual budget process is essential. Additionally, establishing an 
active transportation coordinator and committee will ensure a 
smoother deployment of the network and associated programming. 

 

 

Page 240 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 4. Best Practices and Their Impact 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 41 

4 Best Practices and Their Impact 
The field of transportation is evolving rapidly. The impacts of electrification, micromobility, 
remote work, ride-hailing and other emerging technologies are shifting the ways that communities 
imagine mobility, so it is always a worthwhile exercise to take stock of what emerging trends 
should be accounted for when developing a new Plan for the long term, such as this ATMP. In the 
process of developing the Sault Ste. Marie ATMP, the project team reviewed information coming 
from jurisdictions around North America and beyond as mobility patterns shift and evolve. While it 
is impossible to predict the next disruptive technology that could emerge in the mobility field, it is 
possible to develop a Plan that is future-ready and resilient to potential ‘shocks’ to the mobility 
landscape. The goal of this Plan is to continuously learn from what others have done, track overall 
trends and patterns, and center decision-making on core principles in the form of the Vision and 
Objectives for the ATMP.  

To develop this Active Transportation Master Plan, the project team reviewed recently developed 
transportation and active transportation planning documents from comparable communities, and 
also created a summary of emerging trends and best practices that should be considered as the 
project moves forward. 

4.1 Case Studies: Comparable Municipalities and Recent 
Planning Documents  

Communities across North America are taking steps towards becoming better places to walk, bike 
and roll, and the first step in that journey is often the development of a Master Planning document 
such as an ATMP. When developing the ATMP for Sault Ste. Marie, it is beneficial to consider how 
comparable municipalities to Sault Ste. Marie have developed their own Master Planning 
documents, and what lessons can be learned from those plans as this ATMP moves forward. 

Understanding how best 
practices and emerging trends fit 
into the overall Vision and 
Objectives of this Plan, and into 
the City’s existing planning 
documents, helps to create a 
Future Ready ATMP that is 
resilient to future disruptions. 

Page 241 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 4. Best Practices and Their Impact 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 42 

In identifying Case Study communities, the municipalities were considered that: 

• Have a similar, four-seasons climate with cold winters. 
• Are of a similar scale in terms of population and geography. 
• Function as a Regional hub for commercial activities. 

Based on these criteria, the project team identified and reviewed recent transportation planning 
documents from the City of Peterborough and the City of Greater Sudbury in Ontario, and the City 
of Missoula, Montana as an international example. A summary of the key findings can be found 
below. 

4.1.1 Peterborough, Ontario, Canada 

In 2021, the City of Peterborough completed its first Cycling Master  
Plan. The City has seen rapid growth in rates of cycling since 2001, 
and developed a plan with the following Vision Statement: 

“Peterborough is a leader in cycling with a safe, connected 
and accessible network that serves all ages and abilities by 
2041. Cycling for transportation and recreation contributes 
to a thriving, healthy and resilient community and supports 
the City’s sustainability and climate change goals.” 

The Plan was developed using an iterative process, which:  

• Identified existing conditions. 
• Engaged with the community. 
• Established a Vision and Goals for the project. 
• Identified new policies and programming ideas. 
• Created network development and design guidance. 

All of these elements were included in the final Cycling Master Plan document.  

Peterborough’s plan identified an “Accelerate-Spark” investment scenario, which outlines a series 
of goals to move Peterborough towards the Plan’s Vision.  The Goals for the Plan include: 

• Create an Irresistible Network by upgrading existing facilities, developing a Crosstown 
Network that includes priorities for implementation in the near term and identifying the 
Ultimate Cycling Network for implementation in the long term. 

• Encourage Year-Round Riding by establishing a Priority Winter Cycling Network, considering 
snow storage and clearing in the development of new designs and supporting programming to 
encourage year-round riding. 

• Pursue Design Excellence by planning for and designing all-ages and abilities facilities, 
including separated cycle tracks and local street bikeways. 

• Build a Cycling Culture by expanding supports for programs to support cycling. 
• Go For Gold to establish the City as a cycling leader in Ontario and North America. 

Page 242 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 4. Best Practices and Their Impact 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 43 

4.1.2 Missoula, Montana, United States 

The City of Missoula, Montana’s Bicycle Facilities Master Plan (BFMP) (2016) is guided by the 
recommendations in the Long-Range Transportation Plan (LRTP), so both of these documents 
were reviewed. The LRTP identifies: 

• Community Values & Existing Conditions 
• Project Goals & Evaluation Framework 
• Call for Projects & Project Prioritization 
• Project Prioritization & Scenario Development 
• Recommended Scenario & Implementation Plan 
• Draft & Final Long-Range Transportation Plan 

Of particular note, the LRTP also included a Residents’ Guide which provides a short summary of 
the Plan in plain language for residents. While the full report was seventy-five pages, the 
Residents’ Guide was four pages. The Residents’ Guide relied heavily on graphics to summarize 
information in a way that was easy to understand, as shown in Figure 23. 

 
Figure 23 | Missoula Long Range Transportation Plan Residents' Guide Total Cost Graphic 

Missoula’s BFMP explores the community benefits of cycling, identified the design users for 
improvements and aligns recommendations with those foundational elements. It identified ‘low 
hanging fruit’ projects that can be completed in the immediate term with low levels of investment, 
such as implementing painted bike lanes that only require striping, the neighbourhood greenway 
network, and wayfinding. It also highlighted where resurfacing projects could be connected to 
implementation of the network and identifies some of the visionary projects that are meant to 
build excitement and ridership in the city.  

  

Page 243 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 4. Best Practices and Their Impact 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 44 

The BFMP also analyzed the existing Level of Traffic Stress (LTS) to determine priority projects to 
create a high-comfort network across the City. LTS Scores align with the following descriptions: 

• LTS 1: Low-stress roadway suitable for all ages and abilities 
• LTS 2: Roadway comfortably ridden by the mainstream adult population 
• LTS 3: Roadway ridden by “enthused and confident” bicyclists 
• LTS 4: Roadway only ridden by the “strong and fearless” bicyclists 

The scores were used to develop a map of LTS 1 roadways and trails to determine the gaps in the 
low-stress network. The low-stress roads were used to develop a Neighbourhood Greenway 
network (illustrated in Figure 24). Neighbourhood Greenways are streets with low traffic volumes 
and speeds that use signs, pavement markings, and speed and volume management measures to 
discourage motor vehicles from making through trips. Many of the local streets had basic 
components needed for safe bicycling and pedestrian use and could be inexpensively enhanced. 
The Neighbourhood Greenways were used to create a complete network throughout most of the 
city when combined with existing bicycle infrastructure. 

 

Figure 24 | Southern Portion of Missoula’s Neighbourhood Greenway Network 
Source: Missoula Bicycle Facilities Master Plan, 2016 
 

Page 244 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 4. Best Practices and Their Impact 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 45 

4.1.3 Greater Sudbury, Ontario, Canada 

The Greater Sudbury Transportation Study Report was developed as an update to the 2005 
Transportation Master Plan and proposed policies under a “complete streets” framework. The 
Study included recommendations for improving walking and cycling within the City in a holistic 
fashion, including investments alongside strategic efforts to improve the movement of transit 
vehicles as well as enhance conditions for goods movement. 

The study process for developing the preferred active transportation network included significant 
public engagement and consultation activities and frequent consultation with citizen groups in the 
city, including the Sustainable Mobility Advisory Panel, Bicycle Advisory Panel, and Sudbury Cyclist 
Union. The Sustainable Mobility Advisory Panel was an advisory panel established by the city and 
was frequent advisor throughout the study process, providing background information and 
feedback throughout the study process. The overall study was divided into three main phases and 
included public consultation at each phase, as shown in Figure 25. The development of the active 
transportation components of the plan are listed under each of the three main phases. The key 
steps for the development of the recommended active transportation network were: 

1. Collection and Assembly of Background Information 
2. Review of Consolidated Base Mapping with Sustainable Mobility Advisory Panel Committee 
3. Development of Route Selection Principles 
4. Preparation of Candidate Routes Mapping 
5. Public Input to the Candidate Network and Route Selection Principles 
6. Field Review and Assessment of Candidate Routes and Preparation of Draft Route Network 
7. Identification of Appropriate Facility Types 
8. Review of Input on the Draft Route Network and Recommendation of the Final Route Network 
9. Preparation and Implementation Plan 

The Sustainable Mobility Advisory Panel provided input throughout the key steps listed above. They 
provided base information on existing or previously proposed active transportation facilities in the 
first step and reviewed base mapping in the second step. They reviewed the draft route network in 
the sixth step and provided comments on facility types in the seventh step. The panel was further 
engaged during the eighth step to discuss the draft route network, facility types, and 
implementation priorities. The Sustainable Mobility Advisory Panel was a citizen group that 
provided key input and feedback throughout the active transportation network development 
process. 

Page 245 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 4. Best Practices and Their Impact 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 46 

 

Figure 25 | Transportation Master Plan Process 
Source: City of Greater Sudbury Transportation Study Report, 2016 

  

Page 246 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 4. Best Practices and Their Impact 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 47 

4.1.4 Best Practices Summary 

Through the Best Practices review, some of the key takeaways were incorporated into this ATMP 
process include: 

• Engage local stakeholders and organizations early in the development of the Plan to 
strengthen the project team’s understanding of the existing conditions of the City. 

• Take engagement to residents in places they are already gathering rather than expecting 
residents to come to you. This could include online or in-person engagements, leveraging 
existing networks or events. 

• Create Plans for All-Ages and Abilities facilities that both improve upon existing facilities and 
create new route options, including through the inclusion of Neighbourhood Greenways on 
existing residential streets. 

• Create report materials that are in plain language, which could include a project summary or 
user guide to help community members understand the Plan in ‘broad strokes’ even if they 
don’t have the time to read and digest the full document. 

• Ensure that maps are easy to read and show the vision for the Plan. Maps can communicate a 
significant amount of information, and should be prioritized within the Plan document for 
legibility and ease of understanding. 

4.2 Best Practices and Emerging Technologies  

Transportation planning is dynamic and needs to be flexible and adaptable to future trends. This 
section provides an overview of some of these key considerations for the City. 

4.2.1 Complete Streets Approach 

Streets are interconnected together to build a network system that allow physical movement, 
connecting people to different areas and destinations within the City. City streets are important 
public spaces that provide various social and recreational uses. Well-designed streets shape the 
urban fabric and image of a city with its own identity, economic function, and social importance.  

In shifting away from streets that prioritize only motor traffic and movement, the Complete 
Streets approach is designed to balance the needs of all road users, including people who cycle, 
walk, take transit, and drive on that roadway. This approach creates a safe and welcoming 
environment for all ages, abilities, and mode of travel.  

The Complete Streets concept is closely related to the Safe Systems and Vision Zero approaches 
on road safety. It aims to design a transportation system that anticipates human error and 
accommodates human injury tolerance with the ultimate goal of eliminating death or serious injury 
on roadways. 

There is no singular solution to implement the Complete Street concept. Every street is different 
with its own defining elements and characters, in considering the street’s location, context, and 
role within the transportation system. While it may not be appropriate to accommodate every type 

Page 247 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 4. Best Practices and Their Impact 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 48 

of user on the street, the overall objective is to create a well-functioning street network that 
provides road safety, accessibility, and diverse activities and uses. 

 

Figure 26 | Changing Design Goals through Complete Street Design 
Source: City of Toronto Complete Streets Guidelines 

 
The following approach guided the design to incorporate complete streets to new and existing 
streets in Sault Ste. Marie. 

 

Consider the Street 
Context 

Where is it located? Who are the main users of this street?  

Is the street designed for access or movement? 

Every street is designed differently to align with its land-use context, 
function, and environment. A residential local road has different 
design features compared to a rural collector.  

 

Create attractive, 
vibrant places 

Attractive and vibrant streets that support pedestrian access create 
a strong sense of place and identity. Designing the streets with 
appealing streetscaping and multiple functions encourage 
pedestrian movement and future visits.  

Page 248 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 4. Best Practices and Their Impact 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 49 

 

Prioritize transit and 
active transportation 

A street with high mobility is directly linked to the provision and 
convenient access to transit and active transportation 
infrastructure. Enhancing pedestrian and cyclists with comfortable, 
safe, and accessible routes and facilities will discourage the use of 
private vehicles.  

 

Provide safe and 
accessible options 

Complete Streets aims to improve safety and accessibility for transit 
users, pedestrians, and cyclists, so they may feel as an equal part of 
the roadway design. A sense of safety and ease of access increase 
the desire to walk leisurely along the street. 

 

Prioritize connectivity 

New streets should not be isolated from the rest of the road network. 
The City’s roads must be cohesive and well-connected to other roads 
to encourage new active transportation users. It is important to 
provide active transportation infrastructure and facilities along 
streets with many connections to retail, community spaces, and 
green space. 

 

Consider cost 
effectiveness 

The environmental, social, and economic benefits and costs should 
be considered in designing a Complete Street. Consider the direct 
and indirect costs of construction, operation, and maintenance. 
Designing the street with long-term use can reduce the number of 
retrofit projects needed in the future. 

 

Typologies 

When discussing Complete Streets, the term “Typology” refers to a set of streets that have a 
similar function and set of objectives. Some streets will prioritize mobility, creating more 
separation between different road users, limiting access to the roadway and focusing on moving 
people from A to B efficiently. Other roadways prioritize placemaking, putting an emphasis on the 
pedestrian realm, providing space for amenities such as patios, seating areas or parklets to create 
an attractive public space that draws people to it. Regardless of the typology, it is important to 
have a clear set of objectives for the function of the street so that trade-offs can be evaluated in a 
consistent and measurable fashion. Below are a set of seven common typologies that could be 
considered for Sault Ste. Marie, all of which can be evaluated and adapted to fit the local context 
and community interest. Examples of local streets are also included.  

Page 249 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 4. Best Practices and Their Impact 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 50 

 

Urban Avenues   

Urban avenues are vibrant pedestrian-oriented 
streets that provide a high amount of people-
movement capacity, located in urban areas of 
the City. 

Example: Bay Street 

 

Main Streets  

Main streets are placemaking-oriented streets, 
and include historic main streets found in urban 
parts of the city. They are pedestrian-oriented 
with slow motor vehicle speeds and small–or 
medium-scale mixed-use buildings. 

Example: Queen Street 

 

Transitioning Avenues  

Transitioning avenues are mobility-oriented 
streets that extend across urban areas of the 
city. They are high-traffic streets and often 
important goods movement corridors. 

Example: Trunk Road 

 

 

Connectors  

Connectors serve to link neighbourhood streets 
with Urban Avenues and Transitioning Avenues. 
They accommodate moderate volumes of vehicle 
traffic in a lower speed environment.   

Example: Pine Street 

 

Page 250 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 4. Best Practices and Their Impact 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 51 

 

Industrial Streets  

Industrial streets provide direct land access to 
industrial and commercial employment areas. 
They are found in industrial areas of the city and 
may accommodate significant truck traffic.  

Example: Industrial Park Crescent 

 

Neighbourhood Streets  

Neighbourhood streets provide direct access to 
residential dwellings. They are low-volume and 
low-speed streets that are not intended to serve 
a through traffic function for motor vehicle 
traffic.  

Example: Biggings Avenue  

 

Rural Roads  

Rural roads are mobility-oriented streets within 
agricultural, natural, or industrial areas of the 
city. They provide a high motor vehicle capacity 
and may be important goods movement 
corridors. 

Example: Fourth Line 

 

  

Page 251 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 4. Best Practices and Their Impact 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 52 

Complete Streets Audit Tool 

A Complete Streets Audit Tool evaluates how the existing or proposed street segment achieves, 
exceeds, or fails to provide Complete Street elements. It is an interactive tool to select appropriate 
typology, assess current or proposed street conditions, and evaluate complete street elements 
based on the desired conditions. It provides an important decision-making tool and accountability 
tool to demonstrate how Complete Streets principles are being integrated into the City’s 
transportation projects. The audit tool is coupled with the pedestrian realm Street Element 
Condition Definitions matrix from the City of Hamilton Complete Streets Design Manual (2022) 
(Figure 27). These definitions describe the relevant desired conditions per typology and to audit an 
existing street. Ratings for each element are graded from 1 to 5. The rating reflects the level of 
accommodation or level of service for that street element.  

 
Figure 27 | The Street Element Condition Definitions for the Pedestrian 
Source: City of Hamilton Complete Streets Design Manual (2022) 

 

Page 252 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 4. Best Practices and Their Impact 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 53 

The following is an example of the four-step process for evaluating existing and proposed streets: 

Steps Example 

Step 1: Input Data  

Users provide information about the 
street being reviewed to inform the 
selection of the typology. Input data can 
include the street name, location, 
functional classification, land use 
context, right of way width, traffic 
volumes, and posted speed limits. 

 
Street name: Any Street  
Location: Neighbourhood 
Functional classification: Local  
Context: Urban  
Right-of-way: 25m  
Traffic volume: 4,000 ADT 
Posted Speed Limit: 40km/h 
 

Step 2: Select Typology  

Select the preferred typology based on 
the information in Step 1.  Once the 
typology is selected, the tool will 
automatically populate the Desired 
Roadway Conditions for each Complete 
Street element for that typology. 

Select the type of typology: 

Urban Avenue, Transitioning Avenue, Main Street, 
Connector, Industrial Street, Neighbourhood Street, or 
Rural Road 

Step 3: Assess Current/Proposed 
Street Conditions  

Refer to the Street Element Condition 
Definitions for definition of condition 
values for each street element and 
assign a score based on the current or 
proposed future conditions. 

 
Pedestrian realm: 2 
Cycling facilities: 1 
Transit facilities: 1 
Through movement: 4 
On-street parking: 2 
Green infrastructure: 2 
 

Step 4: Review Results  

Look at the results, with an example 
shown in Figure 28. 

Priorities are balanced if all the street elements are 
marked within the shaded area. The desired condition is 
auto populated once the typology is selected in Step 2. If 
some street conditions exceed priorities, consider 
reallocating street space to improve conditions that do 
not meet the priorities. Return to Step 3 and adjust. 

 

Page 253 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 4. Best Practices and Their Impact 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 54 

 

Figure 28 | Example of the Complete Street Audit Tool Results 

4.2.2 Vision Zero 

The Vision Zero program was initiated by the Swedish government to eliminate death and serious 
road injuries. It has a simple and clear goal to have zero fatalities or serious injuries on roadways, 
creating the conditions where no loss of life is seen as an acceptable trade-off for mobility. Vision 
Zero assumes that human error is a natural part of the road safety equation, shifting the burden of 
responsibility from individual road users to those who design and build the road systems. Although 
drivers and humans make mistakes, this approach recognizes that road deaths and injuries can be 
prevented through education, enforcement, engineering, evaluation, and engagement.  

Page 254 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 4. Best Practices and Their Impact 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 55 

Traditional Approach   

• Deaths are inevitable  
• Focus on overall collision rates  
• Human error identified as the cause of 

collisions  
• Focus on perfecting human behavior on an 

imperfect road system 
• Safety initiatives are costly 
• Individual road users are responsible 

Vision Zero Approach  

• Deaths are preventable  
• Focus on fatalities and serious injuries 
• Flaws in the transportation system 

identified as the cause of collisions  
• Focus on designing a road system that 

accounts for human error  
• Safety initiatives reduce societal costs 
• Road users and system designers have 

shared responsibility  

When instituting a Vision Zero approach, close collaboration between system designers and 
government decision-makers are required since this approach requires a foundational shift in the 
understanding of road safety. Vision Zero is a continuous process to create safe roads through 
engineering changes, new policies, interim safety treatments and educational strategies. 
Monitoring and evaluation of performance is also essential to assess the conditions of the applied 
treatments or improved designs.  

Vision Zero uses a data-driven and targeted approach to focus on locations that need geometric 
improvements. This approach recognizes the disproportionate harm caused by our current 
transportation system to vulnerable users of the road, such as pedestrians, cyclists, children, older 
adults, and persons with disabilities and takes deliberate action to improve their safety. Streets 
with enhanced safety that are designed to be pedestrian- or bicycle-friendly will support active 
transportation and increased mobility while also improving safety for all road users, including 
drivers. As roads begin to feel safer for these vulnerable users, more people feel comfortable using 
them for transportation and recreation, creating more vibrant public spaces and further reducing 
the burden placed on these groups. 

4.2.3 Transportation Equity 

The transportation system has not been designed in a value-neutral way and underprivileged and 
marginalized communities have been neglected by implicit and explicit bias in the transportation 
planning process. Transportation inequities can apply to many groups of the population and some 
examples are:  

• Women: Many women report being afraid of being harassed in public spaces. Women who are 
caregivers walk and take public transit more often.   

• Marginalized groups: Historically marginalized communities, including Indigenous peoples, 
that have often been left out of decision-making and may face disproportionate impacts from 
transportation policies and infrastructure. 

• Low-income Households: These households have less financial ability to purchase and 
maintain a vehicle and may even have difficulty covering the cost of public transit.  

Page 255 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 4. Best Practices and Their Impact 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 56 

• Older Adults: May struggle with walking up hills and across long intersection crossings, and 
may also find themselves with reduced mobility choice as they age and are unable to continue 
to drive. 

• Persons with Disabilities: They are disproportionately impacted by transportation amenities 
that are solely designed for able-bodied persons, such as sidewalks without curb cuts, a bus 
stop without accessible boarding or trails that are not maintained in the winter. 

• Language Challenged Populations: English or French may not be their first language, and this 
could create a language barrier to obtain and understand travel information. 

• People Walking and Cycling: Pedestrians and cyclists are disproportionately represented 
among traffic deaths. Data indicates an increase in severity of collisions with the growing 
popularity of taller and heavier vehicles (e.g., SUVs and pickup trucks). 

The best practices in addressing transportation inequities are summarized below: 

 

Start by defining equity and embedding it into policy goals 

• Define and identify ‘equity-deserving communities’  
• Embed equity into transportation capital budgeting process 
• Include equity strategies in road safety  
• Enhance public engagement with a focus on equity  

 

Treat equity as a process 

• Continue to build relationships with equity-deserving communities  
• Consult with public members by “going to where the communities gather”, 

such as attending upcoming community events  

 

Pursue equitable engagement practices  

• Deliberately reach out to communities who have been marginalized and 
prevented from accessing public consultations  

• Go to the community, have flexible community engagement events, 
establish accountability groups with underrepresented demographics, and 
build an understanding of the history of the neighbourhood  

 

Apply quantitative and qualitative approaches  

• Collect data and assess the current public engagement outcomes  
• Identify equity-seeking communities or populations and focus on areas 

that need improvements and are at risk of displacement  

 

Develop methods to prioritize transportation funding and projects to 
underserved areas  

• Adopt policies to provide more public investments in equity-seeking 
areas. For example, 50% of funds could be spent in neighbourhoods with 
lower equity scores and lower access to mobility options 

Page 256 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 4. Best Practices and Their Impact 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 57 

 

Regularly measure and report on progress  

• Report on progress to make sure that the desired outcomes are achieved  
• Publish progress reports with the public to build trust  
• Acknowledge shortcomings and celebrate successes 

 

4.2.4 E-Micromobility Devices 

E-micromobility devices are small, low-speed, electric-powered vehicles designed for short 
distance travel. Examples of these devices include: 

• Electric-assist bicycles (e-bikes) 
• Electric scooters (e-scooters) 
• Electric skateboards 
• Electric Unicycles 
• Hoverboards and Segways 

Although not necessarily human powered, these small electric devices typically maneuver in 
similar manner as active transportation modes and often use the same infrastructure, such as bike 
lanes and multi-use paths. They offer an efficient alternative to traditional transportation options 
and can complement other means of transport while reducing congestion and carbon footprint. 
They also provide an alternative for those who may not be able to use traditional bicycles or walk 
long distances, such as the elderly or people with physical limitations. 

 

Figure 29 | Examples of e-micromobility devices 

Currently, Sault Ste. Marie does not permit e-scooters on municipal streets and sidewalks. E-bikes 
are generally allowed. In spring 2024, the City also began permitting power-assisted bicycles (i.e. 
e-bikes without a throttle, requiring pedalling) on the John Rowswell Hub Trail. 

Page 257 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 4. Best Practices and Their Impact 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 58 

Planning for e-micromobility devices presents several challenges. Roadway conditions may not 
provide sufficient safety nor comfort for riding in spaces shared with motor vehicles. Alternatively, 
along sidewalks or shared paths with pedestrians, there are increased safety concerns, 
particularly due to their higher speeds. Additional study may be required to determine whether the 
City wishes to permit e-devices along shared paths with pedestrians.  

Permitting these devices along designated facilities intended for cyclists, such as bike lanes, 
would encourage individuals to use micromobility. Riders feel safer using protected and wider bike 
lanes, smoother pavements, and designated e-device/bike parking.  The City can support and 
manage regulations, such as speed and dimensions, for the use of e-scooters and e-bikes to 
prevent and mitigate injuries by following best practices. Some best practices include: 

 

 

Roadway Usage 

• Provide on-street designated facilities shared by bikes and e- micromobility that 
are separated from traffic. 

• Introduce riding prohibitions in specific areas, sidewalks, or public property with 
regulatory signs. 

• Set a maximum operating speed for e-devices that is appropriate for the 
community. Some cities set a maximum speed of 20 km/h in existing cycling 
facilities, but that can be reduced to 10 km/h along multi-use pathways or 
residential areas. 

• Night-time riding can be banned from 30 minutes after sunset to 30 minutes 
before sunrise due to insufficient light and visibility. Riders should be equipped 
with a front lamp and rear red reflector or light. 

 

User Behavior  

• Wear helmet and reflective gear. 
• E-scooters should be fitted with all-weather tires, front and rear lights, bell, and 

braking mechanisms.  
• Provide parking regulations for bikes and e-scooters.  
• Riders should follow speed limits and road restrictions. If the user fails to comply 

with the regulations, enforcement penalties can be applied with fines from $25 to 
$250 or community service. 

 

Regulations for Sharing Businesses  

• E-scooters should have standardized built-in features, size, weight, and speed 
limits, such as including a bell, front and rear lights, and front and rear brakes. 

• Set maintenance requirements for deployed devices. Each licensee shall keep 
records of maintenance, including repairs and replacing the damaged elements. 

Page 258 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 5. Developing the Active Transportation Network 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 59 

5 Developing the Active Transportation 
Network 

A key component of the ATMP is the recommended active transportation network. The future 
active transportation network is intended to provide opportunities for people of all ages and 
abilities to engage in active forms of travel and recreation in Sault Ste. Marie. Developing the 
network for the City requires a combination of technical assessment and consultation with City 
Staff, key technical agencies and stakeholders, and members of the public.  

This chapter provides the methodology and outcome from an existing condition review as well as 
an introduction to the route selection criteria that was used to develop the candidate network, and 
ultimately the recommended active transportation network.  

  

Page 259 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 5. Developing the Active Transportation Network 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 60 

5.1 Design Principles 

Several design principles guided the development of the network to ensure it is safe, equitable, 
and accessible. These principles are grounded in current best practices and design standards, 
discussed in Section 4.2 , as well as informed by input received through consultations with the 
City, stakeholders, and members of the public to align with the community’s needs. These 
principles not only align with the network development priorities but also have the potential to 
guide future decision-making beyond this Plan’s lifespan. 

DESIGN FOR SAFETY AND COMFORT 

Establishing a high-quality active transportation network will create an environment that is safe 
and attractive for users. This is essential for encouraging the use of active transportation modes 
and plays a vital role in reducing collisions. Incorporating principles of ‘Complete Streets’ and 
‘Vision Zero’ into the network design will enhancing safety for all road users and create more 
comfortable spaces. These principles, discussed in further detail Sections 4.2.1 and 4.2.2, 
advocate for an inclusive approach that considers the needs of all road users, thereby creating 
safer, more accessible streets. 

Other guidance central to developing safe and accessible pedestrian and cycling networks are the 
Ontario Traffic Manual (OTM) Book 12: Traffic Signals, 12A: Bicycle Traffic Signals, 15: Pedestrian 
Crossings, and Book 18: Cycling Facilities. These manuals provide direction on planning for and 
designing safe and accessible pedestrian and cycling networks throughout Ontario. Incorporating 
these design standards and principles into the network design process significantly enhance the 
safety and usability of the city’s cycling infrastructure. 

COMPLETE STREET PRINCIPLES 

Directions in the City’s TMP emphasize the integration of ‘Complete Street Design’ in all new road 
developments and in the enhancement of existing roads as opportunities arise. As detailed in 
Section 4.2.1, complete streets are designed to accommodate multiple modes of transportation 
and optimize the various functions of the street right-of-way. They are about creating spaces that 
fulfill multiple functions are sensitive to the surrounding environment and encourage travel by 
multiple modes. Complete Street principles were a central component in the network’s design and 
this Plan’s development. Consideration was given to how streets can become more “complete” by 
rebalancing the uses of the roadway and providing more separation between different road users. 
It also acknowledges the importance of the placemaking and prioritizing pedestrian realm 
enhancements to encourage active transportation use. 

Page 260 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 5. Developing the Active Transportation Network 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 61 

DESIGN FOR ALL AGES AND ABILITIES 

All Ages and Abilities (AAA) design refers to the planning and development of transportation 
networks that prioritize safety, comfort, and equity. It involves creating low-stress environments 
where people with a range of abilities and comfort cycling feel comfortable riding. This is achieved 
by carefully considering the design and operation of these facilities.  

The AAA design approach is rooted in inclusivity, considering the needs of all users, with a 
particular focus on historically underserved groups, such as children, seniors, women, people of 
colour, low-income users, and individuals with disabilities. AAA facilities may be shared operating 
spaces where there are low vehicle speeds and volumes that can be effectively controlled, but 
more preferably they are physically separated spaces for users to further enhance safety and 
comfortable experience for all. 

The proposed route network in this Plan recommends designing active transportation facilities to 
AAA standards wherever possible, ensuring that the greatest amount of people can use the 
facilities comfortably and safely. 

DESIGN FOR A MORE EQUITABLE NETWORK 

Barriers to using active modes are not only physical. They can be derived from differing cognitive 
abilities and mental processes experienced by potential users, or can be socially-based and stem 
from issues related to income, language, race, religion, sexual orientation, health, and gender. As 
discussed in Section 4.2.3, building a more equitable transportation network involves providing 
people with a range of affordable and reliable transportation options based on the needs of the 
population, particularly populations that are traditionally underserved. Collaborating with the City, 
stakeholders, community groups, and the public, the development of the active transportation 
network was informed by the specific needs of various groups and communities. Key efforts to 
improve equity within the transportation system included expanding active transportation network 
into areas that are often underserved or overlooked by active transportation and public realm 
improvements, as well as the extension of John Rowswell Hub Trail into the City’s west end.  

During the implementation and detailed design phases of the network, it is recommended that 
equitable design principles are prioritized to support the diverse needs of all community members. 

SUPPORT OF THE ECONOMY AND TOURISM 

The development of the active transportation network was driven by the goal of connecting both 
residents and visitors to local businesses while showcasing the City’s natural beauty. The plan 
prioritizes connections to the John Rowswell Hub Trail, the Waterfront, natural and recreational 
spaces, and the downtown. These connections not only serve residents but also have the potential 
to attract new tourism investment to the community. Additionally, priority was also given to active 
transportation connections to commercial hubs, such as along Great Northern Road, to support 
residents with their daily trips and create opportunities for economic growth. The proposed active 
transportation network also supports the City’s existing initiatives to support small businesses 

Page 261 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 5. Developing the Active Transportation Network 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 62 

such as seasonal/sidewalk patios in the downtown, while also improving safety and access to local 
amenities for people who walk, bike or wheel. 

To further enhance these areas, public realm improvements in these areas should be implemented 
along with the network to encourage active transportation traffic that will benefit the local 
businesses and contribute to economic vitality.  

5.2 Network Development Process 

The network development process is a combination of technical assessments and consultation 
with City staff, stakeholders, and members of the public. The approach used to develop the City’s 
network in the ATMP is consistent with the Ontario Traffic Manual Book 18: Cycling Facilities (2021) 
process. This six-step, iterative process is informed by current best practices, lessons learned, 
and input gathered to date. An overview of each step is detailed in Table 3. 

Table 3 | Active Transportation Network Development Process 

Step Outcome 

1 Identify existing conditions and routes that have 
been proposed in the past planning documents. 

• Section 2.1: Existing Policies 
• Section 2.3: Existing Active 

Transportation Network 

2 
Identify a list of route selection criteria to help 
select, assess and refine candidate routes and 
prioritize future investments. 

• Section 5.2.1 Route Selection Criteria 

3 Identify candidate routes to be included in the 
City’s active transportation network. • Section 5.2.2 Candidate Routes 

4 

Conduct desktop and field work to verify the 
candidate routes’ existing conditions and 
facilities. Local surroundings and key 
destinations are also captured in proximity to 
the candidate routes. 

• Section 5.2.3 Desktop Investigations 

5 Verify candidate routes with City Staff, share 
with stakeholders and the public for input. • Chapter 3 Engaging Sault Ste. Marie 

6 
Confirm the City’s preferred active 
transportation network including the proposed 
facility types. 

• Section 5.4 Recommended Active 
Transportation Network 

 

Page 262 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 5. Developing the Active Transportation Network 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 63 

5.2.1 Route Selection Criteria 

A series of route selection criteria was developed based on the vision and objectives of the ATMP, 
industry best practices adapted for the unique context of the City, and informed by the existing 
Federal, Provincial and City documents. These criteria, presented in Figure 30, form the 
foundation for identifying and evaluating candidate routes and serve as a tool to prioritize active 
transportation projects. Prioritized projects should not preclude projects that have a high level of 
public demand, nor those that have been identified in previous planning processes, from moving 
forward. 

These criteria can also provide guidance beyond the development of this ATMP, such as when new 
projects are proposed or when conditions within the City change. 

 

Safety & 
Accessibility 

Routes should be designed to improve safety and enhance 
accessibility and will be prioritized based on their degree of 
safety improvement compared with current conditions. 

 

Connected & 
Continuous 

Routes should provide a consistent user experience, 
providing comfortable, continuous routes throughout the 
City. Routes that close gaps in existing routes or provide an 
opportunity for a consistent active transportation corridor 
should be prioritized. 

 

Feasibility 

Routes will be evaluated based on the level of capital 
investment required, their alignment with existing capital 
works projects and property ownership constraints to ensure 
that proposed routes have a high degree of constructability. 

 

Support Multi-
Modal Needs 

Routes that support the development a multi-modal 
transportation system by providing connections to transit 
facilities and other key destinations should be prioritized. 

 

Connections 
to Key 

Destinations  

Routes should provide connections to tourist destinations, 
parks and green spaces to enhance opportunities for visitors 
and residents to engage with natural areas on a regular basis. 
Connections and improvements to the John Rowswell Hub 
Trail, Fort Creek Conservation Area, the Waterfront District 
and other primary destinations should be prioritized. 

Figure 30 | List of Route Selection Criteria Applied to Identify Candidate Active Transportation Routes 

Page 263 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 5. Developing the Active Transportation Network 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 64 

5.2.2 Candidate Routes 

The next step in the network development process is to apply the ATMP’s vision, goals and 
objectives and route selection criteria to identify potential candidate routes for improvement from 
the previously proposed networks in the 2007 Cycling Master Plan (updated in 2014) and 2015 
Transportation Master Plan. These plans proposed an active transportation network comprised of 
the the John Rowswell Hub Trail, Spoke Routes, and other cycling routes. This previously proposed 
network was reviewed for additional missing links or opportunities for enhancement and further 
refined to reflect any changes to the community or city’s priorities.  

Best practices were also considered while developing candidate routes for the new active 
transportation network. These included the following best practices and principles: 

Sidewalk Network 

• The recommendations as part of the ATMP focuses on gaps in the sidewalk network that will 
connect to existing sidewalks and destinations on at least one side of the road. 

• Sidewalks were not recommended on local roads that end in dead-ends such as residential cul-
de-sacs. 

• Rural roads were not considered for sidewalk upgrades as it is recommended that sidewalks be 
implemented when the road is urbanized.  

Cycling and Multi-Use Network 

• While many important destinations are situated along arterial roads, they present challenges in 
developing comfortable cycling facilities due to high traffic speeds and volumes, limited 
boulevard spaces, and frequent driveway conflicts. Where there is an opportunity to provide a 
higher-quality cycling facility on a parallel route that maintains direct connectivity to key 
destinations, these parallel routes are generally preferred.  

• Opportunities for trails along hydro corridors and rail corridors were explored for recreational 
connections. 

 

Once these candidate routes were refined, they were confirmed through technical assessment, 
conversations with the City staff, as well as consultation with key stakeholders, agencies and 
members of the public.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 264 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 5. Developing the Active Transportation Network 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 65 

5.2.3 Desktop Investigations  

After reviewing existing conditions and identifying candidate routes, a desktop analysis of the 
selected candidate network was performed. Route conditions were assessed, including but not 
limited to existing curb-to-curb width on roadways and road right-of-way, street function and 
design, and other physical constraints. The existing surroundings, connections to key 
destinations, and existing trails are also investigated in proximity to the candidate routes.  

Along with the desktop analysis, select locations were chosen for field investigations to verify 
route conditions. Key aspects reviewed during each visit include slope gradings, surrounding land 
uses, road and / or trail surfacing, provision of supporting amenities (i.e. directional signage, 
trailheads, lighting) and lane widths.  

5.2.4 Facility Selection  

To ensure our City provides safe and comfortable cycling infrastructure, it is important to select 
context-appropriate cycling facility that reflects the specific conditions of the area and the 
priorities of the community.  Based on the findings of steps 1 to 5, network facilities were 
determined using the OTM Book 18 Three-step Facility Selection tool. This tool guides 
practitioners through assessing site-specific conditions for both rural and urban roads, such as 
roadway operations, characteristics, and feasibility to determine the appropriate level of 
separation and facility. When a corridor fell on the cusp of two facility types, the facility that 
provides the greater degree of separation was chosen in most instances to ensure safety was 
prioritized. For instance, if a corridor landed on the threshold between a shared operating space 
and designated facility, the designated facility was selected. This approach results in a safer, 
future-proofed network that encourages more new riders.  

Once the evaluation was complete, the proposed facility types were confirmed with City staff, and 
then presented to stakeholders and the public for further input.  

 

Figure 31 | OTM Book 18 Three-Step Facility Selection Tool 

Page 265 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 5. Developing the Active Transportation Network 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 66 

5.3 West End Hub Trail 

While there are several existing and planned bike routes and trails in the City's west end, 
connectivity among them and integration with the broader community could be improved. The 
area is also experiencing a number of higher-density residential developments, a trend expected 
to continue due to the availability of serviced, underutilized land. 

In light of this, the ATMP proposes extending the John Rowswell Hub Trail to the City’s west end, as 
illustrated in Figure 32. Wallace Terrace, Peoples Road, Rossmore Road, and the naturalized areas 
surrounding the storm channels will serve as the backbone of this extension. However, before 
construction of the West End Hub Trail can begin, a more detailed technical review and 
construction plan will be necessary. This review may lead to adjustments in the proposed routes.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 266 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 5. Developing the Active Transportation Network 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan      Page 67 

Figure 32 | Proposed West End Hub Trail Extension 

 

Page 267 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 5. Developing the Active Transportation Network 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 68 

5.4 Recommended Active Transportation Network 

5.4.1 Network Organization 

Sault Ste. Marie’s active transportation network is comprised of several types of infrastructure 
designed to ensure safe, efficient, and accessible travel for pedestrians, cyclists, and other non-
motorized users. The network includes pedestrian-focused infrastructure (such as sidewalks), 
shared network elements (such as pedestrian crossovers), cycling-focused infrastructure (such as 
bike lanes), multi-use elements (such as paved multi-use trails), and recreational trails. These 
elements are further explored in Section 5.4.2.  This structure helps create a user-friendly 
network that provides diverse mobility options and accommodates users of all ages and abilities. 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Active Transportation Network

Pedestrian 
Infrastructure

Sidewalks

Multi-Use Trails

Paved Multi-Use 
Trails 

(incl. John Rowswell Hub 
Trail and West End Trail)

Cycling

Paved shoulder

Shared Bike Route

Conventional Bike 
Lane

Protected or 
Buffered Bike Lanes

Shared Network 
Elements

Neighbourhood 
Connector Paths

Pedestrian 
Crossovers (PXOs)

Recretional 
Pathways

Paths found in large 
parks and forested 

areas primiarly 
designed for leisure 

activities.

Page 268 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 5. Developing the Active Transportation Network 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 69 

5.4.2 Existing and Proposed Active Transportation Facilities 

The proposed active transportation network is comprised of several active transportation facility 
types, as assigned through the network development process. Once implemented, this will create 
an extensive network of active transportation facilities across the City. 

Pedestrian Infrastructure 

Sidewalks 

Sidewalks are facilities for the exclusive use by pedestrians. There are 
currently 340 km of sidewalks throughout Sault Ste. Maire. The City’s 
Official Plan states that sidewalks are required on both sides of arterial 
and collector streets within the urban area, and on at least one side of 
local streets in new residential developments. Given this, this ATMP 
provides additional pedestrian routes in residential areas, particularly 
near schools and other key destinations.  

Under the City’s standards, sidewalks should be designed to at least 1.5 m of width, 
which aligns with universal accessibility standards directed by the AODA. It is 
recommended sidewalks exceed this width, when possible, particularly in areas 
with high pedestrian traffic and commercial areas. Additional considerations 
should also be given to side-by-side walking whenever feasible, and adequate 
clearances around fixed objects or furnishing zones. 

Shared Network Elements 

Neighbourhood Connector Paths 

The active transportation network includes pedestrian paths, locally 
known as “catwalks,” which facilitates easier movement through 
neighborhoods and more vibrant street life. While primarily designed for 
foot traffic, these paths are also used by bicycles and other active 
transportation devices. These paths typically serve as direct, convenient 
shortcuts through neighbourhoods, significantly enhancing 
neighbourhood walkability and connectivity throughout the city. 

Page 269 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 5. Developing the Active Transportation Network 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 70 

Pedestrian Crossovers  

A Pedestrian Crossover (PXO) is a designated road crossing where 
pedestrians, cyclists, and other active transportation users have the right 
of way to cross (although, cyclists and other active transportation users 
are required to dismount and walk their bikes across as pedestrians). 
PXOs are marked with specific pavement markings, signs, and sometimes 
flashing beacons to alert drivers to stop for crossing pedestrians. They 
are typically found on low to moderate volume and low speed roadways, 
often located where there is a significant distance between traffic 
signals. 

PXOs are important help reduce accidents and create safer conditions for everyone by increasing 
pedestrian visibility, especially during low light conditions, such as at night, when pedestrians can 
be difficult to see. They also manage unexpected pedestrian movements, such as jaywalking, by 
providing clear crossing points. 

PXOs also enhance multi-modal connectivity throughout the city by offering more crossing options 
within a shorter distance, and facilitating better integration of walking, cycling, and public transit, 
making it easier to reach transit stops and other destinations using a variety of travel modes 

Cycling Infrastructure 

Paved Shoulders (Rural)  

Paved shoulder routes are located outside of the urban area 
where cycling demand is typically low compared to urban areas. 
Operating speeds on rural roads tend to be higher than urban 
roads, thereby shared operating spaces are not recommended. 
These routes will typically be paved shoulders separated by a 
painted line. They may or may not have a buffer or rumble strip. 

Shared Road Routes 

Shared routes are cycling connections within neighbourhoods 
and residential streets that experience low traffic volumes and 
low speeds where cyclists and motorists share traffic lanes. 
These shared operating spaces may be indicated using 
pavement markings and/or signage, along with traffic calming 
measures that reduce traffic speeds or traffic volumes. 

Page 270 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 5. Developing the Active Transportation Network 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 71 

Conventional Bicycle Lanes 

Buffered or conventional painted lanes are exclusive bike lanes 
are placed on roads with lower traffic volumes and/or speeds. 
They are typically designated from motor lanes by painted lines 
and pavement markings. It is recommended to implement 
geometric roadway improvements and adopt protected 
intersections along these routes. Only in constrained areas 
should the facility be separated by a solid painted line without a 
buffer space.  

Protected Lanes or Cycle Tracks 

Protected lanes and cycle tracks are exclusive bike lanes that provide 
physical separation from motor vehicles. There are a range of 
separation techniques, including bollards or concrete barriers (for 
protected lanes) or separation by curb or in the boulevard parallel to 
the sidewalk (cycle tracks). These facilities should be designed for all 
ages and abilities. They are located along roadways with moderate to 
high volumes of motor traffic, and are preferred along routes which 
connect to the John Rowswell Hub Trail and other key destinations. It 
is recommended to implement geometric roadway improvements and 
adopt protected intersections along these routes, as well as 
continuous crossings at minor intersections and driveways. 

Multi-Use Trails 

These routes are typically two-way paved paths that are situated 
alongside the road right-of-way in the boulevard, separated from the 
traffic lanes by a curb and buffer. They are shared among many kinds of 
users, including pedestrians, cyclists, and other active transportation 
and micromobility modes.  

These trails include the John Rowswell Hub Trail and the proposed 
West End Hub Trail. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 271 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 5. Developing the Active Transportation Network 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan  
  
  Page 72 

Recreational Trails 

Recreational Pathways, often found in large parks and forested areas, 
are designed primarily for leisure activities such as walking, biking, dog 
walking, cross-country skiing, and snowshoeing. While they do not 
typically serve a direct utilitarian function, their design, surface 
material, and level of maintenance can vary significantly depending on 
location and intended use. 

Despite their primary recreational purpose, these pathways play an 
important role in promoting active lifestyles, enhancing mental and 
physical well-being, and fostering community engagement. They 
contribute to a culture of active transportation by providing safe and 
enjoyable environments for exercise. 

  

 

  

Page 272 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 5. Developing the Active Transportation Network 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan      Page 73 

Figure 33 | Proposed Urban Area Active Transportation Network Map 

 

Page 273 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 5. Developing the Active Transportation Network 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan      Page 74 

Figure 34 | Proposed City-Wide Active Transportation Network Map 

 

Page 274 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 5. Developing the Active Transportation Network 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan      Page 75 

Figure 35 | Proposed Urban Pedestrian Network Map 

 

Page 275 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 5. Developing the Active Transportation Network 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan      Page 76 

Figure 36 | Proposed City-Wide Pedestrian Network Map 

Page 276 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 5. Developing the Active Transportation Network 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 77 

5.4.3 Facility Design 

In order to enhance the safety, comfort, and convenience of active travel, each facility type has 
their own design standards and considerations tailored to the specific needs of the end user and 
context. Table 4 presents the recommended one-way widths each facility (two-way for multi-use 
paths/trails), informed by OTM Book 18 and leading industry references. 

Table 4 | Desired Active Transportation Facility Widths Listed within the Proposed Active Transportation Network 

Facility Facility Width  References 

Paved Shoulder 1.5 m to 2.0 m OTM Book 18, section 4.5.4 

Buffered Paved Shoulder 1.5 to 2.0 m + 0.5 to 1.0 m buffer OTM Book 18, section 4.5.4 

Shared Routes Over 3.0 m travel lanes OTM Book 18, section 4.5.2, 
4.5.3 

Conventional Bike Lane1 1.8 m OTM Book 18, section 4.4 

Buffered Bike Lane 1.8 m + 0.6 to 1.0 m buffer OTM Book 18, section 4.4.2 

Protected Bike Lane or 
Cycle Track 

2.0 m to 2.5m OTM Book 18, section 4.3 

In-Boulevard Multi-Use Path 
(two-way) 

3.5 + 1.5 m dependant on 
context 

OTM Book 18, section 4.3.4 

Off-road Multi-Use Trail 
(two-way) 

3.0 to 4.0 m MTO Bikeways Design 
Manual, section 5.0  

AODA – Built Environment 
Standards, section 2.2 

1This facility should only be considered where there is one motor vehicle lane per direction, and where a buffered facility cannot be 

accommodated. 

 

  

Page 277 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 6. Education, Encouragement and Tourism 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 78 

6 Education, Encouragement and Tourism 
Developing a complete network of comfortable, convenient active transportation facilities is vital 
to improving conditions for people to walk or bike, but it must be paired with the parallel 
development of a system of social infrastructure to support active transportation for Sault Ste. 
Marie to realize the full benefits of its investments in active transportation. 

Sault Ste. Marie is a prime tourism destination in Northern Ontario, both as a scenic city and a 
gateway to a wide range of outdoor adventures in the surrounding region. The city boasts four 
seasons of cycling activities for tourists, including city, road/gravel, mountain, and winter ‘fat 
biking’. The Great Lakes Waterfront Trail brings long-distance cycle tourists through the City, and 
the John Rowswell Hub Trail offers family-oriented off-street routes for all ages. The recently 
established mountain biking festival “The Salty Marie” attracts visitors of all abilities to the 
Hiawatha Highlands for its trails and pump track.  

A suite of active transportation programs informed by best practices from around North America 
is proposed to supplement the City’s investments in physical infrastructure to support and 
promote walking, cycling, and wheeling. The recommendations contained in this chapter are based 
on the successes and lessons learned from comparable municipalities in Ontario and beyond.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 278 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 6. Education, Encouragement and Tourism 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 79 

Recognizing that a single approach or program does not cater to all, these programs intentionally 
target a wide range of audiences, including students, women, seniors, tourists, people with 
disabilities, and other groups with unique perspectives and needs. While the programs described 
in this Chapter provide an effective starting point for the City, additional consideration should be 
given to expanding support for priority groups to create programs that address the barriers faced 
by some groups to participate in active transportation. Future considerations for programming 
could help to address barriers related to finances, systemic discrimination, language differences, 
cognitive ability, and risk tolerance.  

The programs presented here have been shaped by local expertise – they are designed to support 
existing initiatives, build on the City’s successes, and leverage the relationships that already exist 
within the community to create more support for, and excitement about, active transportation. 
The recommendations are based on best practices but are filtered through the local context and 
the knowledge of key stakeholders within the City, producing a truly made-in-Sault Ste. Marie 
option to boost the culture of active transportation. 

6.1 Programming Recommendations 

6.1.1 Approaches and Phasing  

The approach taken by this Plan is to provide the City with a list of initiatives that can be 
undertaken over the next several years, with new programs being added into the City’s “toolbox” to 
support active transportation as the City and its partners expand their reach and capacity around 
active transportation.  The recommendations are organized into three tiers, which provide some 
guidance for the City with regards to prioritizing their investments. Based on existing capacity, an 
understanding of the desires of the community and research about best practices relating to 
active transportation programming, this Plan outlines an implementation plan that scales up the 
level of effort and investment as the active transportation community continues to grow in Sault 
Ste. Marie, providing programs that will reach new audiences and grow active transportation for 
years to come. The three tiers of programming include: 

Phase 1: Foundations  
Programing initiatives likely to generate the greatest participation that ought to be adopted first to 
establish a foundation upon which further involvement within active transportation can grow. 

Phase 2: Basic Programming 
Programming initiatives that maintain the momentum of increasing active transportation 
involvement and begin the process of facilitating a deeper cultural shift in support of active 
transportation. 

Page 279 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 6. Education, Encouragement and Tourism 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 80 

Phase 3: Advanced Programing 
Programming initiatives that tailor to a wider range of potential active transportation audiences and 
help to establish a more mature culture of active transportation. 

While there is no single route to becoming more bicycle friendly, it is recommended that the City 
focus on fully implementing the recommendations in each category before rolling out initiatives in 
the subsequent categories. For example, when determining how to spend programing dollars, the 
preference should be given to funding the programs in the “Foundations” category before moving 
on to programs in the “Basic” category, and programs in the “Basic” category should be fully 
implemented before initiating programs in the “Advanced” category. The delineation between 
these programs is based on extensive research and experience with Community-Based Social 
Marketing and is designed to facilitate both cultural and individual shifts in belief, behaviour and 
attitude towards active transportation in Sault Ste. Marie. With that said, however, it is important 
to acknowledge that circumstances may change, so these assumptions and recommendations 
should be revisited regularly to ensure that they remain relevant. All of the programs outlined in 
this section will have a positive impact on the City’s active transportation culture, so should 
funding become available to pursue a program that is beyond the tier that the City is actively 
working on, the City and its partners should still pursue that funding. 

The tiers as presented here provide a cost-effective way to deepen the City’s connections with its 
partners and its residents as it relates to active transportation. By investing strategically, seeking 
funding support from higher levels of government and building on the existing partnerships within 
the City, Sault Ste. Marie could well achieve all of the goals set out in this Chapter within 5-6 years, 
firmly positioning the City as one of Ontario’s leading communities in promoting a cultural shift 
towards active transportation. 

 

 

Page 280 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 6. Education, Encouragement and Tourism 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 81 

6.1.2 Potential Partners  

Partner Role 

Accessibility Advisory 
Committee  

The Accessibility Advisory Committee can provide input to 
address accessibility concerns and opportunities as the Plan 
moves forward in each Phase.  

Parks and Recreation 
Advisory Committee   

The Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee understands 
community interests and can recommend programs, activities 
and events. 

School Boards Sault Ste. Marie’s four school boards provide a direct connection 
to the youth of the community. As teaching and learning 
organizations, school boards can promote safe walking and biking 
events and workshops to the students.  

Public Health   Algoma Public Health advocates for a physically active lifestyle to 
improve the health of the residents. The public health unit can 
support recreational physical activities and educate the health 
benefits of active transportation at public events. 

Sault Ste. Marie Police 
Department  

The police are an important partner in promoting safe road use for 
all users. Police officers can deliver educational and public 
awareness messaging, can help with Bike Rodeos and cycling 
education schools, and can play a role in sharing information 
about collisions and citations with City staff to better inform 
infrastructure improvement decisions. 

Tourism Sault Ste. Marie   Tourism Sault Ste. Marie, under the Community Development and 
Enterprise Services Department, serves a vital role in promoting 
the City as ‘Ontario’s best adventure town’. The department 
already hosts a wealth of cycling information on its website, 
presenting an opportunity to further expand the reach of active 
transportation programs and activities.  

Sault Trails Advocacy 
Committee (STAC) and the 
Sault Cycling Club  

STAC is a citizens’ committee dedicated to the development of a 
coordinated non-motorized public trail system. Committee and 
club members possess a strong understanding of the local 
context and will be key to marshalling resources to support the 
implementation of this Plan. They will be able to share their 
knowledge on the existing conditions and main routes of the 
active transportation infrastructure. There are opportunities for 
the club members to advise the City on the implementation of new 
infrastructure. The club is capable in planning and delivering 

Page 281 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 6. Education, Encouragement and Tourism 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 82 

Partner Role 

events in the past, and they will be important partners in 
organizing and delivering future events to build a stronger culture 
of active transportation. 

Sault Climate Hub The Sault Climate Hub is a group of concerned citizens advancing 
climate change mitigation & adaptation to align Sault Ste. Marie 
with scientific, aspirational, and global targets for greenhouse gas 
emission reductions through action, education, engagement, & 
other activities. The Hub has offered to support several initiatives 
outlined in this chapter.  

 

6.1.3 Overview of Programs 

PHASE 1: Foundations 

The first phase of programs includes initiatives with broad appeal that are likely to generate the 
greatest involvement and establish a strong culture of active transportation within Sault Ste. 
Marie. While the City and its partners have proven that there is the capacity to run programs to 
support active transportation through leveraging existing staff resources or relying on volunteers, 
the programs presented here would represent a significant increase in the level of effort required 
to deliver them.  

As the number of new programs and the number of new partnerships begins to grow, it will be 
difficult to maintain that growth when work and responsibilities are dispersed across multiple 
departments and committees. For that reason, it is recommended that the City establish an Active 
Transportation Coordinator position to serve as a centralized resource for all things related to 
active transportation. This plan has been developed in a manner that allows for the active 
transportation Coordinator position to be “scaled up” over time – for example, starting out as a 
Summer Student contract position, potentially funded by the Canada Summer Jobs program. It 
could then evolve into a full-time or nearly full-time role as the active transportation portfolio 
matures within the City.  

The recommendations below also assume that both an Active Transportation Committee and the 
Active Transportation Coordinator will be the primary delivery agents for new programs in the City. 
The partners listed under each program will serve to either support or co-lead each initiative, but 
the presence of the Committee and Coordinator as the lead for each program should be assumed. 
The remainder of the suggestions in the “Foundations” section assume that this resource is in 
place. If this position is not filed, these programs are less likely to be as successful, although they 
could still be realized with the support of the City’s numerous partners, advisory committees, and 
volunteer groups. 

Page 282 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 6. Education, Encouragement and Tourism 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 83 

  

Program #1: Active Transportation Advisory Committee  

The grassroots Sault Trails Advocacy Committee has been effective at advocating for new 
programs and projects to support cycling within Sault Ste. Marie, but currently no council 
committees exist to provide an official advisory role on active transportation. The City may 
consider working with council to establish a formal Active Transportation Advisory Committee, 
modelled after other council committees, with a mandate to advise city staff and council on 
investment priorities, organize and deliver programs, and identify funding streams that the City 
could pursue. It is suggested that the City create a discretionary fund for the committee, to 
allow them to make small investments or purchases that can support the committee’s goals. 
This funding could be used for purchasing ad space, providing honoraria for speakers or cycling 
instructors or even investing in amenities like bike parking or seating. Local volunteers, 
advocates and subject matter experts should be prioritized when selecting members on the 
committee. 

Recommended 
Partners  

• Public Health Unit  
• City Staff (e.g. engineering, police, tourism, planning) 

Inspiration  • County of Essex – County-wide Active Transportation System 
Committee  

• Halton Hills – Active Transportation Advisory Committee (Click Here)  

 

Page 283 of 411

https://www.haltonhills.ca/en/your-government/active-transportation-committee.aspx


  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 6. Education, Encouragement and Tourism 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 84 

Program #2: Routine Community Slow Roll Events  

Host regular community walks or bike rides to provide residents with the opportunity to 
participate in an enjoyable, social activity while also exposing them to the available parks, trails 
and active transportation network in the City. Key components of a successful community ride 
or walk program include:  

• Regularity: walks or rides should be hosted on a regular basis that will allow casual drop 
ins and outs 

• Visibility: walks and rides should be distinctively branded, to improve their awareness 
within the community 

• Accessibility: walks and rides should be delivered at a slow pace for inexperienced 
participants and socialization 

• Socialization: walks or rides should encourage community building, allowing 
participants to become acquainted with each other and the sites and businesses that 
make up the local area 

 

 

 

Recommended 
Partners  

• Sault Cycling Club  
• Recreation and Culture Division  

Inspiration  • Windsor-Tecumseh Slow Ride (Click Here) 
• City of Markham – Annual Cycling Day   

Page 284 of 411

https://www.facebook.com/groups/818775944982879/


  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 6. Education, Encouragement and Tourism 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 85 

Program #3: Initiate an Active School Travel Program   

Parents and students are increasingly relying on vehicles to commute to school and fewer 
students are using active modes of transportation. Children and young adults are missing the 
opportunity for physical activity, fresh air, and social interaction with their friends and 
caregivers. Implementing an Active School Travel Program shifts car dependence towards 
active travel, which can improve the surrounding air quality and physical and mental health of 
the students. With reduced vehicle traffic, streets are safer for the students to walk and cycle to 
school. 

Green Communities Canada funded a program called the Ontario Active School Travel (OAST). 
The Active School Travel program aims to create a culture of active lifestyles for the students. 
The program requires cooperation from the school, community stakeholders and residents to 
address transportation issues that hinder active travel. The OAST Fund offers grants to school 
boards, municipalities, and student transportation consortia.  

Other programs that fall under the Active School Travel program include School Streets, Bike to 
School Week, International Walk to School Month, and Winter Walk Day.  

 

 

 

Recommended 
Partners  

• Public Health Unit  
• School Boards 
• Student Transportation Services  
• Police/By-law Services  

Inspiration  • Town of Ajax – Active and Safe Routes to School (Click Here) 
• Windsor-Essex County – Active School Travel  
• Ontario Active School Travel (Click Here) 

Page 285 of 411

https://www.ajax.ca/en/inside-townhall/transportation-options.aspx#Active-and-Safe-Routes-to-School
https://ontarioactiveschooltravel.ca/


  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 6. Education, Encouragement and Tourism 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 86 

Program #4: Open Streets Events   

A growing tradition practiced among municipalities around the world, Open Streets Events 
feature the temporary closure of a major roadway to cars to create additional space for active 
travel and recreational programming. Often designed as a large street fair, the event should be 
held within highly travelled areas, such as commercial main streets, to dual as an opportunity to 
support local commerce. The event should be held within highly travelled areas during weekends 
and holidays, such as commercial main streets, to dual as an opportunity to support local 
businesses. Coordinating the street closure required for Open Streets Events could follow 
similar arrangements required for Rotaryfest Summer Festival, Soo Pee Wee Carnival, and 
Downtown Street Party.  

 

 

 

 

 

Recommended 
Partners  

• Tourism Sault Ste. Marie  
• Sault Ste. Marie Downtown Association  
• Rotary club and local organizers  
• Voyageur Trail Association 
• Sault Climate Hub 

Inspiration  • Town of Kingsville – Open Streets 
• Peterborough Pulse – Open Streets  

Page 286 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 6. Education, Encouragement and Tourism 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 87 

Program #5: Active Transportation Distance Wayfinding Maps and Signs  

Sault Ste. Marie is a city rich with scenic views of the waterfront and green landscapes. The city 
is connected to vast networks of hiking trails connecting forests, the Lake Superior coast, 
waterfalls, hills, and ravines. These hiking and cycling trails are often only minutes away from 
the downtown centre. One of the challenges with promoting active transportation is that 
residents may assume that walking or cycling to a destination will take much longer than it 
actually does. That knowledge gap can be fixed by promoting the large area of town that lies 
within a 5-, 10-and 15-minute bike ride of popular destinations. Research has shown that 
wayfinding, when deployed in a way that highlights safe, attractive routes and the relatively 
short time that it can take to move between destinations, can significantly improve how 
residents perceive walking and cycling. A detailed wayfinding strategy will help the City to 
determine the proper placement of signs and identify of key destinations. The development of a 
consistent design and style will help to develop and reinforce a distinctive Sault Ste. Marie 
Active Transportation brand, boosting visibility and awareness of walking, cycling and wheeling 
in the City. 

Recommended 
Partners  

• Tourism Sault Ste. Marie  
• Parks Division  
• Voyageur Trail Association 

Inspiration  • City of Peterborough Active Transportation Wayfinding System  

 
 
 
 

Page 287 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 6. Education, Encouragement and Tourism 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 88 

Program #6: Support Marginalized Communities      

The City and its partners should consider programs with a more deliberate focus on equity to 
ensure those residents who lack access to active transportation participation should be 
prioritized. The City could create a database, in partnership with local service delivery agencies, 
of people who need a bike – not simply for recreational purposes, but for transportation around 
their community as well. By connecting with partners with a pre-existing relationship with 
marginalized communities, the City and its partners can also begin to create additional avenues 
for those residents to get involved as the City’s ATMP is implemented. The Sault Cycling Club 
partners with the Mountain Bike (MTB) Exchange program to attract more women riders to local 
trails and hosts multiple social ride groups for all skill levels. Similar to this program, the City 
should continue to provide programs that support women, lower-income residents and 
Indigenous people.  As more people get involved, the City can consider adding bike maintenance 
skills training to program offerings to help more residents keep their bikes on the road. 
 

Recommended 
Partners  

• Sault Cycling Club  
• Accessibility Advisory Committee  
• Public Library Board 

Inspiration  • Government of Canada Cycle Indigena Winnipeg Initiative (Click 
Here) 

• Temiskaming Shores – Bike Exchange Program (Click Here) 
 

 
 
 

Page 288 of 411

https://nationtalk.ca/story/masrc-cycle-indigena-winnipeg
https://nationtalk.ca/story/masrc-cycle-indigena-winnipeg
https://www.timiskaminghu.com/90551/bike-exchange#:~:text=Temiskaming%20Shores%20Bicycle%20Friendly%20Community,for%20the%202022%20Bike%20Exchange.&text=12%20to%204%20p.m.&text=8%3A30%20a.m.%20to%204,at%20the%202022%20Bike%20Exchange.


  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 6. Education, Encouragement and Tourism 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 89 

Program #7: 1M Safe Passing Public Awareness Campaign     

In 2015, Ontario’s Highway Traffic Act was updated to require motorists to pass cyclists on 
roadways with at least 1 meter of space between them. Despite these legal changes, many 
motorists remain unaware of the law and its implications, creating safety risks for cyclists. To 
address this, the City should host an awareness campaign remind all traffic users of this legal 
requirement using its various communication channels. This includes online platforms, such as 
the city’s website and social media channels, as well as physical assets such as ads in the local 
newspaper and posted billboards. As the agents responsible for enforcing such regulations, the 
City should also partner with law enforcement, including the OPP, by organizing an 
accompanying education and enforcement blitz. Be sure to make use of existing resources to 
promote the campaign – developing new materials can be costly and time-consuming! 

 

 

Recommended 
Partners  

• Transportation/Traffic Department  
• Police Department  
• Ontario Ministry of Transportation 

Inspiration  • Peterborough County – A Metre Matters Campaign (Click Here) 
• Ottawa Police Service – Sonar Electronic Device  (Click Here) 

Page 289 of 411

https://www.ptbocounty.ca/en/exploring/cycling.aspx
https://ottawacitizen.com/news/local-news/ottawa-police-to-drivers-beware-the-one-metre-bike-rule


  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 6. Education, Encouragement and Tourism 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 90 

Program #8: General Public Awareness Campaign     

The City should launch a general awareness campaign to promote the safe and respectful use of 
the active transportation network. This initiative would aim to educate everyone —motorists, 
cyclists, pedestrians, and other active transportation users —on proper etiquette and safety 
practices to ensure everyone can enjoy our roads, sidewalks, bike lanes, and shared pathways 
safely. This campaign would share key messages of safety and proper etiquette across a 
number of platforms – such as social media, on the City website, over the radio and in 
newspapers, and integrate key messaging into other city programs, such as those listed in this 
ATMP. This would ensure consistent and widespread promotion of these principles.  

Key messages would emphasize the importance of yielding to pedestrians, maintaining a safe 
speed, understanding facility restrictions for motor-assisted micromobility, and being mindful 
of others. This campaign seeks to create a culture of respect for all road users, enhancing the 
safety and enjoyment of our community’s active transportation network for all. 

 

 
  

Recommended 
Partners  

• Schools 
• Police 
• Media Outlets 

Inspiration  • Peterborough County – A Metre Matters Campaign (Click Here) 
• Ottawa Police Service – Sonar Electronic Device  (Click Here) 

Page 290 of 411

https://www.ptbocounty.ca/en/exploring/cycling.aspx
https://ottawacitizen.com/news/local-news/ottawa-police-to-drivers-beware-the-one-metre-bike-rule


  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 6. Education, Encouragement and Tourism 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 91 

PHASE 2: Basic Programming 

Following the implementation of all Phase 1 (Foundations) programming, the City should proceed 
with adopting initiatives categorized with Phase 2: Basic Programming. These programs seek to 
build upon the foundation of cultural support and capacity for active travel built during Phase 1 by 
reaching out to a broader audience of residents. This phase includes educational campaigns, 
transportation demand management initiatives, promotional events and investments into 
supportive amenities which begin to solidify active transportation’s presence within the 
community. These programs are meant to supplement the broader initiatives introduced during 
Phase 1 and give individuals the extra push needed to make a behaviour change. 

 

Program #1: Winter Wheels Program    

Winter Cycling is growing in popularity in many communities across Canada from Calgary to 
Montreal and beyond. As a community that experiences all four seasons, it is important for Sault 
Ste. Marie to consider how it can support active transportation all year round to reduce 
dependence on automobiles within the community. A program that has proven effective 
throughout Ontario is the Winter Wheels Program, first developed in the City of Peterborough. 
Winter Wheels programs invite residents to apply for support for Winter Cycling – it provides 
them with a studded front tire, a winterizing bike tune-up and other equipment like fenders, 
pannier bags and gloves, that are necessary for a comfortable winter riding experience. For 
selected participants, they are asked simply to try cycling through the winter, and to share their 
experiences with their families, friends and in promotional materials for the program. The 
program can help to start the process of normalizing winter cycling in Sault Ste. Marie, creating 
an environment where more residents would consider trying it even if they are not part of the 
Winter Wheels cohort for that year. 

 

 

Recommended 
Partners  

• Transportation/Traffic Department  
• Public Health Unit  
• Ontario Ministry of Transportation 
• Voyageur Trail Association 

Inspiration  • Windsor Essex Winter Wheels: Cycle Smart in Winter  
• Banff, Alberta’s Winter Cycling Supports  
• Ottawa EnviroCentre Winter Cycling Online Resource (Click Here)  

 

 

Page 291 of 411

https://www.envirocentre.ca/winter-cycling/


  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 6. Education, Encouragement and Tourism 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 92 

Program #2: Lunch and Learn – Active Transportation Workshops at Workplaces      

As the community level conversation about active transportation begins to shift, it is important 
to begin offering more targeted interventions that reach more targeted groups of residents and 
engage them directly. An example of this type of program would be hosting educational 
workshops with local workplaces which teach employees about key aspects of active 
transportation. These programs should be designed to take approximately one hour, and should 
offer a mix of practical, hands-on lessons and classroom-based lessons. Consider offering 
incentives to employees who take the courses, including gift certificates for local businesses or 
a catered lunch during the session, to improve participation and attendance. 

Suggested modules are listed in the following:  
• Basic Bike Maintenance: Learn the basics of maintaining a bike, including safety checks, air 

pressure and flat tires assessment, brakes tightening, and chain lubrication. 
• Biking in All Weather Conditions: Be prepared to cycle all-season round. The topics include 

wearing appropriate gear, bicycle maintenance and storage tips, winter route-planning and 
safe riding techniques for weather-related hazards. 

• Family Biking: Share tips on biking with babies and toddlers and teaching children how to 
ride for the first time.  

• Cycle Commuting: Bikes serve more than the function of commuting to work. Learn how to 
commute to work, do a grocery errand, and pick up the kids from school with a bike.  

• Road Rules and Safe Cycling: Understand the rules of the road and bike with confidence. 
Topics include laws and fines, navigating shared spaces with other road users, making turns, 
parking, pass, right of way, equipment and bike fit, and safe riding techniques.  

 

Recommended 
Partners  

• Community Development and Enterprise Services (CDES) 
Department  

• Sault Cycling Club  

Inspiration  • Cycle Toronto’s Street Smarts Workshops (Click Here) 
• Bike Windsor Essex’s Learn to Ride Classes  

Page 292 of 411

https://www.cycleto.ca/workshops


  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 6. Education, Encouragement and Tourism 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 93 

Program #3: E-Bike Loan Service         

Getting more residents to consider cycling not only requires a proper education of its benefits 
and how to do so safely, but a series of experiences that spark joy and excitement. Although 
cycling can be exhilarating, it can also feel intimidating for people who haven’t cycled in a long 
time, whose physical ability may be limited or who are worried about hills, wind and other 
challenging riding conditions. In Sault Ste. Marie, where some steep hills, strong prevailing winds 
and relatively long distances may discourage people from giving cycling a try, the use of an 
electric assist bike can significantly reduce these concerns. Electric bikes have a built-in small 
electric motor to assist the rider, make cycling easier and more accessible to everyone. 
However, these e-bikes do come with a price tag that can be prohibitive to some users, 
especially if they have never tried them before. Given that financial barrier, it is suggested that 
the City purchase a select number of e-bikes for residents to rent out. The service can be 
provided out of a local institution, such as a recreational facility, community library, or any other 
location that is easily accessed by residents. This would open up opportunities for people to see 
what is possible with an e-bike in Sault Ste. Marie and would also provide a unique experience to 
offer to tourists and visitors to the city as well. 

 

 

 

Recommended 
Partners  

• Accessibility Advisory Committee  
• Tourism Sault Ste. Marie  
• Public Library Board  
• Voyageur Trail Association 
• Sault Climate Hub 

Inspiration  • Vermont E-bike / Cargo-bike Rental Service (Click Here) 
• Markham Bicycle Lending Library (Click Here)  

Page 293 of 411

https://www.localmotion.org/ebikes
https://markhampubliclibrary.ca/bicycle-lending-library/


  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 6. Education, Encouragement and Tourism 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 94 

Program #4: Community Cycling / Walking Challenge        

An annual community cycling and walking challenge, where residents are encouraged to cycle in 
contribution of a community wide goal, can provide the residents of the City with an opportunity 
to come together around walking and cycling in pursuit of a common goal. This goal can be a 
certain cumulative travel distance as a community, a collective fundraising goal or even a 
friendly competition between residents of each of the three communities to see who can log the 
most trips per capita over the course of a month. Hosting a community challenge provides an 
opportunity to spotlight cycling and walking within the community as well as offers a common, 
constructive cause that can motivate people to consider the activity themselves. Today, there 
are an increasing number of free apps available that allow residents to input either their 
kilometers ridden or number of steps taken, or money fundraised in contribution of the 
challenge’s set goal. These crowd sourcing programs make the organization and tracking of a 
community cycling challenge both simple and cost effective. As the challenge grows and 
evolves, consider encouraging workplaces, schools and other institutions to challenge their 
peers to see who can be the most active workplace or school in Sault Ste. Marie! 

 

 

 

 

Recommended 
Partners  

• Sault Cycling Club  
• Recreation, Programming, Culture and Tourism Department  
• Surrounding Municipalities  
• Voyageur Trail Association 

Inspiration  • Town of Halton Hills – Community Cycling Challenge (Click Here) 
• Forest City Cycling Challenge (Click Here)  

Page 294 of 411

https://rickbonnette.blogspot.com/2013/05/halton-hills-200000-km-community.html
https://www.ridelondon.ca/copy-of-about


  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 6. Education, Encouragement and Tourism 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 95 

Program #5: Implement Designated Amenity Hubs         

Designing for comfortable and convenient active travel requires that all stages of a trip be 
considered – especially the end of a trip. Similar to how vehicle parking is provided when new 
developments are constructed, the City should be considering how cycling and walking are 
accommodated at popular destinations within the community. Features should be prioritized at 
key destinations and at important landmarks along popular routes and should reflect a complete 
and comprehensive understanding of an active traveller’s needs and concerns. When 
appropriate, existing amenities such as libraries, community centers, parks and other publicly 
owned land should be leveraged, to minimize the need for new easements. Common features 
which should be incorporated within these designated amenity hubs include: 

• Bicycle parking units: short-term and long-term units as well as seasonal “corrals” within 
highly trafficked areas. 

• Shelters and rest areas: comfortable seating options with enough coverage to protect 
users from the natural elements. 

• Lighting: adequate lighting to ensure user safety and minimize potential hazards due to 
obscured visibility. 

• Water refill stations: fountains or water bottle refill machines that allow active travellers 
to remain hydrated. 

• Signage and wayfinding maps: to address navigational needs. 

• Bike repair stands: optional feature, fixture with a series of tools attached. 

Recommended 
Partners  

• Public Works Department 
• Local Businesses   
• Public Health Unit  

Inspiration  • City of Toronto – Scarborough Bike Hub (Click Here) 
• City of Ottawa – Bike Repair Station (Click Here) 

 

Page 295 of 411

https://www.tcat.ca/lawrence-orton-bike-hub-opening/
https://ottawa.ca/en/parking-roads-and-travel/active-transportation/bike-parking-and-repair-stands#section-8aa44a05-9e94-4392-8906-feab084ed4d8


  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 6. Education, Encouragement and Tourism 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 96 

PHASE 3: Advanced Programming  

The third and final category of programming recommendations includes measures appropriate to 
implement once a strong active transportation culture has been established. These programs 
serve to both leverage the momentum of past initiatives as well as tailor the growing diversity of 
audiences now consider active transportation as either a mode of travel or recreational activity. 
Often requiring a higher degree of financial and human resources, programs should rely on either 
existing partnerships or establish new ones among local institutions and services, for support with 
planning, funding, and coordination. These types of programs should be undertaken once all the 
items in the “Foundations” and “Basics” are underway but could be expedited if an opportunity for 
an injection of resources from external funding sources arose. 

Program #1: Bike Valet at Community Events           

Bike Valet is a highly visible, effective way of showing a community’s commitment to making 
cycling easier, safer and more convenient.  Sault Ste. Marie should host Bike Valet at the 
Farmers’ Market while it is in season, offer the service at regular festivals and events downtown.  
This would provide a benefit to the community – providing people on bikes with a safe place to 
lock their bike while at community events and providing an opportunity for Municipal 
representatives to talk with riders about cycling in Sault Ste. Marie.  The City could also consider 
integrating bike valet into the special events permitting process to ensure that all special events 
in Sault Ste. Marie include provisions for Bike Valet.  This could be accompanied by a small fee 
for event organizers to pay for staffing at the bike valet, and could help the community make 
bike valet a more reliable element of special events in Sault Ste. Marie. 

 

Recommended 
Partners  

• Parks and Recreation 
• Tourism Sault Ste. Marie  

Inspiration  • Town of Saugeen Shore – Bike Valet (Click Here) 
• City of Toronto – Bike Valet (Click Here)  

 

Page 296 of 411

https://calendar.saugeenshores.ca/default/Detail/2022-06-12-1100-TOM-Bike-Valet-Parking
https://www.cycleto.ca/bikevalet


  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 6. Education, Encouragement and Tourism 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 97 

Program #2: Monitoring and Evaluation Scheme            

One common challenge faced by smaller cities like Sault Ste. Marie relates to the lack of data on 
active transportation to inform meaningful planning decisions. Failing to understand who is 
cycling and walking, where they are doing so, prevents the City from understanding where 
investments should be made and whether past decisions were effective. While there are many 
data collection methods available, a common approach involves installing trail counter devices 
to identify a baseline figure of the number of people using the trails every day. Within Sault Ste. 
Marie, counters would be particularly essential along key segments of the John Rosewell John 
Rowswell Hub Trail. In addition to trail counters, consider an annual in-person count program, 
potentially by partnering with a high school to offer volunteer hours for students who participate 
in observational counting. The in-person counting can be used to supplement and verify the data 
collected by the automated trail counters. Using this data, the City is advised to monitor 
ridership trends on an annual basis, as one indicator of the efficacy of past active transportation 
investments.  

 

Recommended 
Partners  

• Local Schools 

Inspiration  • City of Owen Sound – Trail User Counters  
• City of Waterloo – Bicycle Counter (Click Here)  

Page 297 of 411

https://www.waterloochronicle.ca/news-story/10132369-cyclists-trail-usership-up-by-thousands-in-waterloo/


  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 6. Education, Encouragement and Tourism 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 98 

Program #3: Bike Equipment Giveaways             

In addition to empowering cyclists with a proper education of road and traffic safety, the City 
should also assist them with procuring vital safety equipment. A common concern among all 
road and trail users is the lack of visibility of people walking and cycling, especially at night and 
during periods of poor visibility. Despite being required under the Highway Traffic Act, many 
cyclists lack a working light or bell on their bike to safely travel. To address this, the City should 
work with community partners to inform and distribute basic safety equipment. This can be 
achieved through a series of “pop-up” giveaways at local festivals or key points in the active 
transportation network (e.g. along the John Rowswell Hub Trail), where cyclists are intercepted 
and given such materials for free. To support local active transportation branding efforts, it is 
also suggested that such materials be custom-designed and procured to feature the City’s logo. 
Suggested items that ought to be distributed include: 

• Small, easy attachable bike lights  
• Bicycle bells 
• Adhesive light reflective bands 
• Water bottles 

 

  

Recommended 
Partners  

• Local Bike Shops  
• Public Health Unit   
• Sault Cycling Club  

Inspiration  • City of Ottawa – Lights on Bikes (Click Here) 
• City of Thunder Bay – Light the Night  

 

Page 298 of 411

https://bikeottawa.ca/2014/11/02/lights-on-bikes/


  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 6. Education, Encouragement and Tourism 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 99 

 

 

  

Program #4: Bike Rodeos              

One of the most effective ways to create a stronger culture of cycling is to start with the youth in 
the community.  With a small number of elementary schools, Sault Ste. Marie can feasibly ensure 
that all local students receive cycling education through Bike Rodeos for a relatively small 
investment. Led by the active transportation coordinator, the City should strive to have young 
students participate in a Bike Rodeo every school year. This will give all local students proper 
instruction in basic bike handling, helping to encourage safer cycling practices later in life, and 
healthier active lifestyles. Students can learn about road safety, bike maintenance and helmet 
fit. To minimize costs and provide students with an opportunity to apply skills learned from the 
Bike Rodeos, the initiative should be coordinated with the Active School Travel Program. 

Recommended 
Partners  

• Local Schools   
• Ontario Active School Coordinator  
• Public Health Unit  
• Police Service   

Inspiration  • Peel Children’s Safety Village – Bicycle Rodeo Community Kit (Click 
Here)  

• Waterloo Region – Cycling into the Future (Click Here)  
• Ontario Active School Travel – Bike Rodeo Toolkit (Click Here)  

Page 299 of 411

https://www.peelpolice.ca/en/safety-tips/bicycle-rodeo-community-kit.aspx
https://www.peelpolice.ca/en/safety-tips/bicycle-rodeo-community-kit.aspx
https://www.therecord.com/news/waterloo-region/2019/05/28/cycling-into-the-future-wants-to-see-every-kid-in-waterloo-region-on-a-bike.html
https://ontarioactiveschooltravel.ca/wp-content/uploads/2017/08/Tips-for-Organizing-Successful-Bike-Rodeos-En.pdf


  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 6. Education, Encouragement and Tourism 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 100 

6.2 Implementation Summary 

The suggested programs and prioritization detail a strategic approach that the City can take to 
support a cultural shift in support of active transportation in Sault Ste. Marie among residents and 
visitors. To support these initiatives, additional staffing capacity will be required within the City, 
which is why a foundational recommendation is to create an Active Transportation Coordinator 
position. The gradual scaling up of program offerings outlined here allows the City to slowly expand 
the role, starting off with a summer student position and eventually scaling up to a full-time 
position where the coordinator can support both the programming and the development of new 
infrastructure within the City. With this additional staffing support, the City will be well equipped to 
achieve the desired goals and objectives of this ATMP. A summary of the anticipated staffing 
resources, proposed programs and estimated costs for Phase 1, Phase 2 and Phase 3 proposed 
programs / initiatives, is presented within Table 5, Table 6, and Table 7, respectively. 

Table 5 | Summary of Programs for Phase 1: Foundations 

Phase 1 Programs Estimated Costs Cost Frequency 

Routine Community Slow Roll 
Events 

$2,500 Annual 

Initiate an Active School 
Travel Program 

$10,000 Annual 

Open Streets Events $5,000 Annual 

AT Distance Wayfinding Maps 
& Signs 

$20,000 (initial) 

$10,000 (additional signage) 

One-time cost 

Active Transportation 
Advisory Committee 

$2,500 Annual 

Support for Marginalized 
Communities 

$5,000 Annual 

Total Costs $25,000 plus 

$30,000   

Annual 

Wayfinding Strategy and 
signage 

Staffing resources required: 0.25 FTE 

Page 300 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 6. Education, Encouragement and Tourism 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 101 

Table 6 | Summary of Programs for Phase 2: Basic Programming 

Phase 2 Programs Estimated Costs Cost Frequency 

Winter Wheels Program $5,000 Annual 

1m Safe Passing Public Awareness 
Campaign $2500 Annual 

Lunch and Learn Workplace 
Active Transportation Workshop $0 One-Time 

E-Bike Loan Service $10,000 One time 

Community Cycling Challenge $5,000 Annual 

Implement Designated Amenity 
Hubs $5,000  

Annual 

 

Total Costs 
$17,500 

$10,000 

Annual 

One-time cost 

Staffing resources required: 0.25 - 0.4 FTE 

 

Table 7 | Summary of Programs for Phase 3: Advanced Programming 

Phase 3 Estimated Costs Cost Frequency 

Bike Valet at Community Events $5,000 One-time 

Monitoring & Evaluation Scheme $5,000 Annual 

Bike Equipment Giveaways $1,000 Annual 

Bike Rodeos $1,000 Annual 

Total Costs 
$7,000 

$5,000 

Annual 

One-time costs 

Staffing resources required: 0.5 – 1.0 FTE 

  

Page 301 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 7. Implementation Plan 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 102 

7 Implementation Plan 
The Sault Ste. Marie ATMP is a long-range, functional document that will shape the development, 
design, execution, and ongoing management of the active transportation network, along with 
supportive programs and initiatives for the long-term. It provides flexible guidelines to help city 
staff foster a culture of active and sustainable travel through the establishment of new routes, 
improvements to existing ones, and the creation of supportive infrastructure and programs. 

Creating a safe and accessible network for all users, regardless of age or ability, requires 
meaningful financial investment and supportive resources. Implementing this plan will require 
ongoing collaboration between the City, its partners, and the public at large. This is to ensure that 
the plan’s recommendations are realistic for Sault Ste. Marie and have broad community support. 
Collaborative efforts will encompass planning and implementing physical infrastructure, educating 
users on proper facility use, and promoting the City’s existing assets. These efforts aim to 
maximize the economic and social potential of active transportation in Sault Ste. Marie. 

This chapter is intended to be used as a resource for City staff. It aims to guide the day-to-day 
decision-making that will drive short-term progress while encouraging long-term initiatives. It 
should also be considered when determining policy amendments or additions, and as a tool for 
budgeting annual capital and operating budgets. It contains: 

• A proposed phasing strategy 
• Costing estimates in implementing the ATMP 
• Potential partnerships & funding opportunities 
• Supportive Policies and Implementation Considerations for implementing the network 
• Other considerations to guide future decision-making, policy, and planning processes 

 

  

Page 302 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 7. Implementation Plan 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 103 

7.1 Phasing the Network 

7.1.1 Network Phasing 

Developing an appropriate phasing strategy for the proposed network is an essential element of an 
Active Transportation Master Plan to ensure the City’s vision is implemented within a suitable 
timeline. A phased approach to implementation has been divided into two stages: Near-term and 
Long-term. Each segment of the proposed active transportation network was categorized based 
on several considerations below. 

Upon adoption of this ATMP, staff should begin with the implementation of the near-term projects, 
as these are of the greatest importance to the City and its residents. As the proposed active 
transportation network is rolled out across the City, it is recommended for staff to review and 
confirm the proposed facility or enhancement at each location. The phasing plan should also be 
updated annually to reflect changes in the budget and align with the annual resurfacing program.  

The city's priorities are dynamic and can change over time. It is important that the rollout of the 
network remains flexible and adapts to these evolving priorities. As a result, some projects initially 
planned for the near-term may need to be extended to the long-term, and vice versa. While 
budgetary constraints may arise, it is imperative the implementation of this ATMP remains a top 
priority. 

Near-Term Projects 

Near-term routes will roll out of key elements in the active transportation network to ensure the 
most critical components of the network are established quickly, so that people can start enjoying 
and utilizing these networks as soon as possible.  
 
The bulk of near-term projects involve implementing cycling and multi-use facilities since this is 
one of the greatest barriers to active transportation use in the City. While sidewalk improvements 
aren’t deemed under the near-term projects in this phasing plan, addressing priority gaps in the 
sidewalk network should be an annual consideration.  
Near-term routes were selected based on the following considerations: 

• Key Gaps: Routes that close key gaps in current routes, including the John Rowswell Hub Trail, 
to support network connectivity and continuity throughout the city. 

• Quick Wins: Low investment routes and “quick wins”. These investments focus on low-cost, 
high impact elements that establish critical links to close gaps in the existing transportation 
network and enhance network continuity. This includes traffic calming/Shared Bike Routes 
that offer connections to existing active transportation facilities. These investments improve 
pedestrian and active transportation user safety and network connectivity along streets with 
lower vehicle volumes and speeds. They also provide alternative or parallel routes in areas 
where higher-tier cycling facilities may take longer to implement. 

• Bundled projects: Routes along areas of proposed capital/road resurfacing projects within the 
next year that can be bundled with these works for efficiency and cost savings. 

Page 303 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 7. Implementation Plan 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 104 

• Priority Areas: Segments in priority and high-demand areas identified by the City and through 
equity analysis. This includes connections to the City’s west end, James Street and Downtown 
Neighbourhoods, routes near schools, and corridors like Boundary Road and South Market 
Street, Great Northern Road. 

• Safety: Routes in areas with a high number of incidents areas, where there are a greater 
number of collisions or near-misses. 

• Major Destinations: Links to major destinations, such as educational institutions, employment 
centres, and the waterfront. 

• Initial implementation of the West End Hub Trail: While the ultimate facility for the expansion 
of the John Rowswell Hub Trail in the city’s west end is a multi-use path, this may not be 
immediately feasible along Peoples Road, Elliott Road, Rossmore Road, and Korah Road. In the 
short term, the City can explore building other facility options, such as shared, designated, or 
protected facilities, to establish a direct east-west connection between Peoples Road and 
Goulais Avenue. 

Long-Term Projects 

The period after the initial roll out of the network will focus on implementing the remaining 
facilities that require more time, planning, and resources to implement, or those that will occur 
alongside other capital projects not scheduled in the short-term.  

Long-term projects will continue the momentum that has grown to build a stronger culture of 
active transportation in Sault Ste. Marie.  When planning the long-term implementation of these 
facilities, it is necessary to adopt a strategic approach that balances community needs, strategic 
priorities, costs, and available resources. These projects can be scheduled for future 
implementation as resources and funding become available. Periodic reviews of routes identified 
for long-term implementation will help determine the optimal phasing based on available budgets, 
resources and opportunities, such as infrastructure grants or community partnerships. 

Projects are identified as long-term projects based on the following considerations: 

• Substantial investments: Facilities that require more substantial investment and 
infrastructure, such as physically separated and off-road facilities. 

• Ultimate West End Hub Trail: Implementation of the ultimate facility determined for the John 
Rowswell Hub Trail’s expansion in the city’s west end, given it will require substantial 
investments and further studies to determine the appropriate ultimate facility. 

• Additional study: Routes that will require additional investigation and studies to confirm 
feasibility/design. 

• Long-term Road Reconstruction: Segments that should be implemented when a roadway 
undergoes full reconstruction in the future (i.e. not anticipated within the next 5 years). 

• Sidewalk improvements: Improvements to the sidewalk network. 
• Further study: Routes that will require additional investigation and studies to confirm 

feasibility/design, including projects that require additional discussions with the Ministry of 
Transportation before they can proceed. 

Page 304 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 7. Implementation Plan 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 105 

In addition to several shared routes and bike lanes along local and collector roads, the following are 
the arterial corridors recommended to undergo active transportation improvements or upgrades 
in the near-term: 

• Wellington Street West/Peoples Road, between Lyons Avenue and Elliot Road 
• Second Line East, between North Street and Peoples Road 
• Bruce Street, between Bay Street and Pim Street 
• Gore Street, between Bay Street and Wellington Street East 
• Bay Street West, between Huron Street and Gore Street 
• Pim Street, between Wellington Street East and Summit Avenue 
• Church Street, between Queen Street East and Wellington Street East 
• Wellington Street East, between East Street and Pim Street 
• Great Northern, between Willoughby Street and Industrial Park Crescent 
• Pine Street, between Queen Street East and Wellington Street East 
• Black Road, between Trunk Road and McNabb Street 

 

 

 

Page 305 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 7. Implementation Plan 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 106 

Figure 37 | Phasing of the Active Transportation Network (Urban Area)

Page 306 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 7. Implementation Plan 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 107 

Figure 38 | Phasing of the Active Transportation Network (City-Wide)

Page 307 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 7. Implementation Plan 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 108 

7.1.2 Interim Solutions  

The active transportation network cannot be implemented overnight. Interim tactical solutions are 
a valuable consideration for projects that face immediate implementation challenges due to 
logistical or resource constraints, or those that require rapid deployment in response to safety 
concerns or high demand. These solutions are cost-effective, short-term, and efficient 
interventions designed to enhance the safety of pedestrians and cyclists. Interim solutions are 
typically implemented in scenarios where there is:  

• Insufficient space to accommodate the preferred facility type. 
• Need for an assessment of environmental impacts and constraints. 
• Routes that will be part of total road reconstruction in the long-term. 
• Land is not available to accommodate the facility type. 
• The budget to implement the preferred facility is not available within the desired timeline. 

Interim tactical solutions offer a practical and effective approach to address immediate needs 
while planning for long-term improvements. They also offer the ability to trial street configurations 
temporarily without committing substantial investments.  

Tactical solutions for enhancing pedestrian and active transportation user safety can be seen in 
cities across Canada. Sault Ste. Marie could consider similar interventions tailored to the specific 
needs of the area. For example, the use of modular or pre-fabricated curbs or flexible delineators 
can be used to clearly define bike lanes that are separate from vehicle traffic, extend curbs that 
calm traffic and shorten crossings distances, and enhance pedestrian spaces (illustrated in Figure 
39). These basic yet effective measures can significantly contribute to the safety and efficiency of 
active transportation infrastructure. It is recommended that the City explore interim active 
transportation and pedestrian improvements to allow for faster implement of the active 
transportation network.  

 

 
Figure 39 | Examples of tactical interim interventions 

Page 308 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 7. Implementation Plan 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 109 

7.2 Costing Estimates 

To help inform future capital budgets and decision making, a high-level cost estimate to 
implement the updated active transportation network and recreational trails was developed. 
These estimated costs are based on 2024 unit costs facility per kilometre, contingency, and 
design and approvals costs. The 2024 unit costs were identified are based on best practices and 
recent tenders and projects of similar scope in Ontario and are not intended to be prescriptive.  

Appendix C presents the standalone cost summary for the implementation of the active 
transportation network planned for near- and long-term network implementation.  

Overall, the estimated standalone cost of implementation the proposed 313 km of active 
transportation facilities is approximately $133 million. This includes: 

• $11 million in recreational pathways; 
• $53 million in bicycle facility infrastructure; 
• $34 million in multi-use infrastructure and John Rowswell Hub Trail expansion; and 
• $36 million in sidewalk network expansion. 

Bundling the construction of the active transportation network with other road projects, such 
as road reconstruction, can significantly lower the overall implementation cost due to several 
factors, such as more efficient use of resources and minimized disruption to traffic and the 
community. It is highly recommended that the city considers implementing this network with other 
road projects to leverage existing resources and reduces redundant expenses. 

The portion of the network recommended for near-term implementation represents 17% of the 
estimated total network costs, with the remaining 83% of the costs allocated to the network 
development in the long-term.  

A substantial portion (27%) of the estimated implementation cost is dedicated to sidewalk 
improvements, additions, and replacements. These projects will aim to enhance accessibility and 
ensure pedestrians have safe spaces to walk and roll. As a result, it will be necessary to integrate 
sidewalk investments into the annual budgeting processes from the outset to achieve significant 
cost savings. 

Another 25% of the estimated implementation costs focus on expanding the multi-use path 
network. This includes the expansion of the John Rowswell Hub Trail and its extension into the 
City’s west end, which accounts for 8% of the estimated total costs, and extending a multi-use 
network along Trunk Road.  

Bicycle infrastructure, excluding paved shoulders, accounts for 10% of the estimated 
implementation costs,  yet it covers almost 37% of the total length of the proposed active 
transportation network. This demonstrates that investing in bicycle infrastructure is a cost-
effective way to enhance the connectivity of the transportation network.  

 

Page 309 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 7. Implementation Plan 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 110 

7.3 Partnerships and Funding Opportunities 

7.3.1 Partnerships  

Successful implementation of this ATMP will require collaborative partnerships across the several 
groups identified throughout the report. City staff will work alongside other levels of government 
and stakeholders to build, maintain, and promote active transportation assets and programs to 
achieve the Plan’s vision and goals. 

Sault Ste. Marie has a number of existing partnerships that can support the implementation of this 
Plan. A key partnership is the one between the City staff and the public transit services. Public 
transit serves as the foundation for a more multi-modal future for the Sault Ste. Marie and 
presents the opportunity to enhance the overall active transportation network by providing active 
transportation supportive amenities like bicycle parking and benches and shelters at bus stops. 
These enhancements improve user comfort and encourages the use of multiple modes in a trip, 
while broadening the potential customer base for Sault Ste. Marie Transit Services. This supports 
first-mile, last-mile travel and ultimately contributing to the culture shift needed to reduce private 
vehicle use. 

Leveraging these existing partnerships, the City can also establish new partnerships to further 
support active transportation and the implementation of the ATMP. Sault Ste. Marie’s unique 
balance of access to natural areas and urban amenities gives it a competitive edge. The City’s 
commitment to enhancing the quality of life for its residents and enriching the experience for 
tourists is evident through its investments in active transportation. This commitment not only 
reinforces the culture of active transportation but also positions the city to establish more 
partnerships and attract investors, setting the City up to become a leader in active tourism in 
Ontario. 

A table of proposed partners and their anticipated role is presented in Table 8. This is not an 
exhaustive list. It is essential to remain open to new partnerships that present themselves in the 
future. The City should leverage any future opportunities for additional partners to support 
implementation of the ATMP. 

Page 310 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 7. Implementation Plan 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 111 

Table 8 | Proposed Partners and Roles 

Potential Partners 

Anticipated Roles 

Pl
an

ni
ng

 

D
es

ig
n 

Po
lic

ie
s 

C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 

M
ai

nt
en

an
ce

 

E
nf

or
ce

m
en

t 

E
du

ca
ti

on
 

Pr
om

ot
io

n 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Staff  
(Recreation, Public Works, Transit, Planning, Engineering) • • • • •  • • 
Sault Trails Advocacy Committee & Sault 
Cycling Club  • •   •  • • 

Accessibility Advisory Committee • •   •  • • 

Environmental Sustainability Committee •  •      
Sault Ste. Marie Downtown Association        • 

Sault Ste. Marie Chamber of Commerce        • 
Local organizations and advocacy groups       • • 

Sault Ste. Marie Police Department      • •  
Algoma Public Health   •    • • 

Provincial Stakeholders • • •    • • 
School Boards       • • 
Sault Climate Hub       • • 

7.3.2 Additional Funding Options 

The City is encouraged to monitor available funding opportunities within and external to the City, 
and to use the information contained within this plan to support funding applications. Given the 
various initiatives and programs highlighted in this plan, is important for the City to seek a diverse 
range of funding sources. 

Development charges can help cover initial costs to develop the active transportation network 
infrastructure. Through a by-law, the City may be able to impose area-specific development 
charges to fund these enhancements. 

Leveraging external funding sources are an effective way to reduce the City’s costs while being an 
opportunity to develop new partnerships. Table 9 presents a list of potential external funding 
sources that could be explored. These sources may be subject to change, and should be reviewed 
again prior to applications for any updates or changes.  

Page 311 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 7. Implementation Plan 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 112 

Table 9 | Potential Funding Opportunities 

Funding Opportunities Additional details 

Federal Active 
Transportation Fund 

For additional details regarding the Active Transportation Fund refer to: 
https://www.infrastructure.gc.ca/trans/active-actif-eng.html  

Canada Community-
Building Fund / 
Provincial Gas Tax 

For the federal Canada Community-Building Fund program please refer to: 
https://www.infrastructure.gc.ca/plan/gtf-fte-eng.html  
For the provincial program refer to: 
http://www.mto.gov.on.ca/english/service-commitment/gas-tax-
program.shtml  

Federation of Canadian 
Municipalities Green 
Municipal Fund 

For additional details regarding the Green Municipal Fund and potential 
funding alternatives refer to: https://fcm.ca/home/programs/green-
municipal-fund.htm  

Federal and Provincial 
Infrastructure / 
Stimulus Programs 

For Federal Government infrastructure stimulus fund details refer to: 
https://www.canada.ca/en/office-infrastructure.html  
For Provincial Government infrastructure stimulus fund details refer to: 
https://www.ontario.ca/page/ministry-infrastructure  

Ontario Trillium 
Foundation 

For details regarding potential funding alternatives refer to: 
https://otf.ca/  

Ontario Rural Economic 
Development Program 

For details refer to: 
http://www.grants.gov.on.ca/GrantsPortal/en/OntarioGrants/GrantOppor
tunities/PRDR006918  

Ontario Sport and 
Recreation 
Communities Fund 

As part of the Ontario Sport and Recreation Communities Fund: 
https://www.ontario.ca/page/rural-economic-development-program  

Tourism Economic 
Development and 
Recovery Fund 

For additional details regarding the Tourism Development fund refer to: 
https://www.ontario.ca/page/available-funding-opportunities-ontario-
government#section-26  

Service Club Support Lions, Rotary and Optimist clubs who often assist with highly visible 
projects at the community level.  

Corporate 
Environmental Funds 
(e.g. Shell, TD, MEC, 
etc.) 

For example refer to: 
https://www.shell.ca/en_ca/sustainability/communities/funding-
guidelines-process.html  for Shell Canada’s Social Investment Program or 
https://www.td.com/corporate-responsibility/fef-grant.jsp for TD’s 
Friends of the Environment Foundation Grant 

Private Citizen 
Donation / Bequeaths 

Can also include tax receipts for donors where appropriate. 

 

Page 312 of 411

https://www.infrastructure.gc.ca/trans/active-actif-eng.html
https://www.infrastructure.gc.ca/plan/gtf-fte-eng.html
http://www.mto.gov.on.ca/english/service-commitment/gas-tax-program.shtml
http://www.mto.gov.on.ca/english/service-commitment/gas-tax-program.shtml
https://fcm.ca/home/programs/green-municipal-fund.htm
https://fcm.ca/home/programs/green-municipal-fund.htm
https://www.canada.ca/en/office-infrastructure.html
https://www.ontario.ca/page/ministry-infrastructure
https://otf.ca/
http://www.grants.gov.on.ca/GrantsPortal/en/OntarioGrants/GrantOpportunities/PRDR006918
http://www.grants.gov.on.ca/GrantsPortal/en/OntarioGrants/GrantOpportunities/PRDR006918
https://www.ontario.ca/page/rural-economic-development-program
https://www.ontario.ca/page/available-funding-opportunities-ontario-government#section-26
https://www.ontario.ca/page/available-funding-opportunities-ontario-government#section-26
https://www.shell.ca/en_ca/sustainability/communities/funding-guidelines-process.html
https://www.shell.ca/en_ca/sustainability/communities/funding-guidelines-process.html
https://www.td.com/corporate-responsibility/fef-grant.jsp


  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 7. Implementation Plan 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 113 

7.4 Supportive Policies and Implementation Considerations 

This section presents a series of proposed policies and considerations for City staff to consider 
when implementing the active transportation network. These are designed to complement and 
enhance the integration of active transportation within the city, thereby promoting a cultural shift 
towards the increased use of active modes of travel. 

7.4.1 Complete Streets & Safety  

Street Retrofits and Urban Design 

• All new streets and street retrofit projects (i.e. the redesign or modification of existing streets) 
within the urban area should consider complete street principles in their design to better 
accommodate pedestrians and active transportation users. This includes constructing 
sidewalks on both sides of the road; however, where significant barriers exist, a sidewalk can 
be constructed on one side of the road.  

• Priority of street retrofitting projects should be based on implementing the active 
transportation network outlined in this Plan. 

• Even along streets with no plans for active transportation infrastructure, the City should 
design pedestrian and bicycle-friendly streets. This includes geometric safety improvements, 
crosswalks, wider sidewalks, traffic calming measures, and well-lit pathways.  

• Streets should also be designed to reduce pedestrian crossing distances by considering 
narrower lanes and implementing curb extensions or median islands, where feasible. 

• Planning/design studies and development reviews should encourage street design that 
incorporates active transportation friendly streetscaping and urban design, and active 
transportation-oriented land development. 

• Ecological function of streets should be enhanced through green infrastructure, landscaping, 
and natural and sustainable materials to reduce flooding and improve visual appeal. 

Safety and Traffic Calming 

• The City should adopt a Vision Zero initiatives and Safe System approach to prioritize safety 
and emphasize human-centered design. 

• Streets with shared bike routes should undergo an assessment to determine the appropriate 
street design interventions, in accordance with the City’s Traffic Calming Policy. This includes 
integrating a range of design features, including signage, pavement markings, traffic calming, 
and geometric safety improvements. After implementation, regular evaluations of the 
effectiveness of these measures should occur, with necessary adjustments based on user 
feedback and traffic data. 

• Assess whether specific locations within the network should be designated as Community 
Safety Zones. 

• The City should continue to monitor collision hot spot locations and identify safety mitigation 
measures, as needed.  

• The City should conduct an evaluation of speed limits city-wide to identify where reducing 
posted speed limits would be most beneficial.  

• Along corridors where active transportation facilities are being proposed, the City should 
consider speed limit reductions (and reductions in the design speed of those corridors) to 

Page 313 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 7. Implementation Plan 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 114 

improve safety for all users along those routes. Corridors where shared facilities are 
recommended should consider speed limit reductions to a maximum speed of 40 km/h to 
improve safety for all roadway users. 

7.4.2 Intersection and Trail Crossings 

• The design of intersections and crossings must 
accommodate for various users including pedestrians, 
cyclists, motor vehicles, trucks, and people using 
transit. 

• Given the potential for conflicts at these locations, it is 
important that best practices in intersection and 
crossing design (i.e., OTM Books 15 and 18, and the OTC 
Protected Intersection guide) be referenced whenever 
a path or cycling facility crosses a roadway. Wherever 
feasible, it is strongly advised the City implement 
protected intersections to enhance the safety and 
comfort for all road users, guided by the OTC Protected 
Intersection Guide. 

• The City should establish a program to review pedestrian crossings and crossrides through 
ongoing traffic operations studies or annual corridor reviews. The program would aim to 
identify the most effective treatments for pedestrian crossings and seek opportunities to 
increase the frequency of pedestrian crossings at significant barriers, such as mid-block 
pedestrian crossings for trail access and rail corridor crossings.  

7.4.3 Equitability and Accessibility 

Engagement 

• Targeted communication and on-going engagement with underrepresented groups should be 
developed to ensure their specific needs are being addressed in the planning and design of the 
proposed projects in this ATMP.  

• Continue to collaborate with immigrant, refugee, and other community organizations to 
educate and promote active transportation as a comfortable, safe, and inexpensive 
transportation option. 

Accessibility and Inclusivity 

• ATMP projects in neighbourhoods with higher equity needs should be prioritized. 
• Sidewalks should be designed in accordance with the highest accessibility standards and 

regulations. This ensures safe and easily accessible pathways for all users. 
• Both unsignalized and signalized intersections should be assessed for potential upgrades that 

meet AODA standards, as warranted. 
• The City should prioritize upgrades, maintenance, and programming that address accessibility 

barriers to network access and usage. 
• Future active transportation facility design and programming needs to consider mechanisms 

for mitigating barriers to use for a diverse range of people, not just those with physical 
impairments. This includes barriers related to differing cognitive abilities, issues related to 
income, language, race, religion, sexual orientation, health, and gender. 

Page 314 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 7. Implementation Plan 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 115 

7.4.4 Active Transportation-Supportive Amenities 

• An inventory of current amenities that support active 
transportation users should be conducted within the 
current network. 

• Work with businesses and provide safe and secure 
bicycle parking at key destinations, commercial hubs, and 
transportation hubs, and along waterfront routes. 

• Bicycle parking should be included on every street type, 
with priority along Urban Avenues and Main Streets and 
near key destinations like community hubs, commercial 
areas, and tourist areas. Exceptions may be given to 
neighbourhood streets and rural roads. Consideration 
should be given to seasonal changes or events, in which 
case seasonal or temporary bicycle parking should be explored. 

Comfort and Safety 

• Incorporate places along multi-use paths and off-road multi-use trails for people to rest and 
take refuge, like washrooms, sheltered areas, or formal or informal seating.  

• In urban settings, seating or rest areas should be provided every 200 to 400 meters, depending 
on the context to ensure that users have frequent opportunities to rest. More frequent seating 
should be provided in areas with a higher potential for users with mobility impairments, such as 
near seniors' homes and at viewpoints. Providing frequent rest areas makes using active 
modes of transportation easier and more appealing, particularly for those with mobility 
challenges.  

• In more natural and secluded settings, fewer seating areas may be appropriate and 
implemented at trailheads and viewpoints/points of interest. 

• Urban routes should be properly lit to remove barriers to recreational and commuter use at all 
times of the day; in particular, along routes that facilitate connections to transit, amenities and 
community services. In areas where full lighting is not feasible, the City should consider ‘refuge’ 
lighting key areas at regular intervals, as well as solar lighting options. 

Wayfinding 

• The City should expand and implement wayfinding along the John Rowswell Hub Trail and 
active transportation routes in tourist and commercial areas. Wayfinding should provide 
information on other nearby routes and destinations to help users navigate the active 
transportation network easily. 

7.4.5 Integration with Rail Corridors 

• The City should assess the feasibility of using rail corridors within Sault Ste. Marie for active 
transportation. The rail corridor along Trunk Road presents an opportunity to provide an 
uninterrupted east-west connection through the urban area of the City. These facilities should 
be built to established multi-use path design standards, however, they require safe separation 
between the rail tracks and the pathway, such as fencing, vegetation buffers, or grade 
separations, to prevent conflicts between trail users and trains. Consider referencing guidance 
from Rails to Trails Conservancy. 

Page 315 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 7. Implementation Plan 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 116 

• The City has faced challenges in determining how to establish railway crossings. It is advisable 
to conduct an evaluation to identify the best options for addressing this issue. 

7.4.6 Zoning by-law 

• When a new zoning by-law is developed, or as part of a municipally initiated zoning by-law 
amendment(s), language supporting active transportation should be strengthened. 

• Zoning by-law amendments should focus on enhancing active transportation amenities in 
private developments. This includes increasing the number of minimum bicycle parking spaces 
in residential, commercial, and institutional developments, as well as building features that 
accommodate covered-walkway structures that protect pedestrians from the weather and 
elements, like awnings.  

• Modifications to the zoning by-law could gradually incorporate design elements into new 
developments over time and create a public realm that encourages and supports active travel. 

7.4.7 New Developments 

• New communities and parks should be planned and designed to encourage safe and accessible 
active travel. This includes constructing sidewalks on both sides of all new roads within urban 
contexts to improve the accessibility and connectivity of the pedestrian environment within 
the City. In areas with low to very low density, or for short sections of local streets, it may be 
acceptable to have sidewalks on one side depending on the specific context and pedestrian 
traffic volumes. 

• New development area applications and site plans should be reviewed to identify opportunities 
for connecting future communities to the city’s active transportation network. 

• Traffic calming features should be considered during the planning stages of all private 
development, capital construction and capital reconstruction. 

• The City must work with the development community to proactively integrate active 
transportation linkages and supportive amenities. Development applications should specify 
how they will support active transportation and amenities, including the provision of secure 
bicycle and micromobility parking. 

7.4.8 E-Micromobility and Emerging Technologies  

• The City should conduct a study to assess how emerging micromobility trends and 
technologies will affect the active transportation network and influence the use of active 
modes. This could provide valuable insights into potential 
challenges and opportunities to take advantage of when 
implementing the network. 

• Consider evaluating the feasibility of introducing a public bike 
sharing program and/or an electric scooter sharing program 
through external partnerships with private operators, 
particularly in the Downtown. 

• Existing by-laws should be reviewed and amended as 
necessary to provide clear definitions and guidelines regarding 
the permitted and prohibited uses of electric bikes, electric 
scooters, and power-assisted bicycles, informed by MTO’s 
five-year e-scooter pilot program. As part of this initiative, 

Page 316 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 7. Implementation Plan 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 117 

MTO has addressed legal definitions and operational concerns which should considered prior 
to establishing or amending a by-law.  

• Consideration could be given to installing publicly accessible charging outlets for e-bikes and 
e-scooters within the City to support the use of e-micromobility devices and contribute to the 
decrease in private vehicle use. 

• Implement safety measures, such as strict e- micromobility device speed limits along shared 
paths and bike lanes. In high pedestrian traffic areas, restricting the use of e- micromobility 
devices may be considered. 

 

7.5 Operations and Maintenance 

As new infrastructure is commissioned, the City accepts the responsibility of operating and 
maintaining the infrastructure to ensure that the infrastructure is safe and reliable. The operations 
and maintenance of active transportation infrastructure is a crucial consideration when 
implementing the ATMP. Regular maintenance of these facilities through refurbishment or 
replacement of components prolongs the service life of the facilities. 

Maintenance practices for active transportation facilities can include: 

• Snow clearance / ice control 
• Sweeping 
• Surface repairs 
• Pavement markings and signage 
• Vegetation management 
• Drainage improvements and drainage grates 

Clear guidance on asset management and maintenance is provided in the City’s Asset Management 
Plan. The plan outlines level of services standards, asset management strategies and actions for 
sidewalks and roads in compliance with O. Reg. 239/02 – Minimum Maintenance Standards (MMS). 
The MMS outlines various aspects of road maintenance and operations including the frequency of 
road inspections, weather monitoring, ice formation on roadways, snow accumulation and 
sidewalk trip ledges. It is recommended that as the City rolls out their active transportation 
network, the strategies outlined in the Asset Management Plan also be applied to the active 
transportation infrastructure. 

Table 10 outlines asset management assumptions and typical service life for various elements of 
an active transportation network. This information is based on best practices outlined in OTM Book 
18: Cycling Facilities; however, it is recommended that City review this information and consider 
the various strategies to manage their active transportation network.  

Page 317 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 7. Implementation Plan 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 118 

Table 10 | Asset Management Strategies Source - OTM Book 18 Update 

Type Useful Life Asset Management Strategies 

Asphalt bikeway 25 years 

• Minor repairs 
• Resurfacing 
• Rehabilitation 
• Full-depth replacement 

Concrete bikeway 50 years 
• Minor repairs 
• Replace deteriorating segments 
• Full replacement 

Bridge (active transportation 
or motor vehicle) 

25–75 years 
• Bridge repairs 
• Minor rehabilitation 
• Full replacement 

Culvert 25–50 years 
• Culvert repair 
• Minor rehabilitation 
• Full replacement 

Painted Line Markings and 
Symbols 

1–2 years • Refresh annually or depending on wear 

Durable Line Markings, 
Symbols and Green Surface 
Treatments 

3–7 years 
• Depends on type, weather conditions, 

amount of wear, preparation of surface 
during application 

Signage 20 years • Replace damaged or faded signs 

Physical separation (bollards, 
curbs, planters, etc.) 

Until damaged • Repair or replace damaged or missing 
bollards and other separators 

 

7.5.1 Winter Maintenance 

The City of Sault Ste. Marie provides snow clearing on its sidewalks and along some sections of the 
John Rowswell Hub Trail. As the City invests in the active transportation network, it is 
recommended that winter maintenance policies be adopted to ensure that priority cycling 
facilities remain open and accessible all year round. Many communities in Ontario have established 
priority winter cycling networks which identify key routes to receive enhanced snow clearing to 
ensure that those routes are clear and passable, comparable to the level of service to that which is 
provided on arterial roadways for motor vehicles. These routes should be comprised of a 
connected grid of high-comfort facilities that connect to the City’s key destinations. Establishing a 
priority winter cycling network provides a safer, more predictable network and sets clears 
expectations, providing users with a sense of confidence that their route will be clear and 
passable.  

Page 318 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 7. Implementation Plan 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 119 

Establishing a Priority Winter Cycling Network should start 
as a small pilot project where the City can assess staffing 
needs and determine what snow clearing equipment may be 
required. The pilot project will also give the community the 
opportunity to experience the winter maintained cycling 
routes and, when coupled with the programming 
recommendations in Chapter 6, may help to grow the City’s 
winter cycling culture. Ongoing evaluation of the pilot will 
determine whether to expand, maintain, or discontinue the 
Priority Winter Cycling Network.  

Page 319 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 8. Monitoring and Evaluation 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 120 

8 Monitoring and Evaluation 
After the implementation of the network, a monitoring plan is an important component to evaluate 
the success of a route, and guide investments through data-driven measures. Research indicates 
that meaningful performance measures can help to prioritize future projects and appropriately 
allocate resources. The following approaches should be further explored and considered for 
inclusion in operational staff workplans. 

MONITORING OF ACTIVE TRANSPORTATION ASSETS   

As part of the successful implementation of this plan, City staff should conduct additional 
monitoring efforts to gain a better understanding of the active transportation network and its 
usage. Stakeholders and the public emphasized prioritizing walkability and bikeability by 
addressing sidewalk infrastructure like potholes and cracked surfaces, as well as consistent 
maintenance to promote and support active transportation. Similar to how the road network is 
monitored for issues such as potholes and broken streetlights in need of repair, sidewalks, bike 
lanes, and trails also require monitoring to ensure issues are promptly addressed. Doing so 
ensures that active transportation facilities remain in a state of good repair and can continue to 
meet the needs of the people using them. 

UNDERTAKE SURVEY OF RESIDENTS 

Another method for monitoring the overall active transportation network involves conducting 
regular surveys of Sault Ste. Marie residents which could be carried out on a biennial basis. These 
surveys would gather feedback on residents’ preferences and concerns related to the network. 
The survey results could then inform short-term actions that address immediate needs and 
requests, depending on the project’s scale. Surveying of residents ensures ongoing dialogue 
between City Staff and the users of the network. 

PROVISION OF PERMANENT DATA COLLECTION TOOL 

Permanent automated data collection tools can allow City Staff to effectively monitor the active 
transportation network in real time and collect a significant amount of data with which to inform 
decision making. Two permanent data collection tools - automated trail counters and intersection 
cameras - could aid in the monitoring of the network and enhance decision-making through real-
time data. Automated trail counters track pedestrian and cyclist numbers on off-road trails, 
providing long-term data for facility assessment, as well as for scaling short-duration counts. LTE 
and Wi-Fi-enabled intersection traffic cameras could be placed at select intersections within the 
City to monitor the volumes of pedestrians and cyclists using on-road infrastructure in real time. 

REPORT ON IMPLEMENTATION AND PROGRESS 

Given the short-term timelines for implementation of a significant portion of the City’s active 
transportation network, it is recommended that the City of Sault Ste. Marie issue annual progress 
reports, providing a snapshot of the state of active transportation in Sault Ste. Marie. These 

Page 320 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 8. Monitoring and Evaluation 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 121 

reports would highlight the progress towards achieving the goals and objectives by evaluating the 
impact of new infrastructure investments and the effectiveness of new programs and 
partnerships in reaching a broader community, while measuring shifting trends in active 
transportation usage within the City. This process would not only provide valuable insights for City 
planners and decision-makers, but also raise public awareness surrounding active transportation 
and create community excitement as the culture of active transportation grows.  

These reports could serve as a powerful accountability tool for the City, helping to build trust and 
awareness about the ATMP implementation and the impact of the investments. The report could 
also act as a marketing tool to highlight the City’s leadership role in advancing active 
transportation in Ontario. For example, modern infographic-style sheets, such as those produced 
by the Bicycle Coalition of Greater Philadelphia and Holly Foxcroft & Jen Cook of Vancouver, B.C. 
(Figure 40), can effectively communicate the results of an intervention to the overall cycling 
network. 

Figure 40 | Example of count program data presented in a visually engaging and easily comprehensible manner. 
Source: Bicycle Coalition of Greater Philadelphia, Holly Foxcroft & Jen Cook 
 

Page 321 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 9. Funding this Plan 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 122 

9 Funding this Plan 
Funding for active transportation primarily comes from two sources: the roads budget, supported 
by local property taxes, and various grants from higher levels of government. The absence of a 
dedicated funding stream for active transportation poses a significant challenge to executing the 
Active Transportation Master Plan. 

ROADS BUDGET 

Active transportation infrastructure is sometimes incorporated into capital road projects, such as 
reconstruction, repaving, and resurfacing. This is an effective method to construct infrastructure 
at cost effective rates while minimizing disruption. 

INTER-GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 

Funding from various government levels is available, at times automatically or through a 
competitive application process. Examples include the Federal Active Transportation Fund, the 
Canada Community Building Fund (gas tax), and the Ontario Trillium Foundation.  

While these funding sources are beneficial, they should not be relied upon for long-term 
sustainability as these programs may be intended to serve a temporary purpose or are susceptible 
to change with different political landscapes. Some of these programs also require cost-sharing 
arrangements with the local municipality.  

Staff will need to actively monitor these funding programs to ensure the City can effectively 
leverage inter-governmental funds. 

 

Page 322 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 10. Active Transportation Committee 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 123 

10 Active Transportation Committee 
Active transportation plays an essential role in shaping our community, influencing various 
aspects such as urban planning, infrastructure, tourism, the economy, the environment, 
accessibility, health, and safety. Therefore, decisions and budgeting related to active 
transportation should involve a broader range of departments and stakeholders. Establishing an 
Active Transportation Committee within the Council is an effective way to integrate these diverse 
perspectives and foster collaboration across different sectors. 

Committee Options  

The Ontario government notes that municipal governments typically have four types of 
committees.  

• Standing Committees: Councillors typically sit on these committees, with municipal staff as 
advisors. Can include members of the public.  

• Ad Hoc Committees: Created by standing committees for a particular matter. No statutory 
powers. 

• Executive Committees: Usually part of a budget or policy committee. 
• Citizens’ Advisory Committees: Typically includes citizens and experts, alongside councillors 

and municipal staff.  

Committee Considerations 

As Sault Ste. Marie contemplates its preferred approach to governance of active transportation 
initiatives, there are several committee structure considerations: 

• Mission, Goals, and Objective:  

o Purpose and mandate of the committee 
o Scope 

• Composition:  

o How many members 
o Level of public and expert participation 
o Should councillor(s) be included 
o Voting vs. non-voting members 
o How to achieve representation 
o Length of terms  

 

• Resources:  

o Budget availability 
o Municipal staff / clerical services  

• Legal / Statutory Framework:  

o Formality of committee relationship to council 
o Advisory versus advocacy  
o Reporting & accountability mechanisms 
o Relationship to other committees 

• Logistics: 

o Meeting frequency and location 

 

 

Page 323 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 10. Active Transportation Committee 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 124 

Examples from other Jurisdictions 

City of Markham  

The City of Markham created a Cycling and Pedestrian Advocacy Committee (CPAC), whose stated 
purpose is to: 

• Advise staff and Council on the design, development and delivery of cycling and pedestrian 
policies, programs and facilities to promote and enhance cycling and walking in Markham;  

• Work with local neighbourhoods to collect and distribute information related to cycling and 
walking and to increase public awareness of cycling and walking as environmentally friendly 
forms of transportation; and 

• Assist in integrating bicycle and pedestrian facilities into significant development proposals. 
(City of Markham, 2019) 

It is composed of 10 to 20 members, including at least 1 councillor, up to 8 members of the public 
(one per municipal ward), up to 4 members representing stakeholder groups, and members 
representing accessibility committee, school boards, Conservation Authority, Public Health, 
police, and public transit. It includes four working groups: Network Planning & Facilities; 
Education, Public Outreach, and Promotion; Program Development & Travel Demand Management; 
and Policy & Safety. Members serve 3 year terms, with an annually rotating chair. 

Town of Aurora 

The Town of Aurora has an Active Transportation and Traffic Safety Advisory Committee. Its 
purpose is to: 

• “…support and advise Town staff in various issues relating to the development and 
implementation of the Transportation Master Plan and the Active Transportation Master Plan, 
Aurora Connects.  The Committee will provide support and advice in all aspects of traffic safety 
issues that affect the Town of Aurora as a whole.” 

It is composed of seven members, including one member of council and six citizen members 
selected by council, each of whom is appointed for a two-year term.   

City of Brampton 

Brampton’s Active Transportation Advisory Committee exists to advise City Council and staff on 
active transportation policies, programs and infrastructure that support its ATMP’s vision and help 
the city achieve the ATMP’s objectives. It is composed of 8 to 12 citizen members, along with one 
councillor. Citizen members represent each of the four quadrants of the City (two per quadrant). 
Membership draws from residents with demonstrated work, life, educational or traditional 
experience, and/or general interest in active transportation, and the city notes that members 
should not act as representatives of any agencies, organizations or interest groups. Finally, the 
committee’s membership aims to reflect the diversity of the City, including in such areas as age, 
gender, language, race, and abilities 

Page 324 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 10. Active Transportation Committee 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 125 

Its committee meets every other month, and is supported by City Clerk’s Office (meeting 
management), an Active Transportation Project Manager (subject matter expertise), and other 
staff as warranted.  

Recommendation for Sault Ste. Marie 

Based on the project team’s review of Sault Ste. Marie’s municipal committee structure, its 
existing culture of vibrant participation and advocacy from the local community, and discussions 
with key stakeholders, the following approach is recommended.  

Committee Structure 

• Citizens’ Advisory Committee (no formal decision-making authority, but can pass resolutions 
for council to consider as formal advice) 

Scope 

• Focus on active transportation (not transportation in general), but may consider combining 
with traffic calming and road safety 

• Duties could include: 
o To support and advise City staff on items pertaining to the implementation of the Active 

Transportation Master Plan 
o To advise staff on issues or opportunities raised by various stakeholders such as Council, 

advocacy groups, residents, businesses, and other interested parties.  

Composition & Meetings 

• Seven or nine members, including: 
o One councillor 
o Six or eight citizen members selected by Council (may include representatives of 

stakeholder, business, or advocacy groups) 
• Two-year terms 
• Meetings approximately every other month 

Resources 

• City staff may attend (non-voting) for the purposes of providing technical expertise and 
meeting management support.  

• A nominal budget may be allocated for meetings, but no remuneration would be provided.  

Implementing these recommendations does not imply the dissolution of any existing committees 
or groups. For example, the Sault Trails Advocacy Committee (STAC) could maintain its presence 
as a key stakeholder group with long-term members; the Active Transportation Committee would 
have more frequently rotating membership but would consult closely with STAC and other groups.  

Page 325 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 11. Key Recommendations 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 126 

11 Key Recommendations 
The Sault Ste. Marie ATMP serves as a flexible guide that provides the City and its partners with 
directions and tools to enhance active transportation within the city. The goal is to build a safer, 
comfortable, more accessible and more equitable transportation network for people of all ages 
and abilities to provide them with a range of viable transportation options. This ATMP outlines an 
achievable path towards a complete network of walking and active transportation facilities, while 
building upon and expanding partnerships to support the culture of active transportation in the 
City. At its core, this Plan contributes to many of the City’s broader policy goals through increased 
support for active transportation.  

To bring the ATMP’s vision into reality, a set of recommendations have been developed to guide 
City leadership, in partnership with internal and external stakeholders. These recommendations 
include the various policies, programs, and procedures discussed in this Plan that contribute to 
the development of physical and social infrastructure to support active transportation in the Sault 
Ste. Marie. City staff are encouraged to take into account the key considerations discussed in this 
Plan and work closely with key stakeholders to implement new programs, policies, and 
infrastructure, while promoting the unique assets of Sault Ste. Marie as part of the Plan’s broader 
implementation. 

Table 11 | Recommendations of the Plan 

# Policy, Planning, and Implementation Recommendations 

1 Adopt the proposed active transportation network and implementation plan as identified 
in this ATMP and include it as a schedule in the City’s Official Plan when updated. The 
ATMP should be reviewed and updated through a public process every five years. 

2 Review and consider this ATMP when municipal roads, trails, and other capital 
infrastructure projects are identified and scheduled during the development application 
process. Efficiently implementing the proposed pedestrian and active transportation 
network will require coordination with other capital infrastructure projects. 

3 Use this ATMP to inform prioritization of the pedestrian and active transportation 
network projects during the annual capital budget review process. 

4 Consider ATMP recommendations prior to proceeding with capital works projects, 
including road resurfacing and rehabilitation projects. 

5 Include the implementation of cycling and pedestrian infrastructure, including on and 
off-road routes, as part of development proposals and the park development process for 
new development areas. 

6 Establish an Active Transportation Coordinator to serve as a centralized resource for all 
matters related to active transportation. 

7 Establish a formal Active Transportation Advisory Committee that will provide input to 
advance infrastructure and policy opportunities as the Plan moves forward.  

Page 326 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 11. Key Recommendations 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 127 

8 Reassess and modify the City’s policy framework to require bike parking and supportive 
amenities within the City’s Zoning By-law. 

9 Establish a Priority Winter Cycling Network for winter clearing to provide a more 
predictable, safer route for people on bikes, providing them with the sense of confidence 
that their route will be clear and passable. 

10 Develop a monitoring program to assess sidewalk and active transportation facility 
condition to identify priority areas for improvement, so lifecycle needs are considered as 
part of the City’s asset management program. 

# Complete Street and Infrastructure Design Recommendations 

11 Encourage complete street design, active transportation-friendly streetscaping, urban 
design, and active transportation-oriented land development in planning and design 
studies and development reviews. 

12 Reference the guidance provided by the OTM Books 15: Pedestrian Crossing Treatments 
and 18: Bicycle Facilities when designing and implementing active transportation 
facilities, as the best practice for the planning, design and operation of cycling facilities 
in Ontario. 

13 Reference the guidance provided by OTM Books 12: Traffic Signals, 12A: Bicycle Traffic 
Signals, 15: Pedestrian Crossings Treatments and Book 18: Cycling Facilities, and the 
OTC Protected Intersections guide when enhancing and reconstructing intersections 
and crossings. Adopt protected intersections, wherever feasible. 

14 Sidewalks should exceed the minimum width (1.5 m) where possible, particularly in areas 
with high pedestrian traffic and commercial areas. 

15 Undertake a study on pedestrian crossing treatments to improve the frequency of 
pedestrian crossing of major barriers, including consideration of mid-block pedestrian 
crossings to access trails, crossings of rail corridors, and to improve overall walkability in 
the City for all ages. 

16 Prioritize the implementation of the network in neighbourhoods with higher equity 
needs. 

17 Consider speed limit reductions and traffic calming design measures along roads 
proposed for shared bike routes in the urban / built-up areas. The City should also 
evaluate reducing speed limits along all roads to improve conditions for all users. 

18 When capital reconstruction projects are scheduled in high traffic areas not proposed 
for the active transportation network, priority should be given to expanding and 
enhancing spaces for walking and active transportation-supportive amenities, while 
narrowing vehicle lanes and parking facilities. 

19 Explore tactical interim active transportation and pedestrian improvements using quick-
build materials to allow for faster implement of the network. 

20 Work with businesses and landowners to provide secure bicycle parking and other active 
transportation -supportive amenities at key destinations, commercial hubs, and 
transportation hubs, and along waterfront routes. 

  

Page 327 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 11. Key Recommendations 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 128 

# Programming Recommendations 

21 Support the uptake of social infrastructure programs and initiatives outlined in this 
ATMP to build a culture of active transportation within the City. 

# Operations and Maintenance 

22 The City is encouraged to initiate a Winter Maintenance Pilot Project to assess the costs 
and effectiveness of providing winter maintenance to active transportation paths, 
especially those that connect to key destinations within the community. 

# Funding and Partnerships Recommendations 

23 Council should incorporate the proposed phasing into the annual budget process for 
active transportation network implementation, operations, and maintenance. 

24 Continue to explore external funding sources and partnerships to help fund 
implementation of the ATMP. 

25 Allocate the necessary funding to deliver the programs listed in Chapter 5 on an ongoing 
basis to help build a stronger culture of active transportation in Sault Ste. Marie. 

26 Leverage existing partnerships between other levels of government and partners to build 
cost-sharing commitments for specific sections of the network. The implementation of 
this ATMP requires consistent funding. 

  

Page 328 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 11. Key Recommendations 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 129 

  

 

APPENDICES 
Soo Moves:  

Active Transportation Master Plan 

Page 329 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 0. APPENDIX A: Policy Review Summary 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 130 

APPENDIX A: Policy Review Summary 

Existing Policies and Initiatives 

Federal Policies and Documents 

The Government of Canada has several policies and funding programs designed to help 
municipalities transition to more sustainable modes of transportation.  Recently the Government 
of Canada has began integrating language supporting active directly into their policies.  

Policies And Documents Reviewed: 

• National Active Transportation Strategy (2021) 
• Federal Sustainable Development Act (2008) 
• Federal Sustainable Development Strategy (2019 – 2022) 
• Transport Canada 2021 – 2022 Departmental Plan (2021) 
• Transportation 2030: A Strategic Plan for Transportation in Canada 

Policy Considerations: 

• The National Active Transportation Strategy (2021) created a $400 million Active 
Transportation Fund that is provided by the federal government for municipalities to use. The 
purpose of the fund is to aid municipalities in creating active transportation facilities and 
education programs and outreach programs. The strategy notes that to qualify for the fund, 
municipalities must demonstrate that their planned projects will create community 
connections, improve user experience, assist in a modal shift, and increase equity across the 
municipal region. 

• The Transport Canada 2021-2022 Departmental Plan (2021) and Transportation 2030: A 
Strategic Plan for Transportation in Canada (2016) includes actions for improving the safety, 
accessibility, efficiency, and environmental sustainability of Canada’s transportation systems. 
The Transportation 2030 (2016) plan acts as the overarching blueprint for developing Canada’s 
transportation systems over the next decade and it highlights the need for a mode-shift to 
sustainable transportation methods. 

Page 330 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 0. APPENDIX A: Policy Review Summary 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 131 

Provincial Policies and Documents 

The Province of Ontario has a suite of policies that support the adoption of active transportation. 
These policy documents provide guidance to local municipalities which can range from suggested 
actions to legislated requirements.  However, legislated requirements for active transportation are 
seldom used, as most documents provide suggestions, guidance and support for active 
transportation development.   

Policies Reviewed: 

• Provincial Planning Statement (2024) 
• Northern Ontario Growth Plan (2011) 
• Tour By Bike: Ontario’s Cycling Tourism Plan (2017) 
• Ontario Province-wide Cycling Network (2018) 
• Accessibility for Ontarians with Disabilities Act (2005) 
• Minimum Maintenance Standards for Municipal Highways O.Reg.239/02 (2018) 

Policy Considerations:  

• Support achieving complete communities by accommodating appropriate multimodal 
transportation options to meet long-term needs and improving accessibility for people of all 
ages and abilities. (Provincial Planning Statement, 2024 s. 2.1.6); 

• Efficient use should be made of existing and planned infrastructure, including through the use 
of transportation demand management strategies, where feasible. (Provincial Planning 
Statement, 2024 s. 3.2.2.); 

• Multimodal transportation systems should plan for connectivity within and among 
transportation systems and modes, maintained and improved where possible, including 
connections which cross jurisdictional boundaries. (Provincial Planning Statement, 2024 s. 
3.2.3); 

• Healthy, active, and inclusive communities should be promoted by planning public streets, 
spaces and facilities to be safe, meet the needs of persons of all ages and abilities, including 
pedestrians, foster social interaction and facilitate active transportation and community 
connectivity (Provincial Planning Statement, 2024 s. 3.9.1.a); 

• Plan and provide for the needs of persons of all ages and abilities in the distribution of a full 
range of publicly accessible built and natural settings for recreation, including facilities, 
parklands, public spaces, open space areas, trails and linkages (Provincial Planning Statement, 
2024 s. 3.9.1.b); 

• Promote the use of active transportation and transit in and between residential, employment 
(including commercial and industrial), and institutional uses and other areas (s.1.8.1.b – 
Provincial Policy Statement). 

• The Northern Ontario Growth Plan (2011) supports the transition to a multi-modal 
transportation system that prioritizes enhancing connectivity between road-based, rail, 
marine and air transportation options (Northern Ontario Growth Plan, 2011, s. 5.3.2.d). 

Page 331 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 0. APPENDIX A: Policy Review Summary 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 132 

• Increase collaboration between governments and industry partners to develop and enhance 
products and experiences that support cycling tourism (e.g. heritage trails, trail tourism 
programs), particularly in rural regions of the province (Ontario’s Cycling Tourism Plan, 2017). 

• Technical and legislative requirements outlined in the Accessibility for Ontarians with 
Disabilities Act built environment guidelines and O.Reg.239/02. 

• Ensure that sidewalks and bicycle lanes are safe and accessible for pedestrians and cyclists, 
even during adverse weather conditions, including during the winter. Further guidance on 
snow removal, ice, and regular maintenance is included in the O. Reg. 239/02: Minimum 
Maintenance Standards for Municipal Highways. 

Municipal Policies and Documents 

The ATMP is closely informed by policies at the municipal level. The City’s Official Plan provides the 
most guidance on future development, as it is a statutory document required under the Planning 
Act and the Provincial Policy Statement. Policies and supportive guidance that have the highest 
degree of relevance to the ATMP are referenced in Table 1.  

Policies Reviewed: 

• City of Sault Ste. Marie Official Plan (1996, currently being updated) 
• City of Sault Ste. Marie Transportation Master Plan (2015) 
• City of Sault Ste. Marie Corporate Strategic Plan 2024 – 2027 
• City of Sault Ste. Marie Cycling Master Plan (2007) 
• City of Sault Ste. Marie Parks and Recreation Master Plan 2020 – 2025 (2019 and draft 2024 

update) 
• Sault Ste. Marie Community Greenhouse Gas Reduction Plan (2020) 

 

Table 12. Relevant Policies and Support from Local Policy Documents 

*Bolded ideas identify common themes among the documents 

Policy  Relevant Vision(s), Objective(s), and/or Plan Purposes 

Official Plan (1996, 
currently being 

updated) 

 

Relevant Fundamental Principles 

• “Explore and promote the social opportunities and learning 
potential of our unique northern location and climate (i.e. “Winter 
City” experience).” 

• “The lives of all residents regardless of age or skill, can be 
enhanced through the provision of diverse leisure and 
recreational opportunities.” 

• “Promote the value of recreation and leisure to the health and 
quality of life; and develop diverse recreation opportunities for 
citizens and visitors.” 

Page 332 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 0. APPENDIX A: Policy Review Summary 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 133 

Policy  Relevant Vision(s), Objective(s), and/or Plan Purposes 

 

• “Public access to the waterfront and the development of 
waterfront parks sites is a primary objective.” 

• “Inequalities of access within the parks system should be 
eliminated.  The open space system should be integrated for linear 
recreational opportunities.” 

• “To maximize the environmental, social and economic benefits 
derived from protecting, maintaining, enhancing and developing 
natural environmental features and resources.” 

• “Streetscape improvements and the upgrading of existing building 
facades, signage, sidewalk improvements, lighting, street 
furniture, parking areas and landscaping shall be encouraged.” 

Relevant Active Transportation Objectives 

• “Site design shall consider the impact on street functions and 
pedestrian, cycling and vehicular access.  The effects of traffic 
noise, vibration and odour shall be assessed.” 

• “Pedestrian and cycling access to parks, bus stops and schools 
shall be encouraged.” 

• “Alternative transportation and energy efficient forms of 
transportation such as public transit, cycling and walking shall be 
supported.” 

• “A strong focus shall be placed on creating good pedestrian and 
cycling routes throughout the Downtown and along the 
waterfront.” 

• “Alternative Transportation Modes will be considered as part of 
the development approval process for large scale residential, 
commercial, institutional and industrial projects, and should 
include provisions for Public Transit, Pedestrian and Cycling 
Travel.” 

• “On & Off-Road Bicycle Routes and Facilities shall be encouraged 
and developed. … The City will require, where feasible, that all new 
development or redevelopment provide cycling facilities.  This 
may include bicycle parking spaces that are located in highly 
visible and lighted areas and sheltered from weather.” 

• “Recreational Transportation System shall be developed by a 
comprehensive system of multi-use, shared trails throughout the 
City.” 

Transportation 
Master Plan (2015) 

Relevant Goals, Objectives, and Recommendations 

• “Build Multimodal Networks”  
• “Invest in active transportation; continue with the implementation 

of the Cycling Master Plan and extension of the John Rowswell 
Hub Trail including proposed “Spoke” routes” 

Page 333 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 0. APPENDIX A: Policy Review Summary 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 134 

Policy  Relevant Vision(s), Objective(s), and/or Plan Purposes 

 

• “Build complete streets and consider “road diets” to meet the 
needs of all modes” 

• “Maximize Operational Efficiency “ 
• “Consider building roundabouts instead of signalized intersections” 
• “Consider road diets where provided capacity exceeds traffic levels” 
• “Provide Safe and Accessible Network” 
• “Provide a safe pedestrian environment” 
• “Establish minimum pedestrian crossing standards along the John 

Rowswell Hub Trail and high demand pedestrian corridors” 
• “Continue with the implementation of traffic calming measures” 
• “Continue with the completion of the John Rowswell Hub Trail and 

spokes to provide cyclists with their own travel space” 
• “Review the City’s design guidelines to ensure roads, cycling 

facilities and sidewalks are built for all users including persons with 
disabilities” 

• “Promote environmental sustainability” 
• “Promote active transportation & transit use” 
• “Actively promote the reduction in usage of single occupant 

vehicles” 
• “Manage travel demand by providing and supporting non-auto travel 

choices (investing in transit and cycling)” 
• “Increase density and promote mixed-use developments in 

downtown and along key arterial roads.” 

Corporate Strategic 
Plan 2024 – 2027 

 

 

 

 

Relevant Vision 

• “Sault Ste. Marie is a thriving, safe, and inclusive community where 
you belong” 

Relevant Values 

• “Responsible Growth: We will grow responsibly to ensure a healthy, 
sustainable, and prosperous community for future generations” 
Commitment to Citizens & Community” 

• “Integrity: We will be accountable, transparent, and fiscally 
responsible to meet the needs of our community” 

Relevant Focus Areas and Goals 

• Community Development. Related Goals: Social Equity: Support 
the full participation of user groups of all abilities; Support 
programs that foster a safe, welcoming and inclusive community.  

• Infrastructure: Related Goals:  

Page 334 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 0. APPENDIX A: Policy Review Summary 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 135 

Policy  Relevant Vision(s), Objective(s), and/or Plan Purposes 

o Current Assets: Monitor, maintain, and redevelop existing 
infrastructure; Leverage funding opportunities; Improvements 
to transportation network; Accessible and barrier-free; 
Upgrade assets for energy efficiency and climate resilience  

o Future Assets: Invest in maintaining an attractive and vibrant 
downtown core with a world-class waterfront; Expand active 
transportation network. 

o Environment: Net zero emissions by 2050; Seek opportunities 
to implement sustainable solutions. 

• Service Delivery. Related Goals: Community Partnerships: 
Facilitate collaboration with neighbouring communities and 
community groups to achieve shared goals 

 

Cycling Master Plan 
(2007) 

 

 

Relevant Goals & Objectives 

• Education: “To encourage and enhance the development of 
educational opportunities and program initiatives that promote safe 
and healthful cycling, and increase the knowledge and skills of 
cyclists, and other road and trail users across the City.” 

• Enforcement: “To create a safe cycling environment and instill / 
increase respect amongst all road and bicycle users through 
responsible traffic behavior and adherence to the Ontario Highway 
Traffic Act.” 

• Encouragement 
o “To promote increased, safe bicycle usage as an alternative 

means of transportation and exploration of the City that can be 
undertaken by people of all ages, skill levels and abilities.” 

o “To increase ridership and appreciation of bicycling as a safe, 
enjoyable, practical and sustainable means of transportation 
that contributes to the quality of life, the environment, 
economy and community; and, showcases and attracts people 
to the City of Sault Ste. Marie” 

• Engineering 
o “To provide a safe, friendly and convenient cycling environment 

for recreational and utilitarian cyclists through improvement and 
development of the existing road and trail network, and 
designation of alternative routes to major arterial roads in order 
to better meet the needs of cyclists and accommodate riders of 
all ages, skill levels and abilities.” 

o “…integrate cycling into the local transportation network based 
on relevant traffic engineering principles, applications and best 

Page 335 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 0. APPENDIX A: Policy Review Summary 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 136 

practices providing for an intuitive network of routes that 
connects riders to destination areas across the City.” 

Relevant Principles 

• “All traveled roadways are cycle routes and cycling should be 
accommodated for any reconstruction. The Cycling Master Plan 
advocates that roadways support bicycle use and provide for bicycle 
friendly facilities / amenities.” 

• “The Cycling Master Plan facilitates safe and responsible cycling 
practices amongst all ages, skill levels and abilities.” 

• “The Cycling Master Plan facilitates Creation of Partnerships” 
• “The Cycling Master Plan Supports the Quality of Life: recreation, 

health and fitness benefits. It provides a sustainable 
transportation alternative that is practical, energy efficient, cost-
effective and non-polluting. 

 Community 
Greenhouse Gas 
Reduction Plan 

(2020)  

 

 

Relevant Goals & Objectives 

• Achieve Net Zero in Sault Ste. Marie by 2050. 
• Transportation identified as one of 7 key sectors for reductions. “The 

majority of transportation emissions come from on-road 
transportation which is often one of the highest emitting sectors in 
Ontario due to the heavy reliance on personal vehicles with 
combustion engines. 90% of Sault Ste. Marie residents commute to 
work by car, 5% walk, 4% use transit and 1% bike. This presents 
ample opportunity to improve upon active transportation in Sault 
Ste. Marie. 

• Introduce a Climate Lens policy to evaluate and consider the climate 
impacts of all major City decisions, including financial decisions, to 
ensure City investments, policies and programs are supporting 
climate change goals. 

Relevant Actions 

• Increase education and awareness about the environmental, 
economic and health benefits related to active transportation. 

• Develop and maintain bike friendly infrastructure (e.g. bike lanes, 
trails and racks make cycling a safer, more attractive option for 
travel and commuting. 

• Initiate a commuter challenge. 
• Encourage local companies to reward cyclists. 
• Create an inventory of bike trails, including shortcut trails. 
• Review potential actions that align with existing City Plans. 
• Encourage land use planning that reduces the distance people have 

to drive by car. 
• Monitor Active transportation infrastructure installed annually. 

Page 336 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 0. APPENDIX A: Policy Review Summary 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 137 

Parks And 
Recreation Master 

Plan 2015 – 2025 
(2019 Update) 

 

As of summer 2024, this plan is in the process of being updated. 

Quality of Life Objectives 

• “Enhance or curtail programs and services to address gaps and meet 
the changing needs of the community.” 

• “Implementation of the Cycling Master Plan” 
• “Implement a Bike Rental Program at the Roberta Bondar Tent 

Pavilion” 
• “Implement proactive strategies that accommodate the unique and 

growing parks and recreation needs with an emphasis on 
‘walkability’ and improved accessibility.” 

“Implement strategies for providing amenities that enhance and enrich 
the lives of community members.” 

Page 337 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 0. APPENDIX B: Consultation and Engagement 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 138 

APPENDIX B: Consultation and Engagement 

Background 

To build this sense of community ownership that is necessary to support a plan of this scale, 
residents and stakeholders will have had several opportunities to engage in the process of 
developing the ATMP. The ATMP will also create an accountability process that will allow the City 
and any relevant partners to check the progress of the actions against the baseline assessment 
and the goals contained within the Plan.  

This memo outlines the results of a series of engagements conducted to identify best practices, 
strengths, opportunities, and aspirations by community organizations, leaders and members of the 
public that will be essential for ensuring that the ATMP reflects community needs and desires.  

Objectives 

This project was developed using International Association of Public Participation (IAP2) process 
and practices, as illustrated in Figure 41 below. The IAP2 Process outlines the preparation, 
management, and evolution of engagement tactics based on a spectrum of involvement tailored to 
the wants and needs of the anticipated or desired audiences. There are five levels of commitment, 
which are known as the IAP2 Spectrum of Public Participation.  

 

Figure 41 | IAP2 Spectrum of Audience Involvement 

Page 338 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 0. APPENDIX B: Consultation and Engagement 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 139 

The amount of information sharing, gathering and integration increases as you “move up” the 
spectrum. The intent is to recognize that not all stakeholders will have the same level of 
involvement in the project or need the same amount of information to inform their involvement. 
The IAP2 approach emphasizes the importance of a consultation plan which is tailored to the 
understanding, commitment, and contribution of each of the unique groups. By identifying the 
stakeholders early in the study process the project team will be able to anticipate, identify, plan for 
and communicate the expectations based on the intended audience. 

When developing the scope of engagement for the City of Sault Ste. Marie’s ATMP the project team 
identified key audiences that were required to be consulted throughout the project. The identified 
audiences include: 

• Algoma Public Health 
• Bicycling advocacy groups 
• Chamber of Commerce 
• Conservation Authority 
• Downtown Association 
• Environmental advocacy groups  
• Members of the public 
• School Boards  
• Sault Trails Advocacy Committee 

(STAC) 

• Neighbouring First Nations 
• Accessibility Advisory Committee 
• City Departments: 

o Planning  
o Engineering and Public Works 
o Recreation and Culture 
o Sustainability Committee 
o Tourism 

 

Stakeholder and Public Engagement Approach 

From fall 2022 through spring 2024, WSP worked with the City of Sault Ste. Marie to facilitate 
several engagement activities with the identified audiences noted above to inform the 
development of the ATMP. These activities were completed to gain an understanding of the 
existing conditions and to identify active transportation strengths, gaps, concerns, and 
opportunities across the City.  

The following activities informed WSP’s recommendations for priority areas for the City of Sault 
Ste. Marie to focus the rollout of active transportation infrastructure and initiatives. 

  

Page 339 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 0. APPENDIX B: Consultation and Engagement 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 140 

Stakeholder Interviews 

Throughout February 2023 WSP conducted a series of stakeholder interviews with local 
organizations and City staff. This included an interview with the Sault Ste. Marie Tourism and 
Community Development department, the Construction and Engineering team, and the Downtown 
Association. The sessions were used to identify existing strengths and assets that pertained to 
Sault Ste. Marie’s existing active transportation network, identifying strengths for the City’s 
physical and social infrastructure. Each interviewee was also asked to identify priorities for the 
ATMP and to note existing barriers to improving active transportation in the city. 

SOAR Model 

Following the completion of the interview series and advisory committee workshop, feedback was 
compiled using the Strength, Opportunities, Analysis, and Results (SOAR) model. The SOAR model 
highlighted existing realities and aspirations for the ATMP. These were then analyzed to produce 
tangible actions and recommendations that can be used to shape the policy and implementation 
sections of the report. Detailed summaries of the SOAR model exercise can be found in Figure 42 
to Figure 45.

Page 340 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 0. APPENDIX B: Consultation and Engagement 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 141 

 

STRENGTHS 

What are the elements that make active transportation in Sault Ste. Marie great? What are unique elements? What can be built upon? 

 

Figure 42 | SOAR Model - Strengths 

Page 341 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 0. APPENDIX B: Consultation and Engagement 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 142 

OPPORTUNITIES 

What partnerships would lead to better outcomes? What changes or trends can be capitalized upon? Are there areas where we could see 
quick wins or major benefits? 

  

Figure 43 | SOAR Model - Opportunities 

Page 342 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 0. APPENDIX B: Consultation and Engagement 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 143 

ASPIRATIONS 

What do we want to achieve in the future? What are the 'Big Picture' goals? Who do we want to serve? 

 

Figure 44 | SOAR Model - Aspirations 

  

Page 343 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 0. APPENDIX B: Consultation and Engagement 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 144 

RESULTS 

What measures will let us know if we're achieving success? What tools or techniques do we need to be able to measure those items? How 
do we report on our progress? 

 

Figure 45 | SOAR Model - Results 

 

Page 344 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 0. APPENDIX B: Consultation and Engagement 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 145 

Trails Committee Workshop 

In April 2023 the Sault Trails Advocacy Committee (STAC) was convened to participate in an hour-
long workshop and focus group session. The committee was asked similar questions to those 
during the stakeholder interview series and were provided with an interactive virtual whiteboard 
where participants could pin-point location specific comments, concerns and desires for the 
ATMP.  

Community Survey 

Two public online surveys, administered on the Project website, were conducted to gather input 
from those who couldn’t make it out to the public open houses, or those who wished to provide 
additional feedback on the ATMP. These included: 

• Public survey #1 (November 2022 to March 2024): aimed to understand how the community 
uses active transportation and what opportunities they see for improving active 
transportation. The survey included both open and close ended questions, as well as an 
interactive map activity where participants could identify areas of concern and opportunity in 
regard to using active transportation. There were approximately 161 participants.  

• Public survey #2 (June 2024): aimed to share and gather feedback on the proposed pedestrian 
and active transportation networks and programming. The survey included both open and 
close ended questions. This survey had approximately 7 participants, as most input was 
provided in-person at the associated open houses. 

Public Open Houses 

In June 2024, two Public Open Houses were held to present updated project information, the 
proposed Pedestrian and Active Transportation networks, and programming. The public was 
encouraged to attend these meetings to ask questions, share their thoughts on the proposed 
network with City staff, and provide any additional feedback they had regarding the ATMP. 

What Was Said 

Stakeholder Interview Series 

Algoma Public Health 

Algoma Public Health provided valuable insights during the stakeholder interview meeting. They 
emphasized the importance of using "walkability" as a measurement of neighborhood and city 
usage, suggesting the incorporation of tools like Walk Score for assessment. They also highlighted 
the need to engage with STAC for long-term planning, shifting away from a car-centric culture and 
focusing on active transportation. Collaborating with relevant groups such as Sault Cycling, 
Voyager Trail Association, Finnish and Nordic Ski Club, and Sault Conservation Authority for trail 

Page 345 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 0. APPENDIX B: Consultation and Engagement 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 146 

development and advocacy was seen as essential. Exploring concepts like the "15-minute city" and 
Jeff Speck's walkable city rules was also recommended.  

Additionally, Algoma Public Health addressed the lack of access to the John Rowswell Hub Trail in 
low socio-economic areas of the city, particularly in the west. They stressed the need to improve 
access to the John Rowswell Hub Trail and bike lanes in these neighborhoods to benefit residents 
who cannot afford vehicles. Addressing areas with high crime rates, addiction problems, and food 
deserts to promote community building, social connection, and healthy lifestyles was another 
priority mentioned. They also called for revamping the transit system to be more inclusive and 
climate-friendly.  

The roles of the city and other agencies/partners in improving active transportation conditions 
were discussed, highlighting the importance of communicating the city's vision and plans to local 
contractors and construction companies to ensure alignment with active transportation goals. 
Collaborating with community partners, including public health organizations, and involving school 
boards, tourism offices, social services, and other relevant agencies in the planning process was 
seen as crucial. They also emphasized the need to address railway-related challenges that can 
segregate communities within the city.  

Algoma Public Health expressed overall support for active transportation initiatives and 
highlighted the lack of specific restrictions or barriers preventing active transportation 
infrastructure advancement. 

Downtown Association 

Representatives of the Sault Ste. Marie Downtown Association, the city’s business improvement 
area (BIA), shared their perspectives during the stakeholder interview meeting. They discussed 
various best practices and elements that should be considered in the development of the ATMP.  

Raised crosswalks were suggested as a potential best practice, while challenges with the diversity 
of transportation options were highlighted, particularly in relation to biking and parking 
infrastructure. Main street was identified as challenging due to on-street parking. They 
emphasized the importance of safe biking infrastructure and highlighted the lack of bike 
infrastructure on Queen Street, which leads to people biking on sidewalks. Safety concerns were 
raised due to collisions caused by people cycling on sidewalks, posing risks for pedestrians and 
patrons. They also mentioned the need for improvements in intersection safety, such as 
addressing the prevalence of dangerous right turns on red.  

The Downtown Association discussed the roles of the city and other agencies/partners in 
improving active transportation conditions, suggesting event programming, such as open street 
events, as a way to improve conditions. They mentioned their involvement in applying for 
permission to close the road for events and discussed the permitting process for street closures, 
noting that the city supports these initiatives. Metrics were mentioned as a means to measure the 
success of events, including retail activity on closure dates and satisfaction with the event. 

Page 346 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 0. APPENDIX B: Consultation and Engagement 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 147 

Department of Engineering and Construction 

Sault Engineering and Construction provided valuable insights and recommendations during the 
stakeholder interview meeting. They discussed various best practices and considerations for the 
development of the ATMP, including the importance of the John Rowswell Hub Trail Network, 
painted bike lanes, sidewalks, pedestrian bridges, waterfront boardwalks, and road diets. They 
highlighted specific projects and initiatives, such as the successful transition of Bay Street from a 
4-lane to a 2-lane road and the ongoing delay in the Wallace Terrace Road diet. They identified 
opportunities for improvement in the city's active transportation system, such as addressing the 
lack of sidewalks on heavily trafficked Pine Street, improving cycling facilities at intersections 
along Great Northern Road, and prioritizing remaining road diets across the city.  

The roles of the city and other agencies/partners in improving active transportation conditions 
were discussed, emphasizing the need to collaborate with engineering, planning, and operations 
departments within the city. They also mentioned the need to consider winter maintenance, 
especially clearing snow from sidewalks, bike lanes, and trails. Road safety and traffic calming 
measures, such as the installation of speed bumps, were highlighted as essential components of 
the ATMP. 

The Department of Engineering and Construction emphasized the need for improved biking 
infrastructure and necessity of having at least one sidewalk on roads as a best practice, unless 
there are physical impediments. Several relevant physical infrastructure City assets and initiatives 
were highlighted by the team, such as the citywide Speed Management Task Force (including 
holistic speed management zones, community safety zone, and traffic calming policies), 
pedestrian crossings, speed safety educational campaign, and a Construction Association and 
Police Service media blitz for Construction Zone Safety.  

The team then identified several opportunities for improvements in the active transportation 
network. They support the prioritization of sidewalks along bus routes and heavily trafficked areas 
like Pine Street near McNabb Street, and the enhancement of pedestrian crossing facilities such 
as at the Second Line and Great Northern Road intersection. They also mentioned the opportunity 
to close gaps in the sidewalk network, such as along Eastern Road and Queen Street East, as well 
as in the cycling network, like the east-west gap at intersections along Great Northern Road. 
Prioritizing the remaining road diets across the city was also discussed. The team expressed 
support for compromising traffic to implement a quality active transportation network, however, 
but stressed the importance of not affecting truck routes and corridors. 

When discussing role of the City and other agencies for improving active transportation 
conditions, they advocated for more collaboration between school boards, social services, public 
health, tourism, large employers, and other agencies in the planning process. One policy 
suggestion they proposed to include in the ATMP is the winter maintenance of the John Rowswell 
Hub Trail. They also raised several challenges faced by their team and other teams regarding 
implementing and maintaining the active transportation network, including budget constraints and 
funding limitations that affect prioritization over other projects. 

Page 347 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 0. APPENDIX B: Consultation and Engagement 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 148 

Sault Trails Advocacy Committee 

The Sault Trails Advocacy Committee (STAC) provided insights and recommendations during the 
stakeholder interview meeting. They emphasized the importance of leveraging best practices 
from other cities and regions as case studies for the development of the ATMP. They suggested 
building bike paths and formalizing desire trails to enhance connectivity and accessibility for 
pedestrians and cyclists. Making neighborhoods more walkable by improving sidewalk 
infrastructure, particularly in areas lacking sidewalks, was another key recommendation. They 
stressed the need for safe bicycle storage, including rolling activities and secure bike parking, to 
encourage active transportation.  

The committee mentioned the opportunity to set clear goals for trail development, such as the 
expansion of the John Rowswell Hub Trail, and to collaborate with other agencies, including 
Conservation Authorities, to protect and maintain existing trails. They discussed the need to 
establish a trail development and maintenance fund and mentioned the importance of engaging 
with the community and local trail users to gather insights and address concerns effectively. 

Sault Ste. Marie Tourism and Community Development 

Sault Ste. Marie Tourism and Community Development shared their perspectives during the 
stakeholder interview meeting. They highlighted the significance of funding allocations for trail 
development, the Mountain Bike Systems Plan, and the Waterfront Development Plan. They 
mentioned the ongoing partnership with the Sault Cycling Club and the significant potential for 
Sault Ste. Marie to become a cycling destination. The challenges of separated bike lanes and 
seasonal barriers were identified, and they suggested exploring innovative solutions to address 
these issues. The assets of Sault Ste. Marie, including the John Rowswell Hub Trail, Waterfront 
Trail, and existing supportive groups, were recognized as valuable resources for promoting active 
transportation and attracting visitors. They also mentioned the importance of events, such as the 
Tour the Sault event, which showcase the city's cycling infrastructure and potential. 

Batchewana First Nation 

In June 2024, Planning staff met with staff representatives from Batchewana First Nation (BFN) to 
present the Active Transportation Master Plan project. BFN staff viewed this initiative as a 
valuable opportunity to enhance connectivity between the two communities. The rail line along 
Trunk Road was identified as a significant barrier to safe pedestrian access. As mentioned 
previously, Planning staff are in discussions with the rail authority about implementing a multi-use 
path along the south side of the rail line, as well as strategically located pedestrian railroad 
crossings, such as 'wigwags.' 

Additionally, extending Batchewana Street to connect with Trunk Road was highlighted as a key 
improvement, facilitating greater access to the City and providing a direct route to White Pines 
Public School. The need for an east-west connection was also discussed, which would support 
their future development opportunities westward along Bittern and Metig Streets. 

Page 348 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 0. APPENDIX B: Consultation and Engagement 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 149 

Before constructing infrastructure aimed at connecting Batchewana and enhancing access for 
both communities, consultation and technical discussions will be required between our two 
communities. 

While several other suggestions were raised, they were primarily related to drainage and traffic 
issues, which have been forwarded to the Engineering Department for further consideration. 

Sault Ste. Marie Region Conservation Authority 

In June 2024, the project team met with the Sault Ste. Marie Region Conservation Authority 
(SSMRCA). The Conservation Authority noted benefits and risks regarding the placement of trails in 
flood plains, including practices for protecting user safety in the event of flooding, ensuring 
maintenance vehicle access, and managing municipal exposure to liability. SSMRCA staff 
highlighted the importance of engaging the Conservation Authority post-ATMP when refining the 
alignment and design of specific trails. Any active transportation infrastructure on SSMRCA lands 
will require a review to ensure technical, safety and operational feasibility, particularly the 
maintenance of flood channels.  

The discussion highlighted ample precedent elsewhere in Canada for including active 
transportation infrastructure in flood plains, with design and policy measures tailored to the 
specific site. For example, bridges can be constructed to accommodate high water levels, signage 
can warn users to take caution during flooding events, and trail segments prone to flooding can be 
closed during specific periods.  

Online Public Survey Engagement 

Public engagement ensures that the ATMP is developed with the voices and support of the 
community. As mentioned, WSP prepared two online surveys that was posted on the project 
website which gave those who live, work, and regularly visit Sault Ste. Marie a chance to share how 
they use active transportation throughout the community, and understand their thoughts and 
desires in relation to the future of active transportation in the City.  

This survey was available November 2022 to March 2024. Participants were also given 
opportunities to share in their own words their lived experience when using active transportation 
across Sault Ste. Marie. The first survey had a total of 161 participants, 96% of whom were 
residents of Sault Ste. Marie. Respondents provided over 1,000 geographic data points of feedback 
through an online mapping tool. The second survey had 7 participants, which provided insightful 
feedback through both open and close-ended questions. 

The following is a summary of the results of these surveys. 

  

Page 349 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 0. APPENDIX B: Consultation and Engagement 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 150 

Survey Results - Survey No.1 

Mobility Patterns 

The majority of the respondents commute by driving alone to and within Sault Ste. Marie. 
Approximately 42% of participants also use a bike and 31% walk or use a mobility device at some 
point in the year for commuting purposes, as illustrated in Figure 46. These figures indicate that, 
as expected, responses skew towards active transportation users, considering that only 5% of 
Sault Ste. Marie residents reported walking or cycling as their primary commuting method in the 
2021 census.   

 

 
Figure 46 | Commute modes among survey respondents 

Responses add to over 100% as respondents could select multiple modes.   

Walking 

In this section, participants were asked about walking or traveling using a mobility assistive device 
such as a walker, wheelchair or cane. 

SUMMER 

62% Walk daily or near daily 

85% Walk at least once weekly 

WINTER 

46% Walk daily or near daily 

77% Walk weekly or more  

Main reasons for walking or using a mobility device included: 

 
Enjoying nature, parks, and trails 

 
Exercise 

 
Time with Family/Friends 

 
Access shops, services, and 
connecting with the community  

Dog walking 
 

Commuting to work 

 

71%

42%

31%

20%

12%

2%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80%

Drive alone

Bike

Walk or use a mobility device like a
wheelchair, walker etc.

Drive with others (get a ride / carpool)

Take transit

Other

Page 350 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 0. APPENDIX B: Consultation and Engagement 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 151 

Safety & Barriers to Walking 

Residents were asked about safety, comfort, and the main barriers when walking in Sault Ste. 
Marie (Figure 53). When asked what the main barriers are to walking or using a mobility device 
more often, respondents mentioned the speed and noise of traffic, poor or inaccessible conditions 
of sidewalks/trails, intersection safety, and the lack of infrastructure as the top five reasons. Other 
common reasons included time constraints, far distances, weather conditions, and lack of rest 
areas. 

 

Figure 47 | Top Five Barriers for Walking or Using a Mobility Device 

More than half of respondents (54%) also said they usually do not feel safe/comfortable while 
walking or using a mobility device in the City. The key reasons why respondents may not feel safe 
or comfortable were often the same as the main barriers to walking or using their mobility devices 
mentioned above. These reasons included: 

  

35%

35%

32%

25%

21%

0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25% 30% 35% 40%

Speed and noise of motor vehicle traffic

Poor conditions of sidewalks or trails

Intersection safety

Lack of sidewalks or trails

Sidewalks or trails are inaccessible

• Auto-centric Infrastructure & Culture: There is a strong sentiment that the City is 
designed for cars rather than pedestrians, resulting in a culture of vehicle dominance. 
This creates dangers at intersections with drivers not checking for pedestrians, 
drivers not observing stop signs and going through crosswalks, and speeding. 

• Crime Concerns: Some residents expressed concerns about crime, drug use, and 
being approached by strangers while walking. 

• Infrastructure Issues: This includes concerns about sidewalks being incomplete or 
non-existent, and the conditions of sidewalks, with many parts in disrepair, not 
maintained in winter, or being blocked by garbage bins, making it difficult for 
pedestrians to navigate by foot or mobility device. 

• Maintenance: There is a consensus among respondents that sidewalks were not well 
maintained, and that better maintenance of sidewalks and other pedestrian 
infrastructure is needed to enhance the walking experience in the city. 

• Walking distances: Respondents note that the far distances and time constraints to 
key destinations prevents them from using the sidewalk network. However, many 
respondents are willing to walk more than 20 minutes to shops, services, community 
facilities and parks/trails. 

 

Page 351 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 0. APPENDIX B: Consultation and Engagement 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 152 

Cycling 

This section asked participants about cycling, including traditional bikes, e-bikes, tricycles etc. 

 
38% 
88% 

SUMMER 
Cycle daily or near daily 

Cycle at least once a week or 
more 

 

10% 
34% 

WINTER 
Cycle daily or near daily 

Cycle at least once a week or 
more 

Main reasons for using a bicycle included: 

 

Exercise & Recreation 

 
Enjoying nature, 
parks, trails  

Time with 
Family/Friends 

 

Access shops & services 
Connecting with 
community 

 

Commuting to work   

When asked what the main barriers are to walking or using a mobility device more often, 
respondents mentioned gaps in the active transportation network, motor vehicle traffic, lack of 
bike parking, unsafe existing facilities, and time constraints as the top five reasons. Other reasons 
mentioned quite a few times included intersection safety, routes not connecting to areas people 
need to go, and weather conditions, among others. 

 

Figure 48 | Main Barriers Preventing Participants from Cycling More Often 

Participants were also asked whether they feel safe or comfortable cycling in Sault Ste. Marie. 
Approximately 90% of respondents reported not feeling safe/comfortable cycling in the City. 
Many of the reasons were similar to those as walking. Key reasons include: 

35%

31%

29%

27%

22%

20%

0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25% 30% 35% 40%

Gaps in the network

Speed/noise of motor vehicle traffic

Lack of bike parking

Unsafe existing facilities

Time constraints

Intersection Safety

Page 352 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 0. APPENDIX B: Consultation and Engagement 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 153 

 

Participants were asked what would encourage them to use active transportation to access public 
transit more. Many of the same themes discussed above were mentioned, including: 

• Safer cycling and pedestrian connections to transit stops and facilities. 
• Better connections to the John Rowswell Hub Trail. 
• Enforcement of traffic rules for drivers. 
• Better integration of cycling and transit (i.e., secure bike parking at transit stops, 

bike racks on buses). 
• Clearer signage for pedestrians to understand bus routes. 

Despite these challenges, participants recognized the potential for Sault Ste. Marie to become an 
excellent city for cycling. 

The John Rowswell Hub Trail 

Respondents were then asked to answer questions about their experiences using the John 
Rowswell Hub Trail in Sault Ste. Marie (Figure 55). More than half (53%) of respondents use the 
John Rowswell Hub Trail at least once a week.  

 

Figure 49 | Survey responses to "How often do you use the John Rowswell Hub Trail?” 

10%

14%

29%

38%

9%Daily

4-6 days a week

1-3 days a week

1-4 days a month

Never

• Safety: Many participants mentioned a lack of consideration from drivers towards 
cyclists, making the roads and intersections extremely unsafe. Aggressive driving 
behavior, lack of space, and disregard for cyclists were common concerns. 

• Lack of Bike Lanes: The existing cycling infrastructure (such as the John Rowswell Hub 
Trail) was praised, but participants found it inefficient for commuting or getting around 
town. Participants mentioned the active transportation network has existing gaps and 
emphasized the need for continuous bike lanes, particularly those that are protected. 

• Intersections: Intersections were specifically mentioned often as unsafe for cyclists, 
and vehicles often traveled too fast or failed to share the road. 

• Secure parking: Respondent were concerned about bike theft and the lack of secure 
bike parking specifically at businesses and public services were raised. 

• Road Maintenance: Road maintenance issues were highlighted as affecting cyclist 
safety. 

Page 353 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 0. APPENDIX B: Consultation and Engagement 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 154 

Key suggested recommendations to improve user experience on the John Rowswell Hub Trail 
include: 

• Safer intersections crossings (i.e., better pavement markings, cross-rides, automatic 
pedestrian signals etc.) 

• Close gaps in the trail 
• Add amenities like rest areas (benches, shelters etc.) and public facilities (washrooms) 
• Improve wayfinding and signage 
• Better maintained trails (address potholes/cracking, trail grooming, winter clearing) 
• More direct active transportation connections to downtown 

 

Top priorities 

Participants identified the top 5 priorities for improving active transportation in Sault Ste. Marie 
include: 

1. Build more cycling facilities separated from motor vehicles (e.g. cycle tracks, physically 
separated bike lanes) 

2. Build more off-road trails and/or in-boulevard multi-use paths 

3. Improve maintenance on existing sidewalks, multi-use paths, and cycling facilities 

4. Improve safety at intersections for pedestrians and cyclists 

5. Provide more amenities along active transportation routes (benches, access to washrooms, 
water fountains, bike racks etc.) 

Participants also emphasized the need to prioritize active transportation and vulnerable road users 
(pedestrians, cyclists etc.) over vehicles, with a focus on creating safer, more efficient and 
accessible routes and connections for these users. 

They also highlighted the importance of maintenance and winter clearing for active transportation, 
including sidewalk and trails, as well as further promotion and education regarding active 
transportation use around the city. 

 

Mapping Tool 

The survey also included a virtual mapping tool for participants to highlight and comment on 
specific locations throughout Sault Ste. Marie as areas of concern and/or opportunities for 
improving the active transportation network, while also noting positive aspects. Respondents 
provided approximately 1,070 pinned areas or comments, as seen in Figure 50. A summary of the 
key locations with concerns or challenges is included per each category.  

 

Page 354 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 0. APPENDIX B: Consultation and Engagement 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 155 

Bike lanes or bike 
facilities are 
needed or require 
improvements 

 

There were numerous locations where bike lanes or bike facilities are 
needed or require enhancements. Areas that received multiple comments 
and key messages within this category included: 

• A need for cycling facilities along Pine Street, Queen Street East and 
West, Pim Street, Boundary Road, Wallace Terrace/Lyons Avenue, 
Trunk Road, the rail corridor, and other key arterials/corridors 

• Improvements to the shoulder along Fourth Line East and West, which 
can be washed out making it difficult as a route for cyclists   

• Cycling access to and bike parking at popular shops, services, and 
public buildings 

• Connections between Manitou Park, Batchewana First Nation, and the 
John Rowswell Hub Trail 

• Address gaps in the John Rowswell Hub Trail 
• More connections to the John Rowswell Hub Trail from 

neighbourhoods and key destinations, such as the train station 
• Need to plow and maintain bike paths in the winter, notably along Bay 

Street 

Trail needs to be 
changed or 
improved 

Comments specific to trails included: 
• Connections between dead-end streets to improve connectivity, e.g., 

Summit Avenue to Alworth Place 
• Improved paths that allow pedestrians and cyclists to bypass Second 

Line and Great Northern Road 

Sidewalks 
needed or 
existing 
sidewalks should 
be improved 

Comments specific to sidewalks included: 
• Sidewalks are needed along all residential streets 
• Continuous sidewalks needed along arterial roads, such as along Pim 

Street between Ontario Avenue and Summit Avenue and People’s 
Road 

• Trail improvements at Goulais Avenue and Korah Road 
• Wider buffer between sidewalk and traffic lanes along roads with high 

speeds and/or volumes 
• Traffic calming in the downtown and built-up areas, like along Albert 

Street East, Church Streets etc. 
• Ensure sidewalk ramps/slopes are accessible by a variety of devices 

like wheelchairs and bicycles 

Page 355 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 0. APPENDIX B: Consultation and Engagement 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 156 

Difficult crossing 
or intersection 

 

There were numerous intersections flagged as difficult or dangerous to 
cross. Hot spots included: 
• Intersections along corridors such as the Great Northern Road 

(particularly in the vicinity of Second Line), Wellington Street East-
Trunk Road, notably the intersection of Elizabeth Street/Trunk Road 

• Intersections near educational facilities like schools and Algoma 
University, at MacDonald Ave/Lake Street, or near shop/services like 
grocery stores  

• Fast moving vehicles in the downtown make intersections, like Pim 
Street and Wellington Street East, very dangerous 

• Issues with visibility/blind crossings of pedestrians and other active 
transportation users at intersections, particularly on a hill or curve 

• Comments that drivers often do not yield to pedestrians and other 
active transportation users, even when there is a marked crossing or 
at an intersection 

• Several comments expressing concerns about right and left-turning 
vehicles not seeing active transportation users 

 

 

Figure 50 | Mapping Tool with Pins 

 

 

 

Page 356 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 0. APPENDIX B: Consultation and Engagement 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 157 

Survey Results - Survey No.2 

Proposed Networks and Facilities 

The participants were asked to share their thoughts on the proposed pedestrian network and 
active transportation networks. The key feedback heard included: 

• Respondents generally supported the proposed network.  
• The Truck Road rail corridor is key and will have to be planned properly to allow for safe 

crossing 
• Emphasis on prioritization of key routes 
• Some participants were apprehensive about potential impacts to vehicle traffic 
• Suggestion to place sidewalks near schools 

Participants were asked how likely they were to increase their use of active transportation for 
recreation or for your daily tasks in Sault Ste. Marie once the network is constructed (Figure 57). 
The majority (57%) replied they are very likely, while the remaining participants (47%) replied they 
are somewhat likely. No one replied they are unlikely.  

Participants were also asked whether they will likely feel safer and more comfortable using active 
transportation modes once the network is implemented (Figure 52). The majority (86%) said they 
will feel safer and more comfortable, while the remaining 14% were unsure if they will. No one 
responded they will not feel safer or not comfortable using the proposed network.  

  

Figure 51 | How Likely Participants will use the Active 
Transportation network 

Figure 52 | Will participants feel safer or more 
comfortable using the active transportation network? 

Proposed Programming 

Participants were also asked to share their thoughts regarding the proposed programming 
approach and initiatives designed to support active transportation network. There was some 
feedback on the actual programming, as well as thoughts on additional matters related to the 
network, including: 

• Support to establish a dedicated Active Transportation Coordinator and committee to 
implement these programs efficiently and effectively. 

Page 357 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 0. APPENDIX B: Consultation and Engagement 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 158 

• Concern for private landowners who impede trail connectivity by placing barriers along the trail 
• Need for enhanced transit service as well as active transportation routes to accommodate a 

diverse user base. 

Overall, the majority (67%) of users expressed that participating in these programs would 
encourage them to use the network, while the remaining 33% indicated that these programs might 
somewhat or may not influence their usage. 

What Was Heard 

The engagement activities thus far have provided valuable insight into existing conditions and 
potential opportunities for improving active transportation and trails in Sault Ste. Marie. The 
engagement also highlighted community priorities from members of the public and key 
stakeholders that will allow the project team to tailor the ATMP in a way that reflects the needs and 
desires of those than live, work and visit Sault Ste. Marie. 

Based on the engagement activities conducted to date, the following themes were heard from 
stakeholders and the public. 

Improved Safety 

There was an overwhelming message that people feel unsafe while walking or riding within Sault 
Ste. Marie. This concern primarily stems from the perception of an auto-centric culture, causing 
driver’s inattentiveness to active transportation users, as well as high speeds and other 
undesirable driver behaviours. Vulnerable road user safety needs to be prioritized to make active 
transportation a viable option for more people. This involves creating safer active transportation 
routes and facilities that are either dedicated or physically separated from motor vehicles, 
especially where there are high volumes of traffic, and safety enhancements at crossings and 
intersections. It also involves slower traffic speeds and greater education and awareness for all 
roadway users. Prioritizing pedestrian and cyclist safety, conveys that streets belong to everyone, 
not just motor vehicles. 

Expanded and Continuous Network 

Another significant barrier to walking and cycling is the insufficient pedestrian and cycling 
infrastructure available, including gaps in the existing network. Stakeholders and the public 
expressed the need for more sidewalks and cycling facilities, and to close the gaps in the current 
network to make active modes more appealing and a practical mobility option. There is also a need 
for enhanced pedestrian and cycling infrastructure at crossings and intersections to improve 
safety and comfort for users. Prioritizing active transportation infrastructure ensures that it 
becomes a viable option and contributes to creating streets accessible to all. Traffic calming tools 
should be considered along busy streets to help reduce traffic speeds and make roadways more 
comfortable for active transportation users. 

Page 358 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 0. APPENDIX B: Consultation and Engagement 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 159 

Improved Maintenance & Accessibility 

Implementing the active transportation system is just the beginning; making sure it is useable and 
accessible by a wide range of people is crucial for the systems success. When a facility is not well 
maintained, it becomes inaccessible for a variety of users, including children, those with strollers, 
those with physical impairments, and any device with wheels. Stakeholders and the public 
emphasized prioritizing walkability and bikeability by addressing sidewalk infrastructure like 
potholes and cracked surfaces, as well as consistent maintenance. Another key concern is 
seasonal barriers to walking and cycling, which can be aided with continual winter clearing of 
active transportation facilities. Ensuring pathways and routes are free from obstructions and 
useable by users of all ages and abilities at all times of the year is essential. 

More Amenities 

Enhancing the active transportation network involves providing amenities that support users. 
Amenities that allow people to rest, navigate the active transportation network easily, spend more 
time along the paths, and leave their bike or other device without having to worry are essential. 
Additional bicycle parking, seating, wayfinding signage and washrooms were all mentioned as 
amenities needed to along active transportation facilities in Sault Ste. Marie. For instance, rest 
areas along routes, equipped with seating and washrooms, accommodate various abilities and 
encourage longer use of active transportation facilities. Wayfinding also boosts user confidence 
and informs them about nearby amenities and destinations. 

Greater Connections 

Stakeholders and the community emphasized the need to provide more active transportation 
connections to key destinations. These routes need to be safe and comfortable for people of all 
ages and abilities. Addressing the gaps in the network and developing new routes that connect 
users to key destinations (such as tourist spots, places of work, schools etc.), commercial areas, 
public transit hubs, and existing trails. Increasing access to these destinations will attract and 
encourage a broader range of residents to participate in active travel more in their daily lives and 
for recreation. 

The John Rowswell Hub Trail 

While the existing John Rowswell Hub Trail is an excellent asset in the active transportation 
system and serves the community very well, there are still opportunities for improvement. Safer 
crossings at intersections, addressing trail gaps, enhancing wayfinding, and installing amenities 
like benches, shelters, and washrooms will enhance the trail user experience. Additionally, 
enhancing access to and connectivity between the hub trail trail, bicycle lanes, neighbourhoods, 
and key areas of the city is also critical. This is particularly important in areas of the city which may 
often be overlooked, such as those with higher proportions of equity-deserving communities. 

Page 359 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 0. APPENDIX B: Consultation and Engagement 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan   

Page 160 

Implementation 

Both stakeholders and the community acknowledge and support the ambitious nature of this plan 
and that won’t be without challenges to implement. A particular concern heard is the potential 
inefficiency of the rollout process, especially given competing city priorities over the next two 
decades. To address this, coordination with capital works and prioritizing active transportation in 
the annual budget process is essential. Additionally, establishing an active transportation 
coordinator and committee will ensure a smoother deployment of the network and associated 
programming. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 360 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 0. APPENDIX C: Costing of Facilities 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan 
   

Page 161 

APPENDIX C: Costing of Facilities 
A breakdown of the per-metre cost for the facility types included in Table 13. Contingency costs 
(assumed to be 30% of the unit price), and design and approvals costs (assumed to be 15% of the 
unit price), are included. The per-metre facility costs also assume costs for some intersection 
improvements to accommodate the suggested facilities. 

 

Table 13 | Per-Metre Cost for the Facility Types 

Facility Type Unit Price per Metre 

Sidewalks and Neighbourhood 
Connector Paths 

 $438 

Multi-Use Trails (e.g. John 
Rowswell Hub Trail, West End Hub 
Trail). 

 $ 873 

Conventional Bike Lane  $ 70  

Protected Bike Lane  $ 240 

Upgrade to Protected Bike Lane  $ 240  

Shared Route  $ 2  

Paved Shoulder  $ 862 

Upgrade to Buffered Paved 
Shoulder 

948 

Buffered Paved Shoulder  $ 948 

Recreational Pathway  $ 361 

 

Page 361 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 0. APPENDIX C: Costing of Facilities 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan 
   

Page 162 

Table 14 | Cost Summary of Active Transportation Facilities Planned for Short-Term Implementation 

Short-Term Implementation 

Facility Type Length (m) Total Cost 

Multi-Use Trail Network 

Multi-Use and Hub Trail Network 8,009 $6,991,857 

West End Hub Trail  12,938 $11,294,874 

Multi-Use Trail Network Subtotal 
21 km 

(20,947 m) 

$18,286,731 

Bicycle Route Network 

Conventional Bike Lane 10,496 734,720 

Protected Bike Lane 11,182 2,683,680 

Upgrade to Protected Bike Lane 5,521 1,325,040 

Shared Route 24,955 49,910 

Paved Shoulder 0 0 

Buffered Paved Shoulder 0 0 

Upgrade to Buffered Paved Shoulder 0 0 

Bicycle Route Network Subtotal 52 km 

(52,154 m) 

$4,793,350 

Near-Term Active Transportation Network 
Total 

73.1 km 

(73,101m) 

$23,080,081 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 362 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 0. APPENDIX C: Costing of Facilities 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan 
   

Page 163 

 

 

 

Table 15 | Cost Summary of Active Transportation Facilities Planned for Long-Term Implementation 

Long-Term Implementation 

Facility Type Length (m) Total Cost 

Multi-Use Trail Network 

Multi-Use and Hub Trail Network 17,848 $15,581,304 

West End Hub Trail  0 0 

Multi-Use Trail Network Subtotal 
18 km 

(17,848 m) 

$15,581,304 

Bicycle Route Network 

Conventional Bike Lane 19,424 1,359,680 

Protected Bike Lane1 15,053 3,612,720 

Upgrade to Protected Bike Lane 12,785 3,068,400 

Shared Route 17,468 34,936 

Paved Shoulder 34,928 30,107,936 

Buffered Paved Shoulder 5,553 5,264,244 

Upgrade to Buffered Paved Shoulder 4,872 4,618,656 

Bicycle Route Network Subtotal 110 km 

(110,083 m) 

$48,066,572 

Long-Term Active Transportation Network 
Total 

128 km 

(127,931 m) 

$109,965,640 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 363 of 411



  Soo Moves: Active Transportation Master Plan 
Chapter 0. APPENDIX C: Costing of Facilities 

City of Sault Ste. Marie Active Transportation Master Plan 
   

Page 164 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Table 16 | Total Implementation Cost Summary of the Active Transportation Network 

 Total Implementation Cost 

Facility Type Existing (m) Proposed (m) Total Cost 

 Pedestrian Network 

Sidewalks 339,834 81,169 $35,552,022 

Neighbourhood Connector Paths 6,554 519 $227,322 

Pedestrian Crossovers 8 22 - 

Pedestrian Network Subtotal 346 km 

(346,388 m) 

82 km 

(81,688 m) 

$35,779,344 

 Multi-Use Trail Network 

Multi-Use and Hub Trail Network 29,158 25,857 $22,573,161 

West End Hub Trail  0 12,938 $11,294,874 

Multi-Use Trail Network Subtotal 
29 km 

(29,158 m) 

39 km 

(38,795 m) 

$33,868,035 

 Bicycle Route Network 

Conventional Bike Lane 3,800 29,921 $2,094,400 

Protected Bike Lane1 0 26,236 $6,296,400 

Upgrade to Protected Bike Lane 18,307 18,307 $4,393,440 

Shared Route 3,450 42,424 $84,846 

Paved Shoulder 5,806 34,928 $30,107,936 

Buffered Paved Shoulder 0 5,553 $5,264,244 

Upgrade to Buffered Paved Shoulder 4,872 4,872 $4,618,656 

Bicycle Route Network Subtotal 36 km 

(36,235 m) 

162 km 

(162,241 m) 

$52,859,922 

 Recreational Pathway Network 

Recreational Pathways - 30 km 

29,822 m 

$10,765,742 

Active Transportation Network Total 412km 

(411,781m) 

313 km 

(312,546m) 

$133,273,043 

 

Page 364 of 411



        

 

The Corporation of the 
 City of Sault Ste. Marie 

C O U N C I L    R E P O R T 

 

April 29, 2025 

TO: Mayor Matthew Shoemaker and Members of City Council 

AUTHOR: Jonathan Kircal, Intermediate Planner 

DEPARTMENT: Community Development and Enterprise Services 

RE: A-3-25-Z Housekeeping Amendments – Clarification on By-

law 2025-69 

________________________________________________________________ 

Purpose 
The purpose of this report is to clarify a minor modification to By-law 2025-69 
(zoning amendments).  

Background 
At the April 7, 2025 Council meeting, rezoning application A-3-25-Z – 
Housekeeping Amendments was approved and the Legal Department was 
directed to prepare the corresponding by-laws for the April 29, 2025 Council 
meeting. 

Analysis 
Application A-3-25-Z included several housekeeping amendments to Zoning By-
law 2005-150. One of the proposed amendments was to reduce side yard setbacks 
for residential structures where vehicle parking is not required to be located in a 
side yard.  This particular amendment was not discussed in the report, nor did it 
form part of the public notice, but it was included in the recommendation.  Given 
these inconsistencies, this particular amendment is not part of By-law 2025-69. 
The next housekeeping installment will include this amendment. 

Financial Implications 
No financial implications are associated with this report. 

Strategic Plan / Policy Impact / Climate Impact 
No strategic planning, policy or climate implications are associated with this report. 

Recommendation 
It is therefore recommended that Council take the following action:  

Resolved that the report of the Intermediate Planner dated April 29, 2025 
concerning A-3-25-Z Housekeeping Amendments be received as information. 

Page 365 of 411



A-3-25-Z Housekeeping Amendments – Clarification on By-law 
April 29, 2025 
Page 2. 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
Jonathan Kircal 
Intermediate Planner 
705.759.6227 
j.kircal@cityssm.on.ca 

 

 

Page 366 of 411

mailto:j.kircal@cityssm.on.ca


 
THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF SAULT STE. MARIE 

 
BY-LAW NO. 2025-51 

 
To End the Application of Part IX of the Municipal Act, 2001, S.O. c.25 to the Commercial 
Property Class and Adopt Optional Tools for the Purposes of Administering Limits for the 

Industrial Property Classes. 
 
WHEREAS the Corporation of The City of Sault Ste. Marie (hereinafter referred to as “the 
Municipality”) may in accordance with s. 329.1 of the Municipal Act, 2001, S.0. 2001 c.25, 
as amended (hereinafter referred to as “the Act”), and Ontario Regulation 73/03, as made 
and amended under the Act, modify the provisions and limits set out in Part IX of the Act, 
with respect to the calculation of taxes for municipal and education purposes for 
properties in the Commercial and Industrial Property Classes; 

AND WHEREAS this By-Law shall only apply to properties in the Broad Commercial and 
Industrial property classes to which Part IX of the Act applies; 

AND WHEREAS for the purposes of this By-Law, all Commercial Property Classes and 
all Industrial Property Classes are deemed to form single property tax classes; 

AND WHEREAS “uncapped taxes” means the taxes for municipal and education 
purposes that would be levied for the taxation year but for the application of Part IX of the 
Act; 

AND WHEREAS “capped taxes” means the taxes for municipal and education purposes 
that would be levied for the taxation year as a result of the application of Part IX of the 
Act; 

AND WHEREAS Section 8.2 of Ontario Regulation 73/03 as amended provides that a 
municipality may pass a by-law providing that Part IX of the Municipal Act, 2001 (limitation 
on taxes for certain property classes), shall not apply to any property in the Commercial 
tax class, nor to any property in the Industrial tax class if, in the previous taxation year, 
the taxes for each property in the Commercial tax class and Industrial tax class, as the 
case may be, were equal to the uncapped taxes for the property for the taxation year, as 
shown on the final tax bill for the taxation year, and a municipal council with tax policy 
responsibilities has adopted a by-law under this section that applies to the taxation year 
in which it is passed and to subsequent taxation years; 

AND WHEREAS Council may pass a By-Law to apply any one or any combination of the 
following options to a Property Tax Class subject to Part IX of the Act: 

a) Set the annual cap of the previous year’s capped taxes at a maximum of 10% of 
the previous year’s capped taxes; and/or, 

b) Set an upper limit on annual increases at the greater of the amount calculated 
under (a) and up to 10% of the previous year’s annualized CVA tax; and/or, 

c) Establish a capping adjustment threshold of up to $500 for increasing properties, 
decreasing properties or both, whereby no capping adjustments less than the 
threshold amount would be applied; and/or, 

d) Exempt properties from the capping calculation where the previous year’s capped 
taxes for the property were equal to the uncapped taxes for that year; and/or, 

Page 367 of 411



e) Exempt properties from the capping calculation where the previous year's capped 
taxes were less than the previous year's CVA taxes, and the current year’s capped 
taxes would otherwise be greater than the current years CVA taxes, or vice-versa. 

f)  Remove classes from the application of Part IX of the Act where all properties 
within a class were taxed at the uncapped tax level last year. 

 
AND WHEREAS Council for the Municipality has this authority, and has reviewed the 
provisions of subsection 329.1 of the Act and the provisions of Ontario Regulation 73/03, 
and hereby deems it necessary and appropriate to continue to adopt optional tools for the 
purpose of administering limits for the Industrial property tax class; 
 
AND WHEREAS Ontario Regulation 73/03, provides that a municipality may pass a by-
law, to phase out the application of Part IX of the Municipal Act, 2001 to any or all Property 
Tax Classes it applies to, providing that the amount of taxes for municipal and education 
purposes for the previous taxation year under subsection 329 (1) of the Act were equal 
to or greater than 50 per cent of the uncapped taxes for all properties in that Property Tax 
Class for the taxation year, as shown on the final tax bill for the taxation; 
 
AND WHEREAS the application of Part IX of the Act resulted in no capped or clawed 
back properties in the Commercial Property Classes of the Corporation 2024; meaning 
that all property taxes billed in the Commercial Property Class were equal to the uncapped 
taxes of each property; 
 
NOW THEREFORE THE COUNCIL OF THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF SAULT 
STE MARIE HEREBY ENACTS as follows: 
 
1. THAT the Commercial Property Tax Class has entered the fourth year of phase out 

from the application of Part IX of the Municipal Act, 2001 and the Industrial Property 
Tax Class has entered into the second year of phase out of Part IX of the Municipal 
Act, 2001. 

 
2. AND THAT as all requirements of Ontario Regulation 102/16 have been met, Part IX 

of the Municipal Act, 2001 is deemed to no longer apply to any property in the 
Commercial Property Tax Class as defined in this By-law. 
 

3. THAT paragraphs 1, 2, and 3, of subsection 329.1 (1) of the Act shall apply to the 
Industrial Property Classes for the 2025 taxation year. 

 
4. AND THAT 

(i) In determining the amount of taxes for municipal and education purposes for 
2023 under s. 329(1) of the Act and the amount of the tenant’s cap under s. 
332(5) of the Act, the greater of the amounts determined under paragraphs a) 
and b) as set out below shall apply in determining the amount to be added under 
paragraph 2 of s. 329(1) of the Act, and the increasing amount under paragraph 
2 of s. 332(5) of the Act: 

(a) The percentage set out in s. 329(1)2 of the Act and s. 332(5)2 of the Act 
shall be ten per cent (10%) for Industrial Property Classes, and 

(b) The amount of the uncapped taxes for the previous year multiplied by 
ten per cent (10%) for Industrial Property Classes; 

Page 368 of 411



(ii) The amount of the taxes for municipal and education purposes for a property for 
a taxation year shall be the amount of the uncapped taxes for the property for 
the year if the amount of the uncapped taxes exceeds the amount of the taxes 
for municipal and education purposes for the property for the taxation year as 
determined under s. 329 of the Act, as modified under s. 329.1 of the Act and 
this By-Law, by five hundred dollars ($500.00) or less for properties in the 
Industrial Classes. 

(iii) The amount of the taxes for Municipal and education purposes for a property for 
a taxation year shall be the amount of the uncapped taxes for the property for 
the year if the amount of the taxes for Municipal and education purposes for the 
property for the taxation year as determined under s. 330 of the Act, as modified 
under section s. 329.1 of the Act and this By-Law exceed the uncapped taxes 
by five hundred dollars ($500.00) or less for properties in the Industrial Property 
Classes. 

5. AND THAT paragraphs 1, 2, and 3, of s. 8.0.2 (2) of Ontario Regulation 73/03 shall 
apply to the Industrial Property Classes for 2025. 

6. AND THAT properties in the Industrial Property Classes that meet any of the 
following conditions shall be exempt from the capping calculations set out under Part 
IX of the Act for the 2025 taxation year: 
 

(i) The capped taxes for the property in the previous year were equal to its 
uncapped taxes for that year. 

(ii) The capped taxes for the property in the previous year were lower than the 
property’s uncapped taxes for that year, and the current year’s capped 
taxes would be higher than the current year’s uncapped taxes if Part IX were 
applied. 

(iii) The capped taxes for the property in the previous year were higher than the 
property’s uncapped taxes for that year, and the current year’s capped 
taxes would be lower than the current year’s uncapped taxes if Part IX were 
applied. 

 
7. AND THAT the Commercial class entered into the fourth year of the phase out of the 

application and the Industrial class be entered into the second year of the phase out 
of Part IX of the Municipal Act, 2001. 
 

8. AND THAT By-law 2024-49 is hereby repealed. 
 

9. AND THAT this by-law shall be effective as of January 1st, 2025 
 

PASSED in open Council this 29th day of April 2025. 

  
MAYOR – MATTHEW SHOEMAKER 
 
 
  
CITY CLERK – RACHEL TYCZINSKI 

Page 369 of 411



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF SAULT STE. MARIE 
 

BY-LAW NO. 2025-55 
 

 
TAXES:    A by-law to provide for 2025 final tax billing. 
 
 
WHEREAS the Municipal Act, 2001 S.O. 2001, c.25, as amended, provides that the 
council of a local municipality, may pass a by-law levying amounts on the assessment of 
property in the local municipality ratable for local municipality purposes; 
 
AND WHEREAS the Council of the Corporation of the City of Sault Ste. Marie deems it 
appropriate to provide for such levy on the assessment of property in this municipality; 
 
THEREFORE the Council of the Corporation of the City of Sault Ste. Marie enacts as 
follows: 
 
1. In this by-law the following words shall be defined as: 
 

“Act” shall mean the Municipal Act, 2001 S.O. 2001, C.25, as amended 
“Minister” shall mean the Minister of Finance; 
“MPAC” shall mean the Municipal Property Assessment Corporation; 
“Treasurer” means the treasurer of the Corporation of the City of Sault Ste. Marie or 
a person delegated the Treasurer’s powers and duties under s.286(5) of the Act. 
 

2. All taxes levied under this by-law shall be payable into the hands of the Treasurer in 
accordance with the provisions of this by-law. 

 
3. The provisions of this by-law apply in the event that assessment is added for the year 

2025 to the Tax Roll after the date this by-law is passed and the tax levy shall be 
imposed and collected. 

 
4. There shall be imposed on all taxes a penalty for non-payment or late payment of 

taxes in default of the installment dates set out below.  The penalty shall be one and 
one-quarter percent (1¼%) of the amount in default on the first day after the due date 
and the first day of each calendar month during which the default continues, but not 
after the end of 2025. 

 
5. Following December 31, 2025, interest charges of one and one-quarter percent 

(1¼%) shall be imposed upon the amount in default on the first calendar day of each 
month during which the default continues. 

 
6. The final tax levy imposed by this by-law shall be paid in two installments due on the 

following dates: 
6.1  One-half (1/2) thereof on the 7th day of July, 2025. 

Page 370 of 411



 
6.2  One-half (1/2) thereof on the 5th day of September, 2025.  
 

7. A notice specifying the amount of taxes payable, may be mailed or cause to be mailed 
to the address of the residence or place of business of each person taxed under this 
by-law by the Treasurer.  

 
8. The notice to be mailed under this by-law shall contain the particulars provided for in 

this by-law and the information required to be entered in the Tax roll under Section 
340 of the Act.  

 
9. The Treasurer shall be authorized to accept part payment from time to time on 

account of any taxes due, and to give a receipt of such part payment, provided that 
acceptance of any such part payment shall not affect the collection of any percentage 
charge imposed and collectable under section 4 and 5 of this by-law in respect of 
non-payment or late payment of any taxes or any installment of taxes. 

 
10. Nothing in this by-law shall prevent the Treasurer from proceeding at any time with 

the collection of any tax, or any part thereof, in accordance with the provisions of the 
statutes and by-laws governing the collection of taxes. 

 
11.  In the event of any conflict between the provisions of this by-law and any other by-

law, the provisions of this by-law shall prevail.  
 
12.  EFFECTIVE DATE 
 

This by-law takes effect from the date of its final passing. 
 
 
PASSED in open Council this day of April 29, 2025. 
 
 
                    
         MAYOR - MATTHEW SHOEMAKER 
 
 
                    
         CITY CLERK – RACHEL TYCZINSKI 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 371 of 411



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF SAULT STE. MARIE 
 

BY-LAW 2025-61 
 
 
TAXES:  A by-law to provide for the adoption of tax ratios. 
 
WHEREAS Section 308 of the Municipal Act, 2001, as amended provides that the 
council of a local municipality shall pass a by-law to establish tax ratios for the 
2025 Taxation Year. 
 
Therefore THE COUNCIL of the Corporation of the City of Sault Ste. Marie 
pursuant to the Municipal Act, as amended ENACTS as follows: 
 
 
1. SCHEDULE “A” 
 

Schedule “A” hereto forms part of this by-law. 
 
 
2. EFFECTIVE DATE 
 
 This by-law takes effect on the day of its final passing. 
 
 
PASSED in open Council this 29th day of April, 2025. 
 
 
             
    MAYOR – MATTHEW SHOEMAKER 
 
 
             
    CITY CLERK – RACHEL TYCZINSKI 
 
 
 
 

Page 372 of 411



CITY OF SAULT STE MARIE Schedule A
2025 TAX  RATIOS

Residential 1.000000                    
Multi-Residential 1.082000                    
Multi-Residential New Construction 1.082000                    
Commpercial Occupied 1.928025                    
Commercial New Construction 1.928025                    
Commercial Excess Land 1.349618                    
Commercial-Small On-Farm Business 1.928025                    
Shopping Centres 2.046725                    
Shopping Centres-New Construction 2.046725                    
Shopping Centres-Excess Land 1.432708                    
Office Building 2.680286                    
Office Building-New Construction 2.680286                    
Office Building-Excess Land 1.876200                    
Parking Lots & Commercial Vacant Land 1.425444                    
Industrial Occupied 3.824401                    
Industrial-New Construction 3.824401                    
Industrial-Excess Land 2.485861                    
Industrial-Vacant Land 2.485861                    
Industrial-Small On-Farm Business 3.824401                    
Large Industrial 6.792239                    
Large Industrial-Excess Land 4.414955                    
Landfills 1.884024                    
Pipelines 2.093910                    
Farmland 0.250000                    
Managed Forests 0.250000                    
Aggregate Extraction 3.453236                    

Page 373 of 411



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF SAULT STE MARIE 
 

TAX RATE (LEVY) BY-LAW FOR 2025 
 

BY-LAW 2025-62 
 

TAXES: A by-law to provide for the adoption of property tax rates for 2025.  
 
WHEREAS Section 312 of the Municipal Act, 2001 provides that the Council of a local 
municipality shall, after the adoption of estimates for the year, pass a by-law to levy a 
separate tax rate on the assessment in each property class, and; 
 
WHEREAS Sections 307 and 308 of the said Act require tax rates to be established in 
the same proportion to tax ratios, and;  
 
WHEREAS the 2025 municipal tax levy for all purposes including debenture principal and 
interest payments has been set at $145,992,909 comprised of $137,370,389 for the 
overall (rural) area and an additional $8,622,520 for the urban area only including 
debenture principal and interest payments specific to the special area;   
 
NOW THEREFORE the Council of the Corporation of the City of Sault Ste. Marie hereby 
ENACTS the tax rates for municipal purposes as set out in Schedule “A” hereto annexed, 
and forming part of this by-law.  
 
1. SCHEDULE “A” 
 
 Schedule “A” hereto forms part of this by-law. 
 
2. EFFECTIVE DATE 
 
 This by-law takes effect on the date of its final passing. 
 
 
PASSED in open Council this 29th day of April, 2025. 
 
 
              
     MAYOR – MATTHEW SHOEMAKER 
 
 
              
     CITY CLERK – RACHEL TYCZINSKI 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 374 of 411



CITY OF SAULT STE. MARIE Schedule A
2025 PROPERTY TAX RATES

URBAN AREA
Property Class RTC/RTQ Municipal
Residential RT/RH 0.01696357      
Multi-Residential-New Construction MT/NT 0.01835458      
Commercial Occupied-New Construction CT/CH/XT/XH 0.03270618      
Commercial-New Construction-Excess Land CU/XU 0.02289433      
Commercial-Small On-Farm Business C7 0.03270618      
Commercial-Vacant Land-Parking Lots CX/GT 0.02418062      
General Rate Only (International Bridge Plaza) CM 0.03270618      
Shopping Centres Occupied-New Construction ST/ZT 0.03471976      
Shopping Centres-Excess Land SU 0.02430383      
Office Buildings Occupied-New Construction DT/YH 0.04546722      
Office Building-Excess Land DU 0.03182705      
Industrial Occupied-New Construction IT/IH/JT 0.06450702      
Industrial-New Construction-Excess Land-Vacant Land JU/IU/IX/IJ 0.04192956      
Industrial-Small On-Farm Business I7 0.06450702      
Large Industrial-Occupied LT 0.11456619      
Large Industrial-Excess Land LU 0.07446801      
Landfills HT 0.03195977      
Pipeline PT 0.03552019      
Farm-Managed Forests FT/TT 0.00424090      
Aggregate Extraction VT 0.05824649      

RURAL  AREA
Property Class RTC/RTQ Municipal
Residential RT/RH 0.01584378      
Multi-Residential-New Construction MT/NT 0.01714297      
Commercial Occupied-New Construction CT/CH/XT/XH 0.03054720      
Commercial-New Construction-Excess Land CU/XU 0.02138304      
Commercial-Small On-Farm Business C7 0.03054720      
Commercial-Vacant Land-Parking Lots CX/GT 0.02258442      
Shopping Centres Occupied-New Construction ST/ZT 0.03242786      
Shopping Centres-Excess Land SU 0.02269950      
Office Buildings Occupied-New Construction DT/DH/YH 0.04246586      
Office Building-Excess Land DU 0.02972610      
Industrial Occupied-New Construction IT/IH/JT 0.06022449      
Industrial-New Construction-Excess Land-Vacant Land JU/IU/IX/IJ 0.03914592      
Industrial-Small On-Farm Business I7 0.06022449      
Large Industrial-Occupied LT 0.10696031      
Large Industrial-Excess Land LU 0.06952419      
Landfills HT 0.02985006      
Pipeline PT 0.03317545      
Farm-Managed Forests FT/TT 0.00396095      
Aggregate Extraction VT 0.05437959      

Page 375 of 411



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF SAULT STE. MARIE 

 

BY-LAW 2025-63 
 

 

AGREEMENT:  A by-law to authorize an agreement between the City and the Sault 
Ste. Marie Housing Corporation for the provision of a Municipal Capital Facility at 721 
Wellington Street East. 
 
 

THE COUNCIL of The Corporation of the City of Sault Ste. Marie, pursuant to section 9 

of the Municipal Act, 2001, S.O. 2001, c. 25, ENACTS as follows: 
 

 

1. EXECUTION OF DOCUMENT 
 
The Mayor and City Clerk are hereby authorized for and in the name of the 
Corporation to execute and affix  the seal of the Corporation to a Municipal 
Capital Facility Agreement for 721 Wellington Street East, dated April 28, 2025, 
between the City and the Sault Ste Marie Housing Corporation attached as 
Schedule “A” hereto.   

 

2. SCHEDULE "A" 
 

Schedule "A" forms part of this by-law. 
 

3. EFFECTIVE DATE 
 
 This by-law takes effect on the day of its final passing. 
 
 

PASSED in open Council this 29th day of April, 2025. 
 
 
 
     ___________________________  _ 

     MAYOR – MATTHEW SHOEMAKER 
 
 
     ____________________________  _ 

     CITY CLERK – RACHEL TYCZINSKI 
 
 

 
JG \\citydata\LegalDept\Legal\Staff\COUNCIL\BY-LAWS\2025\2025 - Municipal Capital Facility Agreement - 721 Wellington 

Street East.doc 

Page 376 of 411



THIS AGREEMENT made this 28th day of April, 2025. 

BETWEEN: 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF SAULT STE. MARIE 

(hereinafter called the "City") 

- and-

SAULT STE. MARIE HOUSING CORPORATION 

(hereinafter called the "Housing Corp") 

WHEREAS the Housing Corp is the owner of the lands in the City of Sault Ste. Marie 

known as 721 Wellington Street East and identified as assessment roll number 57-61-

020-043-157-00-0000-00 (the "Property"), and which Housing Corp leases the said

Property to the District of Sault Ste. Marie Social Services Administration Board

("DSSMSSAB") to operate a Community Resource Centre from the Property which

services the residents of the City since the said lease has been in effect;

AND WHEREAS the Housing Corp is a wholly owned subsidiary of the DSSMSSAB; 

AND WHEREAS subsection 110(1) of the Municipal Act, 2001, S.O. 2001, c.25, as 

amended (hereinafter called "the Act") provides that the Council of a municipality may 

enter into agreements for the provision of "municipal capital facilities" by any person and 

Ontario Regulation 603/06 provides that such an agreement can be entered into for a 

municipal capital facility used for the provision of social and health services (s.2, para. 10 

of O.Reg. 603/06); 

NOW THEREFORE the parties hereto agree as follows: 

1. This is an agreement for the provision of a municipal capital facility by the City

under s.110(1) of the Act;

2. The municipal capital facility is used for the provision of social and health services,

specifically a Community Resource Centre for the City.

3. The City shall cause its Clerk to give the necessary notice of the by-law permitting

the City to enter into this agreement to the Minister of Finance as provided for in

s.110(5) of the Act;

4. Upon the signing of this Agreement, the City shall pass a by-law under s.110(6) of

the Act and s.6(1)(b) of O.Reg.603/06 exempting the Housing Corp, which is a

wholly owned subsidiary of DSSMSSAB, a Local Board, from taxation for municipal

and school purposes for the lands and the municipal capital facilities thereon;

Schedule "A"

Page 377 of 411



Page 378 of 411



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF SAULT STE. MARIE 

 

BY-LAW 2025-64 
 

TAXATION EXEMPTION: (C3.66) A by-law to provide for the taxation exemption for 
721 Wellington Street East as a Municipal Capital Facility. 
 

WHEREAS subsection 110(1) of the Municipal Act, 2001, S.O. 2001, c.25 as amended, 
authorizes a local municipality to enter into a Municipal Capital Facilities agreement; 
 

AND WHEREAS section 110(6) of the Municipal Act, 2001 authorizes a municipality to 
exempt all or part of a Municipal Capital Facility from taxes levied for municipal and 
school purposes; 
 

AND WHEREAS section 6(1)(b) of O. Reg. 603/06 authorizes the said taxation 
exemption for municipal capital facilities only where the municipal council declares such 
municipal capital facilities for public use; 
 

AND WHEREAS the agreement between The Corporation of the City of Sault Ste. 
Marie and the Sault Ste. Marie Housing Corporation, dated April 28, 2025, declared the 
721 Wellington Street East, identified as assessment roll number 57-61-020-043-157-
00-0000-00 as a Municipal Capital Facility for cultural, recreational or tourist purposes 
for the public; 
 

NOW THEREFORE the Council of The Corporation of the City of Sault Ste. Marie 

ENACTS as follows: 
 

1. EXEMPTION FROM TAXATION 
 
The lands in the City of Sault Ste. Marie known as the Sault Ste. Marie Housing 
Corporation, located at 721 Wellington Street East, operating as the Men’s 
Shelter is exempted from taxation for municipal and school purposes for the 
lands and municipal capital facilities thereon. 
 

 

2. EFFECTIVE DATE 
 
 This by-law takes effect on the day of its final passing. 
 
 
 
 

Page 379 of 411



By-law 2025-64 
Page 2 
 
 

PASSED in open Council this 29th day of April, 2025. 
 
 
     ___________________________  _ 

     MAYOR – MATTHEW SHOEMAKER 
 
 
     ____________________________  _ 

     CITY CLERK – RACHEL TYCZINSKI 
 
 
 
JG \\citydata\LegalDept\Legal\Staff\COUNCIL\BY-LAWS\2025\2025 - Municipal Capital 
Facility Tax Exemption- 721 Wellington Street East.doc 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 380 of 411



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF SAULT STE. MARIE 

 

BY-LAW 2025-65 
 

 

AGREEMENT: A by-law to authorize an agreement between the City and the Sault Ste. 
Marie Housing Corporation for the provision of a Municipal Capital Facility 548 Albert 
Street East. 
 
 

THE COUNCIL of The Corporation of the City of Sault Ste. Marie, pursuant to section 9 

of the Municipal Act, 2001, S.O. 2001, c. 25, ENACTS as follows: 
 

 

1. EXECUTION OF DOCUMENT 
 
The Mayor and City Clerk are hereby authorized for and in the name of the 
Corporation to execute and affix  the seal of the Corporation to a Municipal 
Capital Facility Agreement for 548 Albert Street East, dated April 28, 2025, 
between the City and the Sault Ste Marie Social Housing Corporation attached 
as Schedule “A” hereto.   

 

2. SCHEDULE "A" 
 

Schedule "A" forms part of this by-law. 
 

3. EFFECTIVE DATE 
 
 This by-law takes effect on the day of its final passing. 
 
 

PASSED in open Council this 29th day of April, 2025. 
 
 
 
     ___________________________  _ 

     MAYOR – MATTHEW SHOEMAKER 
 
 
     ____________________________  _ 

     CITY CLERK – RACHEL TYCZINSKI 
 
 

 
JG \\citydata\LegalDept\Legal\Staff\COUNCIL\BY-LAWS\2025\2025-65 Municipal Capital Facility Agreement - 548 Albert 

Street East.doc 

Page 381 of 411



Schedule “A” 

 

THIS AGREEMENT made this 28th day of April, 2025.  

BETWEEN: 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF SAULT STE. MARIE 

(hereinafter called the “City”) 

- and –  

SAULT STE. MARIE HOUSING CORPORATION 

(hereinafter called the “Housing Corp”) 

WHEREAS the Housing Corp is the owner of the lands in the City of Sault Ste. Marie 

known as 548 Albert Street East, and identified as assessment roll number (new parcel 

– no roll number yet assigned) and which Housing Corp leases the said Property to the 

District of Sault Ste. Marie Social Services Administration Board (“DSSMSSAB”) to 

operate an Administrative Building to provide social and health services to the residents 

of the City of Sault Ste. Marie from the Property since the said lease has been in effect;  

AND WHEREAS the Housing Corp is a wholly owned subsidiary of the DSSMSSAB; 

AND WHEREAS subsection 110(1) of the Municipal Act, 2001, S.O. 2001, c.25, as 

amended (hereinafter called “the Act”) provides that the Council of a municipality may 

enter into agreements for the provision of “municipal capital facilities” by any person and 

Ontario Regulation 603/06 provides that such an agreement can be entered into for a 

municipal capital facility used for the provision of social and health services (s.2, para. 10 

of O.Reg. 603/06); 

NOW THEREFORE the parties hereto agree as follows: 

1. This is an agreement for the provision of a municipal capital facility by the City 

under s.110(1) of the Act; 

2. The municipal capital facility is used for the provision of social and health services, 

specifically the Administrative Building for the DSSMSSAB which provides such 

services to the public;  

3. The City shall cause its Clerk to give the necessary notice of the by-law permitting 

the City to enter into this agreement to the Minister of Finance as provided for in 

s.110(5) of the Act; 

4. Upon the signing of this Agreement, the City shall pass a by-law under s.110(6) of 

the Act and s.6(1)(b) of O.Reg.603/06 exempting the Housing Corp, which is a 

wholly owned subsidiary of DSSMSSAB, a Local Board, from taxation for municipal 

and school purposes for the lands and the municipal capital facilities thereon; 

Page 382 of 411



Page 2 of 2 
 

 

5. The City shall, upon the passing of the tax exemption by-law referred to above, 

cause its Clerk to give written notice of the contents of the by-law to the entities, 

as required under s. 110(8) of the Act; 

6. If the lands are no longer used for the provision of social and health services for 

the benefit of the public, the City may at its discretion determine to remove the tax 

exemption status implemented pursuant to paragraph 4 herein.  If the Housing 

Corp terminates or allows the expiry of the lease agreement between themselves 

and the DSSMSSAB for the Property, the tax benefits of this Agreement shall no 

longer be in force; and  

7. This Agreement shall be binding upon the parties hereto and their successors and 

assigns.     

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto have set their hands and seals or caused to 

be affixed their corporate seals under the hands of the duly authorized officers as the 

case may be.  

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF SAULT STE. MARIE 
 
 

MAYOR – MATTHEW SHOEMAKER 
 
 

CITY CLERK – RACHEL TYCZINSKI 
 
 
 
 
SAULT STE. MARIE HOUSING CORPORATION 
 
 
 

                                
I have the authority to bind the corporation. 
 
 

JG \\citydata\LegalDept\Legal\Staff\COUNCIL\BY-LAWS\2025\2025-65 Schedule A.docx 

Page 383 of 411



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF SAULT STE. MARIE 

 

BY-LAW 2025-66 
 

TAXATION EXEMPTION: (C3.66) A by-law to provide for the taxation exemption for 
548 Albert Street East as a Municipal Capital Facility. 
 

WHEREAS subsection 110(1) of the Municipal Act, 2001, S.O. 2001, c.25 as amended, 
authorizes a local municipality to enter into a Municipal Capital Facilities agreement; 
 

AND WHEREAS section 110(6) of the Municipal Act, 2001 authorizes a municipality to 
exempt all or part of a Municipal Capital Facility from taxes levied for municipal and 
school purposes; 
 

AND WHEREAS section 6(1)(b) of O. Reg. 603/06 authorizes the said taxation 
exemption for municipal capital facilities only where the municipal council declares such 
municipal capital facilities for public use; 
 

AND WHEREAS the agreement between The Corporation of the City of Sault Ste. 
Marie and the Sault Ste. Marie Housing Corporation, dated April 28, 2025, declared the 
548 Albert Street East new parcel – roll number not assigned as a Municipal Capital 
Facility for cultural, recreational or tourist purposes for the public; 
 

NOW THEREFORE the Council of The Corporation of the City of Sault Ste. Marie 

ENACTS as follows: 
 

1. EXEMPTION FROM TAXATION 
 
The lands in the City of Sault Ste. Marie known as the Sault Ste. Marie Social 
Services Administration Board, located at 548 Albert Street East, is exempted 
from taxation for municipal and school purposes for the lands and municipal 
capital facilities thereon. 
 

 

2. EFFECTIVE DATE 
 
 This by-law takes effect on the day of its final passing. 
 
 
 
 

Page 384 of 411



By-law 2025-66 
Page 2 
 
 

PASSED in open Council this 29th day of April, 2025. 
 
 
     ___________________________  _ 

     MAYOR – MATTHEW SHOEMAKER 
 
 
     ____________________________  _ 

     CITY CLERK – RACHEL TYCZINSKI 
 
 
 
JG \\citydata\LegalDept\Legal\Staff\COUNCIL\BY-LAWS\2025\2025 - Municipal Capital 
Facility Tax Exemption- 548 Albert Street East.doc 
 
 
 
 

Page 385 of 411



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF SAULT STE. MARIE 

 

BY-LAW 2025-67 
 

 

AGREEMENT: A by-law to authorize an agreement between the City and The 
Incorporated Synod of the Diocese of Algoma for the provision of a Municipal Capital 
Facility at 180 Brock Street. 
 
 

THE COUNCIL of The Corporation of the City of Sault Ste. Marie, pursuant to section 9 

of the Municipal Act, 2001, S.O. 2001, c. 25, ENACTS as follows: 
 

 

1. EXECUTION OF DOCUMENT 
 
The Mayor and City Clerk are hereby authorized for and in the name of the 
Corporation to execute and affix  the seal of the Corporation to a Municipal 
Capital Facility Agreement for 180 Brock Street, dated April 9, 2025, between 
The City and The Incorporated Synod of the Diocese of Algoma attached as 
Schedule “A” hereto.   

 

2. SCHEDULE "A" 
 

Schedule "A" forms part of this by-law. 
 

3. EFFECTIVE DATE 
 
 This by-law takes effect on the day of its final passing. 
 
 

PASSED in open Council this 29th day of April, 2025. 
 
 
 
     ___________________________  _ 

     MAYOR – MATTHEW SHOEMAKER 
 
 
     ____________________________  _ 

     CITY CLERK – RACHEL TYCZINSKI 
 
 

 
JG \\citydata\LegalDept\Legal\Staff\COUNCIL\BY-LAWS\2025\2025 - Municipal Capital Facility Agreement - 180 Brock 

Street.doc 

Page 386 of 411



Schedule "A"

Page 387 of 411



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF SAULT STE. MARIE 

 

BY-LAW 2025-68 
 

TAXATION EXEMPTION: A by-law to provide for the taxation exemption for 180 Brock 
Street as a Municipal Capital Facility. 
 

WHEREAS subsection 110(1) of the Municipal Act, 2001, S.O. 2001, c.25 as amended, 
authorizes a local municipality to enter into a Municipal Capital Facilities agreement; 
 

AND WHEREAS section 110(6) of the Municipal Act, 2001 authorizes a municipality to 
exempt all or part of a Municipal Capital Facility from taxes levied for municipal and 
school purposes; 
 

AND WHEREAS section 6(1)(b) of O. Reg. 603/06 authorizes the said taxation 
exemption for municipal capital facilities only where the municipal council declares such 
municipal capital facilities for public use; 
 

AND WHEREAS the agreement between The Corporation of The Incorporated Synod 
of the Diocese of Algoma, dated April 9, 2025, declared the 721 Wellington Street East, 
identified as assessment roll number 5761-00-038-052-00-0000-00 as a Municipal 
Capital Facility for cultural, recreational or tourist purposes for the public; 
 

NOW THEREFORE the Council of The Corporation of the City of Sault Ste. Marie 

ENACTS as follows: 
 

1. EXEMPTION FROM TAXATION 
 
The lands in the City of Sault Ste. Marie known as the Sault Ste. Marie Police 
Services, located at 180 Brok Street, is exempted from taxation for municipal 
and school purposes for the lands and municipal capital facilities thereon. 
 

 

2. EFFECTIVE DATE 
 
 This by-law takes effect on the day of its final passing. 
 
 
 
 

Page 388 of 411



By-law 2025-68 
Page 2 
 
 

PASSED in open Council this 29th day of April, 2025. 
 
 
     ___________________________  _ 

     MAYOR – MATTHEW SHOEMAKER 
 
 
     ____________________________  _ 

     CITY CLERK – RACHEL TYCZINSKI 
 
 
 
JG \\citydata\LegalDept\Legal\Staff\COUNCIL\BY-LAWS\2025\2025 - Municipal Capital 
Facility Tax Exemption- 180 Brock Street.doc 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 389 of 411



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF SAULT STE. MARIE 
 

BY-LAW NO. 2025-69 
 
 

ZONING: A by-law to amend Sault Ste. Marie Zoning By-law 2005-150 for the 
purpose of clarifying technical language and improving implementation. 
 
THE COUNCIL of The Corporation of the City of Sault Ste. Marie, pursuant to 
section 34 of the Planning Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. P.13 and amendments thereto, 
ENACTS as follows: 
 
1. BY-LAW 2005-150 AMENDED 

 
By-law 2005-150 is amended as follows: 
 
(a) Section 8.4.1 (Permitted Uses) Amended 
 
Section 8.4.1 Reintroduction of Residential Uses in the REX Zone is 
amended by permitting “a residential structure containing no more than one 
dwelling unit on an existing lot, subject to rural area zone regulations”. 
 
(b) Section 9.6.2 (Standards Table) Amended 
 
Section 9.6.2 Rear Yard Setback Adjustment for One-Storey Homes in the 
R2 Zone Standards Table is amended by “reducing the rear yard setback 
to 1.2 metres for one-storey residential structures on R2 lots except for 
those that abut Lake Superior and St. Mary’s River”. 
 
(c) Section 8.5.1 (Permitted Uses) and Section 9.5.1 (Permitted Uses) 

Amended 
 
Section 8.5.1 (Permitted Uses) in the Rural Area Zone (RA) and Section 
9.5.1 (Permitted Uses) in the Estate Residential Zone (R1) are hereby 
amended by deleting “Residential Structure containing up to 2 dwelling 
units” and replacing it with “Residential Structure/s with no more than 2 
dwelling units per lot”. 
 
(d) Section 9.6.1 (Permitted Uses) and Section 9.7.1 (Permitted Uses) 

Amended  
 
Section 9.6.1 (Permitted Uses) and Section 9.7.1 (Permitted Uses) in the 
Gentle Density Residential Zone (R2) are hereby amended by deleting 
“Residential Structure” and replacing it with “Residential Structure/s”. 
 

  

Page 390 of 411



(e) Section 9.8.1 (Permitted Uses) Amended 
 
Section 9.8.1 (Permitted Uses) in the Medium Density Residential Zone 
(R4) is hereby amended by deleting “Residential Structure – containing at 
least 2 dwelling units” and replacing it with “Residential Structure/s – at least 
two dwelling units per lot”. 
 
(f) Section 9.9.1 (Permitted Uses) Amended 
 
Section 9.9.1 (Permitted Uses) in the High Density Residential Zone (R5) is 
hereby amended by deleting “Residential Structure - containing at least 4 
dwelling units” and replacing it with “Residential Structure/s – at least four 
dwelling units per lot”. 
 

2. CERTIFICATE OF CONFORMITY 
 
It is hereby certified that this by-law is in conformity with the Official Plan for 
the City of Sault Ste. Marie authorized and in force on the day of the passing 
of this by-law.  

 
3. EFFECTIVE DATE 
 

This by-law takes effect on the day of its final passing. 
 

PASSED in Open Council this 29th day of April, 2025. 
 
 

            
    MAYOR – MATTHEW SHOEMAKER 
 
            

 CITY CLERK – RACHEL TYCZINSKI  
 
 
 
ep  \\citydata\LegalDept\Legal\Staff\LEGAL\ZONING\3. 2025\Housekeeping\2025-69 Housekeeping Amendment.docx 

Page 391 of 411



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF SAULT STE. MARIE 
 

BY-LAW 2025-70 
 

 
AGREEMENT: A by-law to authorize the execution of the Agreement between the City 
and SOYA (Save our Young Adults) From Drug Abuse for approval to move the Etienne 
Brule Community Garden to city property at Esposito Park and enter into an agreement 
with Save Our Young Adults to manage the Community Garden. 
 
THE COUNCIL of The Corporation of the City of Sault Ste. Marie, pursuant to section 9 
of the Municipal Act, 2001, S.O. 2001, c. 25, ENACTS as follows: 
 

 
1. EXECUTION OF DOCUMENT 

 
The Mayor and City Clerk are hereby authorized for and in the name of the 
Corporation to execute and affix the seal of the Corporation to the Agreement 
dated April 29, 2025 between the City and SOYA (Save our Young Adults) From 
Drug Abuse, a copy of which is attached as Schedule “A” hereto.  This Agreement 
is for approval to move the Etienne Brule Community Garden to city property at 
Esposito Park and enter into an agreement with Save Our Young Adults to manage 
the Community Garden. 
 

2. SCHEDULE "A" 
 

Schedule "A" forms part of this by-law. 
 

3. EFFECTIVE DATE 
 
 This by-law takes effect on the day of its final passing. 
 
 
PASSED in open Council this 29th day of April, 2025. 
 
 
              
     MAYOR – MATTHEW SHOEMAKER 
 
 
              
     CITY CLERK – RACHEL TYCZINSKI 
 
 
 
 
 
JG \\citydata\LegalDept\Legal\Staff\COUNCIL\BY-LAWS\2025\2025-70 - Community Garden Relocation to Esposito Park.docx 

Page 392 of 411



Schedule “A” 

LICENCE TO OCCUPY CITY PROPERTY 
 
THIS LICENCE made in duplicate this 29th day of April, 2025.                   
 
B E T W E E N:   

 
THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF SAULT STE. MARIE 

        
(hereinafter referred to as the “City”) 

 
- and - 

 
SOYA (SAVE OUR YOUNG ADULTS) FROM DRUG ABUSE 

 
  (hereinafter referred to as the 

“Licencee”) 
 
The City grants to the Licencee the right to occupy part of the property of the City (“the 
City Property”) identified as Part of PIN 31576-0061(LT) LT 34-56 PL 17553 ST. MARY’S; 
SAULT STE. MARIE, specifically that part as shown on the plan attached and marked 
Schedule "A" to this Licence to Occupy City Property for the purpose of constructing and 
maintaining a community garden.  
 
This Licence is subject to the conditions set out in Schedule “B” attached. 
 
In this Licence “City” means the “Council” of the City of Sault Ste. Marie and any person 
authorized to act on its behalf. 
 
This Licence shall enure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto, their 
heirs, successors and assigns. 
 
In witness thereof the parties hereto have affixed their hands and seals on the date written 
above. 
 
SIGNED, SEALED AND DELIVERED  )  SOYA (SAVE OUR YOUNG ADULTS) FROM 
      )  DRUG ABUSE 
      ) 

)  ____________________________________ 
 )  PRESIDENT – CONNIE RAYNOR ELLIOTT 

      ) 
      ) THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF 
      ) SAULT STE. MARIE 
      )  
      )  ____________________________________ 
  ) MAYOR – MATTHEW SHOEMAKER 
  )  
  ) 
  ) ____________________________________ 
  ) CITY CLERK - RACHEL TYCZINSKI 

Page 393 of 411



Schedule “A” 

 SCHEDULE “A” 
 
 

Page 394 of 411



Schedule “A” 

SCHEDULE “B” 
 
This Licence is subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. The City hereby grants the Licencee permission to occupy and maintain the City Property 
for the purposes of a community garden.   
 

2. For the term, the City has no obligation to make any improvements or provide any 
maintenance to the City Property described in this Licence.  These obligations are the 
Licencee’s. 
 

3. Term   
 

The Term of this Licence shall commence on the 1st day of May, 2025, and shall be for a 
period of three (3) years, terminating on May 1, 2028.  This Agreement shall automatically 
continue on a yearly basis thereafter on the same terms and conditions unless either party 
provides sixty (60) days’ notice prior to the end of the initial Term or any renewal term of 
its desire to terminate the agreement or unless otherwise terminated in accordance with 
the terms and conditions as set out herein.  
 
The City or the Licencee may cancel this Licence on giving thirty (30) days’ written notice 
to the other party of their intention to do so.  
 
Notices shall be deemed given if deposited in the mail with postage charges prepaid and 
addressed to the party for whom intended at such party’s address herein specified.   
 

CITY Assistant City Solicitor/Senior Litigation 
Counsel 

      The Corporation of the  
      City of Sault Ste. Marie 
      99 Foster Drive  
      Sault Ste. Marie, ON  P6A 5X6 
 
           LICENCEE    SOYA (SAVE OUR YOUNG ADULTS) FROM 
      DRUG ABUSE 
      Connie Raynor Elliott 
      S.O.Y.A. President 
      178-180 Gore Street 
      Sault Ste. Marie, ON  P6A 1M2 
 
      

4. This Licence may not be assigned without the prior written permission of the City. 
 

5. The Licencee shall indemnify and save harmless the City from all costs and expenses 
caused to or incurred by the City and from all claims and demands, awards, losses, costs, 
damages, actions, suits or other proceedings, by whomsoever made, brought or 
prosecuted in any manner based upon, arising out of or connected with, the installation, 
use, maintenance, presence or removal of the Licencee’s community garden covered 
under this Licence, the intent being that the City shall be at no risk or expense to which it 

Page 395 of 411



Schedule “A” 

would not have been put had the Licencee’s community garden not been so installed, 
used, maintained, operated, occupied or been removed by the Licencee. 

 
6. The Licencee will not use or permit the use of the City Property for any purpose other 

than the purpose herein set out.  No buildings or structures will be erected on the City 
Property  other than the community garden boxes and a perimeter fence to protect the 
garden which shall be placed at a location to be approved in advance by the City’s 
Manager of Recreation and Culture.   

 
7. The Licencee agrees to maintain at all times during the currency of this Licence 

hereinbefore described, a minimum of TWO MILLION ($2,000,000.00) Dollars 
comprehensive general liability insurance in respect of personal injury, death, loss or 
damage of or to any person or property of third parties, with insurers licenced to conduct 
business in Ontario. The City shall be added as an Additional Insured to the required 
liability insurance policy, or policies and no such policy shall be cancelled or allowed to 
lapse without at least thirty (30) days written notice having been given to the City. An 
Insurance Certificate, on the C.S.I.O. form and satisfactory to the City’s Risk Manager, 
shall be provided to the City prior to the commencement of the Licence Date. 
 

8. The Licencee acknowledges that if the City requires any access to the City Property 
during the Term or any renewal Terms if applicable then the City is permitted such access 
and the Licencee agrees not to impede the City’s access. 

 
9. If the City or any utility requires access to the City Property for any purpose such as but 

not limited to access to any Infrastructure, the City and such utility is hereby permitted the 
access it so acquires and further, the City and such utility shall not be responsible for 
restoring the City Property to its condition prior to such access.  However, the City and 
utility, as applicable, shall leave the City Property in as neat and tidy a condition as 
possible.   

 
10. The Licencee shall be responsible for all costs and expenses related to the installation, 

maintenance, use, occupation, operation and/or removal of the community garden and 
shall indemnify and save harmless the City from any costs and expenses incurred by the 
City that may result from same.  The City shall however be responsible to provide a water 
source to the Licencee for the community garden at the City Property and the City shall 
absorb the costs for such water reasonably used. 

 
11. The Licencee shall comply with all Laws, By-laws, Rules and Regulations of any 

governing body respecting the installation, maintenance, use, occupation, operation 
and/or removal of the community garden and will save harmless and fully indemnify the 
City from and against all losses, costs, damages and expenses, of every kind or nature 
which the City may suffer, be at or be put to by reason of or in consequence of the 
noncompliance by the Licencee with such Laws, By-laws, Rules and Regulations. 

 
12. The Licencee shall be liable for all taxes, permits, licences or assessments of every nature 

and kind whatsoever, in any way arising from the presence of the community garden. 
 

13. On termination of this Licence, the Licencee shall forthwith remove the community garden 
from the City Property at the Licencee’s sole risk and expense and leave the City Property 

Page 396 of 411



Schedule “A” 

in a condition satisfactory to the City; provided that if the Licencee’s community garden is 
not removed by the Licencee within a period of thirty (30) days from the date of such 
termination, then the City may remove it at the expense and risk of the Licencee. 

 
14. The Licencee consents to the registration of this Licence on title to the City Property if 

desired by the City.  The Licencee shall be responsible for the costs of the said registration 
of this Licence. 

 
15. The Licencee covenants and agrees to pay the Corporation on the signing of this Licence 

and annually thereafter the sum of One ($1.00) Dollars for the Licence hereby granted. 
 

Page 397 of 411



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF SAULT STE.MARIE 
 

BY-LAW 2025-71 
 

 
OFFICIAL PLAN AMENDMENT:  A by-law to adopt Amendment No. 258 (T-170) 
to the Official Plan for the City of Sault Ste. Marie (1000571972 Ontario Inc. c/o 
Harjinder Kang – 0 Chippewa Street). 
 
THE COUNCIL of The Corporation of the City of Sault Ste. Marie, pursuant to 
section 17 of the Planning Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. P.13 and amendments thereto, 
ENACTS as follows: 
 
 
1. The Council hereby adopts Amendment No. 258 (T-170) to the Official Plan 

for the Sault Ste. Marie planning area in the form attached hereto.  
 
2. Subject to any referrals under the Planning Act, this by-law shall come into 

force on the date of its final passing. 
 
 
 
PASSED in open Council this 29th day of April, 2025. 
 
 
 
             
     MAYOR – MATTHEW SHOEMAKER 
 
 
             
     CITY CLERK – RACHEL TYCZINSKI 
 
 
 
 
 
 
lv\\citydata\LegalDept\Legal\Staff\LEGAL\ZONING\3. 2025\Chippewa Street, 0\2025-71 OP 0 Chippewa.docx 

Page 398 of 411



AMENDMENT NO. 258 (T-170) 
TO THE 

SAULT STE. MARIE OFFICIAL PLAN 
 
 
PURPOSE 

 
This Amendment is an amendment to the Text of the Official Plan as it relates to 

the Residential Policies of the Plan. 
 
LOCATION 
 
 PCL 1073 SEC ALG; PT SEC 27 KORAH PT 5 & 6 1R6007; S/T LT143331, 

LT59513; SAULT STE. MARIE; located on the west side of the western stub end of 
Chippewa Street, Atwater Street, and Amherst Street.  
 
BASIS 
 
 This Amendment is necessary in view of a request to expand the permitted size 
of a commercial use from 200 square metres to 400 square metres for where ‘Block 75 
Commercial’ is identified on the draft plan that was submitted as part of application A-2-
25-Z 57T. 
 
 Council now considers it desirable to amend the Official Plan. 
 
DETAILS OF THE ACTUAL AMENDMENT & POLICIES RELATED THERETO 
 
 The Official Plan for the City of Sault Ste. Marie is hereby amended by adding 
the following paragraph to the Special Exceptions Section: 
 
“Special Exceptions” 
 
160. Notwithstanding Residential Policy R.7, the property described as PCL 1073 
SEC ALG; PT SEC 27 KORAH PT 5 & 6 1R6007; S/T LT143331, LT59513; SAULT 

STE. MARIE; located on the west side of the western stub end of Chippewa Street, 
Atwater Street, and Amherst Street, may have commercial uses beyond 200 square 
metres in gross floor area up to a maximum of 400 square metres on the lands 
identified as ‘Block 75 Commercial’ on the draft plan submitted as part of application A-

2-25-Z 57T. 
 
INTERPRETATION 
 
 The provisions of the Official Plan as amended from time to time will be applied 
to this Amendment. 

Page 399 of 411



                                                                

  THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF SAULT STE. MARIE 
 

BY-LAW NO. 2025-72 
 

 
ZONING: A by-law to amend Sault Ste. Marie Zoning By-laws 2005-150 and 
2005-151 concerning lands located at 0 Chippewa Street (1000571972 Ontario 
Inc. c/o Harjinder Kang). 
 
THE COUNCIL of The Corporation of the City of Sault Ste. Marie, pursuant to 
section 34 of the Planning Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. P.13 and amendments thereto, 
ENACTS as follows: 
 
1. 0 CHIPPEWA STREET; LOCATED WEST OF THE STUB ENDS OF 

CHIPPEWA, ATWATER, AND AMHERST STREETS, SPECIFICALLY 
BLOCK A NORTH  

  
The zone designation on a portion of the lands having civic address 0 
Chippewa Street, specifically those lands shown as “Block A North” on Map 
77/91 of Schedule “A” to By-law 2005-150, being the northern half of Block 
A, extending 500 meters west from the east lot line, is changed from RA 
(Rural Area) zone to R3 (Low Density Residential) zone. 

 
2. 0 CHIPPEWA STREET; LOCATED WEST OF THE STUB ENDS OF 

CHIPPEWA, ATWATER, AND AMHERST STREETS, SPECIFICALLY 
BLOCK A SOUTH  

  
The zone designation on a portion of the lands having civic address 0 
Chippewa Street, specifically those lands shown as “Block A South” on Map 
77/91 of Schedule “A” to By-law 2005-150, being the southern half of Block 
A, extending approximately 220 meters north from the southern lot line is 
changed from RA (Rural Area) zone to R4 (Medium Density Residential) 
zone. 

 
3. 0 CHIPPEWA STREET; LOCATED WEST OF THE STUB ENDS OF 

CHIPPEWA, ATWATER, AND AMHERST STREETS, SPECIFICALLY 
BLOCK E 

  
The zone designation on a portion of the lands having civic address 0 
Chippewa Street, specifically those lands shown as “Block E” on Map 77/91 
of Schedule “A” to By-law 2005-150, is changed from RA (Rural Area) zone 
to R3 (Low Density Residential) zone. 

 

Page 400 of 411



                                                                

4. 0 CHIPPEWA STREET; LOCATED WEST OF THE STUB ENDS OF 
CHIPPEWA, ATWATER, AND AMHERST STREETS, SPECIFICALLY 
BLOCK B (APARTMENT BUILDINGS) 

 
The zone designation on the lands described in Section 8 of this By-law, 
which lands are shown as Block B on Map 77/91 of Schedule “A” to By-
law 2005-150, is changed from RA (Rural Area) zone to R4.S (Medium 
Density Residential) zone with a “Special Exception”. 
 

5. 0 CHIPPEWA STREET; LOCATED WEST OF THE STUB ENDS OF 
CHIPPEWA, ATWATER, AND AMHERST STREETS, SPECIFICALLY 
BLOCK C AND BLOCK G (SINGLE, SEMIS AND TOWNHOUSES) 
  
The zone designation on the lands described in Section 9 of this By-law, 
which lands are shown as Block C and Block G on Map 77/91 of Schedule 
“A” to By-law 2005-150, is changed from RA (Rural Area) zone to R3.S 
(Low Densit Residential) zone with a “Special Exception”. 
 

6.  0 CHIPPEWA STREET; LOCATED WEST OF THE STUB ENDS OF 
CHIPPEWA, ATWATER, AND AMHERST STREETS, SPECIFICALLY 
BLOCK D (NEIGHBOURHOOD COMMERCIAL BUILDING) 

 
The zone designation on the lands described in Section 10 of this By-law, 
which lands are shown as Block D on Map 77/91 of Schedule “A” to By-
law 2005-150, is changed from RA (Rural Area) zone to CT2.S 
(Commercial Transitional) zone with a “Special Exception”. 
 

7. 0 CHIPPEWA STREET; LOCATED WEST OF THE STUB ENDS OF 
CHIPPEWA, ATWATER, AND AMHERST STREETS, SPECIFICALLY 
BLOCK F (PRIVATE AMENITY BUILDING) 

 
The zone designation on the lands described in Section 11 of this By-law, 
which lands are shown as Block F on Map 77/91 of Schedule “A” to By-
law 2005-150, is changed from RA (Rural Area) zone to R3.S (Low 
Density Residential) zone with a “Special Exception”. 
 

8. BY-LAW 2005-151 AMENDED  
 
By-law 2005-151 is amended by adding section (441) and heading as 
follows: 
 

 “(441) – Part of 0 Chippewa Street, being Block B (apartment 
buildings) 
 
Despite the provisions of By-law 2005-150, the zone designation on a 
portion of the lands located on the west of the stub ends of Chippewa, 

Page 401 of 411



                                                                

Atwater and Amherst Streets and having civic no. 0 Chippewa Street, 
specifically those lands outlined and marked as “Block B” on the map 
attached as Schedule 441 hereto is changed from RA (Rural Area) zone to 
R4.S (Medium Density Residential) zone with a “Special Exception” to, in 
addition to those uses permitted in an R4 zone: 
 

1. Reduce the front yard setback (north facing) from 7.5 meters to 3.5 

meters. 

2. Reduce the interior side yard setback (west facing) from 7.5 meters to 

5 meters. 

3. Permit parking in a required front yard. 

4. Permit loading spaces to be located in a parking aisle. 

5. Waive the requirement that loading spaces be visually screened.” 

9.  BY-LAW 2005-151 FURTHER AMENDED 

By-law 2005-151 is further amended by adding section (442) and heading 
as follows:  

“(442) – Part of 0 Chippewa Street, being Blocks C and G (single, 
semis, and townhouses) 
 
Despite the provisions of By-law 2005-150, the zone designation on a 
portion of the lands located on the west of the stub ends of Chippewa, 
Atwater and Amherst Streets and having civic no. 0 Chippewa Street, 
specifically those lands outlined and marked as “Block C” and “Block G” on 
the map attached as Schedule 442 hereto is changed from RA (Rural Area) 
zone to R3.S (Low Density Residential) zone with a “Special Exception” to, 
in addition to those uses permitted in an R3 zone: 
 

1. Reduce the ‘other side yard setback’ from 3 meters to 1.8 
meters for a two-storey building, and 1.2 meters for a one-
storey building. 

2. Reduce the rear yard setback from 10 meters to 1.2 meters 
for one-storey residential structures. 

3. Increase the maximum lot coverage from 40% to 47% for 
one-storey residential structures.” 

10. BY-LAW 2005-151 FURTHER AMENDED 

By-law 2005-151 is further amended by adding section (443) and heading 
as follows:  

 
“(443) – Part of 0 Chippewa Street, being Block D (neighbourhood 
commercial building) 

Page 402 of 411



                                                                

 
Despite the provisions of By-law 2005-150, the zone designation on the 
lands located on the west of the stub ends of Chippewa, Atwater and 
Amherst Streets and having civic no. 0 Chippewa Street, specifically those 
lands outlined and marked as “Block D” on the map attached as Schedule 
443 hereto is changed from RA (Rural Area) zone to CT2.S (Commercial 
Transitional) zone with a “Special Exception” to, in addition to those uses 
permitted in a CT2 zone: 

 
1. Prohibit the following uses: residential structures, bed and 

breakfasts, group homes and residences, nursing and 
residential care facilities, rooming houses, bars and taverns, 
parking lots, and short-term rentals. 

2. Increase the gross floor area of retail trade from 300 square 
meters to 400 square meters. 

3. Reduce the required number of parking spaces to the 
downtown equivalent where applicable.” 

 

11. BY-LAW 2005-151 FURTHER AMENDED  

By-law 2005-151 is further amended by adding section (444) and heading 
as follows: 
 
“(444) – Part of 0 Chippewa Street, being Block F (Private Amenity 
Building) 
 
Despite the provisions of By-law 2005-150, the zone designation on the 
lands located on the west of the stub ends of Chippewa, Atwater and 
Amherst Streets and having civic no. 0 Chippewa Street, specifically those 
lands outlined and marked as “Block F” on the map attached as Schedule 
444 hereto is changed from RA (Rural Area) zone to R3.S (Low Density 
Residential) zone with a “Special Exception” to, in addition to those uses 
permitted in a R3 zone: 
 

1. Permit amusement and fitness facilities, arts and cultural 
heritage uses, day care facilities, recreational facilities. 

2. Reduce the required number of parking spaces to the 
downtown equivalent where applicable.” 

 

12. SCHEDULE “A” 
 

Schedule “A” hereto forms a part of this by-law. 
 
 
 
 

Page 403 of 411



                                                                

13.       CERTIFICATE OF CONFORMITY 
 
It is hereby certified that this by-law is in conformity with the Official Plan for 
the City of Sault Ste. Marie authorized and in force on the day of the passing 
of this by-law as amended by Official Plan Amendment No. 258 (T-170).  
 
 

PASSED in Open Council this 29th day of April, 2025. 
 
 

            
    MAYOR – MATTHEW SHOEMAKER 
 
 
            
    CITY CLERK – RACHEL TYCZINSKI                                
 

 
 
lv\\citydata\LegalDept\Legal\Staff\LEGAL\ZONING\3. 2025\Chippewa Street, 0\2025-72 Zoning 0 Chippewa.docx 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 404 of 411



                                                                

SCHEDULE “A” TO BY-LAW 2025-72 AND 
SCHEDULES 441, 442, 443 AND 444 TO BY-LAW 2005-151 

 

 

Page 405 of 411



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF SAULT STE. MARIE 
 

BY-LAW NO. 2025-73 
 
 
DEVELOPMENT CONTROL:  A by-law to designate the lands Block B, D, F and 
G located at 0 Chippewa Street an area of site plan control (1000571972 Ontario 
Inc. c/o Harjinder Kang). 
 
THE COUNCIL of The Corporation of the City of Sault Ste. Marie ENACTS as 
follows: 
 
 
1. DEVELOPMENT CONTROL AREA  
 

The lands described as Block B, D, F and G on Schedule “A” attached 
hereto are hereby designated to be an area of site plan control pursuant to 
section 41 of the Planning Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. P. 13 and amendments 
thereto. 
 
 

2. SITE PLAN POWERS DELEGATED 
 

The Council hereby delegates to the Planning Director or his/her designate 
for the City of Sault Ste. Marie, Council’s powers to enter into a site plan 
agreement dealing with any of the works or matters mentioned in Section 
41 of the Planning Act as amended, for the lands shown as Block B, D, F 
and G on the map attached as Schedule “A” to this by-law. 

 
 
3. SCHEDULE “A” 
 
 Schedule “A” hereto forms a part of this by-law.  
 
 
4. PENALTY 
 

Any person who contravenes this by-law including the obligations pursuant 
to the agreement entered into under the authority of this by-law is liable 
upon conviction therefore to penalty provisions as contained in the Planning 
Act and the Municipal Act, 2001. 

 
 
5. EFFECTIVE DATE 
 
 This by-law takes effect from the date of its final passing. 

Page 406 of 411



   
 
PASSED in open Council this 29th day of April, 2025. 

  
 
            
    MAYOR – MATTHEW SHOEMAKER 
  
 
            
    CITY CLERK – RACHEL TYCZINSKI 
 

 
 
lv\\citydata\LegalDept\Legal\Staff\LEGAL\ZONING\3. 2025\Chippewa Street, 0\2025-73 DC 0 Chippewa.docx 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 407 of 411



 
SCHEDULE “A” TO BY-LAW 2025-73 

 
 
 
 

 

Page 408 of 411



 THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF SAULT STE. MARIE 
 

BY-LAW 2025-74 
 

AMENDMENT TO BOUNDARIES OF URBAN SERVICE 
AREA  - AMALGAMATION ORDER N. 4804-63 (Part 2) 
(C2.13(4) –  A by-law to instruct the City Solicitor to apply to 
the Ontario Land Tribunal for an order to alter the 
boundaries of the urban service area. 

 
 IN THE MATTER OF Section 370.1(1) of the Municipal Act, S.O. 2001, c. 25. 
 

-and- 
 

 IN THE MATTER OF an application by The Corporation of the City of Sault Ste. 
Marie pursuant to subsection 1 of Section 370.1 of the Municipal Act for a 
supplementary order to alter the boundaries of the urban service area defined in 
Schedule “A” to the Ontario Land Tribunal (formerly known as Ontario Municipal 
Board) Order dated May 17, 1965. 

 
WHEREAS the said supplementary order dated May 17, 1965 defined the 
boundaries of an “urban service area” to be established for The Corporation of 
the City of Sault Ste. Marie; 

 
AND WHEREAS the boundaries of the urban service area have previously been 
changed as follows: 
 

BY-LAW NO. O.M.B DATE OF APPROVAL O.M.B. FILE NO. 

78-122 September 19, 1978 M 78106 
88-193 November 18, 1988 M 8800070 
90-34 April 20, 1990 M 900039 
92-5 February 24, 1992 M 920022 
93-91 August 31, 1993 M 930088 
94-20 March 25, 1994 M 940027 
94-109 August 22, 1994 M 940067 
97-136 November 10, 1997 M 970089 
2000-24 July 20, 2000 M 000013 
2001-175 December 7, 2001 M 010083 
2004-53  March 8, 2004 M 040033 
2006-54 April 24th, 2006 M060039 
2007-203 June 3,2008 MM070013 
2010-81 
2012-171 

September 8, 2010 
September 10, 2012 

MM100019 
MM120045 

 
 

 AND WHEREAS the Council of The Corporation of the City of Sault Ste. Marie 
wishes to change the boundaries of the said urban service area. 

 
 

Page 409 of 411



  

 NOW THEREFORE the Council of the Corporation of the City of Sault Ste. 
Marie, pursuant to the provisions of subsection 370.1(1) of the Municipal Act, 
S.O. 2001, c. 25 and amendments thereto, ENACTS as follows: 

 
 
1. APPLICATION TO ONTARIO LAND TRIBUNAL 
 

The City Solicitor is hereby authorized and instructed on behalf of The 
Corporation of the City of Sault Ste. Marie to apply to the Ontario Land Tribunal 
for an order supplementary to the order made by the Ontario Land Tribunal 
(formerly known as Ontario Municipal Board) on May 17, 1965 which application 
will request the Ontario Land Tribunal to amend the said supplementary order as 
hereinafter indicated. 
 

2. PROPOSED AMENDMENT 
 
 It is proposed to amend Schedule “A” attached to the said supplementary order 

dated May 17, 1965 as amended by incorporating the addition outlined on 
Schedule “A” to this by-law, which schedule consists of a map showing the 
expanded urban service line area for municipal water and sewer services.  
 
 

3. SCHEDULE “A”  
 

Schedule “A” hereto forms part of this by-law. 
 
 
4. BY-LAW 2012-171 REPEALED 
 

By-law 2012-171 is hereby repealed. 
 
 
5. EFFECTIVE DATE 
 

This by-law takes effect on the final date of its passing 
 
 
PASSED in Open Council this 29th day of April, 2025. 

 
 
      _______________________________ 
      MAYOR – MATTHEW SHOEMAKER 
 
 
      _______________________________ 
      CITY CLERK – RACHEL TYCZINSKI 
 
 
 
lv\\citydata\LegalDept\Legal\Staff\LEGAL\ZONING\3. 2025\Chippewa Street, 0\2025-74 Urban Service Line 0 Chippewa Street.doc 

Page 410 of 411



  

SCHEDULE "A" 
 

TO BY-LAW 2025-74 OF THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF 
SAULT STE. MARIE PASSED IN OPEN COUNCIL THIS 29th DAY OF 
APRIL, 2025. 
 

 

Page 411 of 411


	Agenda
	2. Post-Meeting Minutes - Regular Council Meeting_Apr07_2025 - English.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	6.1. SSM Public Library Annual Report 2024.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	6.1.1. Public Library Annual Report 2024.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	7.1. NOSM U Clinical Campus Feasibility Study.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	7.1. Attachment A - Sault Ste. Marie - NOSM University Campus Feasibility Study.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	7.2. Regulation of Election Signs.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	7.3. Municipally Significant Event – 2025 Sault Ste. Marie Festival of Beer.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	7.3. Appendix A Municipally Significant Events Policy.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	7.3. Appendix B Festival of Beer Application.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	7.4. 2025 Tax Policy and Rates.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	7.4. Assessment Growth.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	7.4. Ratio Comparison 2025.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	7.5. 2025 Property Tax Capping Options.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	7.5. Appendix A - 2025 Retained Percentages.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	7.6. YMCA Status Update.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	7.7. Financial Assistance for National Sports Competition Youth Darts Team.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	7.8. Community Garden Relocation to Esposito Park.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	7.8. Garden Location Map.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	7.9. Pointe Des Chenes Disc Golf Expansion.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	7.9. Proposed Disc Golf Couse Layout.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	7.9.1. MYAC Comments.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	7.10. Community Development Fund – Green Initiatives Program Applications 2025 Q1 Intake.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	7.10.1. Amended Community Development Fund Green Initiatives 2025 Q1.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	7.11. Civic Centre Cladding Replacement - Additional Engineering Fees.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	7.12. Municipal Capital Facilities Exemption - 548 Albert Street East and 721 Wellington Street East.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	7.13. Municipal Capital Facilities Exemption - 180 Brock Street.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	7.14. Draft Active Transportation Master Plan.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	7.14. Draft ATMP - April 2025.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	7.15. A-3-25-Z Housekeeping Amendments (1).pdf
	Back to Agenda

	12.1.1. 2025-51 Capping Options By-Law.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	12.1.2. 2025-55  Final Tax Billing.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	12.1.3. 2025-61 Tax Ratios.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	12.1.3. 2025-61 Schedule A.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	12.1.4. 2025-62 Tax Rates.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	12.1.4. 2025-62 Schedule A.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	12.1.5. 2025-63 Municipal Capital Facility Agreement - 721 Wellington Street East.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	12.1.5. 2025-63 Schedule A.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	12.1.6. 2025-64 Municipal Capital Facility Tax Exemption- 721 Wellington Street East.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	12.1.7. 2025-65 Municipal Capital Facility Agreement - 548 Albert Street East.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	12.1.7. 2025-65 Schedule A.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	12.1.8. 2025-66 Municipal Capital Facility Tax Exemption- 548 Albert Street East.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	12.1.9. 2025-67 Municipal Capital Facility Agreement - 180 Brock Street.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	12.1.9. 2025-67 Schedule A.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	12.1.10. 2025-68 Municipal Capital Facility Tax Exemption- 180 Brock Street.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	12.1.11. 2025-69 Housekeeping Amendment.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	12.1.12. 2025-70 - Community Garden Relocation to Esposito Park.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	12.1.12. 2025-70 - Schedule A.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	12.1.13. 2025-71 OP 0 Chippewa.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	12.1.13. Official Plan Amendment 258 Text T-170.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	12.1.14. 2025-72 Zoning 0 Chippewa.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	12.1.15. 2025-73 DC 0 Chippewa.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	12.1.16. 2025-74 Urban Service Line 0 Chippewa Street.pdf
	Back to Agenda


